

ADVERTIMENT. L'accés als continguts d'aquesta tesi queda condicionat a l'acceptació de les condicions d'ús establertes per la següent llicència Creative Commons: [c] ① ③ https://creativecommons.org/licenses/?lang=ca

ADVERTENCIA. El acceso a los contenidos de esta tesis queda condicionado a la aceptación de las condiciones de uso establecidas por la siguiente licencia Creative Commons: lang=es

WARNING. The access to the contents of this doctoral thesis it is limited to the acceptance of the use conditions set by the following Creative Commons license: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/?lang=en

PREDICTING THE PAST: SUBSISTENCE, ORGANISATION, AND SURVIVAL OF EARLY AGROPASTORAL COMMUNITIES

Olga Palacios Martínez

Supervisors: Dr Juan A. Barceló, Dr Rosario Delgado

> 2023 PhD in Prehistoric Archaeology Department of Prehistory



Predicting the Past: Subsistence, Organisation, and Survival of Early Agropastoral Communities

Olga Palacios Martínez

Supervisors:

Dr Juan A. Barceló

Dr Rosario Delgado

2023

Doctorat en Arqueologia Prehistòrica Departament de Prehistòria Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona

This PhD has been developed as part of the PhD program in Prehistoric Archaeology at the Autonomous University of Barcelona.

This PhD thesis has been supported by the Agency for Management of University and Research Grants, Generalitat de Catalunya (FI-B-00966) during the first three years, and the Autonomous University of Barcelona in the fourth year. The research stay at UrbNet (Aarhus University) was additionally funded by ERASMUS+ Traineeships, European Union.

This thesis has been developed in the framework of the following projects:

- Simulación computacional de fenómenos históricos de cambio social y tecnológico durante el Neolítico (HAR2016-76534-C2-1-R, 01/01/2017 - 31/12/2019). Subprograma de Proyectos de Investigación Fundamental no orientada 2012.
- Paleoambiente, modelización del paisaje y análisis del uso de plantas en la transición a la agricultura en el noreste de la Península Ibérica (PID 2019-109254GB-C21, 2020-2022)

Abstract

This thesis investigates the impact of the environment on the socioeconomic organisation and subsistence strategies of early agropastoral communities. The development and adoption of agropastoralism transformed the way in which communities related to their landscape, adopting new strategies such as sedentarism, animal husbandry or agriculture. Traditional interpretations in archaeology argued that early agropastoral groups located in optimal locations for farming. However, archaeological evidence indicates that there are agropastoral communities settled in different ecological niches despite consuming the same resources, while others consume different resources despite being located in similar niches. To address this question, the Niche Construction Theory approach deals with the relevance of the agency of agropastoral groups to modify their landscape, underlining the importance of other variables related to the social organisation of people in addition to environmental characteristics.

To approach this, a machine learning model based on Bayesian Networks, learned from information extracted from cross-cultural ethnographical societies, has been built to quantify the relationship between a large number of variables that could have shaped agropastoral lifestyle. Additionally, it was possible to make predictions using our learned model, so we were able to predict potential scenarios to explain the configuration of agropastoral communities. One of the main contributions of this thesis is the exploration and quantification of modelling complex agropastoral systems using a machine learning model. Whilst machine learning has gained popularity in other fields of archaeology, it is still uncommon for studying socioecological systems. Furthermore, this work represents the first application of Bayesian networks in socioecological modelling, to the best of our knowledge.

This research emphasises the importance of the coevolutionary process between the environment and agropastoral communities in shaping their settlement location, economic behaviour, and social preferences. In contrast to social groups that relied solely on hunting, gathering or fishing, human communities with mixed farming economies were more diverse, and therefore less constrained by individual factors for particular means of living and working. More variables need to be considered, not just the landscape and environment, to understand how survival was possible thousands of years ago.

By developing a script for building Bayesian networks and sharing the process in open access, we aim to disseminate the application of this methodology to investigate other archaeological contexts. This research is aligned with the current flourishing of computational methods in archaeology, and this thesis hopes to foster a dialogue concerning their integration into the archaeological skill set, and discussion about their strengths, potentials and limitations for modelling socioecological questions.

Keywords: Socioeconomic organisation, subsistence strategies, agropastoral communities, Bayesian Networks, Niche Construction Theory.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	1
Acknowledgments	9
Scientific Terms	11
Abbreviations	13
Introduction	15
I. Research Topic and Objectives	15
II. Thesis Structure	18
Chapter 1. Computational Methods to Understand the	21
Past	
1.1. Human Behaviour and Landscape	21
1.2. Systems Modelling, Behaviour Prediction	23
1.2.1. Inferring the Past	23
1.2.2. Model Construction	26
1.2.3. Types of Models	28
1.3. Bayesian Networks	36
1.3.1. Fundamentals	36
1.3.2. Previous Applications of Bayesian Networks	40
1.3.3. Comparison of Bayesian and Neural Networks	42
1.4. Research Paper	44
1.4.1. Palacios, O. (2023). Aplicación del aprendizaje automático en	45
Arqueología: ¿Un cambio de paradigma?. Vegueta. Anuario de la Facultad de	
Geografia e Historia, 23(1), 147-186. https://doi.org/10.51349/veg.2023.1.06	

Chapter 2. Towards Agropastoralism	73
2.1. Emergence of Mixed Economies	73
2.1.1. Proto-Agropastoralism	74
2.1.2. Consolidating Agropastoral Systems	76
2.2. Modelling the Domestication Process	82
2.3. Why Agropastoralism?	85
2.3.1. Environmentally Driven Resource Pressure	85
2.3.2. Demographically Driven Resource Pressure	86
2.3.3. Internal Pull Factors	88
2.4. Across the Mediterranean	91
2.5. Modelling the Expansion Process	94
2.6. Book Chapter	97
2.6.1. Barceló, J. A. & Palacios, O. (2023). Computational simulation	99
of prehistoric migrations. Western Mediterranean Early Neolithic case study.	
In V. Heyd & M. Ahola (Eds.), Moving and Migrating in Prehistoric Europe.	
London: Springer Routledge.	

Chapter 3. Modelling Iberian Early Agropastoral ¹²⁵ Systems

3.1. Foraging Communities				
3.2. Introduction of Agropastoral Practices				126
3.3. Model (Overview			133
3.4. Researc	ch Papers			136
3.4.1. I	Palacios, O., Barceló, J. A	A., & Delgado, R. (2022). Exploring the	137
role of ecology	y and social organisation	in agropastoral societ	ies: A Bayesian	
network	approach. Plos	One, 17(10),	e0276088.	
https://doi.org/	/10.1371/journal.pone.02	76088		

3.4.2. Palacios, O. & Barceló, J.A. (2023). Survival in prehistory:175Disentangling the complexity of dependent relationships. Journal ofAnthropological Archaeology.

Chapter 4. Conclusions	203
4.1. Research Overview	203
4.2. Results	206
4.3. Future Research Directions	210
Bibliography	213
List of Figures, Tables, and Equations	245
Appendix	253

Acknowledgments

This PhD would have not been possible without the encouragement and assistance of my supervisors, Dr Joan Anton Barceló, and Dr Rosario Delgado. Joan Anton introduced me to the field of quantitative archaeology, opening me up a wide range of ways for exploring the past. Rosario taught me about Bayesian networks and Statistics, making it possible to materialise the ideas that I had in mind in form of equations and code.

I would like to say a very special thank you to Dr César González from Incipit, for teaching me to transform complicated ideas into concepts, and for the warm welcome and interesting discussions with the Institute members. I would also like to thank Dr Tom Brughmans and Dr Iza Romanowska for hosting me in UrbNet and challenging me in the ways of doing archaeology and applying Bayesian networks to other contexts. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all the fantastic members of UrbNet, for their friendly welcome, their kindness and all their support during my time in Denmark.

I gratefully acknowledge the contribution of journal editors Dr Ulysses Paulino Albuquerque, Dr Alfredo Cortell-Nicolau, and Dr Salvador Pardo-Gordó, and all the anynonimous referees for their useful suggestions, comments, and recommendations. They have undoubtedly strengthened the constistency of this work and improved its quality.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Dr Giacomo Capuzzo and Dr Tom Brughmans for reviewing this thesis, and the thesis committee, Dr Raquel Piqué, Dr Mehdi Saqalli, Dr Andreas Angourakis, Dr Guy de Mulder, and Dr Salvador Pardo-Gordó, for generously giving their time, expertise, and feedback to improve my research.

I would like to extend my sincere thanks to the members of the Department of Prehistory at the UAB, for their insightful comments and suggestions over the years. I am also grateful to my doctoral and postdoctoral colleagues of the department, for their words of support and help during these four years.

I would also like to thank a list of people for their varied assistance, help, advice, inspiration, and support along this journey: Javi Cámara, Mahdi Gheitasi, Núria Morera, Aida Fernández, Alba Vilanova, Nàdia Tarifa, Mariona Rovira, Lara Comis, Josephine Smith, friends from University College Dublin, Yana Antonenko, Maria Camps, Ferran Milà, Irene Sánchez, Laura Esbrí, Víctor Blanch, Lorena Sánchez, Pedro Díaz, Punxets, friends from Agrupació Excursionista de Sant Andreu and GERS, friends from the second floor in Aarhus.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, especially my parents and sister, and Guillem and Tiberi for their unconditional support. Their belief and words of encouragement have spurred me on.

To all of you, thank you!

Scientific Terms

Common name Scientific name Acorn Quercus Fagaceae Auroch Bos primigenius Hordeum vulgare Barley Bitter vetch Vicia ervilia Blackberry Rubus allegheniensis Boar Sus scrofa Bog pine Pinus uncinata Burnet Sanguisorba officinalis Cattle Bos taurus Cicer arietinum Chickpea Common vetch Vicia sativa Cormorant Microcarbo melanoleucos Dock Rumex obtusifolius Einkorn Triticum monococcum subsp. Monococcum Emmer Triticum turgidum subsp. Dicoccum European pond turtle Emys orbicularis Fava Bean Vicia faba Flax Linum usitatissimum Goat Capra aegagrus hircus Grape Vitis vinifera Grass Pea Lathyrus sativus Hazelnut Corylus avellana Holm oak Quercus ilex Iberian wild goat Capra pyrenaica Juniper Juniperus Lentil Lens culinaris Lotus Nelumbo nucifera Lynx Lynx pardinus Mint Mentha Oak grove Quercus agrifolia Pea Pisum sativum Sus domesticus Pig Poppy Papaver somniferum L.

Common name

Ribwort plantain

Rabbit

Red deer

Red fox

Roar deer

Rose

Rye

Sheep

Sorrel

Swinecress

Wild cherry

Woodcock

Wildcat

Wolf

Red elderberry

Scientific name

Oryctolagus cuniculus Cervus elaphus Sambucus racemosa Vulpes vulpes Plantago lanceolata Cervus elaphus Rosaceae Secale cereale Ovis aries Rumex acetosa Lepidium didymum Prunus avium Felis silvestris Canis lupus Scolopax rusticola

Abbreviations

ABM	Agent-based model		
AI	Artificial intelligence		
BN	Bayesian networks		
BSR	Broad-Spectrum Revolution		
CDM	Cultural Diffusion Model		
СЕТ	Cultural Evolutionary Theory		
CNCT	Cultural Niche Construction Theory		
СРТ	Conditional Probability Table		
CST	Complex Systems Theory		
DDM	Demic Diffusion Model		
EDA	Exploratory Data Analysis		
ЕЕТ	Ecological Evolutionary Theory		
FOSS	Free of charge and Open-Source Software		
GIS	Geographical Information System		
GRASS	Geographic Resource Analysis Support System		
HBE	Human Behavioural Ecology		
KIDS	Keep It Descriptive, Stupid		
KISS	Keep It Simple, Stupid		
ML	Machine learning		
NCT	Niche Construction Theory		
ODD	Overview, Design concepts and Details		
OFT	Optimal Foraging Theory		
PPNA	Pre-pottery Neolithic A		
PPNB	Pre-pottery Neolithic B		
RL	Reinforcement learning		
SA	Sensitivity analysis		
SES	Socio-Ecological Systems theory		

Introduction

I. Research Topic and Objectives

Agropastoralism is a livelihood system that integrates crop and livestock production. Agropastoral societies have a mixed economy in which at least 50% of their diet is based on agriculture and animal husbandry. Human groups also rely on foraging subsistence strategies such as fishing, gathering, and hunting. Therefore, it is implicit that societies control the breeding, growing and production of the consumed resources, which is why agropastoral communities tend to be located in areas/regions that meet their production needs. The produced resources vary greatly depending on climate, culture, topography, and water availability, *inter alia*.

In Prehistory, agropastoralism tends to be associated with sedentarism but this is not always the case. In fact, this traditional view is gradually changing with the improvement in archaeological practices in the identification of temporary settlements, transhumance practices in mountainous landscapes, and different intensities of food production and consumption. This variety is also evidenced in current agropastoral groups as some may be sedentary, semisedentary, or mobile. Diversity has often been misrepresented in research on early Neolithic communities as they tend to assume that early agropastoral groups were sedentary, located in optimal places for farming. But this representation of agropastoralism is generally not supported by the archaeological evidence.

Consequently, an increasing number of research studies are addressing this gap, exploring the importance of this diversity in lifeways during the early Neolithic to gain further understanding of how and why these communities lived in the way they did. For this, a crucial element that has been pointed out since the blooming of the **Niche Construction Theory** (Laland et al., 1996, 1999; Odling-Smee et al., 1996), is the influence of the landscape features for defining **human agency**. In this work, we have followed Sen's definition of human agency (1979, 1985) which considers to be the ability of people to act on behalf of goals that matter to them, so they can shape their destiny and not just act as passive agents. Agency can be exercised at the individual level or in groups but, in this work, we will generally consider this concept at the collective-level due to the difficulty of identifying individuality in the archaeological record.

The way of conceptualising the relationship between the actions of past communities and the landscape characteristics has changed profoundly in recent times. Part of this change has been due to technological developments to characterise variables with greater precision (e.g., soil productivity), and to develop computational methods to process this evidence. Statistical, simulation, spatial and machine learning models are currently employed to quantify empirical evidence and experiment *in silico* (computationally) to better understand the relationship between landscape and human agency. It is no longer considered that the survival of early agropastoral communities was defined by the availability of resources, as people was also able to modify the surrounding social and environmental landscape to meet their needs. Three potential mechanisms can be suggested from the archaeological record: (i) modifying the intensities of food consumed (diversification of different resources, intensification of particular resources), (ii) their social relationships (exchange, reciprocity) or overcoming environmental limitations (transhumance, migration). This makes the modelling of early agropastoral communities a more complex and complicated task.

Defining what mechanisms were employed in prehistoric times is challenging. For this reason, **predictive modelling** is suggested for 'filling the gaps'. Prediction can be described as a statement about some outcome(s) that is(are) expected. The *effect* can be predicted when the *cause* and the *mechanism* is known. Predictive modelling employs statistical methods for predicting the most probable effect from all the potential causes. To do such prediction, it is necessary to know prior cases to measure the probabilities given all the possibilities.

Archaeologists usually intend to predict what people did in the past from the actual material evidence produced by the people living there and then. Predicting the past entails discovering what happened many years ago from the material evidence generated at that time and preserved until today. In case we know the **input** – archaeological and paleoenvironmental data describing a particular scenario- and the **mechanisms** – socioeconomic activities performed by people, we will be able to solve the problem, the **ouput** – whether people survived once at that area. However, in too many cases, we do not know what socioeconomic activities occurred. We may have some material evidence but not the mechanism, the particular action. There is the additional difficulty that there is not a single trace that may unambiguously discriminate one activity from others. We can, however, predict the 'most probable' given all the possibilities.

In this context, machine learning models represent a good option to investigate this topic. Unknown data can be predicted using such a model learned from a training dataset, which is a crucial advantage as data is fragmented or partially preserved. In addition, this methodology deals with large datasets and designs and quantifies the relationships between multiple variables. In machine learning, there are predictive algorithms, such as neural network, which are the most common in archaeological research. However, they have the disadvantage of being a 'black-box', which means that the calculations made by the model to transform the evidence about the input variables into the predictions for the outputs, are not visible. As a result, the modeller only knows the training data used to learn the model and the output. Not all machine learning methods have this limitation. In this study, we will focus on **Bayesian networks**, a 'white-box' probabilistic algorithm.

Despite Bayesian networks have proven to be a suitable predictive model, they are still uncommon in archaeological studies. Before this thesis, there was no previous application in archaeology of Bayesian networks and, consequently, there was no prior study in archaeology introducing this machine learning method that defined its characteristics, applications, or guidelines for its construction. This thesis aims to fill this gap and explore the suitability of this methodology to explore a specific topic, such as the relationship between the landscape, the mechanisms to ensure survival and subsistence strategies of early agropastoral communities. We will do so through the following research objectives:

OBJECTIVE 1. Assess the suitability of Bayesian networks for modelling past socioecological systems

OBJECTIVE 2. Explore ways of quantifying the probable impact of environmental features on prehistoric social behaviour, even when this impact may have been indirect

OBJECTIVE 3. Analyse the probability of social behaviour depending on different socionatural contexts

OBJECTIVE 4. Investigate the social and economic dynamics of early agropastoral systems, how economic decisions may have affected chances of survival in the prehistoric past, and its consequences on the likelihood of finding enough archaeological evidence for a proper historical explanation

These objectives are aligned with current archaeological research studies exploring the human agency of early agropastoral communities employing computational methods. We believe that this thesis will bring new information on our understanding of how these groups ensured their long-term survival in different landscapes. Additionally, we hope that by discussing the current computational methods used to explore this topic and our application with Bayesian networks, we will encourage a debate about the importance of these methods in archaeology, their potentialities, limitations, and how they can be integrated with other computational methods.

II. Thesis Structure

This thesis is structured in four chapters. Chapter 1 presents current theoretical and methodological approaches to investigate the relationship between early agropastoral groups and environmental characteristics. The Niche Construction Theory is defined as the theoretical framework followed, and Bayesian networks are introduced as the methodology applied. The current state-of-the-art of computational methods to model prehistoric systems and some of the most representative models developed thus far are presented. Bayesian networks are introduced and compared with other machine learning models. The research paper 'Palacios, O. (2023). Aplicación del aprendizaje automático en Arqueología: ¿Un cambio de paradigma?. Vegueta. Anuario de la Facultad de Geografia е Historia, 23(1), 147-186. https://doi.org/10.51349/veg.2023.1.06' is provided at the end of this chapter. This study is a bibliometric analysis of the application of machine learning methods in archaeology, defining which algorithms are the most common and for what purposes they are used.

Then, **Chapter 2** deals with two major periods of change that have been associated with the environment: the development and adoption of agropastoralism in Southwest Asia, and its expansion across the Mediterranean. It is divided into two sections, each of which focuses on a period of change. In each section, empirical archaeological evidence of what happened, where, and when is provided first, followed by models that have been previously developed to explain why and how. At the end of Chapter 2, it is included the book chapter 'Barceló, J.A. & **Palacios**, **O**. (2023). Computational simulation of prehistoric migrations. Western Mediterranean Early Neolithic case study. In V. Heyd & M. Ahola (Eds.), Moving and Migrating in Prehistoric Europe. London: Springer Routledge', which investigates in more detail what sort of variables should be considered for modelling the expansion process.

Chapter 3 presents the current evidence of early agropastoral communities in the Iberian Peninsula. The heterogeneity of the archaeological record which evidences that both Mesolithic and Neolithic communities inhabited different ecological niches and for long period of times is discussed, questioning the traditional dichotomy between both groups. To investigate the influence of the landscape on agropastoral communities, two research papers have been developed to explore this question: '**Palacios, O.**, Barceló, J.A., & Delgado, R. (2022). Exploring the role of ecology and social organisation in agropastoral societies: A Bayesian network approach. *Plos one, 17*(10), e0276088. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088', and '**Palacios, O.** & Barceló, J.A. (2023). Survival in prehistory: Disentangling the complexity of dependent relationships. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology*'. The first research paper focuses on the methodology for the construction of a predictive model based on Bayesian networks and the main results obtained. The second paper deals with the importance of social agency and behaviour and its impact on the survival of these communities.

Chapter 4 concludes this thesis by reviweing the main topics presented in each chapter, thus contextualising the major contributions made of this thesis. The principal results are exposed along with potential future research directions.

Chapter 1 Computational Methods to Understand the Past

1.1. Human Behaviour and Landscape

Until the last mid-century, with the **Evolutionary Theory** (Dunnell, 1979, 1980, 1989), the general idea was the environment determined the possibility of survival of agropastoral communities. That is, people would have never lived in regions with poor soil and weather conditions as all communities would have aimed for the best-suited lands for carrying out farming and animal harvesting. From this approach, two different lines of research emerged: the **Cultural Evolutionary Theory** (CET) (Cavalli-Sforza & Feldman, 1981; Boyd & Richerson, 1988) and the **Ecological Evolutionary Theory** (EET) (Lenski, 2015).

The CET highlighted the importance of considering people's agency for deciding and modifying their economic activities, ecological conditions, and social interactions. This introduction was associated with a change of mind on Neolithic communities' representation: instead of assigning a passive role, they were studied as active agents that made their own decisions depending on their interests, preferences, and needs (and not only influenced by the environment of their site, for example).

Conversely, other researchers placed more importance on the role of ecology for modelling socioeconomic activities of people in the past. In this line, the EET argued that past people were influenced by the ecological context, and they had to adapt and changed the way they organised, ate, lived, to adapt to the circumstances. This approach, therefore, implied that past communities did not have any specific goal or preferences but adapted to the environmental context. They lived in habitats with specific *niches*, available resources and *carrying capacities*, the maximum measure for supporting the humans and animal species living in that location.

Considering these concepts, the starting point of this approach was the optimisation hypothesis, which assumed that people always exploit the habitat in a rational way, minimising their effort to satisfy their needs. This premise led to the conceptualisation of the **Optimal Foraging Theory** (OFT), developed by MacArthur and Pianka (1966) and introduced in archaeology by Winterhalder and Smith (1981). This theory was mainly based on the simple model of predator and prey interactions, named the *Lotka-Volterra Model* (Lotka, 1925; Volterra, 1926) which was based in nonlinear differential equations modelling the interaction of two species (the prey and the predator). The main assumption of this model was that prey populations always

find food; the food supply of the predator is only based on the prey population or that the rate of change of population is proportional to its size. Based on the same principles, this theory was applied to model communities that based their subsistence on hunting-gathering-fishing activities (henceforth foragers). When food was encountered (prey), foragers (predators) would have balanced the costs of acquiring, processing, and transporting the prey with the benefits, which would have been the acquired energy. The difference between the costs and benefits it is what would have determined if pursuing or not the prey.

But did foragers count calories and hours? Since its conceptualisation, the principal critique of this model was the use of modern capitalist economy such as individualism (probably not only one person conducted all the activities), but self-interest also (if it compensated the time and energy spent), or maximisation (obtaining the maximum benefits with the less time invested). Not so far away in time and space, we have numerous examples of agropastoral communities that, mostly due to the climate change and governmental policies, they must invest more time and effort in obtaining the food than the energy and money spent (e.g., Homewood et al., 2019; Ifejika Speranza, 2010). To cope with this difference, such communities have acquired multiple strategies although they could migrate permanently to bigger cities to ensure their long-term but instead, they stay in 'less optimal' locations (e.g., Ravera et al., 2011; Bollig, 2006). The reason why they acquire new subsistence strategies is clear, to survive, but the reason why they do not move out comes down to personal, domestic, community preferences that are hardly measurable.

There are currently two principal theoretical frameworks in archaeology, the Human Behavioural Ecology (HBE) and the Niche Construction Theory (NCT), both branches of evolutionary theory. The HBE was developed in mid-70s (e.g., Denham, 1971; Dyson-Hudson & Smith, 1978; Wilmsen, 1973) to study socioecological responses of animals (applied to humans in archaeology) in facing constraints (e.g., food scarcity, climate change). From this approach, the most effective response is the one selected as being the most probable (following the OFT). Most studies applying HBE in archaeology deal with the foraging theory (especially the diet breath model) or resource distribution (Cannon & Broughton, 2010; Nettle, 2009; Kaplan et al., 2005). Conversely, NCT, developed in mid-90s (Laland et al., 1996, 1999; Odling-Smee et al., 1996), focuses on the impact of the behaviour on the environment from the premise that human actions modify the landscape. In this sense, unlike the HBE, it considers the dynamism and coevolutionary transformations resulting from human - environment relationships (Odling-Smee et al., 2003; Laland et al., 2001; Laland & O'Brien, 2010; O'Brien & Laland, 2012). Another divergence is that NCT does not take into account the most effective behaviour since niche construction can affect negatively to fitness. Whilst the HBE has a rooted tradition of application in forager studies, the NCT is commonly applied to explore the origins of agropastoralism (e.g.,

Bogaard et al., 2021; Abbo & Gopher, 2020). Despite these differences, there is a vibrant debate about the potential complementarity of these two frameworks (e.g., Gremillion, 2019; Zeder, 2015).

Since the NCT explores the decisions and preferences of past people, the concept of culture, understood as a non-genetic inheritance process socially transmitted, plays a crucial role. For this reason, there is the variation of this framework that explores specifically the impact of culture, known as Cultural Niche Construction Theory (CNCT) (Smith, 2011; Zeder, 2016). It argues that humans can actively modify the environment with previously learned behaviours that to ensure their long-term survival. This goal-oriented approach of NCT has been strongly criticised by some authors for being vague in conceptualisation (Spengler, 2021) and considered a 'manufactured subdiscipline within the scientific community' (Gupta et al., 2017:491) that already existed.

1.2. Systems Modelling, Behaviour Prediction

1.2.1. Inferring the Past

To investigate the relationship between social actions of the past and the environment in which communities lived, produced, and consumed food resources, we need to re-create the past. We may never re-create faithfully the past, but that recreation may provide us with further insights into where, when, how, and why systems lived in that way in the past. Our goal should be to 'reverse' the past, observe the empirical evidence and 'reconstruct' its production process and context. This approach has been called 'reverse engineering' and defined as the study of a sample of a product, device, or machine, to discover how it functions or has been made (Raja & Fernandes, 2008; Messler & Faws, 2014; Camagni et al., 2019). Thus, it is a type of backward inference from the end state to the beginning state of some system. With reverse engineering, the researcher starts the final product -the empirical archaeological evidence- and works through the design process in the opposite direction of the formation process to arrive at the original product -past communities-. That is, given a particular state within a determined design system, we should infer the previous state by *reconstructing* the mechanism that produced the observed deformation. The problem to solve is equivalent to what philosophers of science refer as an *inverse problem*: we see the effect, and we want to infer the cause (Pizlo, 2001; Bunge, 2017; Gelman & Imbens, 2013). Following this idea, archaeology has been described as an 'inverse science', in which 'we can see the effect but the causes and/or motivations ('the social dimension') are unknown (unobservable)' (Barceló, 2017:23).

To reconstruct the **mechanism**, we need to model the reality that we want to explore. Models are representations of a selected part or aspect of the reality that we want to investigate (Frigg & Nguyen, 2017). To produce models, there are two principal approaches: *deduction* and *induction*.

Deduction is a top-down approach that examines the available data (top) to deduce patterns or structures (down) that can inform us concerning the behavioural practices in the past, for example. In other words, deduction reasons from the premises to reach a logically certain conclusion (Coccia, 2018:119). It is a well-suited method in archaeology for its capacity to extract mechanisms from partially preserved empirical evidence, but it has the disadvantage of always considering 'true' the deductions and validation limitations.

Induction, on the other hand, is a bottom-up approach that derives theories from the data (bottom) to extract the mechanisms (up) (Gärdenfors & Stephens 2018; Barker, 2020). Therefore, results obtain with induction are expressed in terms of probabilities. When the research questions require some sort of data that cannot be quantified with the archaeological evidence (e.g., manufacture processes, use of technologies) or for results validation, experimental archaeology is a suitable method (O'Neill & O'Sullivan, 2019; Paardekooper, 2019; Lammers-Keijsers, 2005). It employs induction to bring together the past evidence and the social evidence. Induction represents one of the most fundamental notions for archaeological inference is that of similarity: the solutions to an archaeological problem group together things that are similar. Two entities are similar because they have many properties in common. Similarity depends on the context in which they occur, but two different things can be present in the same context. For instance, a community may hunt less if it relies heavily on farming but, hunting may also be a minor activity when communities live in the coast. Thus, in this case, the intensity of hunting may be related to the intensity in which farming is practised and/or the location. But location and farming may not be related and, consequently, have an independent relationship.

Modelling past communities is, therefore, not only complicated because we need to consider many variables that may have shaped their lifestyle, but also *complex* because these variables were interrelated in a dynamic involving decision-making by individual/community's perception on their social and environmental landscape. To include all these variables and introduce the complexity among different variables in SES, the **Complex Systems Theory** (CST) (initially known as 'General Systems Theory' by Von Bertalanffy, 1950) was incorporated in archaeology. The fundamentals of this approach were formulated as follows:

"There exist models, principles and laws that apply to generalised systems or their subclasses irrespective of their particular kind, the nature of the component elements, and the relations or

'forces' between them. We postulate a new discipline called General Systems Theory. General Systems Theory is a logic-mathematical field whose task is the formulation and derivation of those general principles that are applicable to 'systems' in general. In this way, exact formulations of terms such as wholeness and sum, differentiation, progressive mechanization, centralisation, hierarchical order, finality and equifinality, etc., become possible, terms which occur in all sciences dealing with 'systems' and imply their logical homology'' (Von Bertalanffy, 1950).

The underlying assumption is that systems could be studied by identifying their variables, which can be **inputs** (parameters, initial conditions, assumptions, constraints) and **outputs** (the model responses, what we aim to predict), and **mechanisms** to organise the range of behaviours present in the system (Mitchell, 2009). This new conceptualisation represented a crucial change to investigate past systems by providing dynamism to the relationship between the environment and past communities (Kohler & Van der Leeuw, 2007), where the archaeological record was considered the sum of numerous activities dilated in time (e.g., what they produced, consumed, interactions among people, used artefacts, etc.). Only by looking at the biased materiality (the archaeological record) would not be feasible to comprehend the social, economic, and ideological landscape of the past system. Leaving behind the positivism of the New Archaeology, CST proposed a framework of doing a more 'global' archaeology, less centred in specific cases (Carmichael & Hadzikadic, 2019). In words of Schlüter et al. (2017), 'it opened up the possibility of investigating general social-cultural concepts like worldviews, collective traditions and experiences, beliefs, or attitudes'.

In this line, SES are defined from a system-based perspective that looks at the behaviours and interactions between social (e.g., subsistence strategies, transaction mechanisms, mobility) and ecological (e.g., climate, soil characteristics, topography) components (Berkes et al., 2000). They are inherently complex systems as their interactions are the result of complex, dynamics, and interconnected structures with feedback across socioenvironmental dimensions (Ferraro et al., 2019). For this reason, the principal way of modelling them is through computation.

1.2.2. Model Construction

Computational modelling is not new in archaeology. The first computational model in social sciences was the 'Segregation model' (Schelling, 1969) to model the ethnic distribution patterns of neighbourhoods. In 1970, the 'Game of Life' (Conway, 1970) was designed, representing the emergence and auto-organisation of cells. These ideas of modelling behavioural dynamics were adopted by archaeologists following the Evolutionary Theory (some examples are Doran, 1970; Flannery, 1972; Wobst, 1974; Cooke & Renfrew, 1979). From early applications until today, many different computational models with different characteristics have been developed in connection with advances in the archaeological knowledge and technology (for an overview of computational trends in archaeology see Lake, 2014). Among the strengths of computational modelling, their use for *data mining* (explore data and develop new hypotheses), and *explanatory capacity* of complex systems represent the most relevant applications in the archaeological field.

The building process of all computational models is rather similar as there are attempts by the archaeological community to improve the transparency and reproducibility of the models. In general, the building process encompasses four steps: conceptualisation, model design and experimentation, validation, and dissemination.

Step 1. Conceptualisation: determine as precise as possible the question that the models aim to answer and choose the most suitable approach. There are two types of models: (i) *Phenomena-based* (known as explicit models) aims to understand the mechanisms that cause the observed pattern (e.g., why communities abandoned a settlement); (ii) *Exploratory* (known as hypothetical models) tend to be more abstract as are designed to explore whether patterns or any aspect of interest emerge with defined actions (e.g., the effects of intensive farming in a settlement).

Step 2. Model design and experimentation: there are two options to design the model, in the *top-down approach* the modeller designs the agents, interaction rules and environment before writing the code. Conversely, in the *bottom-up approach* the model's conceptualisation and the code are defined simultaneously, influencing the elaboration of the other. Despite this difference, most modellers combine both approaches as the model conceptualisation tends to vary during the building process. Concerning what variables include in the model, there are also two main approaches: the KISS (Keep It Simple, Stupid) and the KIDS (Keep It Descriptive, Stupid). As the names depict, the former approach supports modelling the minimum of entities and processes as possible to simplify the model whereas the other approach argues for a detailed model to then eliminate those variables that turn out to not be significant. By forcing to specify

the elements of our arguments, such as actors and their goals, modelling should increase clarity and explicitness, reducing ambiguity and vagueness. There is a wide range of different openaccess software to implement computational models, being the statistical software R the preferred choice (R Core Team, 2022).

Once the model is built, a common step is to conduct an Exploratory Data Analysis (EDA) using statistical techniques like correlation or regression techniques in combination with data visualization methods. EDA is used to spot problems in the model and to obtain a general overview of the model and identify those features that may be interesting to explore in detail. In case of any anomaly is identified, the model needs to be mended and conduct EDA again. When the model is prepared, results are generally obtained using two methods: parameter sweep and alternative testing. In parameter sweep, the modeller modifies all parameter values gradually with the aim to identify potential dependencies among parameters, thresholds, and feedback loops (Romanowska, 2015). Alternative testing, on the other hand, consists of designing different simulation scenarios that aim to explore different questions so patterns and interesting insights can be obtained.

Step 3. Sensitivity analysis (SA): is used to examine the robustness of results obtained in the model by exploring how the outputs are influenced by the inputs (Razavi et al., 2021). To conduct the SA, one parameter at a time is changed while the rest remain the same so the modeller can identify potential effects of that parameter on the results. Usually, this process is conducted changing various parameters, so patterns and relations are observed. In this sense, a *robust* model is the one when the output values of interest remain within the defined interval (Chattoe et al., 2000). During this examination, three different goals can be achieved: (i) make a scientific discovery as the hypotheses, scales, and interactions of the system (e.g., Gupta & Razavi, 2018), (ii) identify potential processes and parameters that dominantly control the system, (iii) quantify the reliability of the data and results obtained.

As noted by some researchers (e.g., Chattoe et al., 2000; Kanters et al., 2021), models built in social sciences and particularly archaeology, do not tend to perform SA and publish the experiments process. Consequently, it is difficult for the other researchers to assess the robustness of the model and reuse. For agent-based modelling, the MERCURY model (Kanters et al., 2021) was designed to achieve this aim but, besides this initiative, there have not been more attempts to address this issue.

Step 4. Dissemination: sustainability and reusability have become relevant factors to consider in archaeology. Instead of building a model to explore a specific context, it is increasingly becoming more common to design models that can be reused to investigate different

contexts and periods and publish them in open-access, following the FOSS principle (Free of charge and Open-Source Software). To ensure this, practices such as standardization retrieved data, data sharing, open data and recycling are crucial factors to ensure a more sustainable archaeology. In this line, open software such as R (R Core Team, 2022) or NetLogo (Wilensky, 1999) are encouraged since they can be reused and improved by the research community.

1.2.3. Types of Models

In general terms, there are three principal categories of computational systems in archaeology: **GIS-based**, **Agent-based** and **Machine learning modelling** (Brower Burg et al., 2016).

GIS-based modelling is characterised for being highly detailed in geographic, geologic, vegetation, and faunal context where the human action takes place. To build accurate reconstruction of paleolandscapes, powerful geographic information system software such as ArcGIS (Redlands, 2011), QGIS (QGIS organisation, 2023) or GRASS (GRASS Development Team, 2022) are used. Some examples of this modelling applied to explore SES questions include Ullah et al., 2019, or Sikk et al., 2022.

The principal strength of GIS-based modelling (Geographical Information System) is the production of detailed and accurate palaeoecological models which can be used as foundation for modelling unpredictable behaviour of human agents. On the other hand, the main disadvantage of using this kind of modelling for exploring archaeological question is the lack of sufficient or reliable environmental data as obtaining a detailed landscape of past systems is challenging. The resulting landscape is a static map surface instead of reconstructing dynamic models. Another limitation of this approach is the type of models that are usually produced: they are mostly focused on specific regions and short time span rather than investigating broad-level trends that could be applicable in diverse spatiotemporal contexts (Brouwer Burg, 2016).

Since the development of the first **Agent-based model** (ABM) of social sciences, the 'Sugarscape' (Epstein & Axtell, 1996), which represented the carrying capacity of resources in an artificial environment, this method has gained relevant importance for conceptualising the social dimension in archaeology (for further details, see Romanowska et al., 2021). It attempts to explain macro-scale behavioural phenomenon through high volume iterations of socioecological dynamics. It is broadly used to investigate SES due to its capacity for experimenting with the systems *in silico* in geographical accurate settings, as it can be coupled with other software such as GIS or GRASS (Geographic Resource Analysis Support System). The model can be

implemented using specific software such as NetLogo (Wilensky, 1999), Cormas (Bommel et al., 2016), MASON (Luke et al., 2019) or Repast (Collier et al., 2003). Consequently, it is possible to create virtual worlds in which socio-ecological dynamics can be studied at temporal and spatial scales not possible in real-world contexts (Barton et al., 2012:51).

The principal critique to ABM concerns its validation difficulties: if empirical data is used for building and validating the model, results will always match initial assumptions (for a detailed description of the limitations see Epstein, 2012; Kohler & Gumerman, 2000). However, a considerable effort has been made to address this problem, by building accurate protocols for model building and validation such as the ODD (Overview, Design concepts and Details) protocol (Grimm et al., 2010, 2020) or the TRACE (Schmolke et al., 2010; Grimm et al., 2014) and the code publication in online repositories like the CoMSES Computational Model Library (CoMSES Net, 2023), or GitHub. Additionally, in recent years, more former guides have been published to make more accessible the knowledge and necessary training of ABM to archaeologists that want to learn this method (see the step-by-step volumes of Romanowska et al., 2019, 2021; Davies et al., 2019; Crabtree et al., 2019).

The constant revaluation of protocol, quality and transparency of agent-based models have placed this kind of computer model as one of the most widespread methods in archaeology. It has been employed for exploring a wide range of different decision-making processes such as management policy (Cioffi-Revilla, 2002), power emergence (Kohler et al., 2012; Rogers, 2017), exchange (Bentley et al., 2005; Kobti, 2012), inter-agent social learning (Kohler et al., 2012; Mithen, 1988; Premo & Scholnick, 2011), subsistence procurement (Gravel-Miguel et al., 2022). Particularly developed for modelling SES, there are four crucial models that have defined this line of research: the *Village Ecodynamics* (Kohler et al., 2012), *WELASSIMO* (Baum, 2014, 2016; Baum et al., 2016, 2020), *ENKIMDU* (Altaweel, 2008; Wilkinson et al., 2007; Christiansen & Altaweel, 2006), *The Mediterranean Landscape Project* (Barton et al., 2010, 2012; Ullah & Bergin, 2012; Barton, 2016; Bernabeu Aubán et al., 2003; Mayer & Sarjoughian, 2009). Their differences are described in **Table 1**.

Model	The Village Ecodynamics	WELASSIMO	ENKIMDU	The Mediterranean Landscape project
Software	NetLogo	NetLogo	Java and implemented with DIAS (Dynamic Information Architecture System), FACET (Framework for Addressing Cooperative Extended Transactions) and JeoViewer	Python and implemented with GRASS GIS software (landscape and land-use) and Java-based DEVS-Suite (household consumption)
Objective	Identify why ancient Anasazi Puebloan people abandoned the Long House Valley by 1,2 ka BP	Explore socio- economic dynamics of Neolithic wetland sites through the simulation of crop husbandry yields	Explore agricultural sustainable of agropastoral settlements of ancient Mesopotamia	Investigate the consequences of rural land- use practices in the Mediterranean area
Study area	Long House Valley (Mesa Verde National Park, north- eastern Arizona), 7- 1,3 ka BP	Northern pre- Alpine area, 6,2-5,6 ka BP	Northern and southern Assyrian heartland, Ancient Mesopotamia	Mediterranean area (from eastern Spain to western Jordan) in the Holocene
Environmental variables	Topography: elevation, slope, accessibility to rivers (catchment areas and aquifer waters). Soil characteristics: depth, moisture, type, natural plant productivity, agricultural yield Climate: annual and monthly temperature, annual and monthly precipitation	Topography: elevation, slope Soil characteristics: type, yield, productivity, carrying capacity, forest development. Climate: mean temperature and variation, mean precipitation, and variation	Topography: soil evolution, hydrological evapotranspiration, types, nutrient cycling, vegetation growth Climate: wind, temperature, precipitation, sunshine/overcast	Topography:slope,elevationSoil characteristics: type,erosion, thickness, depth,fertility, land cover, flowingwater accumulationClimate: temperature andprecipitation
Resources	Agriculture: maize Foraging: hunting Others: fuelwood	Agriculture: cereals Animal husbandry: cattle Foraging: hunting, gathering, and fishing Others: timber	Agriculture: barley Animal husbandry: cow, sheep, goat Foraging: fish	Agriculture Animal husbandry Others: fuelwood
Model	The Village Ecodynamics	WELASSIMO	ENKIMDU	The Mediterranean Landscape project
-------------------------	---	--	--	--
Population size	Nuclear families composed by five individuals: two adults of 17- 30 years and three children below 17 years	Settlements are formed by ten households. Each household is a nuclear family composed by an average of six individuals (two adults and children)	Households are composed by six able-bodied individuals (not infants or beyond 65 years)	Individual agents organised in villages
Population behaviour	Households aim to experiences accord	meet their caloric need ling the OFT (they alway	ls with farming, and they ays follow the most effic	make decisions based on past ient option)
Mobility	Households practise exchange through reciprocity between other neighbour households and they can also relocate to find a more efficient location	No mobility. Households are resilient and have a flexible diet to overcome scarcity.	Relocation when not enough calories are obtained	Not specified
Conflict and war	The model considers the emergence of leadership, internal warfare, or socio-political instability	Not specified		
Results	The results of the model suggest that socio political or ideological factors may have led the surviving Puebloans to leave the valley	Wetland settlement practised permanent cultivation and scarcity of woodland resources was probably the cause for settlement abandonment	It proved that Neo- Assyrians had a significant impact on the archaeological and ecological landscapes surrounding their capital due to the importance of the cities in contrast to other governed areas	Interesting insights concerning resources management in Mediterranean landscapes were obtained

 Table 1. Overview of the principal agent-based models designed for exploring past socioecological systems.

Artificial Intelligence (AI) is a discipline born in the 1960s that encompasses all algorithms that attempt to make a machine imitate the cognitive functions of humans, such as learning or problem solving. Machine Learning (ML) is the AI subfield of the algorithms that enable a machine to analyse data, build models that improve (predict better) as they feed on more data, and make predictions with these models, which help to make decisions, and generate knowledge. The ML models are self-learned from a database from which they feed, adapting

automatically to its updates. They require complex math and programming to implement the algorithms.

ML has gained relevant importance in archaeological science in recent years. To explore past socioecological systems, ML has been applied to study migration (e.g., Vahdati et al., 2019), socioeconomic resources management (e.g., Ahedo et al., 2019, 2021; Burry et al., 2018; Barceló et al., 2015; Alberti, 2014) and cultural dynamics (e.g., Hyafil & Baumard, 2022). Especially significant is the combination of the use of machine learning with remote sensing (e.g., Argyrou & Agapiou, 2022; Casini et al., 2022) to reduce the time-consuming and economic cost of surveying and excavation. Additionally, a line of research that is becoming increasingly important employing these methods is the preservation of archaeological heritage and risk assessment (De Masi et al., 2021). In the same context, the field of predictive modelling with ML is also growing rapidly (Castiello, 2022).

This increase in applied studies in archaeology has been possible thanks to the alignment of multiple factors: the availability of large open-access datasets, the introduction of coding and computational methods in archaeology, the technological improvement of open easy-to-use software such as R. These factors have allowed archaeologists to learn and implement computational methods to address archaeological problems from different perspectives. In this context, the use machine learning methods has become more common in the last five years. The main reasons for the growing popularity of this methodology are that it makes computational processing feasible and effective (it does not require as much computing power as ABM, for example) and the models have feedback loops (the results predicted by the model are reused to train new versions of the model). Consequently, ML is well-suited for recycling and reusing models since even if the model is built and results are collected, if we have new case studies, we can introduce them and the model is automatically relearned, giving rise to a new model better adapted to the data available at that moment.

Algorithms of ML can perform different types of tasks: Unsupervised machine learning, Reinforcement learning, and Supervised machine learning.

Unsupervised methods are used to model the underlying structure -patterns, distributionof data. They work with unlabelled data, which means that variables are not divided into inputs and outputs an, therefore none of the variables (output) are predicted by the model from the value of other variables (input), so there is no way to monitor the predictive behaviour of the model (hence 'unsupervised'). They are commonly used to perform exploratory and descriptive analyses on large datasets and to conduct three main tasks: *clustering*, *association*, and *dimensionality reduction*. *Clustering* is the process of grouping instances into similarity classes or clusters. The instances grouped in the same cluster are those that have similar values for the different features. *Association* analysis aims to find relationships between the variables in a dataset. *Dimensionality reduction* analysis is useful when the number of features (dimension) in a dataset is too high needs to be reducted. Some of the most commonly used unsupervised algorithms are Principal Component Analysis (PCA), and k-means Clustering.

The field of machine learning known as **Reinforcement learning** (RL) studies how intelligent agents should behave in a given environment in order to maximize the cumulative reward, and as unsupervised learning, does not require the presentation of labeled input/output pairings.

On the other hand, **Supervised methods** are used to solve problems when the available data consists of labeled instances, which means that each instance is a pair consisting of an input object, which is typically a vector, and an output object, which can be a single value or a vector. Based on samples of input-output pairs that form a training dataset, supervised learning methods aim to train an algorithm that accurately translates feature vectors (inputs) into output values (labels) for instances that are not yet visible to the model. This requires the learning algorithm to 'reasonably' generalize from the training data to real data. The so-called 'generalization error' is used to measure the statistical performance of an algorithm, and is estimated through a validation process that consists of using the model learned from the training dataset to predict the outputs corresponding to the instances of the validation (or test) dataset that acts as a set of new instances not seen by the model, for which we can compare the model predictions with the actually observed values. We speak of 'classification' when the outputs are finite categorical or discrete variables, and of 'regression' when they are continuous. Both tasks follow the same approach, building the predictive model ('classifier' or 'regression model', respectively) from the training database of instances, which are input-output pairs, so the resulting model learns to predict the value of the output variable(s) or label(s) for new instances for which their characteristics (input variables) are known (Bhavsar & Ganatra, 2012: 74). Supervised learning models look for the statistical association between variables, identify common properties shared in different case studies so that we can observe the same social action to acquire the ability to explain similar evidence as probably- generated by the same cause. Since supervised methods work with labelled data, during the pre-processing phase it is required to ensure that the data is labelled, labelling it if necessary and, in some algorithms, discretising the continuous variables. Some of the most used supervised algorithms are random forest, neural networks, k-nearest neighbours, support vector machines and decision trees.

Generally, supervised methods are preferred over unsupervised for their predictive power, although they are not exclusive. In fact, some studies use unsupervised methods to explore the dataset before further analysis using supervised methods (e.g., Ahedo et al., 2021; Monna et al., 2020; Sharafi et al., 2016). Regarding the limitation of ML methods in archaeology, there are two main criticism that explain this fact. First, some researchers argue that these types of models are 'black-box' because the model design is not transparent. The modeller inputs the data and uses it to train the model and to predict the 'best' value (in some sense) for the output of a new instance. However, neither the training nor the prediction processes are observable and, therefore, it is difficult to assess the results. In this sense, SA can help to look inside the model and improve its explainability and interpretability because it explores the relationship among features and outcomes (Razavi et al., 2021). In its defense, it must be said that not all supervised ML methods are 'black-box'. Precisely, the one that we introduce in this work, the Bayesian Networks, are characterized by being 'white-box', as we will explain later.

Another disadvantage is the risk of 'losing the forest for the trees' if the dataset is too diversified and with few instances for every scenario. Ideally, all contexts should be equally well represented in the training dataset because otherwise one category would be prioritised, and reliable predictions would only be obtained for that category. This makes this method unsuitable for dealing with outliers (like most computational methods).

Of all the possible computational methos and machine learning algorithms, we have decided to focus this study on a supervised algorithm that is rarely used in archaeology but has great potential for dealing with archaeological data, **Bayesian networks** (BN). This methodology has gained importance in recent years in other fields such as healthcare or ecology. One of the most common uses of this method is to predict socio-ecological systems, such as the impact of human action to manage fires (e.g., Sevinc et al., 2020; Dlamini, 2011; Zwirglmaier et al., 2013), water resources (e.g., Phan et al., 2021; Castelletti & Soncini-Sessa, 2007), designing healthcare policies (Delgado et al., 2021; Spiegelhalter, 2004; Walsche & Burgman, 2010; Cruz-Ramírez et al., 2007), or risk management strategies (e.g., Pan et al., 2019; Sakar et al., 2021; Khan et al., 2018; Li et al., 2020). However, its application in archaeology is still rare. Whilst Bayesian statistics has gained popularity, especially for its application on radiocarbon dating (e.g., Otárola-Castillo et al., 2022; O'Shea, 2004; Hitchings, 2022; Krzyzanska et al., 2022), there are still very few applications of BN.

Bayesian networks (BN) are supervised ML models that are used for the classification task. More specifically, they are probabilistic algorithms, with a graphic component and some parameters that are conditioned probabilities, which encode the relationship of dependence between the variables associated with a random phenomenon of interest, which is the explored system. Like other statistical models, BN can be used to address questions about the nature of the data that go beyond the mere description of the observed sample (Nagarajan et al., 2013). The techniques used to derive these answers from new evidence are generally known as 'inference', although in the particular case of BN, the process of answering these questions is also known as 'probabilistic reasoning' or 'belief updating', while the questions themselves are called 'queries' (Pearl, 1988; Koller & Friedman, 2009).

One of the most interesting aspects of the BN is that they are 'white-box' models, and that means that they are transparent models that serve to understand and explore how the predictions are obtained (Naïm et al., 2011; Pearl, 1988; Wellman, 1990). Furthermore, it is not only used for prediction purposes, but explanatory knowledge can be gained from the graphic part of the model. These characteristics make BN a versatile probabilistic model in the current landscape of computational models, BN's ability to integrate quantitative and qualitative data and account for uncertainty (e.g., Stritih et al., 2020; Marcot & Penman, 2019; Uusitalo, 2007; Afrin & Yodo, 2021).

As for the potential limitations of BN, they are similar to other supervised machine learning methods: they are restricted to labelled data, and on the other hand, they involve a trade off between 'archaeological significance' and 'computational efficiency'. The latter is explained because the number of categories per variable must be limited with the aim of reducing the computational complexity, which necessarily leads to the simplification of the information available. All different values of the categories of the variables should ideally be distributed equally, but that is very difficult to achieve. The different values of the categories will be more or less represented in the dataset, and if there are few instances with a certain value, its prediction will be less accurate than other more represented values.

1.3. Bayesian Networks

1.3.1. Fundamentals

BN are based on the Bayes' theorem¹ (Franzese et al., 2012; Koller & Friedman, 2009; Moschovakis, 2001), that expresses the a posteriori probability of an event A based on an evidence B in terms of the a priori probability of the event A, and the likelihood of the evidence B, and can be expressed as follows (1):

$$P(A \mid B) = \frac{P(A \cap B)}{P(B)} = \frac{P(A) \cdot P(B \mid A)}{P(B)}$$
(1)

Where in (1), the following notations are used:

P(A): the probability of A occurring (a prior probability of event A)

P(B): the probability of B occurring (likelihood of the evidence B)

P(A | B): the probability of A given B (a posterior probability of event A given the evidence B)

P(B|A): the probability of B given A (likelihood of the evidence B under the assumption that A is true)

 $P(A \cap B)$: the probability of both A and B occurring at the same time

To obtain these probabilities, BN employs probabilistic inference (Wheeler & Williamson, 2011; Hátek & Hartmann, 2010).

BN are probabilistic models to represent the relationship between a set of variables, those that affect a phenomenon subject to randomness that we are interested in studying. The model consists of a graphical part, which is a directed acyclic graph G, and a joint probability distribution P over the variables. The nodes of G represent the random variables whose directed edges correspond to the direct influence of one node on another (Koller & Friedman, 2009:51) with the restriction that cycles are not allowed, a 'cycle' being a closed path from a node to itself following in the direction of the edges and obtained by concatenation (hence 'acyclic'), and can be represented as follows (2):

$$G = (V, E) \qquad (2)$$

¹ Sometime during the 1740s, the Reverend Thomas Bayes made the ingenious discovery that bears his name but then mysteriously abandoned it. Bayes never published his discovery, but his friend Richard Price found it among his notes after Bayes' death in 1761, re-edited it, and published it. Unfortunately, virtually no one seems to have read the paper, and Bayes' method lay cold until it was rediscovered independently by a different and far more renowned man, Pierre Simon Laplace, who gave it its modern mathematical form and scientific application — and then moved on to other methods.

G: Directed Acyclic Graph (DAG)

V: vertices (also called nodes), representing the variables

E: set of directed edges, formally expressed as a set of pairs of nodes indicating the departure and arrival nodes of each directed edge

For example, a node set $V = \{A, B, C, D\}$ represent four variables, A, B, C, and D, and the set of directed arcs that relate them could be $E = \{(A, B), (B, C), (B, D), (C, D)\}$. Therefore, the corresponding DAG G= (V, E) is represented in **Figure 1**:



Figure 1. Directed graph of the example.

Figure 2 below shows some most common notations when working with DAGs: ancestor, parent, child, and descendant.



Figure 2. Example of directed graphs and the relationships encompassed between the nodes in the DAG. The colour grey defines the perspective in which relationships are defined.

As we have already anticipated, this structure is marked by *paths*, which are sequences of concatenated arcs or directed edges connecting two nodes, say A and B, the destination of one

arc being the origin of the next in the sequence, with the first origin being A, and the last destiny being B. The structure is *acyclic* if it does not contain any cycle or loop.

What caracterises that pair (G, P), with G=(V, E) being a DAG, and P a joint probability distribution over variables in V, is a Bayesian network is that the directed arcs between nodes, E, represent conditional dependencies (not necessarily causal) that verify the **Markov condition** of P. The Markov condition states that each variable in V is independent on its non-descendants, conditioning to the state of all its parents in the DAG G (a variable can have more than one parent).

Following the example in **Figure 1**, the DAG represented there with a joint probability distribution P over V is a BN if they verify the Markov condition, which entails the following conditional relationship of independence between the variables in V (with respect to P):

- For node A: conditioning to its parents (none), A is independent of its nondescendants (none, since B, C and D are descendants of A).
- For node B: conditioning to its parent A, B is independent of its non-descendants (none, since C and D are descendants of B).
- For node C: conditioning to its parent B, C is independent of its non-descendant A.
- For node D: conditioning to its parents B and C, D is independent of its nondescendant A.

That is, Markov condition reduces to:

- a) C is independent of A conditioning to B,
- b) D is independent of A conditioning to B and C.

This means that say that the DAG in **Figure 1** jointly with a probability distribution P is a Bayesian network is equivalent to say that conditions a) and b) are both satisfied (with respect to P). Moreover, if it is the case, the joint probability distribution P can be expressed by the know as **Chain Rule** in the following way (as a product of probabilities conditioning any node to its parents, from the leaf nodes, which are the nodes without children, to the rood nodes, wich are those without parents) **(3)**:

$$P = (A = a, B = b, C = c, D = d) = P(D = d / B = b, C = c)P(C = c / B = b)P(B)$$
$$= b / A = a)P(A = a)$$
(3)

The most common type of Bayesian networks are the ones known as 'static models', that is, those that represent a snapshot of the phenomenon under study, at a particular time, or that are invariant in time. By contrast, the Dynamic Bayesian networks are a specific type of models that incorporate temporal dynamics between the entities of interest (Murphy, 2002). In Dynamic Bayesian networks, each variable is represented by several nodes across time points, making them more complex and complicated. Dynamic BN are still very rarely applied and there is not any application in archaeology, for this reason, we have opted to focus on static BN which are the general type of traditional BN, although a possible line of future would focus precisely on the application of Dynamic BN to archaeological data.

In BN, the task of construction of the model from a database is known as *learning*, and it consists of two steps: *structure learning* and *parameter learning*. First, in *structure learning* the goal is to identify the graph structure, that is, the DAG G that best fits the data, according to certain criteria. Usually, there are three different approaches for achieving this, constraint-based, score-based, and hybrid learning (Nagarajan et al., 2013). In this work we follow the score-based structure learning, with the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) as score to try to maximise through an iterative heuristic search process based on the hill-climbing algorithm, implemented in the **hc** function of the R package **bnlearn** (Scutari & Denis, 2021).

Second, *parameters learning* is the process of implementing the estimation of the parameters of the distribution P of the Bayesian network (G,P) or, which is equivalent by the Chain Rule, the probabilities of each of the nodes conditioned to its parents in the DAG, which are, then, the 'parameters' of the model to estimate and can be represents in terms of **Conditional Probability Tables** (CPT). CPT list the probabilities of each node conditionining to all the possible combination of values of its parents. Parameters are estimated by the Maximum Likelihood Estimation (MLE), which is the most universally used model parameters estimation method in Statistics. The underlying idea is quite simple: if the likelihood of a model with respect to some data, which is the probability of observing with the model precisely those data that we have observed, is a measure of how well the model fits the data, we must choose the model parameters that maximise this measure of fit. As simple as brilliant, MLE was conceptualised by Sir Ronald Aylmer Fisher, and it is considered one of the most relevant contributions to Statistics of the 20th century.

Classical BN work with finite discrete or categorical variables and, if we have mixed data, that is, if some of the variables are continuous, it is necessary to discretize. There is always a trade-off between the accuracy of the discrete representation of the original data and the computational efficiency of the transformation because discretization always implies a loss of information while it simplifies. Nevertheless, thanks to this simplification it is possible to construct interpretable and simple models. There are different ways for defining the intervals in the discretization process of a continuous variables, such as using prior knowledge, heuristics (Venables & Ripley, 2002) or choosing the number of intervals and dividing equally among others

(Hartemink, 2001). Although it is possible to construct Gaussian BNs (if the predictor variables are all continuous) or hybrids (in the case of having mixed variables), in the research carried out in this thesis we have focused solely on classical BNs, leaving their application for research future.

It should be noted that BN provide statements of conditional independence but not of causality. They can be used to identify influence, but do not represent cause-and-effect relationships. As has been said, 'correlation does not imply causation' because there is no method of proving that cause-effect relationship between two variables actually occurs. Although it has been argued that 'good' Bayesian networks models represent the causal structure of the modelled system (Pearl, 2009), this is difficult to verify. In general, we are not able to identify a single 'best' causal network but rather a small set of likely causal networks that fit our knowledge of the data. BNs model the dependency relationship between variables but not allow establishing that these relationships are causal. Causality is not in the model but in our interpretation if we decide to make it.

1.3.2. Previous Applications of Bayesian Networks

BNs are used for data classification, that is, the output nodes can be configured to represent final classes, labels, types or concepts, and input nodes represent features, part-of relationships or any other aspect related to an explanation of the outputs. For instance, Barceló (1996) used a BN to solve the brittleness problem of pottery pots of archaeological classifications. As a result, the study provides different probabilities to different elements of the explanation. Another example is found in the study of Vuong et al. (2019) that uses BNs to classify ancient buildings, considering the inner modifications and cultural dynamic of the infrastructures. To address this issue, nodes record the presence/absence/relevance of different decorative and architectonic features (including Buddhism-inspired patterns/symbols, Taoism-inspired and Confucianism-inspired decorations). The data to construct the BN comes from interviews with users who gave their own beliefs and the traditional sentiments towards the buildings. Other examples of the application of BNs are the one developed by O'Shea (2004) to classify wreck sites, Osborn (2019) to classify bone assemblages according to their use in the past, or Barceló (2009) to infer social status in the past.

There are no BN models developed to specifically explore SES questions, but this method has gained some popularity in the field of ecology. There are some relevant applications in the agricultural domain such as the one developed by Cain (2001); a model framework designed to visualise the different processes encompassed in agricultural management practices. This

application has been used primarily to incorporate ecological characteristics of agricultural land so that land managers can gain further understanding of land-use change (e.g., Dang et al., 2019; Kleeman et al., 2017; Andriyas & McKee, 2015; Aalders, 2008).

Similar to other modelling methods, BN can be combined with geospatial data, making it possible to visualise model results spatially (Aalders, 2008; Phan et al., 2016; Landuyt et al., 2013; Marcot & Penman, 2019). Many social factors typically have a spatial dimension of interest; therefore, it is often useful to manage social causal problems with an understanding of their spatial distribution and relationship (Chen & Pollino, 2012). By doing so, the probability outcomes of a Bayesian network model to assess local conditions can be used as input to GIS systems to create maps depicting how causal factors affect spatial variability in those estimations. In the same way, GIS tools can be employed to collect spatial input data that can be used to feed the network.

It should be noted that most archaeological studies using BN are built on the expert-based approach rather than be learned from data. They are built manually based on the prior knowledge, ideas, or assumptions of the researcher who designs it. These types of models are generally used as decision support systems thanks to the representation of an overview of all the parameters involved in the inspected system (Vos et al., 2021). Expert-based models tend to be used when little data is available, and the goal is to model the system for exploratory purposes such as what variables may be interesting to consider, for example. However, when we have enough data and the objective is not only to explain the model but also to predict the result of some situations, we use data-driven models. This kind of models are learned through machine learning techniques: the model is built from prior data and, following all the possible combinations of states of every node, the relationships among nodes are predicted.

To build BN models, different software is available: paid software such as NETICA (Norsys Software Corporation, 2007), Ergo (Norsys Software Corporation, 2007) or Hugin (Madsen et al., 2003) or open access such as R (R Core Team, 2022). For expert-based model building, the most common software is NETICA whereas for data-driven is R. The difference is the transparency of the model: in open-access software it is possible to examine every variable and link and, therefore, the resulting model is considered 'white-box' while paid software are 'black-box', which means that the building process is not visible or controllable by the user, reason why we have opted for the first alternative.

1.3.3. Comparison of Bayesian and Neural Networks

Neural networks are by far more common in archaeological studies, it has a longer trajectory than BN, the first studies applying this method date in the 90s (Barceló & Faura, 1997; Bell & Croson, 1998). For this reason, we decided to specify the differences between both metholodies.

Bayesian and Neural networks share some traits, as well as a part of their name, in that they are both supervised machine learning methodologies used for the classification task and are graphical models. But the similarities end there: the fact that they can be visually represented by some kind of 'network' does not imply that they are neither structurally nor functionally similar. In fact, they are clearly differentiated by their learning and prediction processes.

Bayesian Networks have already been introduced in detail in section 1.3.1. As for Neural Networks, they are inspired by information processing by biological brains. Their structure is determined by various successive 'layers' in which nodes represent interconnected 'neurons', whose connections represent synapses in the brain. The neurons receive inputs and give output values, and they can be essentially on or off, their activation being determined by a linear combination of the output values of the neurons of the previous 'layer' of the network. Inputs and outputs are linked through weights that must be learned from the training data. For this, we need a learning algorithm, and the most common one is the Backpropagation (Rummelhart et al., 1995; Wythoff, 1993; Hegazy et al., 1994; Kishore & Kaur, 2012) which transforms the numerical input into random weights between the input and the hidden layers, this information arrives to hidden artificial neurons, which carry out certain calculations and send a numeric output to the last layer. The output from hidden layers is also transformed by randomly initiated weights of links between the hidden and the output layers. This transformed signal arrives to the output layer and its artificial neurons are activated according to the intensity of the signal arrived and the particular activation function implemented. Obviously, because weights have been determined randomly during start-up, the final output is also the result of random decisions. The algorithm then compares what has been randomly calculated with the case studies from the database. If more cases are known, they are added to the dataset and the learning process begins again.

Unlike Bayesian Networks, which are explainable models ('white-box'), a Neural Network is a 'black-box' model that approaches the classification problem in a *connectionist paradigm*². The popularity of Neural Networks (and 'deep learning', which refers to those Neural Network models that use multiple layers) in the last years has expanded the use of this approach, although the complexity of such networks has revealed their interpretability problems. Indeed, those models approach the problem of classification but do not explain how they carry it out. We can say that Neural Networks are now widely used due to their ability to produce fast results and to work with large databases, but this is only acceptable if the problem of model explainability is obviated. Otherwise, it is better to use explanatory predictive models, such as Bayesian Networks, and we have used in the research included in this thesis precisely for this reason.

In conclusion, althoughboth Bayesian and Neural networks can be used to model the relationships between inputs (evidence) and outputs (predicted labels) in a non-linear way and they are learned from a dataset and are used for classification. Neural networks have limitations compared to BNs: a Neural network is a 'black-box' algorithm, meaning that the learning process involving weights and neurons is not transparent nor explainable, so the user can only observe the dataset and the final outputs, but not the learning or the prediction processes. On the other hand, BNs are learned with a transparent procedure, the models are explaniables and their predictions are justificable: we can clearly communicate to researchers in any discipline what the model accomplishes, as well as the information it uses and the evidence or knowledge that underlies each part of the model. Conversely, Neural network models cannot accomplish this.

A perhaps less obvious reason in favour of Bayesian networks is their flexibility and modularity. With a Bayesian network, we can train some parts of the model from data, but others can be built from expert knowledge, and this cannot be replaced by a Neural network. In an applied setting, such as archaeology, we need not only models that are accurate in their predictions (functional requirement), but also justifiable to experts and easy to update in a rapidly changing world (non-functional requirements). We cannot discount the importance of non-functional requirements, and it is crucial to keep in mind that while Neural networks, by their own construction, fulfill functional but not non-functional requirements, Bayesian networks meet both.

² Neural Networks are algorithms used in the field of Artificial Intelligence to create more intelligent machines. The term 'connectionism' refers to an approach in cognitive science that aims to use Neural Networks to explain and reproduce mental procedures. According to connectionism, learning is a congnitive procedure accomplished by adjusting connection strengths between neurons in response to experience (Smolensky, 1999).

1.4. Research Paper

1.4.1. **Palacios, O.** (2023). Aplicación del aprendizaje automático en Arqueología: ¿Un cambio de paradigma?. *Vegueta. Anuario de la Facultad de Geografia e Historia, 23*(1), 147-186. https://doi.org/10.51349/veg.2023.1.06

Aplicación del Aprendizaje Automático en Arqueología: ¿Un Cambio de Paradigma?

Application of Machine Learning in Archaeology: a paradigm shift?

Olga Palacios Martínez Universidad Autónoma de Barcelona https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8580-6315 olga.palacios@uab.cat

Resumen

Aunque las primeras aplicaciones de aprendizaje automático en arqueología datan de finales de los años 90, no ha sido hasta el año 2019 cuando su uso se ha empezado a extender. ¿Qué ventajas tiene esta metodología respecto a otros métodos con una trayectoria más larga en arqueología? ¿Se puede aplicar en todos los ámbitos de estudio? La presente contribución tiene el objetivo de dar respuesta a estas cuestiones a través de una exhaustiva revisión de los estudios arqueológicos realizados con esta metodología y desarrollando un modelo con un algoritmo concreto, las redes bayesianas, para explorar sus beneficios y limitaciones.

Palabras clave: aprendizaje automático, arqueología, metodología, redes bayesianas, beneficios y limitaciones

Abstract

Despite first applications of machine learning in archaeology date back to the late 90s, it was not until 2019 that its use began to spread. What advantages does this methodology have that the previous methods do not have? Can it be applied in all fields of study? This contribution aims to answer these questions through an exhaustive review of the archaeological studies carried out with this methodology and by developing a model with a specific algorithm, Bayesian networks, to explore its benefits and limitations.

Keywords: machine learning, archaeology, methodology, Bayesian networks, benefits and limitations.

1. INTRODUCCIÓN

Entender el pasado es el objetivo de la ciencia arqueológica. ¿Por qué una sociedad vivió en un sitio y no en otro? ¿Qué comía y por qué prefería unos recursos a otros? ¿Cuánta gente vivía en un poblado y cómo se organizaban? Estas cuestiones son tan solo algunas de las múltiples preguntas a las que se intenta dar respuesta a partir del registro arqueológico. Partiendo de la premisa que para comprender un sistema social es necesario considerar sus dinámicas socioeconómicas y su entorno ecológico, en los años 50 se desarrolló la Teoría de los Sistemas Complejos (TSC) (von Bertalanffy, 1950) que proponía investigar a las sociedades como sistemas complejos con diferentes variables y relaciones no lineales. Esta innovación representó un cambio radical en la investigación arqueológica, puesto que TSC aportó una nueva manera de entender el dinamismo en el pasado a partir del concepto de sistemas socioecológicos.

La estructura de un sistema socioecológico está definida por la interacción entre comportamientos sociales (ej., tipo de dieta, organización doméstica y del trabajo) con aspectos ecológicos definidos por la localización dónde se llevó a cabo la acción social (ej., productividad del suelo, temperatura media). Esta nueva conceptualización representó un progreso en la modelización del comportamiento social como un sistema influenciado por muchas variables diferentes y con distinta intensidad (ej., Neto *et al.*, 2018; Zeder, 2017; Smith, 2015). Para modelar esta estructura, podemos dividir el sistema en tres elementos distintos: los *inputs* (los datos conocidos), los *outputs* (lo que queremos descubrir, la cuestión investigada) y el/los *mecanismo/s* (los procesos y estructura de relaciones a través de los cuales interactúan los inputs y los outputs). Pongamos el caso que queremos comprender por qué las sociedades neolíticas practicaban la agricultura y la ganadería en lugar de la caza, la recolección o la pesca (*output*). Una manera de explorar esta aproximación se basa en la idea de que los diferentes elementos están relacionados entre sí y, por tanto, estudiando la fuerza de estas relaciones y su organización (*mecanismo*), podremos comprender cómo funcionaron en el pasado.

Tomando en cuenta esta aproximación teórica, los métodos cuantitativos y computacionales permiten explorar estas relaciones entre elementos y predecir información desconocida o no observada de los sistemas a partir de la que sí que tenemos registrada (Tewari *et al.*, 2020).

Con este objetivo, en arqueología hay principalmente dos líneas de estudio: los métodos matemáticos tradicionales (tienen mayormente una función descriptiva) y, los computacionales, (con mayor capacidad interpretativa y exploratorio) (Barceló, 2008). Concretamente, dentro de los métodos computacionales se encuentra la simulación, que permite experimentar con diferentes escenarios *in silico* (desarrollados vía simulación computacional) y evaluar sus resultados para compararlos, finalmente, con el registro arqueológico. Esta clase de modelos se pueden clasificar en dos categorías: los modelos basados en agentes (*agent-based modelling*) y los modelos

dinámicos (*dynamic modelling*). Se diferencian por la metodología que utilizan, ya que los modelos basados en agentes se construyen a través de un software específico como NetLogo (Wilensky, 1999), mientras que en los modelos dinámicos se utilizan ecuaciones diferenciales. Algunos ejemplos paradigmáticos de modelos basados en agentes centrados en la investigación de sistemas socioecológicos del pasado son 'The Village Ecodynamics' (Kohler y Varien, 2012), 'WELASSIMO' (Baum *et al.*, 2016; Baum, 2016), 'The Mediterranean Landscape Project' (Barton *et al.*, 2012; Barton *et al.*, 2010; Ullah, 2011; Ullah y Bergin, 2012). Asimismo, los modelos dinámicos más representativos de dinámicas sociales son el modelo 'Prey-Predator' (Lotka, 1920; Volterra, 1926), 'Wave of advance' (Ammerman y Cavalli-Sforza, 1979, 2014), a partir de los cuales se han planteado otras propuestas modelando la expansión neolítica (Isern *et al.*, 2017; Fort, 2022).

Por otro lado, los métodos computacionales también incluyen la metodología del aprendizaje automático (machine learning), AA, es una rama de la Inteligencia artificial basada en la utilización de una 'máquina' (ordenador) para aprender automáticamente nueva información a partir de escenarios anteriores ya conocidos. Emplea el mismo razonamiento que el método inductivo tradicional, por ejemplo, para interpretar un yacimiento: el arqueólogo lo compara con otros yacimientos del mismo contexto con características similares y, basándose en su propio criterio (el cual está modelado por su educación, experiencia o convicciones), propone la interpretación más probable. Estos métodos computacionales pueden generar modelos predictivos, es decir, que sus resultados se pueden utilizar para predecir eventos desconocidos o no observados (Tewari et al., 2020), pero la diferencia es que en el aprendizaje automático, este proceso de aprendizaje es realizado por el ordenador a través de un algoritmo que explora la base de datos, identifica las tendencias y, basándose en estas, predice los casos futuros (o los pasados, como en arqueología). Por lo tanto, en AA no se necesitan hipótesis previas sobre las relaciones entre las variables porque el modelo se aprende a partir de los datos conocidos. Por contra, en los modelos estadísticos y de simulación, las relaciones entre las variables se tienen que conocer de antemano para definir su estructura.

Pese a los múltiples beneficios de la metodología de AA, su aplicación en arqueología todavía es reducida dado que hay pocos estudios realizados que hagan una recopilación de los campos de análisis dónde se ha aplicado, el tipo de algoritmos utilizados o desarrollen un análisis crítico sobre sus puntos fuertes y debilidades. En este sentido, contrasta con otras áreas de investigación dónde sí que ha habido esfuerzos para sistematizar su aplicación y definir su aplicabilidad (ej., Edeh *et al.*, 2021). Concretamente, desde otras ciencias sociales se han llevado a cabo diversos estudios identificando las limitaciones del método y se han definido propuestas para superarlas (ej., Radford y Joseph, 2020; Crowford *et al.*, 2019; Jacobs y Wallach, 2019; Lazer y Radford, 2017).

Para la modelización de sistemas socioecológicos en arqueología, es más común emplear las simulaciones basadas en agentes, dónde se han implementado numerosos estudios explorando su capacidad de adecuación para aplicarlo en arqueología y se han desarrollado pautas de buenas prácticas (por ejemplo, Grimm y Railsback, 2012; Müller *et al.*, 2014). A nivel de AA en arqueología, hay sobre todo estudios de introducción del método (por ejemplo, Bickler, 2021; Davis, 2020a, 2020b; Ramazzoti, 2020; Mackenzie, 2017) pero no hay ninguna publicación que resuma los algoritmos disponibles, para qué sirven, cómo han sido aplicados en arqueología (o no) y evalúe su idoneidad para investigar sistemas socioecológicos. En consecuencia, la presente contribución tiene los objetivos siguientes:

- Caracterizar la aplicación de la metodología del aprendizaje automático en arqueología y, más específicamente, en el ámbito de estudio de sistemas socioecológicos.
- Definir los beneficios y limitaciones del método en este ámbito de investigación.

Para abordar estos objetivos, se ha empleado una doble metodología combinando una detallada revisión bibliográfica de los trabajos desarrollados en el ámbito arqueológico empleando AA, especialmente centrado en su aplicación para explorar sistemas socioecológicos. Adicionalmente, se ha realizado una aplicación práctica con un método de AA, las redes Bayesianas, para evaluar la idoneidad de aplicación de este método en este ámbito de estudio.

2. METODOLOGÍA

2.1. Principios del aprendizaje automático

Para la construcción de un modelo de aprendizaje automático es muy importante tener disponible una base de datos con un gran número de casos para poder clasificar y predecir los casos desconocidos. En función del tipo de datos y la cuestión planteada, un algoritmo puede que funcione mejor que otros. Hay diversos tipos de algoritmos en AA que sirven para distintas finalidades y se agrupan en dos clases principales: métodos *no supervisados* y *supervisados* (Alloghani *et al.*, 2020) (**Tabla 1**). Los métodos *no supervisados* se emplean para identificar patrones, estructuras y distribuciones con datos sin etiquetar (es decir, no diferenciados); se utilizan para descubrir patrones en los datos sin que el/la investigador/a intervenga, por este motivo se llaman 'no supervisados' (Dhall *et al.*, 2020). El objetivo es desarrollar un modelo para identificar la estructura subyacente o distribución de los datos para aprender nuevos casos o escenarios. Es un método especialmente adecuado para desarrollar análisis exploratorios y descriptivos de grandes bases de datos. Esta aproximación permite agrupar objetos 'parecidos' pero sin seguir unas normas (ver Kohonen, 2001; Engel y van der Broeck, 2001 para una descripción de los mecanismos de agrupación), a diferencia de la clasificación que sigue una normal prestablecida y permite diferenciar los objetos en clases.

	MÉTODOS NO SUPERVISADOS	MÉTODOS SEMI- SUPERVISADOS	MÉTODOS SUPERVISADOS			
Tipo de datos	No etiquetados	No etiquetados	Etiquetados			
Función	(a) Reducir la dimensionalidad de los datos	Construir etiquetas a partir de los casos anteriores	Clasificación de nuevos casos a partir de una norma general			
	(b) Detección de outliers	Para realizar funciones supervisadas, pero con datos no supervisados	Regresión para predecir nuevos casos a partir de los conocidos			
	(c) Agrupación de casos					
Algoritmos principales	 (a) Principal component analysis, Independent component analysis, Manifold learning, Autoencoders (b) Isolation forest, Local outlier factor, Minimum covariance determinant 	Active learning	Support vector machine K-nearest neighbour Deep learning (Neural networks, Convolutional neural networks, Deep belief networks, Deep reinforcement location)			
	(c) K-means, Hierarchical and Spectral clustering, DBSCAN y OPTICS, Affinity propagation, Mean shift y BIRCH, Gaussian mixture models, Self- organising map, Discriminant Analysis	,	Decision trees Regression trees Classification and regression trees (CART) Logistic regression Random forest Bayesian networks			

 Tabla 1. Clasificación de los principales algoritmos de aprendizaje automático. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

Sin embargo, los métodos no supervisados no pueden realizar funciones de clasificación dado que se necesitan datos etiquetados y con sus valores agrupados en clases (requisito que marca la distinción entre ambos métodos). Es así como esta función se realiza con métodos supervisados, los cuales tienen el objetivo de identificar la interpretación más probable considerando todas las posibles explicaciones conocidas. Si bien los métodos no supervisados están limitados a analizar y agrupar datos sin etiquetar, los métodos supervisados se aplican a datos etiquetados y usan algoritmos específicos para predecir modelos a partir de los datos (esto también se emplea para validar los modelos) y hacer nuevas predicciones. Los métodos supervisados no solamente permiten clasificar y organizar los datos en categorías, sino que permiten aprender nuevos datos a partir de los ya conocidos para, finalmente, desarrollar interpretaciones más robustas (Bickler, 2021). Algunos autores proponen también los métodos semi-supervisados (Klassen et al., 2018), empleados cuando los datos no están etiquetados, pero se quieren realizar funciones supervisadas. Independientemente del método, la metodología de AA se caracteriza por necesitar un gran volumen de casos para poder computar el modelo, puesto que el modelo se aprende a partir de los casos anteriores. Este aspecto puede representar una desventaja en arqueología porque los datos obtenidos son a veces difíciles de cuantificar y no se suelen tener muchos casos con las mismas características, calculados de la misma manera, bien documentados, para crear modelos. Por otra parte, en la última década se ha extendido la práctica de publicar las bases de datos en abierto y, así, datos que en sí son lentos de generar e interpretar, se han democratizado, proporcionando la oportunidad de ampliar los estudios a través de la reutilización de estos datos (Faniel *et al.*, 2013). La principal crítica del AA es que genera modelos difíciles de interpretar (ej., Radford y Joseph, 2020; Jacobs y Wallach, 2019) porque suelen ser cajas negras (*black boxes*), lo que significa que desconocemos los mecanismos internos o procesos a través de los cuales se diseña el modelo. En algunos casos, puede que para el/la investigador/a no sea relevante conocer cómo se ha diseñado el modelo, pero en otros, a lo mejor tener un control total del desarrollo del modelo sea crucial para interpretar cómo se han obtenido los resultados de los outputs.

2.2. Aplicación del aprendizaje automático en arqueología

Con el fin cuantificar la aplicación de esta metodología en el campo arqueológico, se ha realizado una búsqueda de artículos en dos bases de datos bibliográficos, Scopus (Elsevier, 2004) y Web of Science (Clarivate Analytics, 2022), de trabajos que tratan de "machine learning" (campo 'all fields') y "archaeology" (campo "article title, abstract, keywords") en "English/ Spanish/ French". Dado que es un método bastante reciente, la búsqueda no se restringió por año de publicación. En Scopus se obtuvieron 808 resultados y en Web of Science 87. A continuación, se analizó exhaustivamente cada artículo y las referencias a otros casos de estudios en la bibliografía con la finalidad de obtener un registro más completo. Los criterios de selección de los artículos han sido los siguientes:

- Utilizan un algoritmo de AA (individualmente o en conjunción con otros algoritmos o métodos fuera de AA) para investigar una cuestión arqueológica
- Se han excluido los artículos de análisis metodológico o teórico
- Se han excluido los artículos que mencionaban AA, pero utilizaban otro método para desarrollar la investigación
- Se han excluido los artículos que mencionaba la arqueología como una posible aplicación de AA, pero el caso de estudio era de otro tema no relacionado

Seguidamente, se construyó la base de datos con los artículos seleccionados y se agruparon según (i) la cuestión arqueológica que exploraba (por ejemplo, si tratan sobre la gestión socioeconómica del pasado o sobre el reconocimiento de patrones de materiales arqueológicos) y (ii) el algoritmo o algoritmos de AA que utilizan. En total, se han seleccionado 91 artículos (**Apéndice Tabla 1**). La razón de este bajo índice es debido a que las grandes bases de datos bibliográficos también habían considerado los artículos que mencionaban la arqueología como una aplicación más en AA, pero el estudio trataba sobre otro tema, o artículos arqueológicos que mencionaban la posibilidad de llevar a cabo el análisis con AA, pero finalmente empleaban otro método cuantitativo o computacional. Adicionalmente, cabe mencionar que, en diversos casos, los modelos se construyen principalmente para probar el método más que para explorar preguntas arqueológicas. Así mismo, hay algunos estudios que no son replicables porque el algoritmo no se especifica, solo se dice que utilizan 'un algoritmo de aprendizaje automático'. En este caso, no se han considerado en la base de datos. También hay muchos modelos que están construidos desde el 'conocimiento experto' y, por lo tanto, no son modelos de AA.

A partir de la recopilación bibliográfica, se han diferenciado cuatro temáticas principales dentro de arqueología que emplean AA. Cada grupo engloba aplicaciones con objetivos diferentes, pero que tratan del mismo tema o trabajan con el mismo tipo de material. En primer lugar, los análisis de materiales y estructuras incluyen el procesamiento de imágenes (ej. Colmenero-Fernández y Feito, 2021), afiliación cultural (ej. Grove y Blinckhorn, 2020), estructuras (ej. Monna et al., 2020), arte (Tsigkas et al., 2020), cerámica (Gualandi et al., 2021) o marcas de procesamiento (ej. Cifuentes-Alcoberas y Domínguez-Rodrigo, 2019; Courtney et al., 2019). En segundo lugar, las aplicaciones para los análisis espaciales se centran en predecir la ubicación de asentamientos desconocidos (ej. Bonhage et al., 2021; Reich et al., 2021) y la posible localización de estructuras específicas como, por ejemplo, de enterramiento (ej. Berganzo-Besga et al., 2021; Chen et al., 2021; Caspari y Crespo, 2019). También se emplea en estudios espaciales con el objetivo de diseñar estrategias para la prevención, protección y gestión del patrimonio arqueológico (ej., Friggens et al., 2021; Davis et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2019; Castiello y Tonini, 2019). En tercer lugar, los estudios de sistemas socioecológicos utilizan AA para explorar diversas temáticas como los movimientos migratorios (Vahdati et al., 2019), la gestión de los recursos sociales y económicos (ej. Davis y Douglas, 2021; Ahedo et al., 2021, 2019; Burry et al., 2018; Barceló et al., 2015; Alberti, 2014) y las dinámicas culturales (Hyafil y Baumard, 2022). Finalmente, también se emplea para analizar documentación escrita, concretamente para clasificar caracteres y palabras (ej. Haliassos et al., 2020; Ramya et al., 2019; Brandsen et al., 2020), traducir textos (Sanders, 2018) y para crear aplicaciones patrimoniales para difundir la documentación escrita (Fabricius, 2022).

Las primeras aplicaciones de AA en arqueología datan de inicios del 2000 con su aplicación para clasificar materiales arqueológicos, principalmente cerámica, y para identificar la ubicación de asentamientos (**Gráfico 1**). En 2014 se publicaron los primeros estudios abordando el análisis de dinámicas socioecológicas, pero de forma muy minoritaria, tendencia que se conserva actualmente. Los estudios con AA para analizar documentación escrita siguen una dinámica parecida, debido a que sus primeras aplicaciones datan en 2018, pero actualmente su aplicación es todavía limitada. Por otro lado, el número de estudios de análisis de materiales y estructuras y estudios espaciales augmentaron considerablemente en 2019 y esta dinámica se ha mantenido hasta la fecha. A nivel de importancia relativa, el mayor número de estudios publicados utilizando AA son los estudios de materiales y estructuras (49,45%), seguidos por los estudios espaciales (29,67%), de sistemas socioecológicos (14,29%) y de documentación escrita (6,59%).



Gráfico 1. Cuantificación de los estudios realizados en arqueología, empleando aprendizaje automático, divididos por año y por campo de estudio.

Respecto a qué métodos de AA son las más comunes en arqueología, el 90% de los estudios analizados utilizan métodos supervisados, siendo los algoritmos más utilizados el *deep learning* (incluye

neural networks, convolutional neural networks, deep belief networks y *deep reinforcement lear ning*) y el *random forest* (**Gráfico 2**). Los métodos no supervisados y semi-supervisados exclusivamente se emplean para analizar materiales y estudiar sistemas socioecológicos. Normalmente, se emplean este tipo de algoritmos en combinación con un algoritmo supervisado. En algunos casos, como por ejemplo Monna *et al.*, 2020 y Courtney *et al.*, 2019, se exploran diferentes algoritmos con el objetivo de evaluar cuál es el que produce mejores resultados.



Gráfico 2. Algoritmos supervisados, no supervisados y semi-supervisados divididos por cada ámbito de investigación. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

En el caso de los modelos socioecológicos, observamos que su uso es muy minoritario y emplea diversos algoritmos supervisados (logistic regression, deep learning, regression tree, support vector machine, bayesian networks, random forest y k-nearest neighbour) y no supervisados (solamente el algoritmo de principal component analysis). Para poder interpretar esta diversidad en los algoritmos empleados para explorar este ámbito de la investigación, sería necesario identificar y calcular qué métodos son los más comunes para abordar estas cuestiones e identificar posibles diferencias. En vista de que sería muy costoso aplicar todos los algoritmos de AA para compararlos, en el presente estudio se ha optado por aplicar las redes bayesianas (Koller y Friedman, 2009; Neapolitan, 2004), un algoritmo probabilístico de AA supervisado que se caracteriza por ser un modelo de caja blanca (White box). Aparte de producir modelos predictivos (como todos los algoritmos supervisados), también son explicativos, dado que a través de su representación se obtiene información sobre cómo las variables se relacionan; y estas relaciones indican correlaciones. Por otro lado, las redes bayesianas se representan en forma de modelo directo acíclico que permiten obtener la distribución de probabilidad de las variables del modelo y, por tanto, obtener la probabilidad a partir de las probabilidades condicionales de los nodos con los que está relacionado (Figura 1).



Figura 1. Ejemplo de una red bayesiana simple. C es el padre de X_1 y X_2, las cualescomputan las probabilidades teniendo en cuenta C. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

2.3. Construcción de un modelo socioecológico con redes bayesianas

El objetivo del modelo construido para explorar la aplicación de AA y, concretamente, el algoritmo de redes bayesianas es definir si el tipo de subsistencia de las comunidades agroganaderas de pequeña escala están influenciadas por las condiciones ecológicas de su entorno. El modelo se ha construido en cinco fases: (i) Creación de la base de datos; (ii) Preprocesamiento de los datos; (iii) Construcción del modelo; (iv) Validación del modelo; (v) Aplicación del modelo y obtención de los resultados (Figura 2).



Figura 2. Esquema de proceso de modelización. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

Fase i. Creación de la base de datos: para estudiar esta cuestión, se ha seguido la línea de investigación de estudios interdisciplinares que emplean los datos históricos y etnográficos para comprender las dinámicas socioeconómicas del pasado (ej., Peregrine, 1996; Gantley *et al.*, 2018; Ferraro *et al.*, 2019; Desmond, 2014; Watts *et al.*, 2022; Atkinson y Whitehouse, 2011). No se implica que a partir de la etnografía podamos inferir procesos de las comunidades del pasado, pero sí se utiliza esta disciplina para sugerir y cuantificar la viabilidad de algunas prácticas que no son observables en el registro arqueológico porque no son materiales (ej. preferencias, decisiones, prácticas sociales, etc.). En total, se recopilaron 265 sociedades etnográficas de pequeña escala (menos de 1000 habitantes) y agroganaderas (al menos el 50% de su subsistencia debe estar basada en recursos agrícolas y/o ganaderos) de la base de datos D-PLACE (Kirby *et al.*, 2016) (**Apéndice Tabla 2**).

Fase ii. Preprocesamiento de los datos: todo el procesamiento, creación del modelo, validación y obtención de los resultados se ha desarrollado con R (R Core Team, 2022) y el script está

disponible en **Apéndice Script 1**. Una vez los datos de las sociedades estaban recopilados, se procedió a su procesamiento. Las redes bayesianas estándares no procesan los datos continuos, de manera que se han discretizado todas las variables con la función **discretize** del *paquete arules*, estableciendo las categorías a partir de su distribución ideal en dos, tres o cuatro clases (**Tabla 2**). En el proceso de discretización se ha tenido en cuenta agrupar los valores de cada variable en número reducido de clases porque las redes calculan la probabilidad de cada valor condicionada a las probabilidades de los valores de las otras variables y, consecuentemente, el modelo aumenta su complejidad computacional a medida que aumentamos las clases. También es necesario tener en cuenta que, si las clases están igualmente representadas, es decir, que tienen el mismo número de casos en cada una, el modelo tendrá la misma capacidad de predicción para todos los valores y evitar que priorice los valores más representados. En consecuencia, variables de caza, recolección o pesca, por ejemplo, tienen agrupados todos los casos de intensidades entre el 15 – 100 % en una única categoría que se llama '>150', mientras que agricultura, que tiene muchos más casos de intensidades superiores al 15%. tiene más categorías para representar este intervalo.

Variables	Categorías		
Distancia a la costa	<140	140-600	>=600
Elevación	<300	300-800	>=800
Pendiente	<0,75	0,75-2,5	>=2,5
Temperatura media anual	<5	5-20	>=20
Variación de la temperatura media	<1,3	1,3-20	>=20
Constancia de la temperatura	<0,5	0,5-0,7	>=0,7
Contingencia de la temperatura	<0,12	0,12-0,2	>=0,2
Precipitación media mensual	<1,06e+05	1,06e+05-1,67e+05	>=1,67e+05
Variación de la precipitación media	<7,86e+09	7,86e+09-1,49e+10	>=1,49e+10
Constancia de la precipitación	<0,4	0,4-0,5	>=0,5
Contingencia de la precipitación	<0,2	0,2-0,3	>=0,3
Producción primaria neta media mensual	<1	1-3	>=3
Constancia de la producción primaria neta	<0,2	0,2-0,3	>=0,3
Contingencia de la producción primaria neta	<0,2	0,2-0,3	>=0,3
Agricultura	<45	45-75	>=75
Ganadería	<15	15-45	>=45
Caza	<15	>=15	
Recolección	<15	>=15	
Pesca	<15	>=15	

Tabla 2. Variables de la base de datos con sus categorías discretizadas. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

Fase iii. Construcción de los modelos: los estudios anteriores de redes bayesianas para modelar sistemas socioecológicos empleaban la estructura de Naïve Bayes (NB), que es un algoritmo que tiene una estructura predeterminada en la cual únicamente hay un output y todos los inputs están relacionados con este. Es así como NB se asume que los inputs no están relacionados entre ellos (por ejemplo, que las variables ecológicas como la temperatura y la precipitación no están relacionadas) y que todos los inputs están relacionados con el output (por ejemplo, que la

elevación está igual de relacionada que la temperatura con la agricultura). Dado que Teoría de los Sistemas Complejos argumenta que las variables de un sistema están interrelacionadas de manera compleja y no linear, en este estudio, se ha optado por modelar el mismo sistema con otras estructuras más complejas como el Augmented Naïve Bayes (ANB) (permite las interrelaciones entre inputs) y sin restricciones (permite más de un output y también incluye las interrelaciones entre outputs) para establecer comparaciones con el modelo NB (en la **Tabla 3** están más detalladas las diferencias entre los tres modelos).

Características	Modelo Naïve Bayes	Modelo Augmented Naïve Bayes	Modelo sin restricciones
Algoritmo de aprendizaje de la estructura	Estructura fija con relación de un output a los inputs (caja negra)	Hill-climbing con el criterio AIC o BIC. Relaciones de un output a inputs, las relaciones entre inputs están permitidas (caja blanca)	Hill-climbing con el criterio AIC o BIC. Relaciones entre outputs a inputs a la vez, interrelaciones entre outputs e interrelaciones entre inputs están permitidas (caja blanca)
Objetivo	Predicción	Predicción y explicativa (relaciones entre inputs)	Predicción y explicativa (relaciones output - input, entre inputs y entre outputs)
Beneficios	Simple y buen equilibrio entre capacidad predictiva y simplicidad Relaciones binarias (un input y un output)	Permite relaciones entre los inputs, pero sólo un output a la vez Relaciones binarias	Representa las relaciones entre todos los outputs y todos los inputs a la vez
Limitaciones	Ignora las relaciones entre inputs y entre outputs	Ignora las relaciones entre inputs y entre outputs	Más complejo que los otros modelos y, por lo tanto, es necesaria más potencia computacional

Tabla 3. Principales características de los tres modelos de las redes bayesianas. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

Los modelos se han aprendido con el *paquete bnlearn* (Scutari y Denis, 2021) que implementa la estructura y el aprendizaje paramétrico. Esta estructura ha sido definida siguiendo los criterios y parámetros más comunes en la implementación de redes bayesianas en los diferentes ámbitos de investigación (ej., Atienza *et al.*, 2022; Palacios *et al.*, 2022; Fan *et al.*, 2022; Chobtham y Constantinou, 2020). Se ha utilizado el algoritmo hill-climbing del *paquete gRain* (Højsgaard, 2012) para aprender la estructura de búsqueda y puntuación de la representación ya que lo hace a partir de la combinación que maximiza la función de puntuación. Se tienen en cuenta dos funciones de puntuación, el Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) y el Akaike Information Criterion (AIC). Ambos criterios son logaritmos de probabilidad, pero AIC penaliza menos y, por lo tanto, crea grafos con más conexiones. Los parámetros se han establecido siguiendo el criterio de máxima verosimilitud, que representa el procedimiento más común.

Fase iv. Validación de los modelos: para calcular la precisión del modelo se utilizó la técnica de validación cruzada donde k=5, es decir, se emplearon cuatro casos para predecir el quinto y, comparando la predicción con el resultado original, se obtiene el valor de precisión. Este proceso se lleva a cabo cinco veces para cada modelo. Se ha seleccionado k=5 porque estudios recientes

indican que este número es suficiente para validar la robustez del modelo y, además, tiene la ventaja de ahorrar tiempo y capacidad computacional (Marcot y Hanea, 2020).

A continuación, para seleccionar el modelo que produjera resultados con mayor precisión, se empleó la prueba t-test para comparar primero el modelo NB con el modelo ANB y, el que tenía el valor más alto, se contrastó con el modelo sin restricciones. Por otro lado, en todos los casos se utilizó el modelo sin restricciones para obtener la información explicativa debido a que es el único que permite relaciones entre las variables de subsistencia (outputs) y las variables ecológicas (inputs).

Fase v. Aplicación del modelo y obtención de los resultados: como se ha mencionado en la sección 2.2, las redes bayesianas producen dos tipos de información:

- Información explicativa: a partir del cálculo de la fuerza de las relaciones con la función arc.strength, implementada en el paquete bnlearn, podemos calcular la fuerza de las relaciones entre los outputs y los inputs e identificar aquellas significativas en forma de p-valor. Además, las redes son ilustradas mediante grafos directos acíclicos donde se representan las relaciones y las distribuciones de las variables dentro del sistema. Es importante apuntar que esta información es solamente observable en los modelos ANB y el Modelo sin restricciones. En cambio, en el caso del modelo de NB, las relaciones entre inputs y entre outputs están restringidas y, en consecuencia, su gráfico no es informativo porque fuerza la relación bilineal entre cada output y cada input, aunque realmente no estén relacionadas o lo estén de forma no lineal.
- Información predictiva: a partir del modelo construido podemos predecir las clases de los outputs en función de los valores de los inputs. Por lo tanto, el modelo también puede ser utilizado para predecir escenarios que queramos conocer y no estén registraos en la base de datos que hemos empleado para crear el modelo.

3. RESULTADOS

En el proceso de validación de los resultados solamente se encontró un caso, cuando se predice la ganadería, en el que uno de los modelos, el NB tuviera una precisión superior a los otros modelos (p-valor: 0,03058). Únicamente en este caso se ha explorado con un modelo, en cambio, en todos los otros casos se han tenido en cuenta los tres modelos (NB, ANB y sin restricciones).

3.1. Información explicativa

En la **Tabla 4** se muestran las correlaciones positivas entre el tipo de subsistencia y el medio dónde viven las comunidades. Podemos observar un mayor número de correlaciones positivas en el modelo de NB, hecho que indica que cuando más complejo es el modelo porque más

interrelaciones son permitidas, los outputs están menos determinados por los inputs. Por otro lado, las estrategias de subsistencia más correlacionadas con el medio son la ganadería, con la media y constancia de producción primaria neta del suelo y la precipitación media mensual, y la caza con la distancia a la costa y la constancia y contingencia de la producción primaria neta del suelo. Es así como se evidencia la relevancia de la productividad del suelo para definir la intensidad en la que se practican estas dos estrategias.

Modelo	Relación significativa	p-value	
NB	Ganadería - Producción primaria neta media mensual	1,49E-02	*
NB	Ganadería – Constancia en la producción primaria neta	2,15E-02	*
ANB	Ganadería – Precipitación media mensual	4,53E-06	***
ANB	Ganadería - Producción primaria neta media mensual	1,49E-02	*
ANB	Ganadería - Constancia de la producción primaria neta	2,15E-02	*
NB	Caza – Distancia a la costa	2,15E-02	*
NB	Caza - Constancia de la producción primaria neta	7,23E-03	**
NB	Caza - Contingencia de la producción primaria neta	1,41E-04	***
NB	Recolección – Constancia en la precipitación	9,66E-03	*
Sin restricciones	Ganadería – Agricultura	3,59E-11	***
	Modelo NB NB ANB ANB ANB NB NB NB NB Sin restricciones	ModeloRelación significativaNBGanadería - Producción primaria neta media mensualNBGanadería - Constancia en la producción primaria netaANBGanadería - Precipitación media mensualANBGanadería - Precipitación primaria neta media mensualANBGanadería - Producción primaria neta media mensualANBGanadería - Constancia de la producción primaria netaNBCaza - Distancia a la costaNBCaza - Constancia de la producción primaria netaNBRecolección - Constancia en la precipitaciónSinGanadería - Agricultura	ModeloRelación significativap-valueNBGanadería - Producción primaria neta media mensual1,49E-02NBGanadería - Constancia en la producción primaria neta2,15E-02ANBGanadería - Precipitación media mensual4,53E-06ANBGanadería - Producción primaria neta media mensual1,49E-02ANBGanadería - Producción primaria neta media mensual1,49E-02ANBGanadería - Constancia de la producción primaria neta2,15E-02NBCaza - Distancia a la costa2,15E-02NBCaza - Constancia de la producción primaria neta7,23E-03NBCaza - Contingencia de la producción primaria neta1,41E-04NBRecolección - Constancia en la precipitación9,66E-03Sin restriccionesGanadería - Agricultura3,59E-11

Tabla 4. Relaciones significativas identificadas a partir de los tres modelos. Clasificación p-valores: 0.05-0.01=*; 0.01-0.001=**; <0.001=***. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

En cuanto a la interrelación entre las variables de subsistencia, la ganadería ejecuta la función de nexo entre el grupo caza – recolección, la agricultura y la pesca (**Figura 3**). Es interesante el hecho que la caza y la recolección están muy interrelacionadas entre ellas, así como la ganadería con la recolección. Por otro lado, las variables ecológicas también están fuertemente relacionadas entre ellas. De hecho, podemos dividirlas en dos grupos: variables topográficas y temperatura media (relación de elevación con la temperatura media, pendiente y distancia a la costa), variables del clima y productividad del suelo. Un aspecto interesante que destacar es el rol de la pesca en el modelo ya que conecta las variables de subsistencia con las del medio, aunque no se ha identificado ninguna relación al rol de la pesca sería la propuesta en el estudio de Ahedo *et al.* (2021), dónde se argumenta que la pesca no está directamente determinada por el medio sino por las dinámicas internas de la comunidad como estrategia para diversificar los recursos cuando estos son limitados. Siguiendo esta explicación, la pesca estaría relacionada con las otras estrategias de

subsistencia y entorno, pero no limitada por estas. No obstante, necesitaríamos más datos y evidencia para confirmar esta hipótesis.



Figura 3. Modelo sin restricciones representando la relación entre el tipo de subsistencia (outputs, rojo) con las variables ecológicas (inputs, negro). Las flechas del modelo partende los outputs a los inputs porque el modelo está construido de manera que los valoresmás probables de los inputs se calculan a partir de los valores de los outputs. También sería posible aprender el modelo de los inputs a los outputs, hay diversos modos de construirlas redes y en este caso se ha optado por esta configuración. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

3.2. Información predictiva

Para explorar en más detalle hasta qué punto las variables ecológicas definen el tipo de subsistencia de las sociedades analizadas, se han hecho dos predicciones de tres contextos ambientales diferentes con valores completamente contrarios: contexto con valores mínimos, medios y máximos (definidos en la **Tabla 5**). El objetivo de este ejercicio de predicción era explorar hasta qué punto las variables el medio determinen el tipo de estrategias económicas de las comunidades estudiadas.

Palacios, O. (2023). Aplicación del aprendizaje automático en Arqueología: ¿Un cambio de paradigma?. Vegueta. Anuario de la Facultad de Geografía e Historia, 23(1), 147-186. https://doi.org/10.51349/veg.2023.1.06

Outputs	Inputs	Contexto 1	Contexto 2	Contexto 3
Agricultura	Distancia a la costa	<140	140-600	>=600
Ganadería	Elevación	<300	300-800	>=800
Caza	Pendiente	<0,75	0,75-2,5	>=2,5
Recolección	Temperatura media anual	<5	5-20	>=20
Pesca	Variación de la temperatura media	<1,3	1,3-20	>=20
	Constancia de la temperatura	<0,5	0,5-0,7	>=0,7
	Contingencia de la temperatura	<0,12	0,12-0,2	>=0,2
	Precipitación media mensual	<1,06e+05	1,06e+05-1,67e+05	>=1,67e+05
	Variación de la precipitación media	<7,86e+09	7,86e+09-1,49e+10	>=1,49e+10
	Constancia de la precipitación	<0,4	0,4-0,5	>=0,5
	Contingencia de la precipitación	<0,2	0,2-0,3	>=0,3
	Producción primaria neta media mensual	<1	1-3	>=3
	Constancia de la producción primaria neta	<0,2	0,2-0,3	>=0,3
	Contingencia de la producción primaria neta	<0,2	0,2-0,3	>=0,3

Tabla 5. Definición de los contextos para predecir el tipo de intensidad de estrategias de subsistencia. En el contexto 1, los inputs tienen los valores mínimos, en el 2 los valores medios y en el 3 los máximos. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

Los resultados están definidos en la **Tabla 6** y podemos observar el mismo resultado para los contextos de valores mínimos y medios de las variables del ambiente: las comunidades basaran entre el 46-75% de su dieta en la agricultura y complementaran su dieta con las otras estrategias (con intensidades inferiores al 15%). En cambio, cuando los valores de todas las variables ecológicas tienen valores máximos, la agricultura seguirá siendo practicada con una intensidad entre el 46-75%, pero en lugar de tener una dieta mixta con otras estrategias, se consumirán los recursos ganaderos con más intensidad (entre el 16-45%).

Palacios, O. (2023). Aplicación del aprendizaje automático en Arqueología: ¿Un cambio de paradigma?. Vegueta. Anuario de la Facultad de Geografía e Historia, 23(1), 147-186. https://doi.org/10.51349/veg.2023.1.06

Contextos	Subsistencia Modelo		delo Naïve Bayes		Modelo Augmented Naïve Bayes		Modelo sin restricciones	
		Predicción	Nivel de confianza	Predicción	Nivel de confianza	Predicción	Nivel de confianza	
Contexto 1	Agricultura Ganadería	45-75 <15	0,82381 0,83324	45-75 <15	0,82015 0,76175	45-75 <15	0,75252 0,61077	
	Caza	<15	0,77294	<15	0,78386	<15	0,76981	
	Recolección	<15	0,87198	<15	0,87556	<15	0,89811	
	Pesca	<15	0,53892	<15	0,51947	<15	0,6415	
Contexto 2	Agricultura	45-75	0,77688	45-75	0,75084	45-75	0,74809	
	Ganadería	15-45	0,58672	15-45	0,54897	<15	0,58035	
	Caza	<15	0,80788	<15	0,81424	<15	0,76981	
	Recolección	<15	0,92169	<15	0,92555	<15	0,89811	
	Pesca	<15	0,83286	<15	0,8624	<15	0,72968	
Contexto 3	Agricultura Ganadería	45-75 15-45	0,6219 0,39024	45-75 15-45	0,62195 0,39024	45-75 <15	0,74817 0,58089	
	Caza	<15	0,82927	<15	0,84139	<15	0,76981	
	Recolección	<15	0,89024	<15	0,89922	<15	0,89811	
	Pesca	<15	0,80488	<15	0,80271	<15	0,72813	

Tabla 6. Resultados de las predicciones. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

4. DISCUSIÓN Y CONCLUSIONES

Al inicio de este estudio, nos planteábamos caracterizar la aplicación de la metodología de aprendizaje automático en Arqueología en general y, más específicamente, en el ámbito de estudio de sistemas socioecológicos. A través del análisis bibliométrico de los artículos publicados empleando AA en Arqueología, se ha comprobado que realmente esta metodología ha empezado a aplicarse de manera más consistente a partir del 2019. Identificar el/los motivo/s por los cuales esta metodología se ha vuelto más común requiere un estudio en más profundidad de este fenómeno metodológico, dónde se contraste el número de artículos publicados en AA con otras metodologías computacionales, por ejemplo. No obstante, podría ser debido a las potencialidades del método, de predecir información desconocida, que puede ser muy atractivo en el ámbito arqueológico a causa de las propias limitaciones del registro. También podría ser por la democratización de los datos que se ha dado en los últimos años, dónde se está volviendo una práctica común publicar en abierto los datos arqueológicos para poder reutilizar estos datos en otras investigaciones, como, por ejemplo, se ha hecho en este estudio con los datos etnográficos recogidos de una base de datos en abierto. Esta práctica de 'reciclaje' favorece al desarrollo de estudios con dimensionalidad macro, más allá de la dimensionalidad de un asentamiento (ej., VanValkenburgh y Dufton, 2020; Huggett, 2018).

Al inicio de este estudio, se planteaba que no había demasiados estudios de AA ni se había explorado su aplicabilidad en la ciencia arqueológica. Así mismo, en esta investigación se ha evidenciado que esta metodología aún se encuentra en su primera fase de aplicación, se ha

implementado para explorar diversos casos de estudio, cuestiones y tipo de materiales, pero aún no se ha hecho el esfuerzo de integrarla como una metodología más como sí que se ha dado con otros métodos computacionales como la simulación, por ejemplo. Actualmente, nos encontramos en un estadio de aplicación del método, con mucha diversidad de aplicaciones y técnicas, pero aún no ha habido un diálogo y discusión sobre como AA se puede integrar en los estudios arqueológicos.

En este contexto, en el ámbito espacial sí que parece que se empieza a consolidar la práctica de combinar métodos propios de GIS con algoritmos AA, sobre todo de *deep learning*. Sin embargo, no parece que la elección de algoritmo esté relacionada con el tipo de datos, sino que hay tendencia en los ámbitos de emplear reiteradamente el mismo tipo de algoritmo. En cambio, en el ámbito de estudio de sistemas socioecológicos y de dinámicas sociales, hay una gran diversidad de algoritmos empleados y también se ha observado que en algunos casos los modelos se utilizan para conceptualizar los sistemas desde el conocimiento experto (ej., Barceló, 2008). Este aspecto es sobre todo patente en el caso de las redes Bayesianas con el algoritmo de NB. Estas tendencias pueden ser debidas a las propias tradiciones de investigación que hay en cada ámbito y sería interesante explorar en el futuro otras combinaciones de métodos que podrían ser perfectamente complementarias, como serían los métodos de AA y la simulación.

Por otro lado, el presente estudio también pretendía **definir los beneficios y limitaciones de AA para el estudio de sistemas socioecológicos** en arqueología mediante su aplicación de un caso concreto. En el caso de estudio se ha modelado un sistema social y económico complejo teniendo en cuenta las características ecológicas de su ubicación. A partir de los resultados, se ha observado la existencia de estrategias de subsistencia, sobre todo la agricultura, ganadería y la caza, que están influenciadas por algunas variables ecológicas, especialmente por el clima. En este sentido, se han obtenido resultados inesperados como el hecho que la productividad del suelo determina en mayor medida la intensidad que se practica la ganadería que la agricultura, contrariamente a lo sugerido en otros estudios (Nendel *et al.*, 2011; van Ittersum *et al.*, 2008). Siguiendo a Palacios *et al.* (2022), la reducida importancia de la productividad del suelo en la agricultura estaría relacionada con la fuerza de trabajo, organización social y desarrollo tecnológico, aspectos que compensarían una baja productividad.

Mediante las redes bayesianas se ha modelado el sistema investigado de forma compleja y nolinear, cuantificando las relaciones más significativas entre variables y prediciendo hipotéticos escenarios. No obstante, es importante matizar hasta qué punto estos resultados son fiables. Con respecto a la validez del modelo, este se ha validado y cuantificado su precisión, pero, el modelo es tan bueno como lo son sus datos. En la recogida de datos, el/la investigador/a recopila aquellos que considera que son importantes, los procesa y categoriza (según el algoritmo empleado). En función de la agrupación de clases que se realice, los resultados pueden variar y, por lo tanto, son decisiones que el/la investigador/a toman y que determinan el resultado. Así mismo, los modelos se construyen a partir de los datos, pero también están modelados por restricciones que se determinan durante el diseño del modelo en función del tipo de estructura, cómo se ha detallado en la sección 2.3. con la construcción de tres modelos de redes bayesianas diferentes.

Por otro lado, cabe mencionar que en los modelos de AA identificamos patrones, las tendencias a partir de los datos conocidos. Los outliers o valores menos comunes del sistema no se pueden identificar en el modelo y otros métodos computacionales como la simulación, por ejemplo, serían más apropiados. En esta misma línea, los modelos AA son potentes a nivel predictivo, pero a nivel explicativo son difíciles de interpretar y es necesario contextualizar los resultados a partir de una aproximación teórica. Cabe destacar que esta limitación es compartida con otros métodos cuantitativos, puesto que estamos calculando las relaciones entre las variables. Es por este motivo que una opción para superar esta limitación sería combinar AA con modelos computacionales, por ejemplo. Sería interesante combinar el AA con otras metodologías como las computacionales para contrastar los resultados y enriquecerlos a nivel explicativo; concretamente, con el modelo basado en agentes, tiene un gran potencial a nivel explicativo y desarrollo de hipótesis que sería muy positivo en este caso para comprender los resultados que se han obtenido. No obstante, a partir del análisis de la trayectoria de AA en arqueología, hemos constatado que cuando se combinan métodos, suele ser entre diferentes algoritmos de AA o con GIS, pero no con modelos computacionales. A partir del estudio realizado, se podría explorar la utilidad de complementar los diferentes métodos y, en el futuro, sería interesante contrastar los resultados que hemos obtenido en la presente contribución desarrollando un modelo basado en agentes que explore la relación entre las variables ecológicas y el tipo de subsistencia de las comunidades agroganaderas para obtener información que nos ayude a interpretar los resultados obtenidos.

Para concluir este artículo, nos volvemos a plantear, ¿se ha producido en Arqueología un cambio de paradigma con la aplicación del aprendizaje automático? Podemos decir que todavía no. La eclosión de esta metodología es muy reciente, su aplicación muy diversa y aún su aplicación no está sistematizada. De hecho, la mayoría de las veces se utiliza como un método computacional para producir modelos predictivos, pero la singularidad del método, que sería su construcción a partir de los datos, aún no es una práctica recurrente en la ciencia arqueológica.

AGRADECIMIENTOS

Me gustaría agradecer a los dos revisores anónimos por sus sugerencias que, sin duda, han contribuido a mejorar el presente artículo. La presente contribución ha sido realizada gracias al soporte de la Generalitat de Catalunya y el Fondo social europeo a través de la ayuda FI.

5. REFERENCIAS

- Abitbol, R.; Shimshoni, I.; Ben-Dov, J. (2021): «Machine Learning Based Assembly of Fragments of Ancient Papyrus», Journal on Computing and Cultural Heritage (JOCCH), 14(3): 1-21.
- Agapiou, A.; Vionis, A.; Papantoniou, G. (2021): «Detection of Archaeological Surface Ceramics Using Deep Learning Image-Based Methods and Very High-Resolution UAV Imageries», Land, 10(12): 1365.
- Ahedo, V.; Zurro, D.; Caro, J.; Galán, J.M. (2021): «Let's go fishing: A quantitative analysis of subsistence choices with a special focus on mixed economies among small-scale societies», PloS one, 16(8): e0254539.
- Ahedo, V.; Caro, J.; Bortolini, E.; Zurro, D.; Madella, M.; Galán, J.M. (2019): «Quantifying the relationship between food sharing practices and socio-ecological variables in small-scale societies: A crosscultural multi-methodological approach», PloS one, 14(5): e0216302.
- Alberti, G. (2014): «Modeling group size and scalar stress by logistic regression from an archaeological perspective», PLoS One, 9(3):e91510.
- Albrecht, C.M.; Fisher, C.; Freitag, M.; Hamann, H.F.; Pankanti, S.; Pezzutti, F.; Rossi, F. (2019): «Learning and Recognizing Archeological Features from LiDAR Data», en Proceedings IEEE International Conference on Big Data, Los Angeles: 5630–5636.
- Alloghani, M.; Al-Jumeily, D.; Mustafina, J.; Hussain, A.; Aljaaf, A.J. (2020). «A Systematic Review on Supervised and Unsupervised Machine Learning Algorithms for Data Science», en M. Berry; A. Mohamed; B. Yap (eds.), Supervised and Unsupervised Learning for Data Science. Unsupervised and Semi-Supervised Learning, Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-22475-2_1
- Ammerman, A.J.; Cavalli-Sforza, L.L. (1979): «The wave of advance model for the spread of agriculture in Europe», en C. Rendrew; K.L. Cooke (eds.), Transformations: Mathematical Approaches to Culture Change, Academic Press: 275-293. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2013-0-11358-X
- Ammerman, A.J.; Cavalli-Sforza, L.L. (2014): The Neolithic transition and the genetics of populations in Europe, vol. 836, Princeton University Press.
- Anzano, J.; Sangüesa, S.; Casas-González, J.; Magallón, M.Á.; Escudero, M.; Anwar, J.; Shafique, U. (2015): «Analysis of Roman-Hispanic archaeological ceramics using laser-induced breakdown spectroscopy», Analytical Letters, 48(10): 1638-1643.
- Altaweel, M.; Khelifi, A.; Li, Z.; Squitieri, A.; Basmaji, T.; Ghazal, M. (2022): «Automated Archaeological Feature Detection Using Deep Learning on Optical UAV Imagery: Preliminary Results», Remote Sensing, 14(3): 553.
- Arnay, R.; Hernández-Aceituno, J.; Mallol, C. (2021): «Soil micromorphological image classification using deep learning: The porosity parameter», Applied Soft Computing, 102: 107093.
- Assael, Y.; Sommerschield, T.; Shillingford, B.; Bordbar, M.; Pavlopoulos, J.; Chatzipanagiotou, M. et al. (2022): «Restoring and attributing ancient texts using deep neural networks», Nature, 603(7900): 280-283.
- Atienza, D.; Bielza, C.; Larrañaga, P. (2022): «Semiparametric Bayesian networks», Information Sciences, 584: 564-582. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ins.2021.10.074
- Atkinson, Q.D.; Whitehouse, H. (2011): «The cultural morphospace of ritual form», Evolution and Human Behavior, 32: 50–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2010.09.002.
- Barcelo, J.A. (2008): Computational intelligence in archaeology, IGI Global.
- Barceló, J.A.; Del Castillo, M.F.; Mameli, L. (2015): «The probabilities of prehistoric events: a Bayesian network approach», en J.A. Barceló y I. Bogdanovic (eds.), Mathematics and Archaeology, CRC Press: 464-484.
- Barton, C.M.; Ullah, I.I.T.; Bergin, S.M.; Mitasova, H.; Sarjoughian, H. (2012): «Looking for the future in the past: Long-term change in socioecological systems», Ecological Modelling, 241: 42–53.
- Barton, C.M.; Ullah, I.; Mitasova, H. (2010): «Computational Modeling and Neolithic Socioecological Dynamics: A Case Study from Southwest Asia», American Antiquity, 75(2): 364–386.
- Baum, T. (2016): «Simulating Land Use of Prehistoric Wetland Settlements: Did Excessive Resource Use Necessitate a Highly Dynamic Settlement System?», en J.A. Barceló; F. Del Castillo (eds.), Simulating Prehistoric and Ancient Worlds, Springer International Publishing: Cham: 255–279.
- Baum, T.; Nendel, C.; Jacomet, S.; Colobran, M.; Ebersbach, R. (2016): «"Slash and burn" or "weed and manure"? A modelling approach to explore hypotheses of late Neolithic crop cultivation in prealpine wetland sites», Vegetation History Archaeobotany, 25(6): 611–27.
- Bell, S.; Croson, C. (1998): «Artificial neural networks as a tool for archaeological data analysis», Archaeometry, 40(1): 139-151.

- Berganzo-Besga, I.; Orengo, H.A.; Lumbreras, F.; Carrero-Pazos, M.; Fonte, J.; Vilas-Estévez, B. (2021): «Hybrid MSRM-based deep learning and multitemporal sentinel 2-based machine learning algorithm detects near 10k archaeological tumuli in North-Western Iberia», Remote Sensing, 13: 41-81.
- Bickler, S.H. (2021): «Machine Learning Arrives in Archaeology», Advances in Archaeological Practice, 9(2): 186-191.
- Bickler, S.H. (2018): «Machine learning identification and classification of historic ceramics», en B. Petchey; K. Hil; S. Kinaston; A. Kelly (eds.), Archaeology in New Zealand, New Zealand Archaeological Association, 61(2): 20-32.
- Bonhage, A.; Eltaher, M.; Raab, T.; Breuß, M.; Raab, A.; Schneider, A. (2021): «A modified Mask regionbased convolutional neural network approach for the automated detection of archaeological sites on high-resolution light detection and ranging-derived digital elevation models in the North German Lowland», Archaeological Prospection, 28(2): 177-186.
- Brandsen, A.; Verberne, S.; Lambers, K.; Wansleeben, M.; Calzolari, N.; Béchet, F. *et al.* (2020): «Creating a dataset for named entity recognition in the archaeology domain», en Conference Proceedings LREC 2020, The European Language Resources Association: 4573-4577.
- Brozou, A.; Fuller, B.T.; Grimes, V.; Van Biesen, G.; Ma, Y.; Boldsen, J.L.; Mannino, M.A. (2022): «Aquatic resource consumption at the Odense leprosarium: Advancing the limits of palaeodiet reconstruction with amino acid δ13C measurements», Journal of Archaeological Science, 141: 105578.
- Buchanan, B.; Walker, R.S.; Hamilton, M.J.; Story, B.; Bebber, M.; Wilcox, D.; Eren, M.I. (2022): «Experimental assessment of lanceolate projectile point and haft robustness», Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports, 42: 103399.
- Bundzel, M.; Jaščur, M.; Kováč, M.; Lieskovský, T.; Sinčák, P.; Tkáčik, T. (2020): «Semantic segmentation of airborne lidar data in maya archaeology», Remote Sensing, 12: 3685.
- Burry, L.S.; Marconetto, B.; Somoza, M.; Palacio, P.; Trivi, M.; D'Antoni, H. (2018): «Ecosystem modeling using artificial neural networks: An archaeological tool», Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports, 18: 739-746.
- Byeon, W.; Domínguez-Rodrigo, M.; Arampatzis, G.; Baquedano, E.; Yravedra, J.; Maté-González, M.A.; Koumoutsakos, P. (2019): «Automated identification and deep classification of cut marks on bones and its paleoanthropological implications», Journal of Computational Science, 32: 36-43.
- Caspari, G. y Crespo, P. (2019): «Convolutional neural networks for archaeological site detection–Finding "princely" tombs», Journal of Archaeological Science, 110: 104998.
- Castiello, M.E.; Tonini, M. (2019): «An innovative approach for risk assessment in archaeology based on machine learning. A Swiss case study. Quantitative approaches, spatial statistics and socioecological modelling», en International Colloquium on Digital Archaeology in Bern (DAB), University of Bern, Switzerland.
- Character, L.; Ortiz Jr, A.; Beach, T.; Luzzadder-Beach, S. (2021): «Archaeologic machine learning for shipwreck detection using lidar and sonar», Remote Sensing, 13(9): 1759.
- Chen, F.; Zhou, R.; Van de Voorde, T.; Chen, X.; Bourgeois, J.; Gheyle, W.; Goossens, R.; Yang, J.; Xu, W. (2021): «Automatic detection of burial mounds (kurgans) in the Altai Mountains», ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing, 177: 217-237.
- Chetouani, A.; Treuillet, S.; Exbrayat, M.; Jesset, S. (2020): «Classification of engraved pottery sherds mixing deep-learning features by compact bilinear pooling», Pattern Recognition Letters, 131: 1-7.
- Chobtham, K.; Constantinou, A.C. (2020): «Bayesian network structure learning with causal effects in the presence of latent variables», en International Conference on Probabilistic Graphical Models, PMLR: 101-112.
- Chowdhury, M.P.; Choudhury, K.D.; Bouchard, G.P.; Riel-Salvatore, J.; Negrino, F.; Benazzi, S. *et al.* (2021): «Machine learning ATR-FTIR spectroscopy data for the screening of collagen for ZooMS analysis and mtDNA in archaeological bone», Journal of Archaeological Science, 126: 105311.
- Cifuentes-Alcobendas, G.; Domínguez-Rodrigo, M. (2019): «Deep learning and taphonomy: high accuracy in the classification of cut marks made on fleshed and defleshed bones using convolutional neural networks», Scientific reports, 9(1): 1-12.
- Cintas, C.; Lucena, M.; Fuertes, J.M.; Delrieux, C.; Navarro, P.; González-José, R.; Molinos, M. (2020): «Automatic feature extraction and classification of Iberian ceramics based on deep convolutional networks», Journal of Cultural Heritage, 41: 106-112.
- Clarivate Analytics (2022). Web of Science. [https://www-webofscience-com]

- Colmenero-Fernández, A.; Feito, F. (2021): «Image processing for graphic normalisation of the ceramic profile in archaeological sketches making use of deep neuronal net (DNN)», Digital Applications in Archaeology and Cultural Heritage, 22: e00196.
- Courtenay, L.A.; Yravedra, J.; Huguet, R.; Aramendi, J.; Maté-González, M.Á.; González-Aguilera, D.; Arriaza, M. C. (2019): «Combining machine learning algorithms and geometric morphometrics: a study of carnivore tooth marks», Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 522: 28-39.
- Crawford, K.; Dobbe, R.; Dryer, T.; Fried, F.; Green, B.; Kaziunas, E. et al. (2019): AI now 2019 report, New York: AI Now Institute.
- Davis, D.S. (2020a): «Defining what we study: The contribution of machine automation in archaeological research», Digital Applications in Archaeology and Cultural Heritage, 18: e00152.
- Davis, D.S. (2020b): «Studying human responses to environmental change: Trends and trajectories of archaeological research», Environmental Archaeology, 25(4): 367-380.
- Davis, D.S.; Caspari, G.; Lipo, C.P.; Sanger, M.C. (2021): «Deep learning reveals extent of Archaic Native American shell-ring building practices», Journal of archaeological science, 132: 105433.
- Davis, D.; Douglass, K. (2021): Remote Sensing Reveals Lasting Legacies of Land-Use by Small-Scale Foraging Societies. DOI:10.26207/zmsr-tc92.
- Desmond, M. (2014): «Relational ethnography», Theory and society, 43: 547–579.
- Dhall, D.; Kaur, R.; Juneja, M. (2020): «Machine learning: a review of the algorithms and its applications», en Proceedings of ICRIC, 2019: 47-63.
- Dia, K.; Coli, V.; Blanc-Féraud, L.; Leblond, J.; Gomart, L.; Binder, D. (2021): «Applications of Learning Methods to Imaging Issues in Archaeology, Regarding Ancient Ceramic Manufacturing», II International Conference on Deep Learning Theory and Applications, SCITEPRESS-Science and Technology Publications: 109-116.
- Domínguez-Rodrigo, M.; Baquedano, E. (2018): «Distinguishing butchery cut marks from crocodile bite marks through machine learning methods», Scientific Reports, 8: 5786. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-24071-1.
- Ducke, B. (2003): «Archaeological predictive modelling in intelligent network structures», en Proceedings of the 29th CAA Conference, Loughborough University: 267-272.
- Edeh, M.O.; Ugorji, C.C.; Nduanya, U.I.; Onyewuchi, C.; Ohwo, S.O.; Ikedilo, O.E. (2021): «Prospects and Limitations of Machine Learning in Computer Science Education» Benin Journal of Educational Studies, 27(1), 48-62.
- Elsevier. (2004): Scopus [https://www.elsevier.com/scopus]
- Engel, A.; Van den Broeck, C. (2001): Statistical mechanics of learning, Cambridge University Press.
- Fabricius Team (2022). Arts experiments [https://artsexperiments.withgoogle.com/fabricius/en/about].
- Fan, L.; Zhang, M.; Yin, J.; Zhang, J. (2022). «Impacts of dynamic inspection records on port state control efficiency using Bayesian network analysis», Reliability Engineering & System Safety, 228: 108753. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ress.2022.108753
- Faniel, I.; Kansa, E.; Whitcher Kansa, S.; Barrera-Gomez, J.; Yakel, E. (2013): «The challenges of digging data: a study of context in archaeological data reuse», en Proceedings of the 13th ACM/IEEE-CS joint conference on Digital libraries, New York: 295-304.
- Ferraro, P.J.; Sanchirico, J.N.; Smith, M.D. (2019): «Causal inference in coupled human and natural systems», PNAS, 116: 5311–8. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1805563115.
- Fort, J. (2022): «Dispersal distances and cultural effects in the spread of the Neolithic along the northern Mediterranean coast», Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences, 14: 153. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12520-022-01619-x
- Friggens, M.M.; Loehman, R.A.; Constan, C.I.; Kneifel, R.R. (2021): «Predicting wildfire impacts on the prehistoric archaeological record of the Jemez Mountains, New Mexico, USA», Fire Ecology, 17(1): 1-19.
- Gandhi, I.R.; Ponnavaikko, M. (2020): «Copper plate image character recognition system using complex extreme deep learning machine», International Journal of Advanced Science and Technology, 29(7): 359-268.
- Gantley, M.; Whitehouse, H.; Bogaard, A. (2018): «Material correlates analysis (MCA): An innovative way of examining questions in archaeology using ethnographic data», Advances in Archaeological Practice, 6: 328–341.
- Ginau, A.; Steiniger, D.; Hartmann, R.; Hartung, U.; Schiestl, R.; Altmeyer, M.; Wunderlich, J. (2020): «What settlements leave behind—pXRF compositional data analysis of archaeological layers from Tell el-Fara'in (Buto, Egypt) using machine learning», Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 546:109666.
- Grimm, V.; Railsback, S.F. (2011): «Designing, formulating, and communicating agent-based models», en A.J. Heppenstall; L.M. See; M. Batty (eds.), Agent-based models of geographical Systems, Springer Science & Business Media: Dordrecht: 361-377.
- Grove, M.; Blinkhorn, J. (2020): «Neural networks differentiate between Middle and Later Stone Age lithic assemblages in eastern Africa», PloS one, 15(8): e0237528.
- Gualandi, M.L.; Gattiglia, G.; Anichini, F. (2021): «An Open System for collection and automatic recognition of pottery through Neural Network Algorithms», Heritage, 4(1): 140-159.
- Guyot, A.; Hubert-Moy, L.; Lorho, T. (2018): «Detecting Neolithic burial mounds from LiDAR-derived elevation data using a multi-scale approach and machine learning techniques», Remote Sensing, 10(2):225.
- Guyot, A.; Lennon, M.; Hubert-Moy, L. (2021): «Objective comparison of relief visualization techniques with deep CNN for archaeology», Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports, 38: 103027.
- Haliassos, A.; Barmpoutis, P.; Stathaki, T.; Quirke, S.; Constantinides, A. (2020): «Classification and detection of symbols in ancient papyri», en F. Liarokapis; A. Voulodimos; N. Doulamis; A. Doulamis, Visual computing for cultural heritage, Springer: 121-140.
- Hansen, J.; Nebel, M. (2020): «Prioritizing Archaeological Inventory and Protection with Predictive Probability Models at Glen Canyon National Recreation Area, USA», Journal of Southwestern Anthropology and History, 86(1): 1-23.
- Hein, I.; Rojas-Domínguez, A.; Ornelas, M.; D'Ercole, G.; Peloschek, L. (2018): «Automated classification of archaeological ceramic materials by means of texture measures», Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports, 21: 921-928.
- Hlad, M.; Veselka, B.; Steadman, D.W.; Herregods, B.; Elskens, M.; Annaert, R.; Boudin, M. *et al.* (2021): «Revisiting metric sex estimation of burnt human remains via supervised learning using a reference collection of modern identified cremated individuals (Knoxville, USA)», American journal of physical anthropology, 175(4): 777-793.
- Højsgaard S. (2012): «Graphical Independence Networks with the gRain Package for R», Journal of Statistical Software, 46(10): 1-26.
- Horn, C.; Ivarsson, O.; Lindhé, C.; Potter, R.; Green, A.; Ling, J. (2022): «Artificial Intelligence, 3D Documentation, and Rock Art—Approaching and Reflecting on the Automation of Identification and Classification of Rock Art Images», Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory, 29: 188– 213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10816-021-09518-6
- Hörr, C.; Lindinger, E.; Brunnett, G. (2014): «Machine learning based typology development in archaeology», Journal on Computing and Cultural Heritage, 7(1): 1-23.
- Huffer, D.; Graham, S. (2018): «Fleshing out the bones: Studying the human remains trade with Tensorflow and Inception», Journal of Computer Applications in Archaeology, 1(1): 55-63.
- Huggett, J. (2018): «Reuse Remix Recycle: Repurposing Archaeological Digital Data», Advances in Archaeological Practice, 6(2): 93-104. doi:10.1017/aap.2018.1
- Hyafil, A.; Baumard, N. (2022): «Evoked and Transmitted Culture models: Using bayesian methods to infer the evolution of cultural traits in history», PloS one, 17(4): e0264509.
- Isern, N.; Zilhão, J.; Fort, J.; Ammerman, A.J. (2017): «Modeling the role of voyaging in the coastal spread of the Early Neolithic in the West Mediterranean», Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 114(5): 897-902.
- Jeppson, P.L.; Muschio, G.; Levin, J. (2019): «Computational Science, Convergence Culture, and the Creation of Archaeological Knowledge and Understanding», en J.H. Jameson; S. Musteata (eds.), Transforming Heritage Practice in the 21st Century, Springer International Publishing: 431-446.
- Kirby, K.R.: Gray, R.D.; Greenhill, S.J.; Jordan, F.M.; Gomes-Ng, S.; Bibiko, H.J. *et al.* (2016): «D-PLACE: A global database of cultural, linguistic and environmental diversity», PloS One, 11.
- Kogou, S.; Shahtahmassebi, G.; Lucian, A.; Liang, H.; Shui, B.; Zhang, W. *et al.* (2020): «From remote sensing and machine learning to the history of the Silk Road: large scale material identification on wall paintings», Scientific reports, 10(1): 1-14.
- Kohler, T.A.; Varien, M.D. (2012): Emergence and collapse of early villages: models of Central Mesa Verde archaeology, University of California Press.
- Kohonen, T. (2001): Self-Organizing Maps (Third Edition), Springer, Berlin.
- Koller, D.; Friedman, N. (2009): Probabilistic graphical models: principles and techniques, MIT Press.
- Klassen, S.; Weed, J.; Evans, D. (2018): «Semi-supervised machine learning approaches for predicting the chronology of archaeological sites: A case study of temples from medieval Angkor, Cambodia», PloS one, 13(11): e0205649.

- Lambers, K.; Verschoof-van der Vaart, W.B.; Bourgeois, Q.P. (2019): «Integrating remote sensing, machine learning, and citizen science in Dutch archaeological prospection», Remote Sensing, 11(7): 794.
- Leathwick, J.R. (2000): Predictive models of archaeological site distributions in New Zealand, Department of Conservation.
- Lotka, A.J. (1920): «Analytical note on certain rhythmic relations in organic systems», Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 6(7): 410-415.
- Ma, Y.; Grimes, V.; Van Biesen, G.; Shi, L.; Chen, K.; Mannino, M.A.; Fuller, B.T. (2021):
 «Aminoisoscapes and palaeodiet reconstruction: New perspectives on millet-based diets in China using amino acid δ13C values», Journal of Archaeological Science, 125: 105289

Mackenzie, A. (2017): Machine learners: Archaeology of a data practice, MIT Press.

- MacLeod, N. (2018): «The quantitative assessment of archaeological artifact groups: Beyond geometric morphometrics», Quaternary Science Reviews, 201: 319-348.
- Marcot, B.G.; Hanea, A.M. (2021): «What is an optimal value of k in k-fold cross-validation in discrete Bayesian network analysis?», Computational Statistics, 36: 2009–2031. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00180-020-00999-9
- Mesanza-Moraza, A.; García-Gómez, I.; Azkarate, A. (2020): «Machine learning for the built heritage archaeological study», Journal on Computing and Cultural Heritage, 14(1): 1-21.
- Monna, F.; Magail, J.; Rolland, T.; Navarro, N.; Wilczek, J.; Gantulga, J.O., *et al.* (2020): «Machine learning for rapid mapping of archaeological structures made of dry stones–Example of burial monuments from the Khirgisuur culture, Mongolia–», Journal of Cultural Heritage, 43: 118-128.
- Müller, B.; Balbi, S.; Buchmann, C.M.; De Sousa, L.; Dressler, G.; Groeneveld, J.; Weise, H. (2014): «Standardised and transparent model descriptions for agent-based models: Current status and prospects», Environmental Modelling & Software, 55: 156-163.
- Nash, B.S.; Prewitt, E.R. (2016): «The use of artificial neural networks in projectile point typology», Lithic Technology, 41(3): 194-211.
- Navarro, P.; Cintas, C.; Lucena, M.; Fuertes, J.M.; Delrieux, C.; Molinos, M. (2021): «Learning feature representation of Iberian ceramics with automatic classification models», Journal of Cultural Heritage, 48: 65-73.
- Navega, D.; Coelho, C.; Vicente, R.; Ferreira, M.T.; Wasterlain, S.; Cunha, E. (2015): «AncesTrees: ancestry estimation with randomized decision trees», International journal of legal medicine, 129(5): 1145-1153.
- Neapolitan R.E. (2004): Learning bayesian networks, vol. 38, Upper Saddle River: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Nendel, C; Berg, M.; Kersebaum, K.C.; Mirschel, W.; Specka, X.; Wegehenkel, M. et al. (2011): «The MONICA model: Testing predictability for crop growth, soil moisture and nitrogen dynamics», Ecological Modelling. 222: 1614–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.02.018.
- Neto, E.M.D.F.L.; Albuquerque, U. (2018): «Theories of niche construction and optimal foraging: weaknesses and virtues in understanding the early stages of domestication», Ethnobiology and Conservation, vol. 7.
- Oonk, S.; Spijker, J. (2015): «A supervised machine-learning approach towards geochemical predictive modelling in archaeology», Journal of archaeological science, 59: 80-88.
- Orengo, H.A.; Garcia-Molsosa, A. (2019): «A brave new world for archaeological survey: Automated machine learning-based potsherd detection using high-resolution drone imagery», Journal of Archaeological Science, 112: 105013.
- Ostertag, C.; Beurton-Aimar, M. (2020): «Matching ostraca fragments using a siamese neural network», Pattern Recognition Letters, 131: 336-340.
- Pagnin, L; Brunnbauer, L.; Wiesinger, R.; Limbeck, A.; Schreiner, M. (2020): «Multivariate analysis and laser-induced breakdown spectroscopy (LIBS): a new approach for the spatially resolved classification of modern art materials», Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 412: 3187-3198.
- Palacios, O.; Barceló, J.A.; Delgado, R. (2022): Exploring the role of ecology and social organisation in agropastoral societies: A Bayesian network approach», PLoS ONE 17(10): e0276088. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088
- Pargeter, J.; Khreisheh, N.; Stout, D. (2019): «Understanding stone tool-making skill acquisition: experimental methods and evolutionary implications», Journal of Human Evolution, 133: 146-166.
- Pawlowicz, L.M.; Downum, C.E. (2021): «Applications of deep learning to decorated ceramic typology and classification: A case study using Tusayan White Ware from Northeast Arizona», Journal of Archaeological Science, 130: 105375.

- Peregrine, P.N. (1996): «Ethnology versus ethnographic analogy: A common confusion in archaeological interpretation», Cross-Cultural Research, 30: 316–329.
- Prasomphan, S.; Jung, J.E. (2017): «Mobile application for archaeological site image content retrieval and automated generating image descriptions with neural network», Mobile Networks and Applications, 22(4): 642-649.
- R Core Team. (2022): R: A Language and environment for statistical computing, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Radford, J.; Joseph, K. (2020): «Theory in, theory out: the uses of social theory in machine learning for social science», Frontiers in big Data, 3: 18. doi: 10.3389/fdata.2020.00018
- Ramazzotti, M. (2020): «Modelling the past: logics, semantics and applications of neural computing in archaeology», Archeologia e calcolatori, 31(2): 169-180.
- Ramya, J.; Raj Kumar, G.K.; Peniel, C.J. (2019): «'Agaram'–Web Application of Tamil Characters Using Convolutional Neural Networks and Machine Learning», en International Conference on Emerging Current Trends in Computing and Expert Technology, Springer, Cham: 670-680.
- Reich, J.; Steiner, P.; Ballmer, A.; Emmenegger, L.; Hostettler, M.; Stäheli, C.; Naumov, G.; Taneski, B.; Todoroska, V.; Schindler, K.; Hafner, A. (2021): «A novel structure from motion-based approach to underwayter pile field documentation», Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports, 39: 103-120.
- Resler, A.; Yeshurun, R.; Natalio, F.; Giryes, R. (2021): «A deep-learning model for predictive archaeology and archaeological community detection», Humanities and Social Sciences Communications, 8(1): 1-10.
- Richards-Rissetto, H.; Newton, D.; Al Zadjali, A. (2021): «A 3d Point Cloud Deep Learning Approach Using LIDAR to Identify Ancient Maya Archaeological Sites», en ISPRS Annals of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, Beijing: 133-139.
- Sanders, D.H. (2018): «Neural Networks, AI, Phone-Based VR, Machine Learning, Computer Vision and the CUNAT Automated Translation App—Not Your Father's Archaeological Toolkit», en 3rd Digital Heritage International Congress (DigitalHERITAGE), San Francisco: 1–5.
- Scutari, M.; Denis, J.B. (2021): Bayesian Networks: With Examples in R, Chapman and Hall/CRC, New York.
- Sharafi, S.; Fouladvand, S.; Simpson, I.; Alvarez, J.A.B. (2016): «Application of pattern recognition in detection of buried archaeological sites based on analysing environmental variables, Khorramabad Plain, West Iran», Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports, 8:206-215.
- Smith, B.D. (2015): «A comparison of niche construction theory and diet breadth models as explanatory frameworks for the initial domestication of plants and animals», Journal of Archaeological Research, 23(3): 215-262.
- Soroush, M.; Mehrtash, A.; Khazraee, E.; Ur, J.A. (2020): «Deep learning in archaeological remote sensing: Automated quart detection in the kurdistan region of Iraq», Remote Sensing, 12(3): 500.
- Stott, D.; Kristiansen, S.M.; Sindbæk, S.M. (2019): «Searching for viking age fortresses with automatic landscape classification and feature detection», Remote Sensing, 11: 1881.
- Tewari, K.; Vandita, S.; Jain, S. (2020). «Predictive analysis of absenteeism in MNCs using machine learning algorithm», en Proceedings of ICRIC 2019, Springer, Cham: 3 14.
- Thabeng, O.L.; Merlo, S.; Adam, E. (2019): «High-resolution remote sensing and advanced classification techniques for the prospection of archaeological sites' markers: The case of dung deposits in the Shashi-Limpopo Confluence area (southern Africa)», Journal of Archaeological Science, 102: 48-60.
- Trier, Ø.D.; Cowley, D.C.; Waldeland, A.U. (2019): «Using deep neural networks on airborne laser scanning data: Results from a case study of semi-automatic mapping of archaeological topography on Arran, Scotland», Archaeological Prospection, 26(2): 165-175.
- Tsigkas, G.; Sfikas, G.; Pasialis, A.; Vlachopoulos, A.; Nikou, C. (2020): «Markerless detection of ancient rock carvings in the wild: rock art in Vathy, Astypalaia», Pattern Recognition Letters, 135: 337-345.
- Ullah I.I.T. (2011): «A GIS method for assessing the zone of human-environmental impact around archaeological sites: a test case from the Late Neolithic of Wadi Ziqlâb, Jordan», Journal of Archaeological Science, 38(3): 623–32.
- Ullah, I.I.T.; Bergin, S.M. (2012): «Modeling the consequences of village site location: Least cost path modeling in a coupled GIS and agent-based model of village agropastoralism in eastern Spain», en D.A. White; S.L. Surface-Evans (eds.), Least cost analysis of social landscapes: Archaeological case studies, University of Utah Press: 155–173.

- Ushizima, D.; Xu, K.; Monteiro, P.J. (2020): «Materials data science for microstructural characterization of archaeological concrete», MRS Advances, 5(7): 305-318.
- Vahdati, A.R.; Weissmann, J.D.; Timmermann, A.; de León, M.S.P.; Zollikofer, C.P. (2019): «Drivers of Late Pleistocene human survival and dispersal: an agent-based modeling and machine learning approach», Quaternary Science Reviews, 221: 105867.
- Van Ittersum M.K.; Ewert, F.; Heckelei, T.; Wery, J.; Alkan Olsson, J.; Andersen, E. et al. (2008): «Integrated assessment of agricultural systems–A component-based framework for the European Union (SEAMLESS)», Agricultural Systems, 96: 150– 165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2007.07.009.
- VanValkenburgh, P.; Dufton, J.A. (2020): «Big archaeology: Horizons and blindspots», Journal of Field Archaeology, 45: S1-S7. https://doi.org/10.1080/00934690.2020.1714307
- Vaughn, S.; Crawford, T. (2009) «A predictive model of archaeological potential: An example from northwestern Belize», Applied Geography, 29(4): 542-555.
- Verschoof-van der Vaart, W.B.; Lambers, K.; Kowalczyk, W.; Bourgeois, Q.P. (2020): «Combining deep learning and location-based ranking for large-scale archaeological prospection of LiDAR data from the Netherlands», ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information, 9(5): 293.
- Volterra, V. (1926): «Fluctuations in the abundance of a species considered mathematically», Nature, 118(2972): 558-560.
- Von Bertalanffy, L. (1950): «An outline of general system theory», British Journal for the Philosophy of science, 1(2): 134-165.
- Vos, D.; Stafford, R.; Jenkins, E.L.; Garrard, A. (2021): «A model based on Bayesian confirmation and machine learning algorithms to aid archaeological interpretation by integrating incompatible data», PloS one, 16(3): e0248261.
- Wärmländer, S.K.; Varul, L.; Koskinen, J.; Saage, R.; Schlager, S. (2019): «Estimating the temperature of heat-exposed bone via machine learning analysis of SCI color values: A pilot study», Journal of forensic sciences, 64(1): 190-195.
- Watts, J.; Jackson, J.C.; Arnison, C.M.; Hamerslag, E.M.; Shaver, J.; Purzycki, B.G. (2022): «Building Quantitative Cross-Cultural Databases From Ethnographic Records: Promise, Problems and Principles», Cross-Cultural Research, 56: 62–94. https://doi.org/10.1177/10693971211065720.
- Wilensky, U. (1999): NetLogo, Center for Connected Learning and Computer-Based Modeling, Northwestern University.
- Xu, L.; Wang, X.; Wang, X. (2019): «Shipwrecks detection based on deep generation network and transfer learning with small amount of sonar images», en IEEE 8th Data Driven Control and Learning Systems Conference (DDCLS), IEEE, Dali: 638-643.
- Yaworsky, P.M.; Vernon, K.B.; Spangler, J.D.; Brewer, S.C.; Codding, B.F. (2020): «Advancing predictive modeling in archaeology: An evaluation of regression and machine learning methods on the Grand Staircase-Escalante National Monument», PloS one, 15(10): e0239424.
- Zeder, M.A. (2017): «Domestication as a model system for the extended evolutionary synthesis», Interface Focus, 7(5): 20160133
- Zheng, M.; Tang, W.; Ogundiran, A.; Yang, J. (2020): «Spatial simulation modeling of settlement distribution driven by random forest: consideration of landscape visibility», Sustainability, 12(11): 4748.
- Zhu, B.; Wang, X.; Chu, Z.; Yang, Y.; Shi, J. (2019): «Active learning for recognition of shipwreck target in side-scan sonar image», Remote Sensing, 11(3): 243.

Chapter 2

Towards Agropastoralism

2.1. Emergence of Mixed Economies

It is generally accepted that we can situate the '*when*' and '*where*' of the emergence of agropastoralism approximately ~10,000 years ago at southwestern Asia (Hancock, 2022; Iob & Botigué, 2022). This 'core area' has been traditionally called the Fertile Crescent (Breasted, 1916) or the Near East, but these terms are derived from artificial designations or does not englobe the whole territory and lead to a potential 'Levantine bias'. This region will be termed southwestern Asia henceforth as some authors suggest (Barker, 2006:105). This chronology is analogous to a period of instability during the Last Glacial Maximum (from c. 22,9-18,9 to 15 ka cal. BP), the end of the last ice age and the onset of the current interglacial period (Blockley & Pinhasi, 2011:103). Known as the *Bølling- Allerød interstadial period* (c. 14,9-12,9 ka cal. BP), warmer, milder, and more humid environmental conditions were present and culminated in the Younger Dryas Stadial (c. 12,9-11,7 ka cal. BP). This period was followed by a transition into warmer climatic conditions during the Holocene (from c. 11,7-10,5 ka cal. BP) (Bar-Matthews et al., 2000, 2003) were also relevant climate phenomena known as the 9,2 and 8,2 ka events took place (Rasmussen et al., 2007, 2014; Alley & Agústsdottir, 2005; Steffensen et al., 2008). It is in this last event in which the earliest evidence of agropastoralism is found.

It was not a sudden event; it was predated by a long period towards plant and animal domestication which begun approximately c. 23 ka cal. BP ('Epipalaeolithic') in the southern Levant. This process is documented by the remains of wild barley, wild wheat, and harvesting tools (Piperino et al., 2004) in Ohalo II settlement (Israel), dated between 22,5 and 23,5 ka cal. BP (Weiss et al., 2004, 2008, 2011). Ohalo II was not isolated, similar remains have been found in other settlements such Kharanaeh IV or Jilat VI), and they are also related to other smaller sites which has been interpreted as potential networks among populations (Goring-Morris & Belfer-Cohen, 2011). Additionally, potential exchange networks are suggested from the evidence found of the marine mollusc assemblage from the Sinai (Bar-Yosef & Killebrew, 1984). The settlements mentioned in this chapter are depicted in **Figure 3**.



Figure 3. Map of the settlements mentioned in Chapter 2.1. 1. Abu Hureyra; 2. Ain el Kerkh; 3. Ain Ghazal; 4. Ain Mallaha; 5. Akarçay; 6. Beidha; 7. Bouqras; 8. el-Wad Terrace; 9. Göbekli Tepe; 10. Hayonim grave VII; 11. Hilazon Tachtit; 12. Jerf el-Ahmar; 13. Jericho; 14. Jilat VI; 15. Kharnaeh IV; 16. M'lefaat; 17. Mureybet; 18. Netiv Hagdud; 19. Ohalo II; 20. Qermez Dere. 21. Raqefet cave; 22. Sabi Abyad; 23. Tell Halula; 24. Wadi Hammeh 27.

2.1.1. Proto-Agropastoral Systems

Although these early agropastoral communities probably practiced some degree of sedentarism, the first recognised evidence is found by the late Epipalaeolithic, during the Bølling-Allerød interstadial period. The Bølling- Allerød interstadial period was characterised by a favourable and warm climatic condition in which park woodland expanded from the Southern Levant out over the uplands and steppes of the northern Fertile. These early sedentary communities are so-called Natufian, and they are divided into two periods: *Early Natufian* (c. 15-13,8 ka cal. BP) and *Late Natufian* (c. 13,8 – 11,5 ka cal. BP) (Garrod & Bate, 1937; Garrod, 1957; Perrot, 1966; Bar-Yosef, 1998; Belfer-Cohen & Bar-Yosef, 2000; Munro, 2004; Belfer-Cohen & Goring Morris, 2005). The principal difference between these two phases is the intensity in which they consumed agropastoral resources.

Natufian communities lived in large open-air camps and caves in the Zagros area specially, the Levantine corridor close to the water. With a higher density on sites compared to

previous settlements, a diversity of site patterns emerged: some groups continued being organised in small-scale communities composed by nuclear households, whereas others were largeextended with a more communal internal organisation as suggested in Wadi Hammeh 27 and el-Wad Terrace sites (e.g., Goring-Morris, 1996; Goring-Morris & Belfer-Cohen, 2008).

During the Early Natufian, communities practiced a seasonal pattern of mobility in which they adapted their food consumption depending on climatic conditions. Because of chronological difficulties, it is still unsure the intensity in which farming resources were consumed but it is thought that it would have been significant for the grinding equipment for milling and pounding and storage bins (Arranz-Otaegui et al., 2016; Ibáñez et al., 2019:228). Conversely, during the Late Natufian, there is evidence for farming intensification. They extended their cultivation area in the surroundings of their sites (as documented in Mureybet) (Willcox et al., 2008; Ibáñez et al., 2016), focusing on cultivating specific species (horticulture). Resources were produced and consumed more intensively, suggesting a potential specialisation on cereals. Cereals, legumes, weeds, fruits (Arranz-Otaegui et al., 2018; Belli et al., 2023; Rosenberg & Chasan, 2021), wild animals (Bridault & Rabinovich, 2019) and fish (Munro et al., 2021) were consumed, shaping a broad-spectrum diet in which diversification had a relevant role. For example, the Abu Hureyra site (13 to 12 ka cal. BP) was only occupied from early spring to late autumn, period in which its population hunted gazelle, gathered wild fruit such as pistachio and farmed einkorn, rye, and pulses (Colledge & Conolly, 2010; Legge & Rowley-Conwy, 2000).

Concerning burial practices, we also identify some differences. In Early Natufian, burials are found in caves (e.g., Raqefet Cave; Lengyel & Bocquentin, 2005) and houses (e.g., Ain Mallaha; Valla et al., 2017). Despite individual burials are dominant in the archaeological record, the first evidence of collective graves is observed, with multiple burials including simultaneous inhumations (Ibáñez et al., 2019: 239). They are thought to be family burials (e.g., Hayonim Grave VII; Belfer-Cohen, 1988) and they present a great variability in the people buried (mixed sexes, ages, burial typology). Additionally, a unique type of burials has been recovered at Hilazon Tachtit (Grosman et al., 2008) and Grave X at Ain Mallaha (Perrot et al., 1988) where both human and dog were buried together (they are also known as the 'shaman' burial and the 'gazelle-horned' burial, respectively).

During the Late Natufian, on the other hand, we observe the beginning of mortuary customs that persisted during the PPN, such as the separation of the head from the rest of the body in some human skeletons (skull caches) (Goring-Morris & Belfer-Cohen, 2013). This practice is believed to be linked to the 'cult of ancestors', where the whole community participated, propitiating the cohesion among the settlement inhabitants.

Throughout the Natufian period, exchange activities intensified. Intra-settlement exchange networks distributed valuable materials such as obsidian, shell, basalt, oche or coloured stones and tools like basalt grindstones (Weinstein-Evron, 1991, Weinstein-Evron et al., 2001; Delage, 2018; Rosenberg et al., 2020). Long-distance exchange networks from the Mediterranean or the Red Sea in the Natufian sites in Southern Levant (in a distance between 50 and 300 kilometres from sites) also played a relevant role. Exotic items such as stone vessels, beads, decorated bone tools and grindstone utensils were traded. They are interpreted as a potential interest of Natufian communities for foreign objects as a tool for social distinction. However, it remains uncertain whether they aimed to define themselves at an individual-level or these objects were acquired/ manipulated to construct an identity at a community-level.

2.1.2. Consolidating Agropastoral Communities

At the beginning of the Holocene (c. 11,7 to 10,5 ka cal. BP), environmental conditions changed again, and temperatures raise and maintained through a long period of time. Chronologically, the improvement of the climate was simultaneous to the emergence to the first considered 'agropastoral' communities. They are known as "aceramics" because there is no evidence that they produced ceramics but clay figures and the period that the communities with these characteristics are present, is divided into two cultural phases: the *Pre-pottery Neolithic A* (PPNA) and the *Pre-pottery Neolithic B* (PPNB) (Kenyon, 1957). The PPN period is considered when the sedentarism and the domestication of animals and plants were fully established, consolidating preceding socioeconomic changes of Natufian.

The PPNA was a brief phenomenon which lasted about a thousand years (c. 11,7 to 10,5 ka cal. BP). It has traditionally been divided into three different cultural entities, the Khiamian, Mureybetian, and Sultanian (Cauvin, 2000a) which cover the territory of the southern-central Levant (e.g., Weiss et al., 2006; White & Makarewicz, 2012), the Euphrates area (e.g., Willcox et al., 2008) and the Zagros (e.g., Riehl et al., 2013). Other social groups were those who remained sedentary hunter-gatherers along the Tigris River valley or as mobile populations in the semi-arid lands of the eastern and southern Levant (Goring-Morris, 1993; Goring- Morris & Belfer-Cohen, 1997; Bar-Yosef & Kislev, 2014).

Generally, it is estimated that PPNA population was denser in comparison to the Late Natufian communities (Kuijt & Goring-Morris, 2002). Located in the Levantine corridor, their sites ranged in very different sizes: from small surfaces scatters (c. 100 - 150 m2), medium sizes settlements (c. 2,000-3,000 m2) and few larger ones (2-3 hectares) with architectural remains.

Settlements consisted in encampments of small circular semi-subterranean structures (3-6 meters in diameter) with hearths, pits, activity areas, plastered floors (Goring-Morris & Belfer-Cohen, 2013). It is thought that these households would have been inhabited by large extended families (Flannery, 1972).

It is particularly interesting the presence of differences between the southern and the northern Levant in terms of construction and social organisation. Southern communities maintained a more nuclear household organised along kinship lines (Belfer-Cohen & Goring-Morris, 2011: 213), like the Natufian record and with some shared spaces. A good example is Jericho, with numerous silos to supply the population and walls and tower, although it is unclear whether it was built to defend the site against people, or flooding, or both (Bar-Yosef & Belfer-Cohen, 1992). On the other hand, in the north semi-subterranean structures interpreted as ritual are found in Jerf el-Ahmar or Mureybet (Stordeur, 2019; Stordeur et al., 2000) and this cult is believed that developed towards the emergence of supra-regional ritual sites such as Göbekli Tepe (Schmidt, 2010). These new types of sites in the northern Levant probably needed a massive investment of labour force, resources, and people. They are believed that they were built as social pillars of interaction between different communities throughout the region, which particularly differs compared to the south, where ritual behaviours were in private-level (Belfer-Cohen & Goring-Morris, 2011: 214).

In the PPNA register can be observed as a preference for juvenile specimens, which has been interpreted as some sort of 'proto-herding' by selecting young animals to tame them. This model of specialised hunting and control of the wild (Vigne, 2017) it is proposed for goats (Hole, 1996) and wild boar (Redding, 2005). The consumption of crops was equally relevant in PPNA settlements, along with gathering foodstuffs such as seeds and fruits (Barker, 2006: 134). Thus far, it is uncertain whether plants were just harvested or husbanded. It is believed that it was the time of systematic experimentation in cultivation and intensification of harvesting of natural fields, which is called 'pre-domestication cultivation' (Colledge, 2002). The first evidence of plant domestication is found at some archaeological sites such as Jericho, Netiv Hagdud, Mureybet, Jerf el-Ahmar, Qermez Dere, and M'lefaat.

By the end of PPNA, a suite of plants was already partially domesticated as the frequencies of wild forms gradually diminished in the fields documented (Bar-Yousef, 2017: 69). Probably, from the start of wild plants cultivation until the development of domestic species, a span of 1,000-1,500 years was necessary (Ibáñez et al., 2019). Be that as it may, during the PPNA first experiences with control of wild plants and animals took place, and that likely led to new forms of organisation to produce foodstuffs to maintain the whole settlement community. The first visible signs of domesticated plants are dated at this time, spikelet forks of emmer and

einkorn wheat with tell-tale and rough disarticulation scars provide the most conclusive evidence that cereals were domesticated at this time. It is believed that was the time when the population divided into food-producers and non-producers, the latter would be individuals specialised in crafts, for instance. There is still a debate, however, addressing the question of whether agriculture was originated only in this area (Lev-Yadun et al., 2000) or across a broad area which would include the Levant and northern Fertile Crescent (i.e., Weiss et al., 2006).

There was presumably a more structured exchange network of exotic items which lead to the interaction among various communities during this phase, as demonstrated with mitochondrial DNA studies. The movement of people has been regarded as a key mechanism for relaxing group tensions and to share novel experiences implemented by communities, which prevented the risks of involution (Ibáñez et al., 2016). It is noteworthy the case of Cyprus, where the introduction of wild boar took place approximately 11,4 ka cal. BP by foragers that emigrated to the island (Vigne et al., 2011). Mitochondrial DNA analyses indicate that pioneering groups regularly visited the island from the 12,9 ka cal. BP (Manning et al., 2010) and groups coming from southwest Asia continued migrating to the island until the 11,950 BP taking with them the cultural novelties associated with the emergence of the Neolithic, including plants and animals in the process of domestication (Ibáñez et al., 2019).

Another continuing practice with Natufian roots was the separation of the skull from some buried individuals. This procedure is frequently recovered in PPNA settlements, and it is grasped as some sort of ancestor worship (Bar-Yosef, 1998; Cauvin 1978, 1985; Kuijt, 1995, 2000; Le Mort, 1992; Stordeur & Abbes, 2002; Verhoeven, 2004). Multiple burials became more frequent, and, in some cases, they looked more like trash pits with human remains rather than venerable graves (Ibáñez et al., 2019: 240). Burials predominantly had scarce grave goods and, the few that may have, researchers encountered the difficulty of discerning whether faunal remains were belongings or ceremonial feasting. This is interpreted as the result of population growth associated with full-scale agriculture and animal husbandry in the Levant and the emergence of the first evidence of social inequality (Kuijt, 2000).

The beginning of the PPNB phase is dated approximately by 10,5 ka cal. BP. This phase is divided into three distinct periods: (i) Early PPNB c. 10,5 - 10,2 ka cal. BP; (ii) Middle PPNB c. 10,2 - 9,5 ka cal. BP and (iii) Late PPNB c. 9,5 - 8,4 ka cal. BP. During the early PPNB, several processes that had begun during the PPNA materialised: animal and plants were fully domesticated, and the staple foodstuffs and settlements were permanent, larger, and made by more durable materials (i.e., stone foundations, mudbrick, and pisé walls) (Barker, 2006: 137).

Settlements were situated in low-lying locations near to water supplies and alluvial soils (Sherrat, 1980). Settlements expanded and first rectangular household structures were constructed. Built with sun-dried mudbricks, they had above-ground features (e.g., clay silos, bins), below-ground structures (e.g., pits) for storing food (Kuijt, 2015). Changes in household shape and storage facilities have been associated with a replacement of group-oriented strategies practised by communities organised in large extended groups for a more family-oriented strategy in which the nuclear family has its own private storage (Flannery, 2002). Despite the presence of storage facilities, it is also questioned the capacity of PPN households to be self-sufficient as supra-household cooperation in farming communities is crucial to diminish the survival risk (Bogaard, 2017). Nevertheless, cooperation is difficult to identify empirically (Enloe, 2003; Finlayson, 2020). Another aspect to consider is that rectangular households could also have been inhabited by extended families (Goring-Morris & Belfer-Cohen, 2008) and some researchers, even question whether the social organisation of these communities could be identified with the current evidence (see Banning & Chazan, 2006; Saidel, 1993).

Another major change is first clay artefacts are recovered in form of figurine (Ibáñez et al., 2019: 227). While their diet was based on ground cereals, foraging practices prevailed. Based on the recovered evidence of PPNB settlements that the so-called "founder crops" were defined: emmer wheat, einkorn wheat, barley, lentil, pea, bitter vetch, chickpea, and flax (Abbo et al., 2013). However, recent studies propose the addition of further species into this package of grass pea (despite the bulk of its early remains comes from 8th-7th millennia BP in Greece and Bulgaria), rye (few remains), and fava bean (no compelling evidence). It is believed that the PPNB population cultivated several crops in the same fields, and they selected these species because they were more suitable for the cooler and humid environment of Southwest Asia (Harlan, 1998; Willcox, 1996; Araus et al., 2007). Animal herding was extended to further animal species compared to the PPNB (Uerpmann, 1996; Vigne et al., 2011; Zeder, 2012).

Concerning social practices, obsidian exchange networks were maintained (Ortega et al., 2014) and burial practices. There was a continuity of Natufian and PPNA phases such as the removal and reburial of skulls (some of them plastered and painted) in the southern Levant or the appearance of proper "houses of dead" in the northern Levant (Guerrero et al., 2008: 59). While PPNA sites like Göbekli Tepe were apparently used for ritual purpose, there is a return to the practices in individual-level which can be seen as a disintegration of the previous large-scale social structure organisation.

Sedentary agropastoral societies started to expand throughout the territory, and it is believed that the people who were still living as foragers came under pressure either to move away or to intensify their subsistence base by adopting components of the agriculture system that best suited their seasonal behaviour, such as herding of sheep, goat, cattle, and pigs. The diversity in available foodstuff led to the presence of social differentiation in terms of resource accessibility. It is recorded in this period disparate diets which suggest various dynamics. The introduction of herding has also been associated with a change in dietary practices: sheep and goats could additionally be used for milk and secondary products like cheese so ceramic containers were required to produce these more-sophisticated foodstuffs.

The period comprised c. 10,2 - 9,8 ka cal. BP (Middle PPNB) is poorly represented in the archaeological record and that has been linked to a potential population decrease as settlements such as Mureybet, Jerf el Ahmar or Göbekli Tepe were abandoned around c. 10 ka cal. BP. On the other hand, it has been recovered several newly founded settlements in this region around 9,8 ka cal. BP: Akarçay, Sabi Abyad, Tell Halula, Abu Hureyra or Bouqras (Borrell et al., 2015: 4). Except for Ain el Kerkh site, the locations of the new settlements did not coincide to previous settlements, which has been viewed as new settlers would have prevented them strategically. The transition to a full agropastoralism economy depending on domesticated-type species occurred between 10 - 9,8 ka cal. BP (Borrell et al., 2015: 11) as the latter group of settlements represent a new economic system.

During the Late PPNB (c. 9,5 - 8,4 ka cal. BP) there was the emergence of the 'megasite' village phenomenon which doubled and tripled PPNA sites (Kuijt, 2000). Novel forms of individual representation were available by using stone masks and plastered skulls and ritualrelated such as trophies to gods. Following the previous Natufian tradition, separate areas for communal and cultic purposes were maintained such as Beidha or 'Ain Ghazal (e.g., Rollefson, 2000). The already existing mortuary customs were intensified during this period (Belfer-Cohen & Goring-Morris, 2011: 214).

The Late Phase of the PPNB has received special interested in research as it is associated with major climatic events: the 9,2 and 8,2 ka events. The 9,2 ka event occurred around 9,3-9,2 ka BP (estimated from Greenland ice cores with an estimated maximum counting error of 70 years; Rasmussen et al., 2007, 2014) and was caused by meltwater escaped from Lake Agassiz which caused an impact on a global climate including in Greenland, Alaska, Europe, the Arabian Peninsula and China, with a duration between 40 and 100 years. Although it probably had severe consequences as it produced a drop of temperatures, it is believed that it was of lower magnitude compared to the 8,2 ka event (Flohr et al., 2016). For the 9,2 ka event, it is suggested that people emigrated into the desert (Kuijt & Goring-Morris, 2002) but this occurred before this event (Flohr et al., 2016: 32). A recent examination of 14C-dates evidence points that there is not currently enough evidence for any site being abandoned over this period and sites that potentially reduced

its population, they were not located in extreme climatic conditions as it would be expected (Flohr et al., 2016).

On the other hand, the 8,2 ka event dates around c. 8,2-8 ka cal. BP (Alley et al., 1997) and it lasted around 160 years (Van Der Plicht et al., 2011). According to proxy data, the 8,2 ka event caused extremely cold temperatures and arid conditions throughout the Northern Hemisphere (e.g., Alley & Agústsdottir, 2005; Bar-Matthews et al., 2003). It brought cold and dry conditions to some Northern Hemisphere regions in response to a very large outburst flood that cooled the North Atlantic region (Alley et al., 1997; Alley & Agustsdottir, 2005). Greenland ice core records reveal that temperatures in the North Atlantic region decreased abruptly (Weninger et al., 2006: 401), leading to massive floods in coastal regions (Renssen et al., 2001, 2002). In southwestern Asia, there was a reduction in annual precipitation of the Dead Sea (Bar-Yosef, 2017: 69; Weninger et al., 2009; Litt et al., 2012), an increment in aridity in the territory and it is thought that these unsuitable conditions favoured the movement of people to other territories with a more proper environment. It is believed that in southwestern Asia caused the abandonment of "mega-sites" (Staubwasser & Weiss, 2006). For example, prior literature has emphasised especially the consequences that this event caused in Catalhöyük site, where the East mound was supposedly abandoned abruptly at that time and after that, inhabitants developed a new settlement approximately 200 meters from the old location (Hodder, 2007; Biehl et al., 2012). However, other studies (Flohr et al., 2016) provide new insights into the interpretation of Çatalhöyuk East: while there are different levels VI and before with less densely packed occupation and more open spaces, less continuity in building and more focus in individual households, these changes occurred around 8,4 ka cal. BP (Cessford & Carter, 2005). On the other hand, a shift from the east to the west mound took place, but it did not happen before 8 ka cal. BP, potentially overlapping with the last occupation on the east mound (Flohr et al., 2016: 34).

Therefore, our current understanding of the 8,2 ka event and its consequences is far from complete. While some authors suggest that this phenomenon caused profound changes (e.g., expansion towards Europe; Weninger et al., 2006; the intensification of pastoralism; Migowski et al., 2006), others argue instead that PPNB communities could have been resilient to change as they would have already overcome prior climatic events (e.g., Flohr et al., 2016). It is also believed that the population decrease, and settlement abandonment could have also been due to a general socioeconomic and cultural collapse of the PPNB as if it was a bottleneck (Belfer-Cohen & Goring-Morris, 2011).

2.2. Modelling the Domestication Process

The domestication process has been extensively explored in relation to genetic modification (e.g., Allaby et al., 2018), the context and chronology of changes (e.g., Allaby et al., 2022; Purugganan and Fuller, 2011) and modification practices (e.g., Terrell et al., 2003; Bogaard et al., 2021). Despite there is still a vibrant discussion about potential domestication processes (e.g., Fuller et al., 2022), the concept of co-evolutional seems to have played a crucial role (Darlington, 1969). This process was divided for the first time by Rindos (1984) into three principal phases of varying the intensity between animals/plants and people and summarised in **Table 2**:

Phases	Actions	Plant responses
Incidental domestication	Humans simply harvest and disperse the propagules creating coevolutionary relationships with the plants. In the long run, that results in morphological changes in the plants.	Certain morphological traits are favoured, and domestication can intensify.
Specialized domestication (labelled to agroecology, Rindos, 1984)	Plants become an increasingly important part of man's immediate environment and are increasingly subject to protection. Habitat changes.	Genetic transformation in selected plants that are to provide the basis for the agricultural domestication.
Agricultural domestication	Final stage, plants are completely domesticated (morphologically and genetically) and they require human's control to survive.	Plants are completely transformed despite it must also consider that it may not be 'the final product' because plants may keep evolving.

Table 2. Rindos proposed classifying agriculture into three different phases of human-plant relationships (Rindos, 1984).

According to Rindos, to get to the point of domesticating a plant or animal, it was necessary to deliberately select those species to meet their cultural needs. By considering these phases on human control over plants, he formulated a mechanistic model dealing with means, processes and results that the origins of agriculture should be found in the shift from incidental and specialised and agricultural domestication (Yarnell, 1985: 698; Hardesty, 1985). The resulting model proposed that such changes in the subsistence system were the unintentional result of producing and consuming more proto-domestic resources (4):

$$W_t^* = W_t/\theta = \mu_t^* = \frac{D_t^*}{W_t^* + D_t^*}$$
 (4)

Where:

W: foraging resources

D: domesticated resources

*: preference variability *θ*: reduction of W as subsistence strategy *μ*: relative frequency of *D* on diet *t*: specific time

Following this formula, the effect of θ in the diet is an increment of the μ_t^* of D adopting the strategy of W^* . However, Rindos also considered that D could not be consumed indefinitely, but there is a variability U, which restricts the capacity of μ_t (5):

$$U = \frac{D + W^t}{D + W} \quad (5)$$

And the availability of resources would also be dependent on the number of population, the carrying capacity (6):

$$\frac{1}{N}\frac{dN}{dt} = d(\frac{Fmax - F}{F})$$
(6)

Where:

N: population

F: index of utilisation of food per capita

Fmax: maximum index of utilisation of food

Rindos model implied a fast and deliberate development of the origin of farming, which probably was not accurate since it is difficult to imagine that agropastoral communities knew the consequences of favouring some resources over others in advance. Despite this assumption, Rindos model represented a first step to model the conditions necessary for plants and animals' domestication and its amplification and dispersal. To address this assumption, Chu and Xu (2022) developed a Malthusian model (based on Locay, 1989; Baker, 2008) representing the transition from foraging to farming economies but considering the importance of human agency in form on labour. The model considers that all agents *N* are the same and each of them has *l* units of labour, which can be allocated to hunting-gathering (l_H) or farming (l_F) in a fixed amount of land *Z*. In case of farming, the fixed ratio of land given to farming labour is ρ , measured as $z = p l_F$. Each economic activity has a level of productivity (θ for hunting-gathering and φ for farming) and intensity (γ for hunting-gathering and α for farming). Then, we can measure how many units of hunting-gathering food production *h* receives the agent that contributes l_H (7):

$$h = \frac{l_H}{l_H N} \theta(\bar{l}_H N)^{\gamma} (Z_H)^{1-\gamma}$$
(7)

And the number of units of farming production f for an agent that contributes $l_F(\mathbf{8})$:

$$f = \varphi(l_F)^{\alpha}(z^{1-\alpha}) \tag{8}$$

Chu and Xu (2022) model the agent's decision to invest its labour on producing huntinggathering or farming resources to maximise food production x given by (9):

$$x = h + f = \frac{l_H}{l_H N}^{\gamma} (Z_H)^{1-\gamma} + \varphi(l_F)^{\alpha} (Z^{1-\alpha}) = (l - l_F) \quad (9)$$

A condition for a farming system is that most of the labour is destined to produce agricultural resources (10):

$$x = f = \varphi l^{\alpha} (\frac{Z}{N})^{1-\alpha} \qquad (10)$$

Thus, during the gradual transition from hunting-gathering to agriculture, the per capita output of food production is given by (11):

$$x = h + f = (l - l_F)\theta(\frac{Z_H}{l_H N})^{1 - \gamma} + \varphi \rho^{1 - \alpha} l$$
 (11)

Following this formula, the level of farming productivity increments as more labour is allocated to the production of this resources. According to this model, if the population fails to reach the agricultural threshold, it will remain as hunter and gatherers. In this case, Chu and Xu conclude that a high agricultural productivity and high level of labour supply would have been paramount for the Neolithic Revolution.

2.3. Why agropastoralism?

The empirical evidence defines the 'when', 'where', and 'how' communities started to manage and modify animal and plant breeding, adopted sedentarism and modified their risk management strategies to ensure their long-term survival. However, the 'why' is practically invisible in the archaeological record as it involves the reasoning of past communities on how they perceived their world, how they interacted with it and what were they interests and goals. Multiple hypotheses have been suggested to explain this change and they can be divided into three principal categories: *environmentally driven resource pressure, demographically driven resource pressure,* and *internal pull factors*.

2.3.1. Environmentally Driven Resource Pressure

This hypothesis argues that the domestication process was a consequence of the climatic changes that took place during the Younger Dryas (c. 12,9 - 11,7 ka cal. BP), which caused colder and drier temperatures (Fawcett et al., 1997; Alley, 2000; Mangerud, 2021). In this reasoning, agriculture is understood as a strategy to overcome that severe weather conditions and ensure their survival. This hypothesis was developed by Childe in 1929, naming the 'Oasis hypothesis' (also known as the 'propinquity' or the 'desiccation' hypothesis) suggesting that during the PPNB there was a radical climatic deterioration that destabilised population lifestyles. To survive, humans and their future domesticated animals (they selected the most docile and suitable animals for being domesticated) concentrated together in well-watered locations such as oasis and river valleys. That interaction led ultimately to domestication and, finally, to agriculture. By learning how to cultivate and herd, they combined two systems of mixed farming, and people were able to live in established villages and reproduced rapidly. The invention of farming, therefore, allowed people to improve their lives since previously, during the Mesolithic, they were 'in extreme poverty'.

From this approach, Mesolithic and Neolithic people were completely differentiated populations. On the one hand, Mesolithic people were defined by their mode of subsistence: their principal characteristic was 'not being farmers' and, thus, they had to move around a lot, to live in small groups and to produce flints and bone tools as technological tools. On the other hand, there was the Neolithic 'culture' with domesticated plants and animals, sedentary, lived in the community and produced pottery, polished stone tools and symbolic objects, much more sophisticated artefacts. Archaeologists followed this typological dichotomy to establish chronologies of what was 'Mesolithic' and 'Neolithic'.

While Childe's hypothesis awoke interest to explore the origin of agriculture and to understanding this process, it was dismissed during the 1940s and 1950s when climatic studies proved a gradual climatic change (Godwin, 1948) and the archaeological record evidenced farming activities before the Younger Dryas during a period of good climatic conditions (Bowles & Choi, 2019). Yet, it has represented the starting point to develop more hypotheses about the origins of agriculture.

2.3.2. Demographically Driven Resource Pressure

In the 1960s, the conceptualisation of the domestication process adopted an alternative approach. The study of the origins of agriculture was revolutionised by the application of the archaeological science and the development of the so-called 'New Archaeology' (also known as Processual Archaeology). It represented the onset of the integration of archaeological and palaeoecological data and an increase in attention to environmental elements within the analyses of the archaeological record of early farmers. Thus, a renewed focus of study was to measure the productivity of farming as a critical factor that would have originated other changes. Researchers focused on defining the inputs and outputs of food production versus foraging to establish the equilibrium at carrying capacity. Feeding this new evolutionary archaeology, the formulation of OFT (MacArthur & Pianka, 1966) represented a turning point on the study of the transition from foraging to agropastoralism as it proposed that natural selection favours animals whose behavioural strategies maximize their net energy intake per unit time spent foraging (including searching, killing, processing, transporting). In this manner, this approach offered a way to formulate mathematically individuals' preferences over resources. That was the basis for the development of new theoretical approaches like demographic pressure hypothesis.

In 1968, Binford proposed the development of the Neolithic was due to a critical population growth which forced people to move into marginal areas and, consequently, diversify their subsistence to survive and that led to the first manipulation of cereals. This approach was constituted from the premise that there was a systematic relationship between humans and environment, in which culture represented the intervening variable to obtain the equilibrium (Binford, 1962: 218; Binford, 1972).

Within this line of research, Flannery (1969: 77) coined the term 'Broad-Spectrum Revolution' (BSR) to the hypothesis that argued that foragers had to diversify their diet (specialization on hoofed animals combined with small mammals, fish, turtles, waterfowl, snails, and other marginal resources) because of the imbalances between population and environmental

carrying capacity. Flannery suggested that this broadening of subsistence resources could be explained using Binford's model of population growth and disequilibrium (Binford, 1968), where population growth forces people to move into marginal areas and to diversify their subsistence to maintain a living (Earle & Christienson, 1980: 38). The need of foragers to diversify their diet was also claimed by Smith (1975) with his 'overkill hypothesis' that proposed that the extinction of large herding mammals due to excessive hunting would have caused a specialisation of hunting for maximising its efficiency.

Following the same principle but from another perspective, Cohen (1977) supported this theory by suggesting that foragers probably exceeded their environmental carrying capacity, so they had to start storing food and that pushed them to experiment with plants and animals to maximize their food and that ultimately resulted in the development of agriculture. This 'experimentation process' would have taken place in a dynamic context of demographic context and varying plant and animal densities (caused by human overconsumption). He argued the BSR also represented the beginning of plant cultivation, and it was followed by increased specialisation focused on few domesticated animals and plants in correlation with population growth (Cohen, 1977). Consequently, the adoption of agriculture resulted in a net increase in the workload and a decrease in food diversity and sufficiently, and therefore an overall reduction in the quality of life, a situation that any rationally minded hunter-gatherer would not enter freely. With the adoption of a village-based life and domestication, there would have been a birth increase and some people had to evacuate to neighbouring regions, expanding agriculture on their way. From this view, farming originated a demographic expansion as it allows to produce food faster and more efficiently.

Nevertheless, there is no consistent evidence proving that farming is more productive than foraging strategies. It has been defined from modern agronomic studies and experimental archaeological studies, but it is difficult to quantify these values. Additionally, research in last years has demonstrated that unlike the traditional view that farming increased demography, it caused almost eight centuries of stationary or even declining population (Bocquet-Appel, 2002; Bocquet-Appel & Naji, 2006; Guerrero et al., 2008). In fact, the long-term demographic expansion was probably possible for the sedentarism, as shorter birth spacing was possible (Lambert, 2009; Bocquet-Appel, 2009).

2.3.3. Internal Pull Factors

Instead of focusing on external push models, like environmental or demographical factors, there are other authors that suggest internal pull models as the causes for the origin of domestication. They advocate for the inherent capacities and characteristics of humans as the factors that culminated in the emergence of early agropastoralism. The first author suggesting this approach was Braidwood and Howe, who argued that people lived thousands of years surrounded by the future domesticates so they acquired a deep knowledge of the environment, natural and faunal practices that led them to develop technologies to control them (Braidwood, 1960; Braidwood & Howe, 1960).

Another example is Hayden (1990), who put forward the competitive feasting hypothesis arguing that food was regarded as a source of social prestige and food production allowed to supply unique products with superior social status. Like so, it was considered as an endogenous social change, particularly the development of prestige economies the mechanism for change in these models is status-seeking individuals, who encouraged and controlled the growth of potential domesticates such as competitive feasting, alliance formation and extortion, then as primary sources of food. The PPNB would have generated differences in social status amongst Levantine communities and, to avoid an overly rigid hierarchical society, the neolithic colonizers escaped to a more egalitarian social system. According to this approach, domestication and agriculture would have emerged in resource-rich zones as they would have been the first to develop social inequalities and these elites would hold competitive feasts offering the 'first domesticated plants and animals' in form of prestige goods and delicacies. This theory does not require archaeological evidence for resource stress and malnutrition caused by population pressure or climate change, as the previous ones. In fact, it appears that early domestication unambiguously consisted of important food rather than delicacies (Smith, 1995). Nevertheless, the first foodstuffs produced were not delicacies and that makes this hypothesis not widely accepted.

In relation to internal pull hypothesis, a relevant proposal is Cauvin's psych-cultural model (Cauvin, 1994, 2000a, 2000b) suggesting that during the PPNA there was a raise of the mother-goddess deity that inspired the initial domestication, and it was during the PPNB when the cult to the bull deity gained importance, establishing a more natural predator-prey relationship. Cauvin identified as evidences the semi-subterranean circular houses of PPNA inspired to the feminine form and the rectangular shapes of PPNB with the straight lines of masculine body. In this line, Mithen (1996) also supported the view that the origin of agricultural can be explained as a fundamental change in the way the human mind conceived of nature. Prehistoric foragers presumably saw themselves as part of the cosmos, along with the animals they hunted and the plants they gathered. Once people became farmers, the cognitive world must shift profoundly

from a sense of belonging to and being part of the wild to 'acculturating' it as it became something to control and appropriate rather than be part of. In the same way, Hodder (2001) stated ideology was the driver of subsistence change. One of the most viable theories is it allowed a rapid economic growth which led to food surplus that early farmers could provide for the members of the community that were not food-producers (i.e., craftspeople, chiefs).

Also emphasising the importance of control, Diamond developed in 1997 the biogeographic hypothesis arguing that societies that transited early into agriculture in prehistory achieved a head start over other societies in terms of social, political, and technological development. He suggested that the transition to agriculture occurred in Southwest Asia because of its superior biogeography provided suitable plants and animals to human populations for domestication. Once communities were fully sedentary and agriculturalists, civilised emerged with a codified language, large public monuments, religion, hierarchical power structures, and statehood. This hypothesis assumes a causal relationship between the development of agriculture and the rise of statehood: (a) early transition to agriculture led to the configuration of extractive institutions and, consequently, weak current economic performance and (b) late transition to agriculture led to the configuration of inclusive institutions and, consequently, strong current economic performance.

Diamond's hypothesis has served as a starting point for more recent studies of the emergence of agriculture approached from the economic literature such as Hibbs & Olsson, 2004; Olsson & Hibbs, 2005; Putterman, 2008; Putterman & Weil, 2010.

In the same way, economic literature has focused on the study of the importance of private property (institutional change) as essential condition for farming (technical change). The hypothesis of property rights was developed by North and Thomas (1977) arguing that technology gradually improved the level of productivity of foraging which caused an overutilisation of resources, causing a decline in foraging resources and increment of competition among the population. Dyson-Hudson and Smith (1978) also argued that territoriality was only worthwhile under conditions of high density and predictability, naming farming systems. On the other hand, they characterised people practising proto farming had property rights among their land utilising their resources more efficiently. Farmers ultimately increased the labour productivity of land, the labour force, producing an advantage in favour of farming.

Based on these premises, Bowles and Choi developed an agent-based model (Bowles & Choi, 2003, 2013, 2019) to explore the importance on property rights for early agropastoral communities. They designed a setting in which two agents -named Bourgois and Civic- from the same group randomly paired interact, and the game consists of how they distribute their resources

according to their (a) subsistence strategy and (b) cultural model. (a) The Bourgais agent follows a 'farming-friendly property rights' strategy, in which never shares its own product and always try to steal foragers resources, whereas the Civic agent follows the 'sharing-enforcer' strategy, which goes against the Bourgais practices since it distributes the resources equally. (b) They are assigned different cultural models for both strategies. To define which strategy is more successful, the payoffs from farming and foraging are defined (12):

 V_h : productivity of foraging

$$V_a = (r - \theta)z - z$$
(12)

Where:

 V_a : productivity of farming

r: productivity of farmer's investment

 θ : disadvantage of farming due to temperature volatility (for a detailed explanation see Bowles and Choi, 2013)

z: amount of farming investment

During the game, agents can change their subsistence strategies and migrate to more optimal locations. This model has been employed by other authors as well (e.g., Gallagher et al., 2015) to explore private property in the Neolithic. Following this, Bowles and Choi (2019) argue that farming would have represent an unlikely choice without possession-based private property, which probably existed among some of the people that first selected and controlled plants and animals. According to them, a would-be first farmer would be unmotivated to undertake the long-term production process and fixed investments that farming required, but the novel rights required to motivate farming could not be adopted singly (Bowles & Choi, 2019). Therefore, farming could have benefited first adopters because private possession was more readily established and defended for cultivated crops and domesticated animals than for the diffuse wild resources on which foragers relied, thus explaining how farming could have been introduced even without a productivity advantage.

From this approach, a specific topic in which researchers have focused has been on the potential egalitarian behaviour of early agropastoral communities. Egalitarian behaviour can be described as a type of political action that restricts activities and practices exclusionary power (Blanton, 1998; Feinmann et al., 1995; Dueppen, 2012). In prehistoric archaeology, some authors have described this behaviour for past communities when they 'deliberately affect community behaviour and social relations by emphasising shared identity and affinity' (Kuijt, 2002). This kind of behaviour has been identified in early agropastoral communities of southwestern Asia,

when various types of settlements, structures and types of burials are identified (e.g., Finlayson, 2020; Morales & Rodriguez-Lara, 2020; Benz, 2019).

2.4. Across the Mediterranean

The earliest territory with evidence of human control on plant and animal populations outside of southwestern Asia is the island of Cyprus. During the PPNA, the first remains of a mixed economy including domesticated animals (e.g., small pigs, cats, and dogs) and plants (e.g., cereals) are found. However, it was during the PPNB that herding animals such as cattle, goats and sheep were introduced. The different stage of the introduction of animals is explained as changes in networks contacts between Cyprus and southwestern Asia, favouring some imports over others depending on the period. Not only resources migrated, but also genetic evidence has proved that people moved from southwestern Asia to Cyprus although there is a consensus that we cannot claim a 'migratory movement' (Lazaridis et al., 2022), in the sense of migration as movement of many individuals across generations. According to this, their presence in Cyprus had the aim of exploring and acquiring seafaring knowledge so the next generation would be able to migrate towards other territories (Peltenburg et al., 2000: 852).

Besides Cyprus, which represents an exception, the expansion process of early agropastoral communities from southwestern Asia until the Iberian Peninsula lasted about 2,5 ka years. The archaeological evidence indicates a two migration routes: one though the Balkans reaching central and western Europe through the Danube valley and the other one through the Mediterranean until the Iberian Peninsula. In this study we will focus on the Mediterranean route.

From southwestern Asia, communities expanded towards Anatolia, evidence of agropastoralism in central Anatolia date by 10,2 ka cal. BP (Baird et al., 2012; Stiner et al., 2014). Between 9,9-8,5 ka cal. BP, early agropastoral communities spread west of central Anatolia reaching the Aegean coast (Ozdogan, 2014; Weninger et al., 2014). The first Aegean islands being occupied were Youra, Naxos, Ikara, Kythnos and Crete (e.g., Strasser et al., 2010; Carter et al., 2014, 2016). Early habitants of these islands were semi-sedentary or sedentary and their diet was based on agropastoralism (especially on sheep, goat, cattle, pig, and crops), although foraging still played a crucial role (Reingruber et al., 2017; Perlès et al., 2013).

Southern Greece was also occupied during that period, c. 8,7-7,9 ka cal. BP, with more consistent evidence in 8,4 ka cal. BP, when activities inside caves decreased in favour of an expanding, open-air settlements near the coast, where communities practised a mixed-

agropastoral diet (Weiberg et al., 2016). Settlements were generally located on well-watered plains and placed with good resources availability. At that time, the Eastern Mediterranean region was dominated by wetter conditions (Weiberg et al., 2016: 42; Karamitrou-Mentessidi et al., 2013) and that has been pointed out as the cause of a latter occupation of the Aegean in detriment of Cyprus.

The arrival of early agropastoral communities in the Aegean and southern Greece has traditionally been described as 'abrupt' and in form of a 'maritime colonisation', forced by the 8,2 ka phenomena consequences in southwestern Asia, but radiocarbon dates have demonstrated their arrival was prior to the cooling event. After reaching the Aegean, the Neolithic expansion ceased for c. 500 years and, begun again by the end of the 8,2 ka (De Vareilles et al., 2020), suggesting the environment was a determining variable for farming spread. Therefore, some scholars claim this event would have hindered the expansion process towards other territories until wetter climatic conditions occurred (Krauß et al., 2014; Weninger et al., 2006). Nevertheless, other researchers argue the climatic change was very gradual, spanning from 8,5 to 7 ka cal. BP so the cooling event would have had minor effect (Finné et al., 2019). In any way, it seems that the expansion process reassumed after the cooling event which has been linked with a potential population increase (Birch & Vander Linden, 2018; Silva & Vander Linden, 2017; Alexander, 2005).

The Italian southern region represents the earliest territory of the peninsula with evidence of agropastoralism, which was fully spread throughout the Italian territory by c. 7,7 ka cal. BP (Pessina & Tinè, 2008; Branch et al., 2014; Starnini et al., 2018). Some of the earliest sites were location in the Tavoliere plain of Apuli where around a thousand ditches settlements were built (ranging from 1 ha to more than 20 ha), such as Passo di Corvo or Tavoliere sites (Malone, 2003; Whitehouse, 2014; Pearce & Whitehouse, 2014). It seems that new settlement shared common characteristics: a preference for open-air settlements in elevations below 500 meters (Biagi, 2003). The population increase and farming practices caused deforestation, visible from around 7,5 ka cal. BP (Colombaroli et al., 2008, 2009; Stoddart et al., 2019).

From Salento peninsula, two expansion routes emerged: one towards the Eastern coast and northern Italy (Fugazzola Delpino et al., 1993; Grifoni Cremonesi, 1992), and the other one from eastern Sicily towards the Tyrrhenian Sea (Guilaine et al., 2016; Natali & Forgia, 2018; Pessina & Tiné, 2008; Boattini et al., 2013) until the Gulf the Lion, of the Genoa -c. 7,7-7,6 ka cal. BP- and the Iberian Peninsula - c. 7,7-7,5 ka cal. BP- (Bernabeu Aubán et al., 2003, 2009; Gabriele et al., 2019; Martínez-Grau et al., 2020; García-Martínez de Lagrán, 2018). In fact, the expansion process from Italy to France and Iberia had a fast rate since sites located in Liguria (e.g., Arene Candide), southern France (e.g., Pont-de-Roque Haute, Peiro Sagnado), eastern Iberia (e.g., Mas D'Is) have similar chronology (Manen et al., 2019; Guilaine et al., 2007). The arrival of the Neolithic in Iberia could have been via maritime coast from the Gulf of Lion or via terrestrial route from southern France through the Pyrenees. In any way, the expansion of farmers in the Peninsula was fast and followed the main riverbanks (e.g., Ebro valley) (Baldellou-Martínez, 2011). It has also been suggested another route, from northern Africa until southern Iberia via de strait of Gibraltar (Morales et al., 2013; Isern et al., 2014).

The agropastoral communities that expanded from Italy, France, and Iberia (**Figure 4**) has traditionally been grouped by the stylistic style of the pottery that they produced. In this way, in the beginning of that north-western expansion, it would have the 'Impressa Ware' (Guilaine & Manen, 2021) and the later period there would have been communities producing 'Cardial Ware' (Barnett, 2000). Nonetheless, some scholars have demonstrated the contemporaneity of these two styles of pottery (Bernabeu & Martí, 2014; Rojo-Guerra et al., 2012), which would put under question the division of these two styles. On the other hand, what it has been observed is an interregional variance of crop packages throughout the Mediterranean (De Vareilles et al., 2020; Bouby et al., 2020; Pérez-Jordá et al., 2017). Despite same crops were introduced in the different territories, there were regional preferences and tendencies. For example, hulled crops were preferred until 5,5 ka cal. BP approximately, when there was a preference towards naked cereals and a reintroduction of some pulses such as bitter vetch or chickpeas (that had been practically abandoned). Other foodstuffs, such as the maritime resources maintained their relevant role in Mediterranean populations through time and space (Salazar-García et al., 2016, 2018; Goude et al., 2020).



Figure 4. Map of the settlements mentioned in Chapter 2.4.

2.5. Modelling the Expansion Process

The study of how the expansion process took place, how was the arrival of early agropastoral groups in territories inhabited by local foragers and how agropastoral lifestyle was ultimately adopted by communities, have traditionally encountered several difficulties in the Mediterranean area. Climatic conditions and poor preservation have made it challenging to recover archaeological material since most of the structures and artefacts are made of perishable material and do not preserve as well as in central and northern Europe. Neolithic open-air settlements tend to be flat in the alluvial plains and difficult to identify (Berger et al., 2016:67) and most of known sites are in caves and rock shelters, misrepresenting part of the sites. Even with these difficulties, the Neolithic is better represented in the Mediterranean compared to the Mesolithic record. To explain the scarce Mesolithic evidence, some researchers have argued that they had a low demographic density (Shennan & Edinborough, 2007), or that they abandoned territories because of the 8,2 ka cooling event (Fernández López de Pablo & Gómez Puche, 2009; González-Sampériz et al., 2009).

To explain the expansion process, ideally, we would have a good knowledge of how local foragers lived when early farmers arrived but despite the major advances and findings in the last decades, we are still far from this point. However, in general terms, research has been able to characterise the general nature of the process. Whilst traditionally there were two opposite models to explain the expansion, the *Demic Diffusion Model* (DDM) – people moved into other territories and established agropastoralism-, and the *Cultural Diffusion Model* (CDM) – ideas were transported instead of people-, thanks to the archaeological and genetic evidence (e.g., Bramanti et al., 2009; Pinhasi & Cramon-Taubadel, 2009; Balaresque et al., 2010; Shennan, 2018; Hofmanová et al., 2016; Gamba et al., 2012), it is broadly accepted that the expansion was made first through DDM and cultural diffusion had a secondary role (Fort & Pareta, 2020; Cobo et al., 2019; Fort, 2022).

This evidence has been possible thanks to the first modelling attempt of the demic diffusion based on Fisher's equation, developed by Ammerman and Cavalli-Sforza (1984), known as the 'Wave of Advance' (13):

$$s = 2\sqrt{aD} \qquad (13)$$

Where s is the speed of the population front of farmers, a if the growth rate of the farmers (is a measure of reproductive success), D is the diffusion coefficient of farmers (measure of how far away they move per generation, from birth to death). D function is called the dispersal kernel

(Clark, 1998) and the values are measured using histograms published in ethnographic reports of modern industrialized and/or pre-industrialised farmers (Fort et al., 2007). Similarly, *a* is estimated from ethnographic data (Ammerman & Cavalli-Sforza, 1984:155; Fort & Méndez, 1999).

As a result, the Wave of Advance predicts a spread rate of about 1 km/year on average that varied regionally (Bocquet-Appel et al., 2012; Henderson et al., 2014; Fort, 2015; Porčić et al., 2020). For example, for the coastal route, a spread rate of 8,7 km/year was estimated, and it was argued using numerical simulations that such a fast rate implies very long 'jumps' (dispersal movements) of at least about 350km per generation (Bergin, 2016). Additionally, some researchers have modelled the impact of sea travelling in the expansion model (Zilhão, 1997, 2003; Isern et al., 2017), matching with the archaeological evidence when considering a maximum of 150 km/year with a minimum sea-travel range of 300 km per generation.

Based on the Wave of Advance, Fort (2012) modelled the role of cultural diffusion in the demic model (14):

$$CE = \frac{s - s_{demic}}{s} \cdot 100 \tag{14}$$

Where *CE* is the percentage of cultural effect, s_{demic} is the front speed predicted by the purely demic model (no cultural diffusion model). The model concluded that the importance of cultural diffusion in the Neolithic spread was less than 21% (Fort, 2022), confirming prior studies (Isern et al., 2012, 2017). In 2021, Fort developed a model of front propagation through oblique transmission exploring horizontal cultural transmission (acculturation of individuals of the second population by members of the first one and of similar age). This model went beyond the vertical cultural transmission (interbreeding) and considered the possibility that adult individuals taught members of the next generation (younger forager individuals).

The fast peace of the expansion is explained with the *leap-frog* movements (developed by Fiedel & Anthony, 2003 and tested by Isern et al., 2017), arguing big jumps targeting ideal locations for practising agropastoralism (i.e., close to water sources, good soil productivity and low elevation). Most likely both communities mixed differently depending on the region. While it looks like that, they occupy similar ecosystems (Vidal-Cordasco & Nuevo-López, 2021), some regions witnessed a hiatus between the occupation of last Mesolithic groups and early agropastoralists (Berger & Guilaine, 2009), and others were only occupied by Neolithic groups (Brisset et al., 2018; Cubas et al., 2016; Fano et al., 2015).

In any way, with the current evidence, it is possible to extract general tendencies and patterns of the expansion process such as agropastoralism was established throughout the Mediterranean with the migration of people, represent a rapid process, Neolithic people mixed with local foragers, but cultural diffusion was not the principal diffusion via of adopting agropastoral practices in these locations. Despite this broad knowledge, it is clear the expansion process was not uniform and unilineal in all regions. Likely local variations were present, and the general rhythm of diffusion also probably varied from the Aegean islands to the Iberian Peninsula (Manen et al., 2019; Guilaine, 2001, 2013).

2.6. Book Chapter

2.6.1. Barceló, J.A. & **Palacios, O.** (2023). Computational simulation of prehistoric migrations. Western Mediterranean Early Neolithic case study. In V. Heyd & M. Ahola (Eds.), *Moving and Migrating in Prehistoric Europe*. London: Springer Routledge.

Computational simulation of Prehistoric Migrations. Western Mediterranean Early Neolithic case study³

Juan A. Barceló and Olga Palacios

Department of Prehistory, Laboratory of Quantitative Archaeology, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, 08193, Cerdanyola del Vallès, Barcelona, Spain

Abstract

In this paper we deal with the archaeological study of population movements, currently labeled as "migratory". We develop the case of Neolithic population movements, especially the case of the arrival of new populations to Northeastern Iberian Peninsula from 5800 BC onwards. Our paper discusses some theoretical and technical approaches, making emphasis on computer simulation and agent-based programming techniques. We have also developed a machine learning model quantifying the influence of the environment (topography, temperature, pluviometry or soil productivity) and community organization (type of settlement, number of inhabitants or type of food to consume) on small-scale farmer communities that practice migration as a risk-management strategy to ensure their long-term survival. Our results on the causes and expansive dynamics of migratory movements in Western Mediterranean during the expansion of farming communities are compared with The *Human Securities Model* – Food, Environmental, Personal, Health, Economic, Community, and Political Security, defined by the United Nations (UN) Development Program's *Human Development Report*

Keywords: agent-based models, computer simulation, human securities model, machine learning, migration, neolithic, northeastern iberian peninsula.

³ This paper is dedicated to the memory of Florencia Del Castillo Bernal, PhD, who passed away unexpectedly in September 2022, and who worked with us tirelessly on this project.

Introduction

Migration can be defined as people residential *and* labor displacement, both at the individual and at the group –population- level. That is, a process in which individuals and/or groups of people move to live and die where they were not born. People migrate today to increase their chances of survival, in the same way as they migrated yesterday (de Haas *et al.*, 2020). In a way, migration is what has made us humans, since our foundational migration when an African species displaced part of its population to new lands, and we have continued to displace ever since.

As an example of a prehistoric migratory movement with relevant consequences across history, we study here the adoption of farming economic and social systems in Western Mediterranean, 7500 years ago, as the probable consequence of the arrival of migrants from Eastern Mediterranean or even furthest into the Middle East. Although farming was "invented" in an independent way in different parts of the planet, in many places, agriculture and herding were "adopted" as an innovation carried out by a new population that introduced the technique and new plants and animals whose normal behavior could be modified as a result of human involvement (domestication). In Western Mediterranean such a new population, moving from Eastern Mediterranean since 8100 BC, introduced in what are now Italy, France and Spain, from ca. 6000 BC onwards, new cultivated plants (wheat), new animals (sheep) and new tools (pottery), beginning a period of coexistence and social interaction with local hunter-gatherer communities, who adopted some of these new cultural features and found their own way to change and adapt to the new situation (Robb, 2013; Oms et al., 2016; Capelli et al., 2017; Guilaine, 2017; Bernabeu et al., 2018; Gibaja et al., 2018; Lugliè, 2018; Shennan, 2018; Manén et al., 2019; Bouby et al., 2020; Juan-Cabanilles and Martí-Oliver, 2019; Martínez Grau et al., 2020; Olsson and Paik, 2020; Rowley-Conwy et al., 2020). We can analyze this historical case as an example of a prehistoric migration. In this contribution, we make emphasis on a computational simulation framework to describe and understand the process.

Why a new population left their homeland and arrived to Western Mediterranean at that particular moment? We should look to what happened at the original departure land of these migrants. The two most obvious consequences of the social and economic transformation experimented by the adoption of agriculture and herding at their homeland are assumed to be: a) a logistic growth of population and b) a relative low degree of infant mortality, given the new food resources – cereal flour, pulses, milk and its derivatives, domesticated meat- that were added to the traditional hunted wild meat and gathered vegetables (Borrell et al. 2015, Dunne et al. 2019, Palmisano et al. 2021). To test whether population growth and local carrying capacities could have been the main causal factors explaining the departure from homeland and the arrival to a new colonizable land, we should reconstruct the displacement of people at those times. But social agents are for the most "invisible" in the archaeological record. The only chance to study "migration" in archaeological

terms implies that we associate a particular observable feature with a particular human population, and that such feature can be identified over a very large geographical area. We can trace migratory movements looking for genetic or "cultural" (stylistic) markers. The problem with haplotypes as population markers is that it is not simple to differentiate a single population with them (Mahalaxmi et al. 2022). The same can be said regarding stylistic features of some human made tools or symbols. Strontium Isotope bioarchaeological data can be used to answer the questions of short-term/short-distance mobility rates, or population turnover due to immigration, as it captures the residential mobility trajectories of individuals. By using aggregate isotopic evidence for individuals from the same cemetery we can obtain averages of distance travelled by this people along their life (Bentley, 2006; Scaffidi and Knudson, 2020).

Let us assume that we have properly defined such a particular population marker, and it has been identified in a sufficiently large territory so that the only way it may have arrived at this place is by people moving. In our case, we can refer to Impressed Ware and the Cardial decoration style (Oms *et al.*, 2016; Capelli *et al.*, 2017, Bernabeu Aubán *et al.*, 2017a-b; Binder *et al.*, 2017; van Willigen, 2018) as "cultural" markers (**Figure 1**). Recent palaeogenetic analysis has allowed a tentative pairing of these stylistic features with a relatively well individualized population from the genetic point of view (Bentley *et al.*, 2012; Fernández *et al.*, 2014; Olalde *et al.*, 2015; Hofmanová *et al.*, 2016; Omrak *et al.*, 2016; Isern *et al.*, 2017a; Silva and Van der Linden, 2017; Garcia-Martinez de Lagran *et al.*, 2018; Frieman and Hofmann, 2019; Aoki, 2020; Goude *et al.*, 2020; Rivollat 2020, Loosdrecht 2021).



Figure 1. Impressed ware with Cardial Decorration from the Cova dels Fems archaeological site (Ulldemolins. Catalonia, Spain) © Cova Dels Fems Archaeological Research Team.

Where did the people carrying out this cultural and/or genetic markers come from? In archaeology, the only way we have to fix the geographical origin of a migratory movement is by looking for the oldest chronological mark of a particular cultural feature. Using radiocarbon estimates we can estimate the temporal position on a calendar scale of an archaeological item signaling the presence of the genetic or cultural marker at a precise place. The site location in which the *oldest* remain has been identified would then be the most probable origin of the phenomenon. The reliability of such estimation depends on the quality and exhaustiveness of archaeological data: if a majority of archaeological observations diagnostic of the presence of the studied population at a precise location have not been properly dated, we cannot determine the *oldest* place where the population has been observed.

In Western Mediterranean, items like wheat seeds and domestic sheep bones have not been identified in the archaeological nor paleoecological record before 6000 BC. The *oldest* seeds with botanical features evidencing their domestic origin – the substantial action of humans on them – have been identified in some areas of the Middle East (Arbuckle and Hammer, 2019), where we also find their wild antecessors in the landscape, and there is well preserved evidence of intermediate prototypes between the original wild and their evolved domestic descendants (Ibáñez *et al.*, 2018; Abbo and Gopher, 2020). This is then the homeland of the supposed migrants having arrived at the Western Mediterranean.

On the basis of a hypothetical origin of the migratory movement in the Near East, we have developed a machine learning model quantifying the influence of the environment (topography, temperature, pluviometry or soil productivity) and community organization (type of settlement, number of inhabitants or type of food to consume) on small-scale farmer communities that practice migration as a risk-management strategy to ensure their long-term survival. Then, we have programmed a computer simulation to recreate what may have happened at this hypothetical place of origin to understand the potential dynamics of the migration process.

Understanding the Start of the Migratory Phenomenon: A Preliminary Machine Learning Approach

To explore to what extent migration is defined by the environmental characteristics, the type of food produced and consumed and the organization of the community, we have designed a machine learning model named 'Agropastoral-management.v2' (Palacios et *al., forthcoming*). For building the dataset, we collected social, subsistence and environmental characteristics (**Table 1**) of 173 trans-historical and cross-cultural small-scale farming communities collected from two open-access repositories, D-PLACE (Kirby *et al.,* 2016) and eHRAF World Cultures (Human
Relations Area Files, 2022). We selected human groups of less than 1000 inhabitants that more than the 50% of their subsistence was based on agropastoralism (with other additional resources from fishing, gathering, and hunting). With these criteria, we aimed to select the most similar cases to early Neolithic communities but without establishing potential analogies between the ethnographical and the archaeological record. Instead, we used this kind of data to investigate the most probable behaviors that may have been practiced in the past and are difficult to identify using only the archaeological remains.

INDEPENDENT VARIABLES	DEPENDENT VARIABLES				
Environment	Subsistence strategies	Social Organization	Social decisions		
Landscape	Agriculture	Community size	None		
Distance to coast	Animal husbandry	Settlement types	Resource diversification		
Elevation	Hunting	Community organization	Crop specialization		
Slope	Gathering	Household organization	Foraging intensification		
Annual mean temperature	Fishing		Storage		
CV Annual temperature			Transhumance		
Monthly mean Precipitation			Temporal / Permanent migration		
CV Annual precipitation			Exchange in-/out-settlement		
Monthly primary net soil productivity			Reciprocity		
CV Primary net soil productivity					

Table 1. Summary of the variables considered in the Bayesian network model.

To achieve this aim, we built a machine learning model, a methodology that builds models from the dataset autonomously and it is automatically relearned from successive data updates (unlike classical statistical models which need to be redesigned from scratch). Despite the use of machine learning to explore past behaviors has incremented exponentially in the last decade (e.g., Ahedo *et al.*, 2019, 2021; Davis and Douglass, 2021; Monna *et al.*, 2020), it still represents a minority in comparison to other quantitative and qualitative methods. The reason for this is that some machine learning algorithms produce 'black box' models and, that is, they quantify the way that the variables are related but the mechanisms cannot be explained because they are not observable. To alleviate this deficiency, we have employed the Bayesian network algorithm in our study (Koller and Friedman, 2009). In Bayesian networks, the model is built from the data (as all machine learning algorithms) but the difference lies on the fact that its structure is designed from the

conditional probabilities of each value given the prior variables. Consequently, it is a probabilistic graphical model that is 'white box' as its structure is visible and explanatory (**Figure 2**).



Figure 2. A toy example of a Bayesian network predicting the probability of migration considering the intensity in which agriculture is practiced and the soil productivity of the location.

Our results highlight the influence of *subsistence strategies* and *social organization* for defining the probability of migration. We have not identified a specific strategy that may be particularly related to a kind of migration, but it seems that in mixed economies based on agropastoralism, temporal and permanent migration represent a relevant management strategy to ensure the long-term survival. However, we were also able to observe some differences between permanent and temporal migration. Permanent migration is strongly related to the type of settlement in which the community lives in. That is, that the fact that people lived in a hamlet, a village, or in dispersed homesteads affected the probability that they would migrate permanently to another location. While permanent migration is definitive, temporal migration can be complemented with other social practices linked with movement of goods and foods such as exchange inside and outside the settlement or sharing foods for prestige in the community.

Interestingly, in our computational experiments migration appears to be not affected by environmental characteristics of site catchment areas around the settlement. People living in difficult environments were no more likely to migrate than those living in more productive environments. This suggests that farmers could compensate the resource availability, even in locations with low soil productivity or not especially suitable for practicing agropastoralism, with social decisions such as migration, but also by diversifying and exchanging their resources. This result does not imply that the environment had no effect at all; social organization changes correlated with changes in climatic conditions affecting productivity, and hence affecting the more probable type of settlement. Temporal migration is probabilistically related with the type of settlement.

Describing the expansive dynamics of Migratory Movements. An agent-based model approach

We have designed an agent-based simulation in which virtual agents are illustrated as computational representations of social agents extracting resources from the environment using finite amounts of labor force and a technology whose efficiency is an evolving parameter. In the simulation, probability of survival depends on the effect of five factors: the amount of resources at place, the capability of moving towards the place where resources exist in abundance, the quantity of available labor force, and the efficiency of technology used for resource acquisition and the efficiency used for storing acquired resources for the next time frame. Increasing the quantity of labor force and the efficiency of acquisition and storing technologies depend on social and political decisions, it is more probable to cooperate with people with similar culture than with people speaking a different language and without a common tradition.

In the first version of our computer model (NEOLSPREAD v. 0.4), there is a single kind of agent in the model: Farmers, but they also partially hunt and gather to obtain the subsistence they need. Each agent represents a group: a minimal unit of social reproduction (a "family" in colloquial terms). As such, they are computing units defined in terms of their *age, the number of members in the group, the acquired energy at current time, the technological efficiency at their disposal at current time, their culture* (a vector containing a series of independent features defining their language, moods, believes, etc. cf. Axelrod, 1997). Agents in the system have social and political ties with other agents (kinship, economic cooperation, political alliance, etc.), and they can also build power and dependence relations: lists of agents obeying orders by the agent, list of agents that may impose their orders on the present agent.

Such agents live in an evolving and changing environment, characterized by its topography, dominant vegetation type, water points, mineral resources, soil productivity of each place, and the erosion risk. Human agents extract energy from the environment and modify it when hunting-gathering and/or farming. Such modifications are determined by natural productivity, determined by fluctuations caused by a "climatic engine" governing temperature and pluviometry based on global paleoclimatic reconstructions. Environmental dynamics are also constrained by agents' rational economic, social and political decisions and their indirect consequences, many of them probably unconscious and unexpected (soil nutrient depletion, ground cover loss), etc. The possibilities of advancements in technology to face such problems, like organized efforts to

address soil depletion using rotation and cattle manure within large land-holding units will be considered in a future version of the program.

Agents reproduce according to biological and social/political constraints: population grows if agents acquire enough energy; population diminish in terms of mortality (age, violence and conflict, starvation) or by accident (labor hazard, biological risk, earthquakes, floods, droughts, etc.). Population grows logistically. After 17 simulated years, children within the agent become adults, and several new children born depending on the number of adults in reproductive age. Mortality is a non-linear function, so that all agents with an age higher than 60 die. This proportion diminishes with age, representing the rate of random accidental death. It increases in newborn children, so that 50% of children less than 3 years old die. Mortality is lower for children greater than 3 years old. Starvation is another source of mortality, and it depends on the differential between the number of agents at place, the total produced energy, and the possibilities of displacement for total or part of the population.

At each cycle –a simulated year- each agent PRODUCES energy through farming and CONSUME what it produces to SURVIVE. What an agent can produce in a year depends on the quantity of labor force within the group (proportional to the number of children and adults), natural soil productivity, temperature and raining conditions during this particular year, the efficiency of technology and the effects of diminishing marginal productivity from labor, soil nutrient depletion as a consequence of cultivation and ground cover loss as a consequence of herding. If the agent produces what it needs to consume, it SURVIVES. If what one group produces is not enough to support the whole group, that part of the group that exceeds the production capacity displaces to the nearest patch.

The decision to move and initiate the *migration* has been simulated according to these simple steps:

- 1. Calculate the current carrying capacity and the number of members of the current local group that cannot be supported –above survival threshold.
- 2. If the part of the human group that must be displaced has more than 4 adults, a new agent is initiated in another patch, and the previous agent loses that part of its original number of members. The new agent has no children in its initial stage.
- 3. If the part to be moved has less than 4 adults, no displacement takes place, and the mortality procedure (STARVATION) begins: the number of children and adults is reduced until arriving at survival threshold that fits available subsistence at place. When the number of members arrives to 0, the agent disappears.

The simulation is based on a low-resolution raster map of Eurasia from the Euphrates River to the Atlantic shores. The simulated area is around 5000 km from West to East, and 3500 km from

South to North. This area has been discretized in 1000x700 grid, so that 1 cell represents 25 km². Two different variables define each cell: topography (height above sea level), natural productivity (in terms of ecological yield or harvestable <u>population growth</u> of an <u>ecosystem</u>; cf. Schulp *et al.*, 2014). An additional binary variable distinguishes patches within the sea. More variables regarding environmental parameters will be added in new versions of the system. **Figure 3** shows preliminary of results of an initial historical scenario, where displaced new agents occupy a new patch at random, that is, without a rational decision "where to go next".



Figure 3. Running NEOLSPREAD 0.4. Programmed in Netlogo by D. Alexis [ETSE-UAB] implementing algorithms designed by J.A. Barceló, F. Del Castillo Bernal, F. Miquel Quesada, S. Pardo-Gordó, and X. Vilà.

With a sufficiently large number of precisely located and well dated prehistoric settlements, some form of reaction-diffusion mathematical model can be used to empirically test the pattern of mobility of migratory displacements in prehistory (Steele, 2009; Fort et al., 2015; Silva and Steele, 2015). These are mathematical models expressing in formal ways the change in space and time of the intensity values of one or more variables. The *reaction* part of the model refers to local changes in which the variable(s) under study modify their intensity values, and the *diffusion* part, which describes how the new values spread out over a surface in space. Mathematically, reactiondiffusion systems take the form of semi-linear parabolic partial differential equations. It is the classical Kolmogorov-Petrovsky-Piskounov (KPP) equation (Kolmogorov et al., 1937), modified by Fisher (1937) to consider a logistic function for the growth or 'reaction' term. In this model, four parameters are used, two spatial dimensions (longitude, latitude), one temporal (calendar) estimation for each location, and an additional constant parameter representing the speed of the movement connecting the different points. The assumed constant population growth at origin the point with the oldest temporal mark- is assumed to be the general cause of the movement. An additional parameter would be the maximum possible value of the population density at each location, that is, a limit of population growth assuming *saturation density* or *carrying capacity*.

Results from our agent-based model simulation do not fit the results of current reaction-diffusion models of the Neolithic (Rendine *et al.*, 1986; Cohen, 1992; Fort and Méndez, 1999; Fort 2012, 2015; Fort *et al.*, 2016; Isern *et al.*, 2017a-b; Kabir *et al.*, 2018; Aoki, 2020). The reason is that human movement is fast never continuous nor totally unconstrained (random). When moving,

there are always factors that enhance the probability of going to a particular location, or factors that prevent to arrive to that particular place or advance in a particular direction. The travelled distance does not vary at random, but it is constrained by the size of displaced population, or the residential/storing technology that should be transported, among other factors. Any model of migratory process should implement algorithms for constrained movement and rational decisions "where to go next".

The patterns of movement in any environment should be generated primarily by properties of spatial form, such as visibility, accessibility, and integration in a network of differentiated spatial units, and secondary by the particular social and cognitive response to those spatial constraints: the intentions of individuals are also important in determining the modes in which people move in some direction and the time necessary to arrive to the intended location (Llobera, 2000; Griffiths, 2012; Flad, 2017). Sometimes, factors constraining the direction and speed of movement are out of control of the social agent, as in the case of terrain conditions. That means that we should modify expected random walks for optimal paths algorithms (Verhagen *et al.*, 2019; Solmaz and Turgut, 2019).

Obviously, there are also social factors constraining movement. The new algorithm we should explore will be based on the following "rational" decisions by social agents: when the group splits up, it moves to the *highest productivity* patch within a given neighborhood area. Such decision implies:

- If several patches have the same productivity, the one with the easiest access is chosen: agents are assumed spend the least quantity of energy on mobility
- If the patch is occupied by another agent, it can be occupied provided: a) soil productivity is high enough, b) the local agent has the "same culture" (cf. Barceló *et al.*, 2013), c) climatic conditions are good enough for high productivity at the current "year", d) the total aggregated labor force of the new agent exceeds the aggregated labor force of the agent occupying the patch, and has a surplus to be invested on war activities, the "local" agent is displaced to a neighbor patch with less resources, losing in the displacement part of its population.
- If the patch is occupied for a large enough group able to "defend" their territory, the second "best" patch is sought in the area explored.

It is assumed that the current agent has explored its vicinity, and it memorizes all suitable places within a known radius (*fluctuating baseline of human residential mobility*; cf. Scaffidi and Kundson, 2020). The extent of such radius depends on the efficiency of mobility technology – an external parameter that can be fixed with different values to simulate different scenarios, or

alternatively, fixed using empirical estimates based on aggregated strontium isotopic data. In such list, where-to-go-next patches are ordered by accessibility.

All those modifications to the initial scenario imply that an additional type of social agent should be implemented: the *local* hunter-gatherer population that may enter into contact with the new incoming population and constrain in different ways the displacement of the new group of people. The problem when introducing a new breed of virtual agents is that the expansion of the "Neolithic package" is not only the consequence of displacement of a particular population, but on the possibility of the adoption of new features by the local population. Social agents may *change* by themselves, adopting partially new ideas or behaviors "invented" by others, but with no population substitution (Barceló *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, two different hypotheses should be tested in the case of the adoption of farming economy at Western Mediterranean: whether the *motion* was of people (demic motion) or of ideas (cultural transmission). In both cases, the mathematics of the model are the same, but initial parameters of logistic growth, and diffusion rate are different (Fort, 2018; Fort *et al.*, 2018). It is usually assumed that ideas travel faster than people, therefore, demic migratory movements can be distinguished from cultural transmission of ideas, in the sense that the wave advancement is faster in the second scenario than in the first.

There have been a lot of modifications and developments of the classical Kolmogorov-Fisher expansive dynamics model for taking into account these new assumptions and offer more detailed null-hypothesis terms for testing more advanced simulated scenarios (Fedotov *et al.*, 2008; Pérez-Losada and Fort, 2010; Isern and Fort, 2010, 2012; Isern *et al.*, 2012; Kandler *et al.*, 2012; Cohen and Ackland, 2014; Brami and Zanotti, 2015; Chen and Tsai, 2020; Fort and Pareta, 2020; Fort, 2020; Tsai *et al.*, 2020). In any case, we should also take into account what continues to happen in the original land of the displaced people. Considering that displaced agents were expelled from the area where they were born because of a combination of political, economic and environmental set of causes, and also by people rational expectations, it is important to know the continuity of those circumstances at the homeland to discover whether new waves of population will abandon the same land and will travel the same route in the same direction. A single arrival of a population group has not the same consequences as if diverse population waves enter new land recurrently.

Discussion

We have just analyzed a minor part of the migration process: people displacement. We should never forget that early farmers' migration was social: early farmers arriving to the Western Mediterranean were not just a homogenous and closed demic mass but it was enmeshed in relationships with people they left behind and with farmers and hunter-gatherers they found in their way (Robb, 2013). To consider the new social bonds that may have emerged among migrants and non-migrants all along the process, we should add to our computer simulation the particular kind of social interaction at each destination defining the emergence of new communities in Western Mediterranean. Mechanisms for social interaction were constrained by the *rational expectations* of newcomers and local population at the moment of arrival.

When leaving the area where they were born, early farming migrants *expected* to leave away: a) a somewhat degraded natural environment, an environment whose current carrying capacity – related to the technology at hand – could not feed ever growing populations, b) a social environment at risk affected by natural factors: illnesses, climatic extreme variations, c) a social environment affected by political factors, such as cultural diversity and margination, political domination, social and political exclusion, and d), some early farming-pastoral groups may have migrated not because things were necessarily bad where they were, but because they saw the opportunity to reduce the cost of production effort maintaining the same social system when they move to a neighbor land (Kelly, 2019). That is to say, we assume people departed their homeland in search for increased *security*. Obviously, it transcends the mere "look for food". The current model of *Human Securities* – Food, Environmental, Personal, Health, Economic, Community, and Political Security defined by the United Nations (UN) Development Program's *Human Development Report* (UNDP 1994), can be used to understand migrants expectations (**Table 2**).

Forms of	UNDP definition.	Potential impacts due to migration
Human Security		
Food Security	Physical and economic access to basic food	The arrival of migrants without their own land may create a population-resource imbalance that puts pressure on the area's carrying capacity, affecting both newcomers and prior inhabitants. Longer term effects may actually increase food production due to increased labor force.
Environmental Security	A sustainable physical environment capable of sustaining adequate subsistence regimes and protecting against natural disasters	The arrival of migrants may place pressure on non- food resources (water, timber, grass, arable land) by increasing the effects of erosion, soil degradation, and deforestation, and affecting both newcomers and prior inhabitants. Longer term effects may be ameliorated by an increased labor force available to construct protective public works.
Personal Security	Protection from physical violence, whether in the form of state-sponsored oppression, war, ethnic tension, crime, or abuse	The arrival of migrants may lead to increased violence, both at the individual (within the group) and between-group levels, depending on the relations between groups.
Health Security	Access to adequate nutrition, health care, and a safe environment, particularly water sources	The arrival of migrants may threaten the health level of both newcomers and inhabitants by bringing new illnesses or increasing their likelihood of spreading. Migrants may include people with various medical skills, but their ability to contribute will depend on whether they can become sufficiently established in the new community.
Economic Security	Assured basic income and employment	The arrival of a new population may place pressure on the social mechanisms both communities have used to organize labor and consumption. It may alter prior levels of inequality and affect access to the means of production and consumption (including property rights). The arrival of the new population may also introduce technology or other innovations, affecting both groups.
Community Security	Social group membership, integrity of cultural identity	The arrival of a new population may lead to changes in the cultural identity of both groups, by altering social norms, introducing beliefs, languages, and material culture, by increasing cultural distance, or by imposing different forms of segregation (at the spatial and cognitive level). Long-term effects may include cultural coalescence, bricolage, or hybridization.
Political Security	Possession of basic human rights, e.g. access to political system	The arrival of migrants may threaten the way both communities arrive at decisions imposed upon the collective. Migrants may no longer have access to government in the same way that they did prior to the migration. Such changes may also affect the progressive disappearance of traditional social ties within groups and the emergence of new social ties, both within and between groups.

Table 2. Human security dimensions and potential impacts of migration. Table organized and edited by the Coalition for Archaeological Synthesis Task group *Long-term effects of past migration on human* security (Altschul, J., Barceló, J.A., Beekmann, C., Kandel, A., Kiddey, R., Kienon, T., Kintigh, K., Ortman, S., Ragsdale, C.)

The United Nations' apparently "modern" concept of Human Security provides a set of organizational themes that cross-cut and incorporate multiple anthropological theories on migration. As MacFarlane and Khong (2006, p. 146) argue: "The [*Human Development Report*

1994] offered the first substantial definition of human security: 'Human security can be said to have two main aspects. It means, first, safety from such chronic threats as hunger, disease, and repression. And second, it means protection from sudden and hurtful disruptions in the pattern of daily life."

As a direct consequence of abandonment of the original land where difficulties were identified, and the assumed higher food accessibility in the new land, the displaced population having arrived to a new land assume higher levels of security in the health and personal dimensions, because stressful situations at their homeland have been avoided. There is a concomitant risk on community security, however, because increased distance from homeland reduce potential social interaction with relatives, and it menaces the original wide group continuity (culture). If the new area is already occupied by a population with a different economic base (mobile hunting-gathering), an increase in violence and the need of defense and protection can be expected. The new scenario breaks also the possible continuity of political ties that had dominated the original group, imposing some new social problems that should be solved with potentially new institutions and political decisions.

From the point of view of local hunter-gatherers, the arrival of a new population has completely different security expectations. They may expect to be menaced by newcomers. The degree of challenge that indigenous population may afford would depend on the human density of both local hunter-gatherers and new coming farmers. However, the probabilities of conflict will increase as soon as farming practices may affect negatively environmental stability: deforestation caused by crops, and the acquisition of building materials and firewood, shrub layer decrease caused by domestic animals and increased risk of soil erosion. It is also important to take into account that herbivores may eat planted crops, and farmers may design massive kills of animals constituting the main prey of hunter-gatherers. Also given that farmers also consume wild resources, natural carrying capacity of the new land can be at risk. The mobility and low settlement density of the economic base of hunter-gatherers may be an advantage, but only in case the expanding farmed landscape does not advance at a too fast pace. Although the main resource - wild animals - is also a mobile resource, the way hunter-gatherers are forced to displace do not necessarily follow the pattern of mobility of their usual preys, that can also be appreciated but newcomers, who have not entirely abandoned hunting and gathering. In some scenarios, it is imaginable that hunter-gatherers may evaluate positively some aspects of the new technology and economic behavior, however, as suggested by Robert L. Kelly (2019) we should take into account that most hunter-gatherers did not decided rationally to become farmers but they adopted some aspects of the farming system trying to keep alive their way of living.

In the new situation of potential conflict, division of labor may be expected to emerge, both at the local (within group) scale and at the global (between groups) scale. Some tasks related to the growing complexity of social interaction tasks need to be specialized, and probably evolve out of the direct subsistence work. Specialists (warrior, political, etc.) should be fed by the rest of the population. The risk of conflict diminishes the level of security in the personal and health dimensions, and the growing impact on environment may endanger even worst the situation. The effects on the security at the community and political dimensions seem obvious, conflict increases the internal ties group conscience (ethnic personality) and diminished reciprocity and cooperation between groups (cultural differentiation, ethnogenesis). New political relationships evolve to integrate the emerging unbalance between groups, the loss of autonomy when alliance between "equals" are needed, and the apparition of domination and coercion when some groups win the conflict over other groups.

Ethnogenesis, the particular way a human community builds is own conscience as a group is also a consequence of transformations, both within the group and between groups. What has traditionally been called "ethnic" differentiation is nothing more than a consequence of the diverse degrees of social interaction between different human groups, and an emerging pattern of social similarity/differences in social practices between groups. We assume that ethnogenesis and identity formation emerged among prehistoric hunter-gatherers as result of the contradiction between social inertia (knowledge inheritance) and cultural consensus (social similarity) built during social interaction -cooperation, labor exchange, conflict or domination between huntergatherers (indigenous) and different groups of farmers that may have arrived at different moments (earliest newcomers, secondary newcomers). The lesser the intensity and frequency of interpopulation relationships, the greater the differences in ways of speaking and other cultural features manifested by groups (Barceló et al., 2015, 2019). If "culture" can be defined as the expected variance in a distribution of social values, goals and activities among synchronous human aggregates or populations, "ethnicity" can be approached as the degree of social inertia or resilience between different temporal states of the same aggregate or population, that is the ability of an aggregate of social agents to maintain a certain identity in the face of the changing pattern of relationships with other groups of the same population or even with different populations. Both "culture" and "ethnicity" are quantitative properties of human aggregates and not inherent features of individuals. Whereas "culture" expresses the degree of commonality in social activities between spatially differentiated but contemporary groups, "ethnicity" expresses the degree of similarity between non-contemporary human groups sharing the same area at different temporal intervals.

By using a common set of output variables, we can create an explanatory model of the possible consequences produced by migratory movements in prehistory. Up to now, archaeologists have lacked an integrated and comparative approach to analyze long-term impacts of migrations into a multi-temporal, multi-scalar model. The above seven dimensions of human securities – economic, food, health, environmental, personal, community and political – allow to integrate migratory movements in the past, with population movements in the present, and to understand the way human day-to-day experience may be affected by input variables such as size differentials between migrating and receiving populations, the duration of the migratory process, the nature of social and physical boundaries, and differences in the social and political complexity of migrating and receiving populations. We can use the entries in Table 1 to enhance the previous model of prehistoric migration to take into account social expectations. It implies to model new input parameters and output variables.

The calculation of the degree of environment, economic and food security for each agent does not need additional variables in our enhanced algorithm, just the relationship between population territorial density, their aggregated caloric needs and the aggregated value of natural and human produced resources. In any case, we need to monitor in the simulation how spatial features like soil natural productivity and erosion risk react to constant human impact.

To take into account personal security expectations we need to take into account the different possible forms of social interaction between groups. We should include the relationship between *locals* and *newcomers*, because the security expectation immediately after the arrival will be different. As Martínez Grau *et al.* (2020) has recently suggested, the pattern of contacts between these two generic populations in Western Mediterranean 7500 years ago is very complex, with some cases of colonization of a deserted area by the new population, some cases of direct head-to-head contact (possibly violent; cf. Meyer *et al.*, 2018; Düring *et al.*, 201; Alt *et al.*, 2020), and some cases of hunter-gatherer reaction to long distance social interaction (local adoption of new ideas). We should model the possibilities of peaceful contact (RECIPROCITY, COOPERATION), but also of violent interaction (DESTRUCTION, THEFT). Technology transfer travels between groups in proportion of the amount of cooperation and the establishment of kinship ties through exchange of reproductive agents between dissimilar groups (Barceló *et al.*, 2015, 2019).

The perception of health security depends on the degree of violence between groups, but also on the expansion of new illness. Many of known diseases come from domesticated animals pathogens (Diamond, 1997), and therefore a new source of mortality (illness) should be implemented. Community security implies the perception of the lack of variation of the group cultural identity. In some sense, what the social agent expects is to maximize in-group homogeneity and withingroups heterogeneity, in such a way that social agents tend to approach other social agents through a self-reinforcing mechanism of 'more interaction then more cultural similarity' (Axelrod, 1997). What defines the group (its "identity" at high scale) is usually a consequence of what members of such a group have learnt from their ancestors, and what they have learnt is a consequence of what those ancestors consciously decided to transmit to their descendants. Long-term communalities resulting from the repetition of interactions through generations is what constitutes the "ethnical" aspect of collective identity. On the other hand, we assume that communalities in belief and action do not exist forever because social similarity is in the process of continuous building, influenced by the very many aspects of social life. They are learned and shared across people. The challenge to this view is that instead of *assuming* that agents have common identity traits based on membership to an already existing "ethnic" group, agents ask themselves about the extent to which they are similar or different to others in the neighborhood (Romney *et al.*, 1986, 1996; Romney 1999; Garro, 2000; Weller, 2007).

Beginning with Axelrod (1997), there has been a lot of interest to create computer models that may simulate the mechanism of cultural identity construction and transformation. Social agents expect that a sense of community would be maintained when social interaction restricts to the "culturally" homogenous group. However, there is always a random factor of change introducing minor transformations, apparently unseen during the life of a single individual that in the long run generates cultural groups that are so dissimilar from one another that their members cannot interact across group boundaries. R. Boyd, J. Heinrich, R. McElreath and P.J. Richerson (McElreath et al. 2003; Heinrich and Heinrich 2007) have proved that if people preferentially interact in with people who have the same culture as they do, and if they acquire their markers and coordination behaviors by imitating successful individuals, groups distinguished by both norm and marker differences may emerge and remain stable despite significant mixing between them. Under such rules, within a group the behavior which is initially most common will reach fixation, as individuals with the less common behavior are less likely to receive the payoff. The successful behavior will also develop a marker associated with it, as individuals sharing this marker will also be more likely to interact with each other and receive the higher payoff. These ethnically marked positions are examples of attractors within the model.

Domenico Parisi *et al.* (2003), working also on the lineage of Axelrod's assumptions, have simulated a process of expansion of a single human group in an empty territory and looking at what happens to this group's previous culture when during the expansion process both cultural assimilation between neighboring sub-groups and random internal changes in the culture of each subgroup took place. If within-group interaction preference is the mechanism by which global

convergence generates local diversity, then strengthening the tendency toward convergence might have the counterintuitive effect of allowing stable diversity to emerge.

Jamie Matthews (2008) has simulated the sudden arrival of a new "ethnic" group, and how it behaves with local populations. One might expect that in a culture with a very high rate of drift, new cultural regions may be absorbed very rapidly as common features may appear regularly by chance, facilitating interaction across boundaries. The results of this experiment suggest that despite such high levels of drift, distinct regions may persist for significant periods of time. In general though, it is possible to conclude that in relatively homogeneous cultures with low rates of cultural drift (as may be expected to be found in isolated, monoculture regions), any distinct cultures which do form are likely to persist for significant periods of time before being assimilated into the surrounding culture. These distinct cultures may appear through a number of possible mechanisms (including perhaps Axelrod's suggested local-interaction model), but an obvious example might be an invading or migrating group of people from a distant region with a very different culture. Finding aspects of culture in common with the invaders may be difficult, reducing the chances of further interaction and absorption. The second result suggests that even in a culture with a high rate of drift (such as a modern, fast-changing multicultural society) it may take a considerable amount of time for a new cultural group to integrate into its surroundings (Matthews 2008).

Simulating how distance and the progressive diminution of cooperation and interaction between increasingly divergent mobile groups, J.A. Barceló *et al.* (2013, 2014, 2015, 2019) have analyzed the emergence of ethnic fractionalization, cultural diversity and ethnogenesis. The authors have also suggested a set of Global Measures of Cultural Proximity and Social Inertia to measure the degree of cultural fractionalization and polarity based on observable cultural features as stylistic traits and differentiated behavior as evidenced in the archaeological record.

The last expectation of locals and newcomers, according to the United Nations (UN) Development Program's *Human Development Report* (UNDP 1994) is that referring to political security, that is, the degree of autonomy granted to individuals. That means, the degree all social agents may access public space, and in the same way, the degree of structural violence used by elites to restrict "freedom" of group affiliation and movement. Given that archaeologically we do not have any knowledge of the political structure of prehistoric hunter-gatherers and early farmers, we need to monitor the possible emergence of inequalities in terms of an architecture of power and social control, spatial hierarchy of sites, and evidence for territory control. In any case, beyond the "observability" of political structure, we need to implement in the simulation a causal model of *politics*. That is, how inequality and power relationships allow increasing economic, food and personal security. An interesting tentative in this direction is the formal theory of the

emergence of inequality in apparently egalitarian social systems and subsistence economies suggested by Roemer (1982).

Conclusions

Social processes like population movements and economic change can be simulated computationally, and their temporal variation can be studied accordingly. The abundance and diversity of computer simulation of the process of early farming emergence, although different in scope, show the relevance and impact of this approach (Dreschler and Tiede, 2007; Barton et al., 2010; Rasteiro et al., 2012; Baum et al., 2016; Bentley and O'Brien, 2019; Saqualli et al. 2019, Fort and Pareta, 2020, Porčić et al. 2021, Cummings and Morris 2022, Pardo-Gordó and Bergin 2022), and also how the process ran in the Western Mediterranean (Bernabeu *et al.*, 2015, 2017, 2018; Bergin, 2016; Isern *et al.*, 2014, 2017b; Pimenta *et al.*, 2017, Bergin 2021). It indicates that social dynamics can be explored algorithmically, and not that we have arrived to any kind of objective truth using computers.

Computer simulation allows the analysis of migratory processes, both in the present or from the most remote past as dynamic social systems whose evolution appears to be governed by their own "past", that is, what happened at the arrival at the new land "depends" on previous states of the process: the abandonment of the original land and the particular way displacement took place. In the same way, what happed after the arrival at the new land, also depends on what happened at the moment people entered the new land, and contacted –directly or indirectly – with local populations. In this sense, we should define human migrations as historical trajectories configured by a chain of dependency relationships, causal or not, between temporally ordered events. This means that human movement and its social, economic, cultural and political consequences cannot be understood as a disordered set of chaotic behaviors but that there should be transitional relationships that prescribe for each social event the possible 'next steps', and which states result from those transitions. Our aim is to discover these relationships of transition or change.

Our simulation is not limited to the Western Mediterranean Neolithic case study. If the archaeological proxies of human securities can be demonstrated, then it seems reasonable that the method could be extended to all types of migration, including contemporary ones. Importantly, the simulation will show not only when populations are likely to move, but under what conditions they will stay put (which, if keeping people in their homeland is a desired public goal, would be quite useful). This is crucial for our understanding of the migration processes because people not only moved, it was a complex process in which they also produced and consumed new resources, interacted with other cultures and communities, and shared and exchanged resources.

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge all members of the Task group on the archaeological study of migratory movements from the Coalition for Archaeological Synthesis (CfAS, cf. <u>http://archsynth.org/</u>): J.H., Altschul, C.S. Beekman, P. Bickle, P., A.W., Kandel, R., Kiddey, R., C.S. Ragsdale, H., Timpoko Kienon-Kaboré. We also thank to our colleagues working with us in developing the NEOLSPREAD simulation program: D. Alexis, F. Del Castillo (she passed away on September 2022, and she could not gave us her last comments to the last version of this paper), F. Miquel Quesada, J. Negre, S. Pardo-Gordó, X. Vilà. Our research has been funded by Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation, Generalitat de Catalunya-AGAUR, Catalan Institution for Research and Advanced Studies, and Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona. Olga Palacios thanks a Predoctoral FI-DGR grant from AGAUR-UAB.

References

- Abbo, S. and Gopher, A. (2020). 'Plant domestication in the Neolithic Near East: The humans-plants liaison'. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 242, 106412.
- Ahedo, V., Zurro, D., Caro, J. y Galán, J. M. (2021). 'Let's go fishing: A quantitative analysis of subsistence choices with a special focus on mixed economies among small-scale societies'. *PLOS one*, 16(8), e0254539.
- Ahedo, V., Caro, J., Bortolini, E., Zurro, D., Madella, M. y Galán, J. M. (2019). 'Quantifying the relationship between food sharing practices and socio-ecological variables in small-scale societies: A cross-cultural multi-methodological approach'. *PLOS one*, 14(5), e0216302.
- Alt, K. W., Rodríguez, C. T., Nicklisch, N., Roth, D., Nagy, A. S. *et al.* (2020). 'A massacre of early Neolithic farmers in the high Pyrenees at Els Trocs, Spain'. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 1–10.
- Aoki, K. (2020). 'A three-population wave-of-advance model for the European early Neolithic'. *PLOS one*, 15(5), e0233184.
- Arbuckle, B. S., & Hammer, E. L. (2019). 'The rise of pastoralism in the ancient Near East'. Journal of Archaeological Research, 27(3), 391–449.
- Axelrod R (1997). The dissemination of culture: A model with local convergence and global polarization. *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 41(2), 203–226.
- Barceló, J. A., Del Castillo, F., Mameli, L., Miguel, F. J., and Vilà, X. (2019). 'From Culture Difference To A Measure Of Ethnogenesis. The Limits Of Archaeological Inquiry' in Saqalli, M. and Vander Linder, M. (eds.) *Integrating Qualitative and Social Science Factors in Archaeological Modelling*. Berlin: Springer, 55–89.
- Barceló, J.A., Capuzzo, G. and Bogdanovic, I. (2014). 'Modeling Expansive Phenomena in early Complex Societies. The Transition from Bronze to Iron Age in Prehistoric Europe'. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory*, 21, 486–510. doi: 0.1007/s10816-013-9195-2
- Barceló, J.A., Del Castillo, F., Del Olmo, R., Mameli, L., Miguel Quesada, F.J. et al. (2013). 'Social Interaction in Hunter-Gatherer Societies: Simulating the Consequences of Cooperation and Social Aggregation'. Social Science Computer Review, vol. 32 (3), 417–436.
- Barceló, J.A., Del Castillo, F., Del Olmo, R., Mameli, L., Miguel Quesada, F.J. et al. (2015). 'Simulating Patagonian Territoriality in prehistory: Space, Frontiers and networks among Hunter-gatherer' in Wurzer, K., Kowarik, K. Reschreiter, H. (eds) Agent-based Modeling and Simulation in Archaeology. Berlin and New York: Springer, 243–289.
- Barton, C. M., Ullah, I., and Mitasova, H. (2010). 'Computational modeling and Neolithic socioecological dynamics: a case study from southwest Asia'. *American Antiquity*, 75(2), 364–386.

- Baum, T., Mainberger, M., Taylor, T., Tinner, W., Hafner, A., and Ebersbach, R. (2020). 'How many, how far? Quantitative models of Neolithic land use for six wetland sites on the northern Alpine forelands between 4300 and 3700 BC'. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany*, 1–19.
- Baum, T., Nendel, C., Jacomet, S., Colobran, M., & Ebersbach, R. (2016). "Slash and burn" or "weed and manure"? A modelling approach to explore hypotheses of late Neolithic crop cultivation in prealpine wetland sites". *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany*, 25(6), 611–627
- Bentley, R. A. and O'Brien, M. J. (2019). 'Modeling Niche Construction in Neolithic Europe' in Saqalli, M. and Vander Linder, M. (eds.) *Integrating Qualitative and Social Science Factors in Archaeological Modelling*. Berlin: Springer, 91–108.
- Bentley, R.A. (2006). 'Strontium Isotopes from the Earth to the Archaeological Skeleton: A Review'. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory*, 13(3), 135–187.
- Bentley, R.A., Bickle, P., Fibiger, L., Nowell, G.M., Dale, C.W. *et al.* (2012). 'Community differentiation and kinship among Europe's first farmers'. *PNAS*, 109, 9326–9330.
- Bergin, S. (2021). The Essential Geography of the Impresso-Cardial Neolithic Spread. In *Simulating Transitions to Agriculture in Prehistory* (pp. 29-46). Springer, Cham.
- Bergin, S. M. (2016). *Mechanisms and Models of Agropastoral Spread During the Neolithic in the West Mediterranean: The Cardial Spread Model*. PhD Thesis. Arizona State University.
- Bernabeu Aubán, J., Barton, C. M., Gordó, S. P., and Bergin, S. M. (2015). 'Modeling initial Neolithic dispersal. The first agricultural groups in West Mediterranean'. *Ecological Modelling*, 307, 22–31.
- Bernabeu Aubán, J., Lozano, S., and Pardo-Gordó, S. (2017a). 'Iberian Neolithic Networks: The Rise and Fall of the *Cardial* World'. *Frontiers in Digital Humanities*, 4 (7). doi:10.3389/fdigh.2017.00007.
- Bernabeu Aubán, J., Manen, C., and Pardo-Gordó, S. (2017b). 'Spatial and temporal diversity during the Neolithic spread in the Western Mediterranean: the first pottery productions' in García Puchol, O. and Salazar García, D.E. (eds.) *Times of Neolithic Transition along the Western Mediterranean*. Cham: Springer, 373–397.
- Bernabeu, J. B., Puchol, O. G., and Orozco-Köhler, T. (2018). 'New insights relating to the beginning of the Neolithic in the eastern Spain: Evaluating empirical data and modelled predictions'. *Quaternary International*, 470, 439–450.
- Binder, D., Angeli, L., Gomart, L., Guilaine, J., Manen, C. et al. 2017. 'Modelling the earliest north-western dispersal of the Mediterranean Impressed Wares: new data and Bayesian chronicles'. Documenta Praehistorica, XLIV, 54–77.
- Borrell, F., Junno, A., & Barceló, J. A. (2015). Synchronous environmental and cultural change in the emergence of agricultural economies 10,000 years ago in the Levant. *PloS one*, *10*(8), e0134810.
- Bouby, L., Marinval, P., Durand, F., Figueiral, I., Briois, F. *et al.* (2020). 'Early Neolithic (ca. 5850-4500 cal BC) agricultural diffusion in the Western Mediterranean: An update of archaeobotanical data in SW France'. *PLOS* one, 15(4), e0230731.
- Brami, M. and Zanotti, A. (2015). 'Modelling the initial expansion of the Neolithic out of Anatolia'. Documenta Praehistorica, 42, 103–116.
- Capelli, C., Starnini, E., Cabella, R., and Piazza, M. (2017). 'The circulation of Early Neolithic pottery in the Mediterranean: A synthesis of new archaeometric data from the Impressed Ware culture of Liguria (north-west Italy)'. Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports, 16, 532–541.
- Chen, X. and Tsai, J. C. (2020). 'Spreading Speed in a Farmers and Hunter-gatherers model Arising from Neolithic Transition in Europe'. *Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées*, 143, 192–207.
- Cohen, M. H. (1992). 'Nonlinearity, disorder, the spread of Neolithic farming, and the origin of the Indo-European languages' in Abdullaev, F., Bishop, A.R. and Pnevmatikos, S. (eds.) Nonlinearity with Disorder. Springer Proceedings in Physics, 67. Berlin and Heidelberg: Springer, 161–170.
- Cohen, M. H. and Ackland, G. J. (2012). 'Boundaries between ancient cultures: origins and persistence'. *Advances in complex systems*, 15, 1150004.
- Cummings, V., & Morris, J. (2022). 'Neolithic explanations revisited: Modelling the arrival and spread of domesticated cattle into Neolithic Britain'. *Environmental archaeology*, 27(1), 20-30.
- de Haas, H., Miller, M. J., and Castles, S. (2020). *The Age of Migration: International Population Movements in the Modern World*. London: MacMillan Education UK.
- Diamond, J. (1997). *Guns, germs and steel: a short history of everybody for the last 13,000 years.* New York: Random House.
- Davis, D., & Douglass, K. (2021). 'Remote Sensing Reveals Lasting Legacies of Land-Use by Small-Scale Foraging Societies'. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, 9, 689399.
- Drechsler, P., & Tiede, D. (2007). 'The spread of Neolithic herders a computer aided modeling approach' in Figueiredo, A. and Leite Velho, G. (eds) *The world is in your eyes. Proceedings of the XXXIII*

Computer Applications in Archaeology Conference: Tomar March 2005, Tomar: CAA Portugal, 231–236.

- Dunne, J., Rebay-Salisbury, K., Salisbury, R. B., Frisch, A., Walton-Doyle, C., & Evershed, R. P. (2019). Milk of ruminants in ceramic baby bottles from prehistoric child graves. *Nature*, 574(7777), 246-248.
- Düring, A. (2019). 'Modelling massacres. The agent-based modelling of catastrophic events using skeletal data from archaeological excavations'. *Anthropologischer Anzeiger; Bericht uber die biologisch-anthropologische Literatur*, 76(3), 217–221.
- Fedotov, S., Moss, D., and Campos, D. (2008). ,Stochastic model for population migration and the growth of human settlements during the Neolithic transition'. *Physical Review E*, 78(2), 026107.
- Fernández, E., Pérez-Pérez, A., Gamba, C., Prats, E., Cuesta, P. et al. (2014). 'Ancient DNA analysis of 8000 BC near eastern farmers supports an early neolithic pioneer maritime colonization of Mainland Europe through Cyprus and the Aegean Islands'. PLOS ONE 10(6), e1004401.
- Fisher, R. A. (1937). 'The wave of advance of advantageous genes'. Annals of eugenics, 7(4), 355–369.
- Fladd, S. G. (2017). 'Social syntax: An approach to spatial modification through the reworking of space syntax for archaeological applications'. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology*, 47, 127–138.
- Fort, J. (2012). 'Synthesis between demic and cultural diffusion in the Neolithic transition in Europe'. *PNAS*, 109(46), 18669–18673.
- Fort, J. (2015). 'Demic and cultural diffusion propagated the Neolithic transition across different regions of Europe'. *Journal of the Royal Society interface*, 12(106), 20150166.
- Fort, J. (2018). 'The Neolithic transition: Diffusion of people or diffusion of culture?' in Bunde, A., Caro, J., Kärger, J. and Vogl, G. (eds.) *Diffusive Spreading in Nature, Technology and Society*. Cham: Springer, 313–331.
- Fort, J. (2020). 'Biased dispersal can explain fast human range expansions'. Scientific Reports, 10(1), 1–10.
- Fort, J., and Méndez, V. (1999). 'Reaction-diffusion waves of advance in the transition to agricultural economics'. *Physical Review E*, 60(5), 5894.
- Fort, J., and Pareta, M. M. (2020). 'Long-distance dispersal effects and Neolithic waves of advance'. Journal of Archaeological Science, 119, 105148.
- Fort, J., Isern, N., Jerardino, A., and Rondelli, B. (2016). 'Population spread and cultural transmission in Neolithic transitions' in Barceló, J.A. and Del Castillo, F. (eds.) Simulating Prehistoric and Ancient Worlds. Cham: Springer, 189–197.
- Fort, J., Pareta, M. M., and Sørensen, L. (2018). 'Estimating the relative importance of demic and cultural diffusion in the spread of the Neolithic in Scandinavia'. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, 15, 20180597.
- Frieman, C. J., and Hofmann, D. (2019). 'Present pasts in the archaeology of genetics, identity, and migration in Europe: a critical essay'. *World archaeology*, 51(4), 528–545.
- Garcia-Martinez de Lagran I., Fernandez-Dominguez E. and Rojo-Guerra M. A. (2018). 'Solutions or illusions? An analysis of the available palaeogenetic evidence from the origins of the Neolithic in the Iberian Peninsula'. *Quaternary International*, 470, 353–368. doi:10.1016/j.quaint.2017.07.012.
- Garro, L. C. (2000). 'Remembering what one knows and the construction of the past: A comparison of cultural consensus theory and cultural schema theory'. *Ethos*, 28(3), 275–319.
- Gibaja, J. F., Ibáñez-Estévez, J. J., Mazzucco, N., and Terradas-Batlle, X. (2018). 'The Neolithic expansion in the Western Mediterranean: Understanding a global phenomenon from regional perspectives'. *Quaternary International*, 470, 207–210.
- Goude, G., Salazar-García, D. C., Power, R. C., Rivollat, M., Gourichon, L. et al. (2020). 'New insights on Neolithic food and mobility patterns in Mediterranean coastal populations'. American Journal of Physical Anthropology, 17(2), 218–235. doi:10.1002/ajpa.24089.
- Griffiths, S. (2012). 'The use of space syntax in historical research: current practice and future possibilities' in Greene, M., Reyes, J. and Castro, A. (eds.) *Proceedings of the Eighth International Space Syntax Symposium*. Santiago de Chile: PUC, 1–26.
- Guilaine, J. (2017). 'The Neolithic transition: from the Eastern to the Western Mediterranean' in García Puchol, O. and Salazar García, D.E. (eds.) *Times of Neolithic Transition along the Western Mediterranean*. Cham: Springer, 15–31.
- Henrich, J. and Henrich, N. (2007). *Why Humans Cooperate: a Cultural and Evolutionary Explanation*. New York: Oxford University Press,
- Hofmanová, Z., Kreutzer, S., Hellenthal, G., Sell, C., Diekmann, Y. et al. (2016). 'Early farmers from across Europe directly descended from Neolithic Aegeans'. PNAS, 113(25), 6886–6891.

- Human Relations Area Files (2022). eHRAF: HRAF collection of ethnography. New Haven: Yale University.
- Ibáñez, J. J., González-Urquijo, J., Teira-Mayolini, L. C., and Lazuén, T. (2018). 'The emergence of the Neolithic in the Near East: A protracted and multi-regional model'. *Quaternary International*, 470, 226–252.
- Isern N., Zilhao J., Fort J., and Ammerman J. (2017b). 'Modeling the role of voyaging in the coastal spread of the Early Neolithic in the West Mediterranean'. *PNAS*, 114(5): 897–902. doi:10.1073/pnas.1613413114.
- Isern, N., and Fort, J. (2010). 'Anisotropic dispersion, space competition and the slowdown of the Neolithic transition'. *New Journal of Physics*, 12(12), 123002.
- Isern, N., and Fort, J. (2012). 'Modelling the effect of Mesolithic populations on the slowdown of the Neolithic transition'. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 12(39), 3671–3676.
- Isern, N., Fort, J. and Vander Linden, M. (2012). 'Space competition and time delays in human range expansions. Application to the Neolithic transition'. *PLoS One*, 7(12), e51106.
- Isern, N., Fort, J., and de Rioja, V. L. (2017a). 'The ancient cline of haplogroup K implies that the Neolithic transition in Europe was mainly demic'. *Scientific reports*, 7(1), 1–10.
- Isern, N., Fort, J., Carvalho, A. F., Gibaja, J. F., and Ibañez, J. J. (2014). 'The Neolithic transition in the Iberian Peninsula: data analysis and modeling'. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory*, 21(2), 447–460.
- Juan-Cabanilles, J. and Martí Oliver, B. (2019). 'New Approaches to the Neolithic Transition: The Last Hunters and First Farmers of the Western Mediterranean' in García Puchol, O. and Salazar García, D.E. (eds.) *Times of Neolithic Transition along the Western Mediterranean*. Cham: Springer, 33– 65.
- Kabir, M. H., Mimura, M. and Tsai, J. C. (2018). 'Spreading waves in a farmers and hunter-gatherers model of the Neolithic transition in Europe'. *Bulletin of mathematical biology*, 80(9), 2452–2480.
- Kandler, A., Perreault, C., and Steele, J. (2012). 'Cultural evolution in spatially structured populations: A review of alternative modeling frameworks'. *Advances in Complex Systems*, 15(01n02), 1203001.
- Kelly, R.L. (2019). The Fifth Beginning. What Six Million Years of Human History Can Tell Us about Our Future. Oakland: University of California Press.
- Kirby, K.R., Gray, R.D., Greenhill, S.J., Jordan, F.M., Gomes-Ng, S. et al. (2016). 'D-PLACE: A global database of cultural, linguistic and environmental diversity'. PLOS one, 11(7), e0158391.
- Koller, D., & Friedman, N. (2009). Probabilistic graphical models: principles and techniques. MIT Press.
- Kolmogorov, A., Petrovskii, I. and Piskunov, N. (1937). 'Study of a Diffusion Equation That Is Related to the Growth of a Quality of Matter and Its Application to a Biological Problem'. *Moscow University Mathematics Bulletin*, 1, 1–26.
- Llobera, M. (2000). 'Understanding Movement: a Pilot Model Towards the Sociology of Movement' in Lock, G.R. (ed.) *Beyond the Map: Archaeology and Spatial Technologies*. Oxford: Oxbow Books, 65–84.
- Loosdrecht, M. S. V. D. (2021). Archaeogenetic perspectives on the hunter-gatherers and prehistoric farmers of the Mediterranean (Doctoral dissertation, Friedrich Schiller University Jena, Faculty of Biological Sciences Jena).
- Lugliè, C. (2018). 'Your path led trough the sea... the emergence of Neolithic in Sardinia and Corsica'. *Quaternary International*, 470, 285–300.
- MacFarlane, S H, and Y F Khong. 2006. "Human Security and the UN: A Critical History." In *Human* Security and the UN: A Critical History, pp. 143-163. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Mahalaxmi, N., Puri, A. C., Chouhan, P. K., & Mishra, A. (2022). Tracing of Human Migration and Diversity by Forensic DNA Analysis. In *Handbook of DNA Profiling* (pp. 1165-1184). Singapore: Springer Singapore.
- Manen, C., Perrin, T., Guilaine, J., Bouby, L., Bréhard, S. *et al.* (2019). 'The Neolithic Transition in the Western Mediterranean: a Complex and Non-Linear Diffusion Process – The Radiocarbon Record Revisited'. *Radiocarbon*, 61(2), 531–571.
- Martínez-Grau, H., Jagher, R., Oms, F.X., Barceló, J.A., Pardo-Gordó, S. *et al.* (2020). 'Global processes, regional dynamics. Radiocarbon data as a proxy for social dynamics at the end of the Mesolithic and during the Early Neolithic in the NW of the Mediterranean and Switzerland (*c.* 6200–4600 cal BC)'. *Documenta Praehistorica*, XLVII, 170–191.
- Matthews, J. (2008). 'The Longevity of Distinct Cultures in an Agent-Based Model of Memetic Drift'. *Artificial Life*, XI, 398–403.
- McElreath, R., Boyd, R. and Richerson, P.J. (2003). 'Shared norms and the evolution of ethnic markers'. *Current Anthropology*, 44(1), 122–129.

- McElreath, R., Boyd, R., & Richerson, P. J. (2003). Shared norms and the evolution of ethnic markers. *Current Anthropology*, 44(1), 122–129.
- Meyer, C., Kürbis, O., Dresely, V., and Alt, K. W. (2018). 'Patterns of Collective Violence in the Early Neolithic of Central Europe' in Dolfini, A., Crellin, R.J., Horn, C., Uckelmann, M. (eds.) Prehistoric Warfare and Violence. Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches. Cham: Springer, 21–38.
- Monna, F., Magail, J., Rolland, T., Navarro, N., Wilczek, J., Gantulga, J. O., et al. (2020). 'Machine learning for rapid mapping of archaeological structures made of dry stones–Example of burial monuments from the Khirgisuur culture, Mongolia'. Journal of Cultural Heritage, 43:118-128.
- Morales, A. J., & Rodriguez-Lara, I. (2020). An Experiment on the Neolithic Agricultural Revolution. Causes and Impact on Inequality. Chapman University, Economic Science Institute Working papers, 6.https://digitalcommons.chapman.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1315&context=esi_working_p apers (Downloaded on September 26, 2022).
- Olalde, I., Schroeder, H., Sandoval-Velasco, M., Vinner, L., Lobón, I. *et al.* (2015). 'A common genetic origin for early farmers from Mediterranean Cardial and Central European LBK cultures'. *Molecular biology and evolution*, 32(12), 3132–3142.
- Olsson, O. and Paik, C. (2020). 'A Western reversal since the Neolithic? The long-run impact of early agriculture'. *The Journal of Economic History*, 80(1), 100–135.
- Omrak, A., Günther, T., Valdiosera, C., Svensson, E. M., Malmström, H. *et al.* (2016). 'Genomic evidence establishes Anatolia as the source of the European Neolithic gene pool'. *Current Biology*, 26(2), 270–275.
- Oms, F. X., Martin, A., Esteve, X., Mestres, J., Morell, B. *et al.* 2016. 'The Neolithic in Northeast Iberia: Chronocultural Phases and 14C'. *Radiocarbon*, 58(2), 291–309. doi:10.1017/RDC.2015.14.
- Palacios, O., Barceló, J.A., & Delgado, R. 'Exploring the role of ecology and social organisation in agropastoral societies: A Bayesian network approach'. *PLOS one (forthcoming)*.
- Palmisano, A., Lawrence, D., de Gruchy, M. W., Bevan, A., & Shennan, S. (2021). Holocene regional population dynamics and climatic trends in the Near East: A first comparison using archaeodemographic proxies. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 252, 106739.
- Pardo-Gordó, S., & Bergin, S. (2022). Simulating Transitions to Agriculture in Prehistory. New York, Springer.
- Parisi, D., Cecconi, F. and Natale, F. (2003). 'Cultural Change in Spatial Environments: The Role of Cultural Assimilation and of Internal Changes in Cultures'. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 47, 163– 179.
- Pérez-Losada, J. and Fort, J. (2010). 'Age-dependent mortality, fecundity and mobility effects on front speeds: theory and application to the Neolithic transition'. *Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory* and Experiment, 11, P11006.
- Pimenta, J., Lopes, A. M., Comas, D., Amorim, A. and Arenas, M. (2017). 'Evaluating the Neolithic expansion at both shores of the Mediterranean Sea'. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 34(12), 3232–3242.
- Porčić, M., Nikolić, M., Pendić, J., Penezić, K., Blagojević, T., & Stefanović, S. (2021). Expansion of the Neolithic in Southeastern Europe: wave of advance fueled by high fertility and scalar stress. Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences, 13(5), 1-13.
- Rasteiro, R., Bouttier, P. A., Sousa, V. C., and Chikhi, L. (2012). 'Investigating sex-biased migration during the Neolithic transition in Europe, using an explicit spatial simulation framework'. *Proceedings of* the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 279(1737), 2409–2416.
- Rendine, S., Piazza, A. and Cavalli-Sforza, L. L. (1986). 'Simulation and separation by principal components of multiple demic expansions in Europe'. *The American Naturalist*, 128(5), 681–706.
- Rivollat, M., Jeong, C., Schiffels, S., Küçükkalipçi, I., Pemonge, M. H. *et al.* (2020). 'Ancient genomewide DNA from France highlights the complexity of interactions between Mesolithic huntergatherers and Neolithic farmers'. *Science Advances*, 6(22), eaaz5344.
- Robb, J. (2013). 'Landscapes of action, and emergent causation: A new model for the origins of the European Neolithic'. *Current Anthropology*, 54 (6), 657–683.
- Roemer, J. E. (1982). 'Origins of exploitation and class: value theory of pre-capitalist economy'. *Econometrica: Journal of the Econometric Society*, 50 (1), 163–192.
- Romney, A. K. (1999). 'Cultural Consensus as a Statistical Model'. Current Anthropology, 40(1), 93–115.
- Romney, A. K., Boyd, J. P., Moore, C. C., Batchelder, W. H. and Brazill, T. J. (1996). 'Culture as shared cognitive representations'. *PNAS*, 93(10), 4699–4705.
- Romney, A. K., Weller, S. C. and Batchelder, W. H. (1986). 'Culture as consensus: A theory of culture and informant accuracy'. *American anthropologist*, 88(2), 313–338.

- Rowley-Conwy, P., Panelli, C., Rossi, S., Nisbet, R., and Maggi, R. (2020). 'First farmers in Liguria, northwestern Italy: new evidence from Arene Candide and nearby sites' in Gron, K. J., Sørensen, L. and Rowley-Conwy, P. (eds.) *Farmers at the Frontier: A Pan European Perspective on Neolithisation*, pp. 125-144.Oxford: Oxbow Books, DOI: 10.2307/j.ctv13gvh1g.9
- Saqalli, M., Saenz, M., Belem, M., Lespez, L., & Thiriot, S. (2019). O Tempora O Mores: Building an Epistemological Procedure for Modeling the Socio-anthropological Factors of Rural Neolithic Socio-ecological Systems: Stakes, Choices, Hypotheses, and Constraints. In *Integrating Qualitative* and Social Science Factors in Archaeological Modelling (pp. 15-54). Springer, Cham.
- Scaffidi, B.K. and Knudson, K.J. (2020). 'An archaeological strontium isoscape for the prehistoric andes: Understanding population mobility through a geostatistical meta-analysis of archaeological 87Sr/86Sr values from humans, animals, and artifacts'. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 117, 105121.
- Schulp, C. J., Thuiller, W., and Verburg, P. H. (2014). 'Wild food in Europe: A synthesis of knowledge and data of terrestrial wild food as an ecosystem service'. *Ecological Economics*, 105, 292–305.
- Shennan S. (2018). *The First Farmers of Europe: An Evolutionary Perspective*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Silva, F. and Vander Linden, M. (2017). 'Amplitude of travelling front as inferred from 14C predicts levels of genetic admixture among European early farmers'. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 11985. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-12318-2.
- Silva, F., and Steele, J. (2015). 'Two-dimensional models of human dispersals: tracking reaction-diffusion fronts on heterogeneous surfaces' in Barceló, J.P. and Bognanovic, I. (eds.) *Mathematics and archaeology*. Boca Raton, London and New York: CRC Press, 416–430.
- Solmaz, G. and Turgut, D. (2019). 'A survey of human mobility models'. IEEE Access, 7, 125711–125731.
- Steele, J. (2009). 'Human dispersals: mathematical models and the archaeological record'. *Human Biology*, 81(3), 121–140.
- Tsai, J. C., Kabir, M. H. and Mimura, M. (2020). 'Travelling waves in a reaction-diffusion system modelling farmer and hunter-gatherer interaction in the Neolithic transition in Europe'. *European Journal of Applied Mathematics*, 31(3), 470–510.
- United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) (1994). *Human Development Report 1994*. New York and Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- van Willigen, S. (2018). 'Between Cardial and Linearbandkeramik: From no-man's-land to communication sphere'. *Quaternary International*, 470, 333–352.
- Verhagen, P., Nuninger, L., and Groenhuijzen, M. R. (2019). 'Modelling of pathways and movement networks in archaeology: an overview of current approaches' in Verhagen, P., Joyce, J. and Groenhuijzen, M. (eds.) Finding the Limits of the Limes. Modelling Demography, Economy and Transport on the Edge of the Roman Empire. Cham: Springer, 217–249.
- Weller, S. C. (2007). 'Cultural consensus theory: Applications and frequently asked questions'. Field methods, 19(4), 339–368.

Chapter 3

Early Agropastoral Systems in Iberia

3.1. Foraging Communities

The Mesolithic period dates in the Iberian Peninsula from c. 8,4-8 ka cal. BP until 7,7-7,5 ka cal. BP (Bernabeu Aubán et al., 2003, 2009; Gabriele et al., 2019; Martínez-Grau et al., 2020; 2018; Oms et al., 2017), when earliest evidence of agropastoralism is found. Our current knowledge of human groups living in the Iberian Peninsula during the Mesolithic is very disperse and incomplete. There are some regions better known as the Cantabrian coast while others, like the north-eastern, the southern or la Meseta, where it has not been until recently that some Mesolithic sites have been consistently dated and investigated (Arias, 2007). The fact that the number of Mesolithic sites in some regions is low does not imply that they were deserted, but due to taphonomy problems (e.g., soil acidity in the Atlantic coast) and lack of funding to investigate these areas (Rus et al., 2016).

This lack of knowledge about this period traditionally led to the belief that Mesolithic groups exclusively lived in rock shelters and caves, as they are locations which the scarce material evidence is better preserved and easier to identify. There are still some settlements with an unclear chronology and with an ongoing debate such as La Dehesilla, Los Alamos, Cueva de las Ventanas (Acosta, 1995; Riquelme, 2002), Cueva de la Dehesilla, Cueva del Parralejo, La Esperilla (López et al., 1996), or Cabezo de Lebrija (Caro et al., 1987). However, they do not represent the norm and, fortunately, in the last decades the number of known Mesolithic sites in Iberia has grown exponentially.

Although there were probably singular dynamics depending on the region, similar kind of sites are found throughout the territory. They lived in shelters (e.g., Bauma del Serrat del Pontcaves, Balma Margineda, Obagues de Ratera, Balma Guilanyà, Abrigo del Nacimiento, Abrigo de Valdecuevas, Bureco de Palo), caves (e.g., Cova Gran, Cova de Can Sadurní, Cova del Vidre, Coves del Fem, Cueva de Nerja, Buraca Grande, O Bocelo) and open-air (e.g., Sota Palou, Font del Ros, Orris de la Torbera de Perafita I, Bañugues, Oyambra, Prazo) settlements throughout the Iberian territory (Guilaine & Martzluff, 1985; Martínez-Moreno et al., 2009; Martzluff et al., 2012; Mora et al., 2011; Mas et al., 2018; Asquerino & Lopez, 1981; Sarrión, 1980; Aura Tortosa et al., 2009; Alcalde & Saña, 2017, 2008; Fullola et al., 2011; Bosch et al., 2022; Palomo et al., 2022; Rodrigues & Angelucci, 2004; Sanches, 1997). Some of them were seasonal settlements specialised on specific economic strategies, such as Montlleó site (Pyrenees)

which was probably occupied during summer for hunting deer and wild goat (Mangado et al., 2010, 2011).

Another relevant type of settlement were shell middens where molluscs and other fish resources were exploited, found in Atlantic and Cantabrian coasts (Ramírez, 2007). However, in most sites fishing represented a minor activity (Salazar-García et al., 2018: 497, 2014) although its importance may be biased due to taphonomy (Revelles et al., 2018: 185). They had a broad-spectrum diet combining large and medium-sized mammals (e.g., wild goat, boar, red deer, roar deer, red fox, wildcat, Iberian lynx, wolf, rabbit) birds, fish, and molluscs (Aura et al., 2009).

3.2. Introduction of Agropastoral Practices

The Late Mesolithic, c. 8-7,5 ka cal. BP (Oms et al., 2017), is a chronological hiatus of c. 400-500 years in which late local foraging communities interacted with the earliest agropastoral groups that arrived at Iberia. At that time, the peninsula had a continental climate with gradually increasing temperatures (Catalán et al., 2012: 217) and defined by the mixture between the humid Mediterranean climate with Atlantic influences in the north and typical Mediterranean conditions in the south. Consequently, the area displayed a highly diversified climate which favoured the presence of a wide range of animal and plant species. First farmers settled in densely forested areas, with a predominance of deciduous broadleaf tree forests in the humid Mediterranean northeast and the Atlantic northern Iberia (Revelles, 2017: 440).

The paleoclimatic conditions of the north-eastern region has been more extensively investigated through pollen analysis and, only in this territory, a wide-ranging vegetal landscape is observed. In the Pre-Pyrenean area, broadleaf deciduous and riparian forests were present (Agustí & Roca, 1987; Buxó & Piqué, 2008; Piqué, 2000, 2002, 2005) while in the southern part of this region, evergreen *Quercus* formations dominated, including holm oak, pine forest and oak grove (Bosch & Santacana, 2009). In dry meadows, species such as ribwort plantain, docks, sorrels, mint, or burnet were found whereas in wet meadows lotus, swinecress or plantains predominated.

The arrival of agropastoral groups did not cause the disappearance of Mesolithic settlements or a radical change in the way that local communities lived. Some groups maintained their diet without introducing agropastoralism (e.g., shell midden sites, Cabeço de Pez) (Valente

et al., 2014), while other included these other subsistence strategies adopting a mixed economy (e.g., Cabranosa, Padrão, Cueva Pena d'Água settlements).

Throughout Iberia, there were settlements with a continuity in occupation during the Neolithic period (**Figure 5**). In the northern region, Atxoste (Ruiz et al., 2012; Pérez-García et al., 2015), Cueva de Lumentxa (Aranzadi & Barandiarán, 1935; Arribas-Pastor et al., 2018), Cueva de Arenaza I, Pico Ramos, Cueva de El Mirón (Zapata, 2012), Pareko Landa (Quintana, 1996; Quintana & De Gopegui, 1997; Aguirre et al., 2000), El Forcón (Baldellou, 1987), Els Trocs (Rojo et al., 2016), Coro Trasito (Clemente-Conte et al., 2016), La Peña de las Forcas II (Utrilla & Mazo, 2014), Aizpea, Zatoya, Cova del Filador, Cova del Vidre, Coves del Fem (Bosch et al., 2022). In the south, we also have examples of open-air Mesolithic settlements that continued being occupied during the Neolithic period, such as Ambrosio (Jiménez Navarro, 1962; Suárez Márquez, 1981), La Carigüela (Pellicer Catalán, 1964; Toscano et al., 1997), Hoyo de la Mina, Nerja (Jordá Pardo, 1986; Acosta Martínez & Pellicer Catalán, 1997; Pellicer Catalán & Acosta Martínez, 1997), Bajondillo (Cortés Sánchez et al., 2007) or Cueva del Nacimiento.

Ex novo settlements of groups practising agropastoralism were also created. For example, in the Pyrenees and Pre-Pyrenees Cueva de Chaves (Utrilla Miranda & Laborda Lorente, 2018), Cova del Sardo, Abric de les Obagues de Ratera, Orris de la Torbera de Perafita I (Gassiot-Ballbè et al., 2021). In central Catalonia such as Cova del Filador, Cova del Vidre o Coves del Fem (Bosch et al., 2022; Oms et al., 2012, 2018; Mazzucco et al., 2016). In central Iberia, Neolithic sites of Cueva de La Vaquera (Estremera, 2003), La Lámpara, La Revilla and Los Cascajos (Zapata et al., 2004; Peña Chocarro et al., 2005). In the south, Cueva de El Toro, Cueva de los Mármoles, La Carigüela, Bats al Albuñol (Peña-Chocarro, 1999), Cabecicos Negros (Camalich & Martín, 1999), Zájara (Goñi Quintero et al., 2002), El Duende (Aguayo Hoyos et al., 1990), El Llano de las Canteras, Los Castillejos, La Molaina, Las Catorce Fanegas, Cerro de las Ánimas, Peñón de Salobreña, Cíavieja or Conchero de Cañada Honda (Barrera & Del Olmo, 1994; Reis et al., 2020).

They settled in different types of settlements such as hamlets, caves, rock-shelters and open-air with upraised structures are found. Due to taphonomy and anthropic processes, settlements located in rock-shelters and caves tend to be better preserved than open-air sites. In this latter case, buildings are usually recovered from stick holes (e.g., Balma d'Auferí or Barranc d'en Fabra sites), or storage pits (e.g., Guixeres de Vilobí, Mas d'en Boixos, La Serreta, la Vinya d'en Pau, Cinc Ponts). In few settlements has been possible to measure the size of occupation. In the north-eastern, settlements such as Plansallosa or La Draga had a surface of c. 1000-2000 m2, with ellipsoidal and rectangular huts (approximate 8-12 meters in length and 4-5 in width) (Mestres & Tarrús, 2009; Mestres, 1981), surrounded by fences to keep animals and cultivation

fields. There were probably smaller occupations and size likely change through different events. For instance, in La Draga it is recorded an ongoing change and rebuilding of structures.

Caves and rock-shelters were also types of settlement commonly occupied. Despite they have traditionally been interpreted as secondary establishments related to main open-air settlements (Bosch, 1994), some of them were occupied permanently and had different uses. For example, Cova Colomera was used as a pen for sheep and goats but also used as settlements (Oms et al., 2015). Some were also used as base camps (for example, Cova del Frare, Cova del Toll, Cova de la Font Major) (Cabrià et al., 2014). These various settlement functions have been associated with transhumance and pastoral activities. Defined as long-distance herd mobility activities (Fernández-Giménez & Ritten, 2020), they are usually not defined in detail, and they are still not fully known how they were at that time (Antolín et al., 2018). Archaeological record provides evidence for the practice of at least short-distance vertical movements, from settlements located in the lowland to nearby pastures at higher altitudes (Gassiot et al., 2012b; García-Ruiz et al., 2020; Rojo Guerra et al., 2013, 2014; Tornero et al., 2016). Possible, rock shelters and caves could have played a relevant role as shepherd huts, enclosures, or shelters in case of unfavourable weather conditions (Palet et al., 2014). This is enforced by the evidence of pen deposits in caves (e.g., Cova Gran, Cova del Parco, Cova Colomera) (Oms et al., 2008; Angelucci et al., 2009).



Figure 5. Location of Mesolithic and Neolithic settlements mentioned in Chapter 4. 1. Abric de les Obagues de Ratera; 2. Abrigo de Valdecuevas; 3. Aizpea; 4. Ambrosio; 5. Arenaza; 6. Atxoste; 7. Bajondillo; 8. Balma d'Auferí; 9. Balma Guilanyà; 10. Balma Margineda; 11. Bañugues; 12. Barranc d'en Fabra; 13. Bats al Albuñol; 14. Bauma del Serrat del Pont; 15. Buraca Grande; 16. Bureco de Palo; 17. Cabecicos Negros; 18. Cabeço de Pez; 19. Cabezo de Lebrija; 20. Cabranosa; 21. Carrer de Reina Amàlia 31-33; 22. Caserna de Sant Pau; 23. Cerro de las Ánimas; 24. Cíavieja; 25. Cinc Ponts; 26. Conchero de Cañada Honda; 27. Coro Trasito; 28. Cova Colomera; 29. Cova de Can Sadurní; 30. Cova de la Font Major; 31. Cova del Filador; 32. Cova del Frare; 33. Cova del Parco; 34. Cova del Sardo; 35. Cova del Toll; 36. Cova del Vidre; 37. Cova Gran; 38. Coves del Fem; 39. Cueva de Chaves; 40. Cueva de El Mirón; 41. Cueva de El Toro; 42. Cueva de la Dehesilla; 43. Cueva de La Vaquera; 44. Cueva de las Ventanas; 45. Cueva de los Mármoles; 46. Cueva de Nerja; 47. Cueva del Nacimiento; 48. Cueva del Parralejo; 49. Cueva Pena d'Água; 50. El Carrer d'en Xammar; 51. El Cavet; 52. El Duende; 53. El Forcón; 54. El Llano de las Canteras; 55. Els Torcs; 56. Font del Ros; 57. Guixeres de Vilobí; 58. Herriko Barra; 59. Hoyo de la Mina; 60. La Carigüela; 61. La Dehesilla; 62. La Draga; 63. La Esperilla; 64. La Lámpara; 65. La Molaina; 66. La Peña de las Forcas II; 67. La Revilla; 68. La Vinya d'en Pau; 69. Las Catorce Fanegas; 70. Los Alamos; 71. Los Castillejos; 72. Mas d'en Boixos; 73. Montlleó; 74. O Bocelo; 75. Orris de la Torbera de Perafita I; 76. Oyambra; 77. Pareko Landa; 78. Peñón de Salobreña; 79. Pico Ramos; 80. Plansallosa; 81. Prazo; 82. Sota Palou; 83. Zájara; 84. Zatoya; 85. Cueva de Lumentxa; 86. Padrão; 87. Los Cascajos.

The seasonal circulation of herds was part of a small-scale intensive animal husbandry strategy livestock-oriented (focused on the consumption of ovicaprids). Similar management practices are observed in most of the Iberian territory: young animals were slaughtered for meat consumption and few adults were exploited intensively for secondary products (Rowley-Conwy, 2013) and transport activities related to farming (Saña, 2000). Intra-regional differences are

observed concerning the animals preferred. For instance, in the north-eastern region preferences are observed: some sites consumed more bovids (e.g., Carrer de Reina Amàlia, 31-33) while others ovicaprine animals were favoured (e.g., Cova del Frare) (Saña et al., 2015; Saña & Navarrete, 2016).

This was combined with agricultural practices. It is likely that they worked the land through a small-scale intensive mixed farming system (Antolín et al., 2015; Antolín & Jacomet, 2015), as found in other Neolithic European contexts (e.g., Antolín et al., 2014; Pérez-Jordà & Peña-Chocarro, 2013; Bogaard & Jones, 2007; Bogaard, 2004). The principal cultivated crops were the so-known 'eight founder crops' but there was a broad diversity of plant resources: einkorn, emmer, durum wheat, common, hulled barley, free-threshing barley, pea, lentil, fava bean, bitter vetch, common vetch, grass pea, flax and poppy (Revelles, 2017; Antolín et al., 2015; Peña-Chocarro, 1999, 2007; Peña-Chocarro et al., 2005; Pérez-Jordà & Peña-Chocarro, 2013; Pérez-Jordà et al., 2011; Rovira, 2007; Zapata & Alday, 2007; Zapata et al., 2004). Preferences over plant species varied depending on the region. For instance, in the Meseta with colder environments, the consumption of einkorn and emmer was more stable rather than in the north-eastern area (Peña-Chocarro et al., 2018: 376). Besides the nutritional value of crops, their seeds were also employed as by-products for fermenting and producing dough that could be fired in the hearth.

Foraging activities were also relevant in their diet, but their importance varied depending on the region. For example, in the northern coast, settlements specialised on the consumption of wild resources such as Herriko Barra were located near other settlements with a diversified diet like Arenaza (Pérez Díaz & Peña-Chocarro, 2015), or in the south also wild animals were consumed with higher intensity than domestic animals (Saña, 2013). That does not imply that domestic resources were not relevant, but it was a mosaic-like system with different intensities and preferences, but with general patterns.

Hunting activities were generally reduced to a relative frequency of 30% at peninsular level (Tarifa-Mateo et al., 2023; Saña, 2013; Saña et al., 2020) although exceptions are observed in the northern and southern coast where wild animals represented between the 70 and 99% of faunal remains (Altuna, 1980; Mariezkurrena & Altuna, 1995; Saña, 2013). Generally, wild boar and deer were the only wild species that maintained their overall importance in diet during the early Neolithic (Saña et al., 2020; García-Martínez de Lagrán, 2018). Other species were consumed such as auroch, wild goat, Iberian wild goat, red fox, rabbit, or European pond turtle. Additionally, many different small mammals (e.g., fox, wildcat, or lynx) and birds (e.g., cormorant, woodcock, etc.) were also hunted. Another evidence of the continuity of hunting practices are the presence of projectiles, arches, and arrowheads in settlements. The skin of both

domestic and wild animals was also be used to make recipients for cooking (additional to ceramic containers) with stones inside them, or the bones were used to make soups, other foodstuffs and even tools out of them.

Gathering continued playing a major role in the diet of agropastoral groups. Despite being underrepresented in the archaeological record when they were not roasted (Oms et al., 2018: 392; Antolín & Jacomet, 2015), in some sites like Coro Trasito, a wide range of different wild species have been recovered including hazelnut, acorn, rose, blackberry, red elderberry, grape, wild cherry, juniper, bog pine (Clemente-Conte et al., 2016). Leaves, aromatic and medicinal plants were also probably consumed (Antolín & Saña, 2022). Besides their nutritional value, most wild plants were used as fuel (i.e., acorns, pine, fungi), to manufacture tools (i.e., red elderberry, *taxus baccata*) (Piqué et al., 2015, 2020), and some for their medicinal value (Antolín & Jacomet, 2015: 23).

Like gathering, fishing is a type of subsistence that has rarely and discontinuously been detected due to problems of remaining preservation and recovery (Clemente-Conte et al., 2020). Recently, the question of whether fishing played a relevant role in the Neolithic package has been addressed and it seems that fish and shellfish consumption was reduced over this period (Salazar-García et al., 2017, 2018) and it only had a regional and local continuity (Mazzucco & Gibaja, 2018; Edo et al., 2022) but not throughout the peninsula (Blanco-Lapaz & Vergès, 2016). Malacological remains and shells were also used as raw materials to make tools and ornaments (Clemente-Conte & Orozco, 2012; Clemente-Conte, 2019).

For producing and processing food, various technologies were used. For processing plant resources were employed both lithic and wooden material. It is believed that lithic tools were used in non-woody plants and perhaps also to separate plant ears and roots from the rest of the plant (Gibaja, 2002; Clemente-Conte & Gibaja, 1998). Although these separated parts were not consumed, they were probably used to build structures, manufacture bakery, cordage, or clothes, as animal feeding or to temper ceramic containers. The most representative wooden tools were handles of sickles and adzes, digging sticks, combs, spatulas, ladles, bows, vessels, beaters, and projectiles (Revelles, 2017: 440; Bosch et al., 2006; Palomo et al., 2013). To reap, remove the animal's flesh and cut and manipulate animal skin it was preferred laminated lithic tools while to scrape wood or skin was more common to use stone chips (Palomo & Gibaja, 2001: 176). The tools used for conducting agricultural activities are the ones that have been more extensively studied using experimental archaeology and there are studies that explore the specific use of every tool. Conversely, the tools required for other activities are less investigated or they were the same than the ones used in farming. **Table 3** describes the principal tools for processing agropastoral resources.

Activity	Phase	Activities	Tools	Observations
Agriculture	Sown	Soil preparation	Digging sticks, beam, shovel	Demonstrates that cultivation was done individually or by few individuals
		Legume sowing	Digging sticks cone-edged	
		Wheat sowing	Digging sticks bevelled-edged	
		Sowing and transport	Bovine animals	
		Weeds removal	Digging sticks, beam, shovel	Demonstrates a limited prior soil preparation and cultivation close to forests and wetlands Probably stalks were removed by 12cm from the ground
	Reap	High-stalk removal	Reaper, sickle, blade	
		First winnow		For removing root remains
	Thresh	Wheat threshing	Bovine animals	It would indicate a significantly high production volume
	Winnow	Second winnow	Bovine animals	For removing micro remains
	Sieve	Microscopic separation	Sieve	No sieve has been recovered but the presence of extremely clean grains would indicate this process
	Wheat cleaning Storage	Washing and	Hearth	
		drying Short-term	Baskets, ceramic containers	
		Long-term	Pits, aerial structures	
	Wheat processing	Grain roasting	Ceramic or skin containers and hearth	
		Flour	Grinding stones	
Animal husbandry	Cut flesh		Laminated tools	
	Remove skin		Stone chips	
Hunting and fishing			Bow, arrow, projectile point, spear, hook	
Food			Mixer, ladle, ceramic and textile	
processing			container, spoon, spatula, stirrer	
Textile production			Comb, spindle-like needle, bone awl	
Building			Adze handle, wedge, shovel	

Table 3. Description of the tools for conducting the different socioeconomic activities present in early agropastoralsettlements. This table has been developed based on (López-Bultó et al., 2020; Terradas et al., 2017; Piqué et al.,2015) studies.

Storage was essential to keep some seeds for the next crop season and some cereal surplus from the last production and use them for latter exchange, reciprocity relationships maintenance or bad harvests prevention. Recent studies claim that early farmers produced intentionally surpluses and generally, that would not be more than the 20% of the production (Pérez-Jordà et al., 2011; Oms et al., 2018: 392) as their capacity would have been around 500 litres, insufficient for maintaining a household (Prats et al., 2020). Additionally, meat and fish could have also been preserved by employing methods

of fermentation, smoking or salt. Pits located near households were the most common structure to store foodstuff as seen in sites like Font del Ros, Caserna de Sant Pau, El Cavet or El Carrer d'en Xammar, for example. Once they had accomplished their use and were empty, they were refilled with garbage before their abandonment. While pits preserved in long-term, baskets made with perishable materials like cordage or ceramic containers were used for short-term storage. Aerial structures recovered in La Draga could have also been employed for long-term storage (Bosch et al., 2000: 75-78).

3.3. Model Overview

As summarised in Chapter 1, the SES approach supports the co-evolutionary relationship between the environment and social activities. To model past social activities and dynamics we need to consider the niche in which these actions took place and how societies modified their niche to meet their needs. Some of these actions are preserved in the record. For example, there is evidence of woodland cleaning, probably using fire (Kaal et al., 2008; Riera et al., 2004), for clearing out the territory to cultivate and graze (Mazzuco et al., 2015; Gassiot et al., 2012a; Gassiot et al., 2012b). For example, in La Draga site the earliest presence of occupation (c. 7,2 ka cal. BP) is related to a decrease of *Quercus* values (Revelles et al., 2016; Pérez-Obiol & Julià, 1994) and lakeshore peat deposits (Revelles et al., 2015; Revelles, 2017). Similarly, in the Pyrenees, the first evidence of cereal seeds is related to recurrent fires of woodland (Uría, 2013).

Another example of adaptative strategies of early agropastoral groups is found in the very fact that they located in a wide range of different niches. As seen in the previous section, communities lived in caves, rock shelters, open-air settlements located in lowlands, highlands, coastline, *inter alia*. They did not select specific places with the best conditions for practising agriculture and animal husbandry. With the current archaeological record, it is even questionable that given the possibility to select between a more optimal location and another less preferable for practising agropastoralism, they would have selected the most 'optimal' (defined by our modern standards: high soil net productivity, low slope, lowlands, etc.). If groups chose where to locate according to optimal criteria for exploiting resources, then we will find settlements where inhabitants consumed foraging resources and other settlement with only domesticated resources.

Early agropastoral groups had a mixed economy, consuming foraging resources in addition to plant and domestic animals. Also, their diet was not static, resources were consumed in different intensities depending on the settlement, the region, but also probably the period. However, this dynamism is difficult to identify in the archaeological record. As previously mentioned, some types of plants and animals were consumed with higher intensity, denoting a specialisation of some crops and intensification of foraging resources. The number of studies arguing the mobility of early agropastoral groups especially in mountain regions has also exponentially increased in the last years. Despite it is still do not know exactly the nature of mobility activities, it is evidenced that they moved into other locations. Movement of people, movement of resources, interactions among people inter- and intrasettlement are very difficult to identify in the archaeological record and they probably played a crucial role in the long-term survival of early agropastoral groups.

Many Mesolithic settlements continued being occupied by Neolithic groups, who introduced agropastoralism to these places. Therefore, it does not seem that the environment restricted subsistence strategies. That does not imply that the environment was not relevant for agropastoral communities. To explore to which point environmental characteristics restrict socioeconomic strategies, this study aims to quantify the correlation among variables of social organisation (type of settlement, number of inhabitants, relationship among population), socioeconomic strategies (considering food consumed but also activities such as migration, transhumance, or exchange), and landscape characteristics (environmental and topographical characteristics of settlements).

To achieve this objective, we have employed data collected from ethnoarchaeological societies. Ethnoarchaeology has a long tradition in archaeology (David & Kramer, 2001; Ruibal, 2003; Kleindienst & Watson, 1956; Thomson, 1939; Trigger, 1989). Defined as a bridge between the archaeological record which is fragmented and static, and the dynamism and change that can be observed in ethnographic societies (Binford, 1983).

Ethnoarchaeology has often been used in the past to establish general laws of behaviour and validate archaeological hypotheses. This perspective is questionable. It is difficult to sustain the concept of 'general laws' as behaviour depends on many factors which can be particular of a specific context and, therefore, not applicable to other contexts. What we can do is to establish and measuring what behaviours are more 'probable' by considering all of them. Another aspect to consider is that the interpretation of the archaeological context is a result of the knowledge of the researchers, their beliefs, education, etc. It cannot be validated because we will never find a 'single reason' to explain the context. Different activities can produce the same result, and consequently, the maximum aspiration that we can have as archaeologists is to define which activity has the highest probability. When we work with ethnoarchaeology, we have the additional concern of analogy, we cannot aim to infer the knowledge

obtained by investigating modern human groups to explain how people lived in the Neolithic. This is an inherent gap.

Ethnoarchaeology can be used to generate models and hypotheses to explore through the archaeological record, but not for validation. Similar to simulation models (Chapter 1), they allow us to explore aspects that are not observable in the archaeological record such as preferences, dynamics, social relationships. It can be used to suggest ideas but not to corroborate them. We have chosen this type of data because we wanted to investigate variables that they are almost unfeasible to have for prehistoric settlements, especially in Iberia, where research of this period is unequally distributed throughout the peninsula.

To explore the dataset, we have developed a Bayesian networks model to quantify the correlation among variables and to predict the most probable types of socioeconomic variables in specific socio-natural contexts.

3.4. Research Papers

The model is designed and applied in the following publication works (3.4.1. and 3.4.2.).

3.4.1. **Palacios, O.**, Barceló, J.A., & Delgado, R. (2022). Exploring the role of ecology and social organisation in agropastoral societies: A Bayesian network approach. *Plos One*, *17*(10), e0276088. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088

Exploring the role of ecology and social organisation in agropastoral societies: A Bayesian network approach

Ecology and social organisation in agropastoral societies through Bayesian network

Olga Palacios * ¶, Juan Antonio Barceló ¶, Rosario Delgado 2 ¶

Department of Prehistory, Laboratory of Quantitative Archaeology, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Cerdanyola del Vallès, Barcelona, Spain

² Department of Mathematics, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Cerdanyola del Vallès, Barcelona, Spain

* Corresponding author:

E-mail: <u>olga.palacios@uab.cat</u> (OP)

¶ Authors have contributed equally to this work

Abstract

The present contribution focuses on investigating the interaction of people and environment in small-scale farming societies. Our study is centred on the particular way settlement location constraints economic strategy when technology is limited, and social division of work is not fully developed. Our intention is to investigate prehistoric socioeconomic organisation when farming began in the Old World along the Levant shores of Iberian Peninsula, the Neolithic phenomenon. We approach this object extracting relevant information from a big set of ethnographic and ethnoarchaeological cases using Machine Learning methods. This paper explores the use of Bayesian networks as explanatory models of the independent variables –the environment- and dependent variables –social decisions-, and also as predictive models. The study highlights how subsistence strategies are modified by ecological and topographical variables of the settlement location and their relationship with social organisation. It also establishes the role of Bayesian networks as a suitable supervised Machine Learning methodology for investigating socio-ecological systems, introducing their use to build useful data-driven models to address relevant archaeological and anthropological questions.

Keywords: small-scale farming societies, Archaeology, Machine Learning, Bayesian networks, socioecological systems

Introduction

A socio-ecological system can be described as a structure defined by the interaction among social behaviours (e.g., subsistence strategies and social organisation) and ecological features of the location where social action took place (temperature, pluviometry, topography, soil features, etc.) [1]. This approach has been implemented in Archaeology and Anthropology among other Social Sciences to explore questions concerning how modern and ancient societies –even prehistoric- lived in the past and in the present and managed their environmental resources. Socio-Ecological System theory can be considered as a response to the limitations of traditional research approaches that addressed social modelling from reductionist assumptions [2]. From this perspective, past communities are not investigated in isolation anymore but considering the environmental and ecological characteristics that surrounded them and ultimately resulted from their interaction. Thus, the role of human agency for modifying and transforming the environment is recognised like the importance of the landscape to define human activities.

The debate concerning the relationship and interaction of early agropastoral communities with the environment has a long trajectory in archaeology (some examples include [3–6]). To address this topic, Niche Construction Theory has gained relevance in the last decades to study the plant and animal domestication process [7–11]. In this line, Smith argued in 2011 that early Neolithic communities were small-scale farming communities shared a similar behaviour: most of them had well-defined resource catchment/s area/s; they knew their ecosystem well and they constantly adapted to their own caused environmental modification [7]. That would have resulted in an increase in the probability of survival at those. However, probably not all the intervening factors (i.e., resource availability, prior knowledge, size of catchment area) had the same impact when early farming communities decided of what foodstuff was the best for their current situation. In fact, it was probably different for different communities, as additional particular variables may have been relevant given local conditions and circumstances.

Therefore, past communities constructed their niche by socially modifying their environmental conditions. There are numerous examples of prehistoric activities modifying the landscape with water [12] or fire to practice slash-and-burn agricultural method [13,14] or vegetation clearance for procuring pastures nearby [15]. These behaviours and cultural processes [16], not only modified the genetics of the species found in the niches (a clear example of that is the animals and plants genetic change with domestication), but also the way people lived, their households, their types of settlements, their relationship, etc. It was a reciprocal evolutionary process.

In this paper, we are interested in studying how prehistoric small-scale food producers [7] took social and economic decisions –where to settle- from their own observation of climatic and ecological features around them, the influence of the environment on their survival expectations and their knowledge of the possible consequences of their activity on that environment. We will focus our study
on the maintenance of agropastoralism lifestyle of small-scale farming communities rather than investigating the origins of agriculture in itself. Our research should be considered as a new argument within the current trend of studies towards how early agropastoral economies were configured [17–19]. Beyond exploring a particular historical case, Old World Neolithic, for instance, we are interested in global dynamics, that could be of interest to understand different settlement patterns in different parts of the world in different chronologies. We would like to identify if there was some form of regularity or communality in potential socioeconomic behaviours of small-scale agropastoral communities that could be more likely to be present in some landscapes rather than in others. The goal is then to contribute to the understanding of eco-evolutionary relationship between the environment and people in the Past and in the Present, when industrialisation and market relationships are absent. To achieve this objective, we are asking two fundamental research questions:

Q1) Do ecological features of settlement location and/or social organisation constrained the type and intensity of subsistence strategies?

Q2) Do ecological features of settlement location and/or the type and intensity of subsistence strategies constrained social organisation?

Our research makes emphasis on the importance of the landscape to understand economic dynamics in communities with simple social organisation and low efficient technologies. However, we understand that the impact of topographical, ecological and climatic factors imply the study of multiple statistically causal (direct) and non-causal (indirect) links between the landscape -independent variablesand the human group -dependent variables- [20,21]. We have based our investigation on standard factors, already present in prior theories about small-scale farming communities through history (S1 Table). Among the landscape factors retained for analysis, we can mention elevation, slope, temperature variation, precipitation variation, natural soil productivity depending on soil composition, etc. Social decisions can be grouped into three main topics: 1) the strategy adopted to acquire subsistence (agriculture, animal husbandry, hunting, gathering, fishing); 2) features of the social organisation (community size, kind of settlement, local group organisation, household organisation) and 3) social decisions that can be adopted when survival is at risk (for example, in times of food scarcity) (Table 1). For instance, sometimes a human community can decide an economic strategy towards crop specialisation to compensate for diminishing marginal returns [22,23], or, alternatively, it can decide a diversification strategy for the same reason [24,25]. Exchange in goods and/or food can increase subsistence acquisition [26]; people displacement -migration- can be decided to better share existing resources [22,27,28], etc.

INDEPENDENT VARIABLES	DEPENDENT VARIABLI	2S	
Ecology	Subsistence strategies	Social Organisation	Social decisions
Landscape	Agriculture	Community size	None
Distance to coast	Animal husband	y Settlement types	Resource diversification
Elevation	Hunting	Community organisation	Crop specialisation
Slope	Gathering	Household organisation	Foraging intensification
Annual mean temperature	Fishing		Storage
CV Annual temperature			Transhumance
Monthly mean Precipitation			Temporal / Permanent
CV Annual precipitation			migration
Monthly primary net soil			Exchange in-/out-settlement
productivity			Reciprocity for prestige
CV Primary net soil			
productivity			

Table 1. Summary of relevant variables to consider for modelling socio-ecological systems.

In this paper, we show how we can define hypothetically probabilistic relationships between landscape factors and different social decisional. That is to say, we analyse in which way the high elevation of a settlement area may constraint the adoption of resource diversification or crop specialisation; whether the role of annual precipitation of the region to be settled has any effect on the size for the human group that finally settled there.

The amount of influence and effect a variable has on any other can be expressed in probabilistic terms. We are looking for regularities expressed probabilistically to be able to predict and explain ethnological/archaeological observations. For instance, imagine we have documented a Neolithic settlement not far from a source of water, on the plain, in a region of low temperature annual variation (estimated from a paleo temperature record), and where grassland was the dominant vegetation. Built on that observation, we would like to predict that this community practised at that time an agriculture based on resource diversification without crop specialisation and a high level of external exchange. To formulate those predictions, we need to know the probability with which values of different variables may appear together. A usual source of error in this kind of studies lies on the assumption that input variables -climatic and ecological features of settlement location- are independent among them, and that all of them have a similar impact determining the output -the social decision. On the contrary, features like water, insolation, temperature, natural soil productivity, etc. are interrelated in a complex and nonlinear way with feedback across variables defining the social behaviour [29].

The necessary probabilistic thresholds can be defined in terms of inductive regularities extracted from an exhaustive data set of well-known and described cross-cultural case studies [30–35], provided the database is big enough and it resumes the original social and historical variability. The application of trans-historic and cross-cultural data is particularly employed to evaluate hypotheses about Prehistory since the validation of social hypotheses about the past is often challenging [36,37]. Generalising from a rationally built set of particular cases is the most usual way to interpret human behaviour [38,39]. By learning what is common in living societies, we can mitigate the lack of this type of knowledge in the archaeological record.

The validity of ethnographic analogy has been strongly debated [40–42] because it employs the information of modern societies to interpret a possibly imagined past. Despite its inherent subjectivity, this kind of inverse reasoning approach can aid our interpretation of the archaeological record by providing information about what sort of behaviours could have been practised in the past. To measure the most probable behaviours, we need to collect the higher number of cases as possible to extract meaningful regularities to consider all the potential underlying variations of social decisions. This issue has been identified by many authors, and it constitutes the basis for modern ethnoarchaeological studies [21,43–45] which, again, does not attempt to draw direct analogies from the present to the past, but explore possible behaviours that may have been practiced in the past. In our case, to explore the probable communalities in small-scale communities, similar to those that may have existed in Prehistory, we have limited the learning data set to farming communities settled in not heavily transformed landscapes, practicing a mixed farming economy with low-efficiency technology and small quantities of human work [17,46–48]. This is the classical assumption of Prehistoric Neolithic Economies [3,49–51].

Among the many possible statistical and computational methods to compute similarity relationships and communalities among particular ethnographic cases, we have decided to use Machine Learning methods since they allow building models based on empirical data without prior assumptions. The resulting model is objective and captures the relationships between the variables in the collected data, without external intervention. Since the model is built from the dataset autonomously, it will be automatically relearned from successive data updates (whence the terminology "machine learning"). In this, it differs from a classical statistical model, which only captures the information of the moment and if new data is added to the dataset, the model is not automatically updated accordingly, but rather must be redesigned from scratch.

Many different Machine Learning methods have been employed to build socio-ecological systems, centred on understanding how people managed their environment [18,19,33,52]. Notwithstanding, the number of archaeological studies that use the Machine Learning methodology is still a minority compared to those that use other quantitative and/or qualitative methods. An additional problem is that many times the resulting model is just a "black box", suitable for some predictive tasks, but without explanatory capabilities, since the way the input is related to the output is not visible to the user.

To alleviate this deficiency, in this paper, we propose the use of *Bayesian networks* (BNs), which are a kind of supervised algorithm [53]. This method has only been previously applied in other research studies for designing a conceptual model [54,55] but not as the machine learning method that it really is (at least that the authors are aware of). Other studies that have explored past socio-ecological systems from the machine learning approach have employed other algorithms, such as logistic regression [56], deep learning [57], support vector machine [19], random forest [58] or combined some of these algorithms [18,59].

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows: the Materials and Methods section deals with the data and the method employed in the study, specifying the data collection process and the model building and implementation. In the Results section, the results obtained are presented and discussed in the Discussion section. Finally, the article summarises the most relevant insights of the study in the Conclusions section.

Materials and Methods

Data collection, cleaning, and pre-processing

To predict among the different possible ways small-scale human groups may have decided where to settle, we have investigated a trans-historical and cross-cultural dataset including 173 case studies collected from two open access repositories: D-PLACE [60] and The Human Relations Area Files (eHRAF) [61] (S2 Dataset). We have selected in both repositories cases for which detailed information for our list of variables existed and could be checked in the literature. Most data come from D-PLACE in first instance, and the Human Relations Area Files were consulted to check the information by reviewing the monographs of each community (S3 Dataset). Cases were deleted in case of inconsistency between these two repositories. Ethnographical cases were selected according to two criteria: small-scale and farming societies. That means, human groups -settlements- of less than 1000 inhabitants, and societies acquiring more than 50% of their subsistence from farming strategy: agricultural, and animal husbandry, with other additional resources from fishing, foraging, and hunting. In so doing, we have tried to minimise analogical bias by focusing our research on the most similar cases to the assumed target: Early Neolithic small settlements, where farming has been empirically established -domesticated plants and animals-, although there is additional archaeological evidence of alternative economic strategies. The resulting data set may be considered relatively small. It is however very coherent, and the underlying variation is meaningful and clearly related with the different ways these kind of societies exploited their hinterland. We have privileged the quality and reliability of the sample rather than the number and exhaustivity, provided social variation is not affected by the selection process.

Values for a total of 30 variables have been carefully recorded for each ethnographic case, based on the preliminary selection of independent and dependent variables (summarised in **Table 2**, see S4 Table for more detailed information). The quality of the detailed information in original sources is inconstant, and therefore we have standardised descriptions. Because usual Bayesian Networks link categorical variables, we have discretised quantitative values into uniform bins.

Information	Variable	Values after discretisation	^r Variability range before discretization
Environmental characteristics	Landscape	Forest Grassland	Tropical & Subtropical Dry Broadleaf Forests; Tropical & Subtropical Moist Broadleaf Forests; Tropical & Subtropical Coniferous Forests; Temperate Broadleaf & Mixed Forests; Temperate Conifer Forests; Boreal Forests/Taiga; Mediterranean Forests, Woodlands & Scrub Tropical & Subtropical Grasslands; Temperate Grasslands; Flooded Grasslands & Savannas; Montane Grasslands & Shrublands
		Aquatic	Ice; Inland water
		Tundra	
		Desert	Savannas & Shrublands; Deserts & Xeric Shrublands
	Distance to coast (km)	short distance	< 10
		medium distance	10 - 50
		long distance	>50
	Elevation (m)	low	< 300
		medium	300 - 1000
		high	>1000
	Slope (°)	low	< 0.75
		medium	0.75 – 2.5
		high	>2.5
	Annual mean temperature (°C/month)	low	< 5
		medium	5 - 20
		high	> 20
	Coefficient of variation temperature (°C/month)	low	< 0.05
		medium	0.05 - 0.15
		high	> 0.15
	Monthly mean precipitation	low	<95000
	(ml/m2/month)	medium	95000 - 130000
		high	>130000
	Coefficient of variation	low	<0.06
	precipitation (ml/m2/month)	medium	0.06-0.08
		high	>0.08
		low	< 1

	Monthly mean net primary production $(qC/m2/month)$	medium	1 - 3
	production (gC/m2/month)	high	>3
	Coefficient of variation net	low	<0.03
	(gC/m2/month)	medium	0.03-0.05
		high	>0.05
Subsistence	Hunting (%)	None	0-5
strategies		<25	6-15; 16-25
		>=25	26-35; 36-45; 46-55; 56-65; 66-75; 76-85; 86-100
	Gathering (%)	None	0-5
		<25	6-15; 16-25
		>=25	26-35; 36-45; 46-55; 56-65; 66-75; 76-85; 86-100
	Animal husbandry (%)	None	0-5
		<25	6-15; 16-25
		>=25	26-35; 36-45; 46-55; 56-65; 66-75; 76-85; 86-100
	Fishing (%)	None	0-5
		<25	6-15; 16-25
		>=25	26-35; 36-45; 46-55; 56-65; 66-75; 76-85; 86-100
	Agriculture (%)	None	0-5
		<55	6-15; 16-25; 26-35; 36-45; 46-55
		>=55	56-65; 66-75; 76-85; 86-100
Social organisation	Community size	<200	<50; 50-99; 100-199
		>=200	200-399; >400
	Settlement types	Camp	
		Homesteads	
		Hamlet	
		Village	
	Community organisation	NA	
		Clan communities	
		No exogamous clans	
	Household organisation	Small extended	
		Large Extended	
		Nuclear	
Social decisions	None	Yes/No	
	Resource diversification	Yes/No	
	Crop specialisation	Yes/No	
	Foraging resources intensification	Yes/No	
	Storage	Yes/No	
	Transhumance	Yes/No	
	Temporal migration	Yes/No	
	Permanent migration	Yes/No	

Exchange out-settlement	Yes/No
Exchange in-settlement	Yes/No
Reciprocity	Yes/No

Table 2. Qualitative variables and their categorical values investigated in this research. It contains the 30 variables and their values. Ecological characteristics of settlement location and its catchment area are defined in nominal scales using integrative categories.

In Machine Learning, training sets are usually huge, often in the category of Big Data. Nothing similar exists in the social domain, where the number of individual cases to be considered for induction and generalisation is by definition reduced. The advantage is coherence of the data set and the possibilities of reducing extrinsic variation. It implies, however, the need of grouping attributes to avoid the risk of over-particularisation.

The way we have integrated some classical environmental characteristics into global categories may seem unclassical, different from what has been applied in other studies. For instance, the category "Forest" in the qualitative variable "Landscape" integrates in the same category environmental settings such as tropical and subtropical dry broadleaf forests, boreal and taiga forest. Nevertheless, differentiating among types of "Forests" is still possible in our model given other variables in the dataset refer to climatic aspects like temperature and precipitation, both intensity and annual variation. Obviously, when grouping apparently different values into global categories we may lose information that could be relevant for characterising the individual characteristics of local ecological niches. It should be taken into account that we are interested in maximising global processes well beyond the local specificities. Given that we have restricted the number of cases for the reinforcement of data reliability, we have been also obliged to reduce the impact of individual details, that make reference to very local aspects. In so doing, we allow the calculation of potential accurate predictions, although we lose something in their *precision*. That is, we increase the possibility of finding global processes that may have acted in different contexts and historical scenarios, although such global processes may have had some local differences. Both accuracy and precision reflect how close a prediction is to an actual observation, but accuracy reflects how close a predicted value is to a known or observed value, while precision reflects how reproducible predictions are, even if they are far from the observed value at some particular circumstance.

This approach is necessary for any type of generalisation model. It applies in particular to Bayesian networks, for whose construction we have to estimate from the dataset the probability distribution of each variable conditioned to the possible values of its parents. Therefore, the more different categories the variables have, the more parameters we will have to estimate, for which we would need a dataset with many more cases than the one that we currently have. Grouping categories and discretizing variables that were quantitative in origin has been carried out using the R software [62]: the function **discretize** of the *arules* R package [63]. Missing values have handled by deleting those variables in which they were very abundant, and some redundant variables were also eliminated. For this, the function **vis_miss** from the *visdat* R package [64] and **gg_miss_var** from the *naniar* R package [65] have been used.

Bayesian networks

Bayesian Networks are probabilistic graphical models representing the relationships among variables affecting a phenomenon, which can be used for probabilistic inference. For a set of random variables $V = \{X_1, ..., X_n\}$, that we assume to be discrete or categorical, a standard BN is a model that represents their joint probability distribution *P*, whose graphical part is a *directed acyclic graph* **G**. The nodes of **G** represent the random variables and the directed arcs among the nodes represent the conditional dependencies (not necessarily causal), which are governed by the *Markov condition*, explained below.

It is said that node A is a *parent* of node B (and reciprocally, that B is a *child* of A) if there is a directed arc in **G** from A to B. We denote by PA(B) the set of parents of B (it is the empty set if B has no parents, and we say that it is a "root" node). If there is a "path" from node A to node B, that is, a concatenation of directed arcs connecting them, we say that B is a *descendant* of A. *Markov condition* can be expressed as follows: "each variable in V is conditionally independent of any of its non-descendants conditioning to the state of all its parents". Moreover, P can be expressed as the product of the conditional distributions of all nodes given the values of their parents, whenever these conditional distributions exist. This is what is known as **chain rule**, formally expressed as follows (1):

$$P(X_1 = x_1, \dots, X_n = x_n) = \prod_{i=1}^n P(X_i = x_i / PA(X_i))$$
(1)

for all the possible values of the variables $X_1, ..., X_n$ [66]. The chain rule allows to obtain the joint distribution of the variables from the conditional probability table (CPT) of each node conditioned to its parents in **G**, and from the marginal distribution of the root nodes. The probability values of these conditional and marginal distributions are the parameters of the BN to be learned from data, jointly with the structure **G**.

We adopt the *hill climbing greedy search-and-score* structure learning algorithm to learn **G** [53,66]. This algorithm explores the space of the directed acyclic graphs by single-arc addition, removal, and reversals, to find the structure that maximizes the score function. We will consider two different score functions: *Bayesian Information Criterion* (BIC) [67], and *Akaike Information Criterion* (AIC) [68], both based on the logarithm of the likelihood function but with a term that penalizes for complexity.

Since AIC penalizes less, using this score leads to learned Bayesian networks with more connected structure **G**. The parameters are estimated by using the *Maximum Likelihood Estimation* (MLE) method, as usual in statistics.

Once the predictive model is learned from the data, it can be used to make inferences. Given the evidence corresponding to the values of some of the variables (*input*), a value can be predicted for another of the variables we are interested in (*output*), which will be the most probable value conditioning to the evidence, following the *Maximum A Posteriori* (MAP) criterion. Let us show it with an example of the BN of **Figure 1**, where the input variables are **Agriculture** an **Elevation** and the output (or class) variable is **Type of settlement**, and each of them have different values: Agriculture has three values (Low, Medium, High); Elevation also has three values (Low, Medium, High); and Type of settlement has four values (Camp, Homesteads, Hamlet, Village). For the input variables we have the CPTs (conditioning to their parent in **G**, which is **Type of settlement**), and for **Type of settlement**, which is a "root" node, we have the table of the marginal distribution.



Figure 1. Example of a BN to predict the type of settlement. Type of settlement (output, orange), agriculture and elevation (inputs, green).

If the evidence is that **Agriculture** = High and **Elevation** = Low, which is the prediction given by the model (BN) for the class variable **Type of settlement**? We must compute

$$P(\text{Settlement} = \text{Village/Agriculture} = \text{High, Elevation} = \text{Low})$$
$$= \frac{P(\text{Settlement} = \text{Village, Agriculture} = \text{High, Elevation} = \text{Low})}{P(\text{Agriculture} = \text{High, Elevation} = \text{Low})}$$
(2)

For the numerator, by using the chain rule:

P(Settlement = Village, Agriculture = High, Elevation = Low)

= *P*(Agriculture = High/ Settlement = Village) *P*(Elevation

- = Low/ Settlement = Village) *P*(Settlement = Village)
- $= 0.5 \times 0.3 \times 0.5 = 0.075$

And in the denominator, we also use the chain rule with the four summands (one for each value of Type of settlement):

P(Agriculture = High, Elevation = Low)

- = P(Agriculture = High, Elevation = Low, Settlement
- = Village)
- + P(Agriculture = High, Elevation = Low, Settlement
- = Hamlet)
- + P(Agriculture = High, Elevation = Low, Settlement
- = Homesteads)
- + P(Agriculture = High, Elevation = Low, Settlement
- = Camp)
- $= 0.5 \times 0.3 \times 0.5 + 0.4 \times 0.2 \times 0.1 + 0.2 \times 0.1 \times 0.2 + 0.5 \times 0.6 \times 0.2$
- = 0.075 + 0.008 + 0.004 + 0.06 = 0.147

Then, by replacing in (2) we obtain the probability of Type of settlement = Village conditioned to the evidence that Agriculture = High and Elevation = Low

P(Settlement = **Village**/Agriculture = High, Elevation = Low)

$$=\frac{0.075}{0.147}\cong 0.5102$$

And analogously with the other values of Type of settlement,

P(Settlement = **Hamlet** /Agriculture = High, Elevation = Low)

$$=\frac{0.008}{0.147}\cong 0.0544$$

P(Settlement = **Homesteads** /Agriculture = High, Elevation = Low)

$$=\frac{0.004}{0.147}\cong 0.0272$$

P(Settlement = **Camp** /Agriculture = High, Elevation = Low)

$$=\frac{0.06}{0.147}\cong 0.4082$$

Since the probability of **Type of settlement** = Village conditioning to the evidence is the maximum of the four probabilities, by the MAP criterium the prediction for **Type of settlement** provided by the BN, given the evidence, is Village, with a *confidence level* of 0.5102.

We have selected the method of Bayesian networks for this study because of its advantages over other machine learning methods:

- i. BNs are "white boxes", that is, they are interpretable models that can be explained in understandable terms and that transparently describe the relationships and patterns between the variables involved, clearly show how predictions are obtained and what are the influential variables, and help generate insights and perspectives [69–71].
- ii. Their character of graphic models that is given by the *directed acyclic graph*, together with the *Markov condition* and the *Chain rule*, which allows to obtain the joint probability distribution of the variables of the model (and, therefore, any other probability) from the conditional probabilities of each node to its parents [72], make these probabilistic models a versatile, useful, and unique methodology in the current landscape of ML models.

This methodology is gaining popularity in very different fields of application for the same reasons. Just to mention a few examples, they have been used in public health evaluation [73], for risk assessment with emerging diseases [74], for medical diagnosis [75], in the Intensive Care Unit to predict survival probabilities [76] and for the criminal profile of forest arsonists [77]. Although some previous studies have already applied BNs to address archaeological questions , they have generally relied on "expert knowledge" rather than "data knowledge", which is our approach. **Figure 2** represents the three discussed approaches to learning BNs: classical statistics, expert-based ML and data-driven ML, from left to right.



Figure 2. Different general approaches for building Bayesian networks.

As we can see in Fig 2, BNs can be built from expert knowledge, which implies that the researcher that designs the model does form the basis of her/his prior background, expertise, approach, etc. Conversely, BN can be data-driven and that means that the model is learned from the dataset and is relearned every time that new data is available.

Implementation

Exploratory Data Analysis

Our analysis starts studying all potential binary pairings among all variables. We define the very idea of "relationship" in terms of statistical association, and we measure it in terms of association strength in a contingency table through Cramer's V test [83] (**CramerV** function of the *DescTools* R package [84]). In this way, we offer a preliminary scanning of the parametric space to individualise those statistical relationships between ecological features and social decisions that appear most promising, i.e., that may have the greatest predictive and/or explanatory power to understand how features of settlement location may have influenced social decisions and economic strategies, and vice versa (S5 Table). Additionally, we have represented graphically the joint distribution of those pairs of variables that we have found a large association using the **balloonplot** function of the R *gplots* package [85].

With these functions, we have rigorously tested that not all variables are necessarily related to others, nor they have the same predictive/explanatory strength. In fact, only the 3% of the binary associations explored (n=226) had a relevant statistical strength, while 21% did not show any traces of potential explanatory value. Small strength values were the most common (57%). For instance, in our dataset, the size of the community appears to be statistically not binary related with most ecological factors, such as distance to coast, precipitation, etc., nor to social strategies like fishing or not fishing. Similarly, other variables regarding social organisation, like community and domestic organisation, are also not binary related to settlement area factors including slope and intensity of annual precipitation.

Conversely, we have also identified relevant statistical binary associations with high explanatory values (**Figure 3**). For example, the type of settlement is binary related to variations in soil net primary productivity: we can observe that bigger settlements appear located in areas where soil net primary productivity can have medium or high values, but fast never low values. On the contrary, small hamlets and homesteads settlements favour locations with low variability in soil net productivity. Another example is the relationship between animal husbandry and location, which suggests that communities decide to intensify husbandry in areas of relatively high elevation, where agriculture can be less successful.

Annual CV Net Primary productivity	low	medium	high
Camp	•	•	
Homesteads			
Hamlet		•	
Village			

Association between the type of settlement and the CV annual productivity

Association strength: Large (CramerV= 0.39011817)



Association between the intensity of animal husbandry and the elevation

Association strength: Large (CramerV= 0.03037665)

Figure 3. Some examples of binary associations found in the exploratory data analysis.

Model design

The advantages of BN methods allow asking two fundamental questions to be approached inductively and probabilistically.

Q1) Do ecological features of settlement location and/or social organisation constrained the type and intensity of subsistence strategies? We have explored this question by analysing the probabilities of two competing hypothesis:

- Ecological factors constrain the subsistence strategy (Input: environmental characteristics / Output: subsistence strategies),
- Social organisation constrains the dominant form of subsistence strategy finally adopted by the community (Input: social organisation / Output: subsistence strategies).

Q2) Do ecological features of settlement location and/or the type and intensity of subsistence strategies constrained social organisation? We have explored this question by analysing the probabilities of three competing hypothesis:

- Ecological factors constrain the way the community is socially organised (Input: environmental characteristics / Output: social organisation),
- Ecological factors constrain social/economic decisions made by the community (Input: environmental characteristics / Output: social decisions),
- The particular type of social organisation and the subsistence strategy finally adopted constrain social/economic decisions made by the community (Input: social organisation and subsistence strategies / Output: social decisions).

This definition of just a handful of restricted scenarios has allowed us to reduce the dimensionality of the parametric space and obtain meaningful results with a minimum of computational run-time. By considering only a reduced set of scenarios, we intend to group calculations into meaningful blocks. Some other scenarios could have been explored, but this is something that will be developed in forthcoming essays. We have built three structurally different networks for each scenario to determine which model has the greatest predictive and explanatory capacity:

- Models *A type (Binary Relevance)*: it is used to predict one output at a time, from all the input variables, so it is made up of as many BNs as output variables we have, each one with all the input and a single output variable. We have experimented with two different kinds, depending on the type of BN that is implemented:
 - Naïve Bayes (Model A-NB): It has a fixed structure, which is not learned from the data, with a directed arc from the output variable to each of the inputs, and no more.
 - Augmented Naïve Bayes (Model A-ANB). Directed arcs are allowed between the input variables, which are learned from the data.
- Model *B* consists of a single BN that contains both the input and (all) the output variables and allows them to be predicted all at the same time. Its structure is learned from the data with the only restriction that there can be no directed arcs from any input variable to any of the output variables. It is then a diagnosis-type predictive model.

These models, learned from the training set according to different restrictions, will entail some advantages and disadvantages for each, as specified in **Table 3**. See also **Figure 4** for a simple example of the three types of structures illustrating the constraints on directed graphs with which they are built.

The ultimate objective of building three different models is to compare model structures and evaluate if correlations among variables are important to consider when building a model and provide relevant information for understanding the socio-ecological systems examined.

	MODEL A: (one output at a time) NB	BINARY RELEVANCE ANB	MODEL B (all outputs at once)
Description	Naïve Bayes (NB)	Augmented Naïve Bayes (ANB)	Unrestricted diagnosis-type BN
Structure learning algorithm Purpose	Fixed structure with arcs from output to inputs (black box) Prediction	Hill-climbing with AIC and BIC scores. Arcs from output to inputs mandatory (white box) Prediction and explanatory (relationships between input variables)	Hill climbing with AIC and BIC scores. Arcs from inputs to outputs forbidden (white box) Predictions and explanatory (relationships between input, between output, and input-output variables)
Advantages Disadvantages	Conceptual simplicity and good balance between simplicity and predictive power. Robust against unlikely evidence	Encodes the relationships between inputs, for each output separately, keeping the design relatively simple	Encodes the relationships between inputs, between outputs and between inputs and outputs. Single model in which relations between variables are not forced
gos	Ignores the correlations between inputs and between outputs (a different model is built for each output)	Less conceptually simple than NB, and like it, ignores the correlations between outputs (a different model is built for each output). Sensitive to unlikely evidence	More complex design than the others. Sensitive to unlikely evidence

Table 3. Description and main characteristics of the three types of BNs.



Fig 4. Examples of the structures of the three types of BNs in Table 3. Outputs (orange) and inputs (green).

The models have been built using the R package **bnlearn** [86], which implements structure and parameter learning. To learn the structure of Model A – ANB we used the score-based structure learning algorithm implemented in the **hc** (hill-climbing) function was used, and to make the predictions we used the R package **gRain** [87].

Model validation

To validate the three models in each of the five scenarios, and to be able to select which one has the highest predictive value, we have used statistical accuracy measures as a performance metric using a *k*-fold cross-validation procedure with k = 5. In each scenario, the dataset formed by the input variables and the output variable(s) was randomly divided into five similar folds, using four of them as a training subset to learn the model and the fifth as a test set to make predictions to evaluate the predictive power of the model by calculating its accuracy. The number of outputs for each fold depended on whether the Model was A or B. This process has been repeated *k* times, each time changing the test set training and, consequently, the training set. In this way, for each scenario and model, we obtain k = 5 estimates of its statistical accuracy.

First, we have compared Model A-NB with Model A-ANB. A standard statistical hypothesis test has been used based on the two samples of paired values of their accuracies. To decide whether to use the parametric paired *t*-test, or the non-parametric paired Wilcoxon signed-rank test, we first performed a Shapiro-Wilk goodness-of-fit normality test for the difference. In case of models *A*, we have privileged those with the greatest predictive capacity, to be compared with the relative Model *B* to make the best possible prediction.

Once the model with the highest accuracy is selected, the *strength* of the probabilistic relationships between the model variables expressed by the arcs of the BN is quantified through the function **arc.strength** (implemented in the *bnlearn* R package), producing a result in form of a *p*-value for a conditional independence test: the lower the *p*-value, the stronger the relationship. On the other hand, Model B has been always used for its explanatory habilities, since it is the only network typology that allows correlations between inputs and inputs and between outputs and outputs. Results of the validation process are depicted in S6 Table.

Results

As we already knew from our initial exploratory analysis, not all variables -ecological and social/economic- have any explanatory contribution on the other. Values of output variables are hardly predictable from input variables. This result does not go in line with the prior traditional hypothesis that implies that human behaviour is necessary fitted to local ecological conditions. Our results (**S7 Table**) suggest that the relationship between human action and landscape is far more complex than that: different behaviours can be practised, and different social decisions can be made at different ecological, climatic, and topographical contexts.

The influence of ecological factors on the subsistence strategies adopted

When we assume the independence between the inputs conditioned to the values of the output (Model A. Naïve-Bayes learning algorithm), our investigation suggests that ecological conditions effectively constrain hunting. That is to say, the dominant landscape type, the elevation of the site catchment area, its annual precipitation (average and variation), its annual temperature (average and variation), the soil productivity (average and variation) and distance to the coast have a high impact on the variations of hunting relative predominance among alternative ways of acquiring percentage of subsistence. The same impact on gathering is limited to the landscape and the soil productivity variation. It can be surprising at first to see that most ecological factors have also direct influence on fishing, except slope and soil productivity variation. This result goes in line with the study conducted by Ahedo et al. (2021) in which they identified fishing with the role of risk-mitigation function that small-scale farming communities adopt in times of scarcity [18]. Therefore, fishing would not be related to the landscape characteristics, but to the internal dynamics of the community [88,89]. Instead, hunting and gathering would have been part of the mixed farming strategy complementary to animal husbandry and agriculture.

In the case of animal husbandry, the impact of all ecological, climatic, and topographical factors –except distance to the coast- on its relative predominance respect to the alternative subsistence ways is very high. This high correlation was expectable since small-scale communities practising herding may practice seasonal vertical mobility to maximise herd production and survivorship in communities with mixed economies. Generally, during the late spring and early autumn animals are moved in the mountain whereas winters are located in the lowlands plains. This practice was probably already present in the early Neolithic, for example [90,91], and there is an important corpus of ethnographical data supporting the archaeological data [92,93] used to support the archaeological data.

The comparatively high impact of environmental conditions on the relative predominance of hunting, gathering and husbandry contrasts with the low relative importance of landscape factors on the predominance of agricultural subsistence. This last result does not mean that environmental factors have no causal impact on variations on agricultural predominance relative to the other subsistence ways, but this impact is far lower than in the case of hunting and husbandry and, hence, the predictability of relative importance of agriculture in terms of ecological conditions is far lower than in the other cases. Results suggest that human communities can decide to increase their farming effort in relation to other strategies (e.g., hunting, gathering, etc.) in landscapes with any elevation and/or slope, hence their low predictability value. This is a result specially significative because there is a long-standing tradition in archaeological site settlement studies of placing considerable importance on ecological characteristics to predict the placement of agricultural places [94–97]. The underlying assumption is that by modelling the most suitable landscape for productive economic strategies, the most probable settlement and occupation locations can be predicted. However, recently, some studies have emphasised the lack of direct and linear correlation between farming and the ecological characteristics of the settled area. For instance, a recent study of Vidal-Cordasco and Nuevo-López (2021) evidences that early Neolithic communities in Iberian Peninsula expanded their ecological niche breath with the adoption of farming practices whereas Mesolithic populations practicing hunting and gathering would have been more restricted because of the ecology [98]. When expanding the production area, more ecological and landscape diversity enter into the catchment area, and the relevance of particular factors diminishes.

Variations in soil natural productivity have large impacts on all subsistence strategies, except agriculture. It contradicts traditional hypotheses suggesting that a prior high soil productivity is paramount for farming practices [99,100]. Our analysis suggests the relevance of social decisions for reducing or expanding human mobility and/or the possibilities for increasing labour investment independent of increasing technology efficiency or modifying the group internal organisation –social relations of production. And this relationship holds even when soils have less productivity. This result demonstrates the importance of human agency and intentionality on modifying the environment even when more suitable location -in this case, more productive soils- would have been available.

Our study also asserts that the total independence of ecological, climatic, and topographical factors among them is a hardly defendable assumption. Temperature average and temperature variation are correlated in most cases, in the same way as in the case of precipitation and soil productivity. Settlement elevation and slope are correlated in many cases. We have used the Augmented Naïve Bayes algorithm to build the interrelations among all possible ecological/climatic/topographical inputs on each kind of subsistence strategy (**Figure 5**). This analysis suggests that distance to the coast, temperature and precipitation are not totally independent among them. The same can be defined for slope and elevation, and soil productivity average and variation. The kind of landscape is mostly independent from the rest factors, although some dependence can be proved with average precipitation and/or soil productivity. In the same way, precipitation and soil productivity seem to be indirectly related will be not totally independent.



Figure 5. Model Augmented Naïve Bayes of the influence of the environment on subsistence strategies. Dependence between ecological variables (inputs, green) and subsistence strategies (outputs, orange). The relationship among ecological factors when we predict the outputs agriculture, animal husbandry, hunting and fishing is exactly the same (the BN of agriculture is depicted as example) and, when we predict gathering, we can observe slightly differences in how climate variables are interrelated.

Considering these dependencies among input factors, the accuracy of social and economic predictions critically diminishes, because non-linear relationships affect probable consequences of human prior knowledge about the area they may settle. This result suggests the low reliability of traditional hypothesis suggesting direct and linear landscape determinism.

Up to now we have worked with single outputs. We have not yet considered the obvious nonindependence between hunting, gathering, fishing, agriculture, and husbandry. After all, what we are considering is the percentage of total subsistence a human group decides to acquire using different alternative strategies. **Figure 6** and **Table 4** show dependencies between all strategies. The preference for animal husbandry plays an intermediate role: on the one hand, it is related to foraging activities and, on the other, with agriculture. The preference for hunting and gathering are clearly related with animal husbandry, because monthly mean and monthly variation of precipitation affect them in the same way. The preference for fishing is related to the preference for animal husbandry (and indirectly to hunting and gathering) because of the high incidence of distance to the coast. Obviously, settlements with highest proportion of subsistence acquired by fishing are those the nearest to the coast. Our results also indicate a non-negligible influence of distance to the coast to the preference for animal husbandry and agriculture. The preference for this last strategy is clearly the less affected by landscape conditions, in the sense that practicing agriculture depends on social issues more than on local characteristics of the area of production.

In this scenario we predicted the correlations among the ecological characteristics (inputs) and the subsistence strategies (outputs).



Figure 6. Final Model B exploring the influence of the environment on subsistence strategies. In this scenario we predicted the correlations among the ecological characteristics (inputs) and the subsistence strategies (outputs).

Palacios, O., Barceló, J.A., & Delgado, R. (2022). Exploring the role of ecology and social organisation in agropastoral societies: A Bayesian network approach. *Plos One*, 17(10), e0276088. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088

Input	Output	Relationship	p-value
Landscape	Agriculture	Animal husbandry - Fishing	9,03E-09 ***
Distance to coast	Animal husbandry	Fishing – Distance to coast	1,54E-07 ***
Elevation	Hunting	Hunting – Animal husbandry	6,59E-06 ***
Slope	Gathering	Animal husbandry - Agriculture	6,72E-06 ***
Annual mean temperature	Fishing	Fishing - Agriculture	5,12E-04 ***
Coefficient of variation		Animal husbandry - Gathering	9,11E-04 ***
temperature		Fishing - Monthly mean precipitation	2,15E-03 ***
Monthly mean precipitation		Fishing - Slope	3,19E-03 **
Coefficient of variation		Hunting - Distance to coast	4,37E-02 *
precipitation			
Monthly mean net primary			
production			
Coefficient of variation net			

primary production

Table 4. Final correlations of Model B exploring the influence of the environment on subsistence strategies. They correspond to the graph depicted in Fig 6 and only relationships statistically significant are included and their p-values are classified as follows: 0.05-0.01 = *; 0.01-0.001 = **; < 0.001 = ***.

Although all landscape characteristics seem to be connected among them, our results for this scenario show the higher influence of precipitation on all forms of subsistence strategy, more than any other ecological, climatic, or topographical factor.

The influence of ecological factors on the way the community is socially organised

When we assume the independence among ecological, climatic, and topographical factors, our analysis suggests that landscape, climate factors (average and variance of temperature, average precipitation) and soil productivity (average and variance) may affect the type of settlement (camp, homestead, hamlet, village). Naïve Bayes results also suggest that the size of the community can be constrained by the variance of annual precipitation, the organisation of the community by the distance to the coast and the annual mean temperature and, the organisation of the household by the elevation, the variance of temperature and the variance of soil productivity.

The dependencies between ecological, climatic, and topographical factors do not modify significatively this global image as we can observe in **Figure 7**.



Figure 7. Bayesian Networks of Model A-ANB exploring the relationship between the environment and the social organisation. Dependence between ecological variables (inputs, green) and social organisation (outputs, orange). There are slight differences between the BNs designed for each output. For instance, in the BN of type of settlement, landscape is not related to monthly mean precipitation (as it is to the BNs of size of community and household organisation) or monthly mean productivity (like community organisation).

It is important to note that the dependencies among ecological, climatic and topographical factors, as discovered by the machine learning algorithm, do depend on the output. Therefore, dependencies are slightly different than those detected in the case of the influence of landscape on subsistence strategy. In general, we still observe that climatic factors are correlated. But now, topographical factors (elevation, slope) appear to be independent between them, probably because it is the factor with the less relevance to predict social organisation. Landscape, which has relevant strength to predict the size of community and settlement type, appears to be non-related with other input factors of this scenario. The remaining factors show relevant dependencies.

The lack of dependencies between social organisation categories and attributes, explain the lack of accuracy in Model B predictions. This lack of dependencies is analysed in detail in later.

The influence of ecological on social/economic decisions made by the community

When assuming the independence of ecological, climatic, and topographical features, we have found relevant influence of landscape on the decision of doing nothing to increase resources in face of scarcity. This kind of behaviour has been described by prior authors as 'supply-induced scarcity' [25,27,101] in which communities reduce their food intake and suffer some periods of hunger. In the monographies collected in the eHRAF database, we identified this behaviour in five communities: the Anaguta [References Supporting Information 98, 99], the Chucki [References Supporting Information 150], the Lovedu / Balobedu [References Supporting Information 267, 268], the Maasai [References Supporting Information 273, 277] and the Mambila / Mambilla [References Supporting Information 281, 282]. For example, Spencer (1988) described this bis social decision in the Maasai of Matapata as:

"The problem of drought is never quite resolved, but as Matapata view their mode of adaptation to their ecological nicge, the benefits for those who survive and thrive are prefereable to any alternative". [References Supporting Information 273]

In our results, this type of decision seems to relate to the kind of landscape, given that some landscape types (tundra, desert among them) are invariable.

The annual mean of temperature has relevance on the decision towards diversifying the acquisition of resources. These are cases in which farming communities decide to diversify their economic basis in periods of very high or very low temperatures by introducing new foodstuffs to increment food security (i.e., mixed farming). Slope and soil productivity are relevant in the decision towards foraging intensification, that is when diminishing returns from agropastoral practices stimulate the transfer of labour force and time of work to alternative, more generic activities like foraging (hunting and gathering). Mean precipitation and mean soil productivity have relevant effect on the decision towards socially moving (migration). This result is suggestive because it shows that the causes of temporal migration are more related with the deficit in the aggregated annual volume of production than with the annual irregularity. Finally, the elevation of settlement is relevant to predict the decision of reciprocal giving of resources to other households within the community.

Dependencies between ecological/climatic and topographical factors are very similar as those obtained in precedent scenarios. Their differences are not meaningful as we can observe in **Figure 8**.



Figure 8. Model A-ANB investigating the relationship between the environment and social decisions. Dependence between ecological variables (inputs, green) and social decisions (outputs, orange). The relationship among ecological factors when we predict all the outputs of Social decisions, except for the category 'exchange out-settlement', is exactly the same (the BNs of crop specialisation and exchange out-settlement are provided as example). In the BN of exchange out-settlement, we can observe differences in the ecological factors of landscape and distance to coast.

When considering the dependencies among ecological, climatic and topographical, the predictability of the outputs does not vary significatively. However, we have detected an increase in the predictability of permanent migration based on the impact of average temperature. That means that this is not the only factor affecting the decision to move permanently, but a non-linear aggregated effect of all ecological/climatic/topographical.

Our analysis of Model B has not detected any contribution from the dependencies among social decisions. That is to say, the complementarity between some of those decisions (i.e., between resource diversification, storage and foraging intensification, or between temporal migration and transhumance). We have not found any impact of ecological, climatic, and topographical factors on crop specialization, storage, transhumance, and exchange (both within and between communities).

The influence of social organisation variability on the dominant form of subsistence strategy

Although it could be expected some degree of non-independence between social organisation variables (input), our analysis using Augmented Naïve Bayes proves that most attributes we have labelled as "social organisation" are not related among them when they are conditioned to subsistence strategies. That is, no relationships appear in our datasets among size of population, structural diversity of settlement, relevance of kinship ties, etc. The graph generated by the algorithm shows the lack of interrelationships between inputs (**Figure 9**).



Figure 9. Model A-ANB exploring the relationship between social organisation and subsistence strategies. Dependence between social organisation (inputs, green) and subsistence strategies (outputs, orange). The relationship among input variables is the same for all the BNs produced for all the outputs examined.

In these circumstances, we have only found some low degrees of predictability between the mean size of the community and the differential predominance of gathering (Naïve Bayes, assuming conditioning to the output), and between settlement type, community organisation and predominance of agriculture (Augmented Naïve Bayes). Those results are obvious if we consider that the higher the

number of people in the community, the more diverse will be its structure and organisation, and the greater its dependence to subsistence strategies that may generate greater volumes of subsistence. On the opposite, the lesser the size of the human group, the more efficient will be generalised gathering activities. This lack of association between the type of settlement and the size of the community is also supported by prior studies [102]. We have not found any significant impact of the forms of social organisation on the relative proportion of subsistence acquired through hunting, husbandry or fishing activities. The relationship between husbandry and fishing, discovered in the Model B of this scenario is also consequential given the structural compatibility between these strategies.

In most cases, the relative proportion of subsistence acquired using different strategies seems to be independent on the different possible ways of socially organizing the community (size of community, settlement structure and diversity, family organisation, kinship ties, etc.). In our dataset we find instances of different forms of social organization associated to any subsistence strategy.

The influence of social organisation and the subsistence strategy finally adopted constrain social/economic decisions made by the community

In the previous scenario we have concluded that the relative proportion of subsistence acquired using different strategies seems to be independent on the different possible ways of socially organising the community (size of community, settlement structure and diversity, family organization, kinship ties, etc.), and vice versa. We then may expect that social organisation *and* subsistence strategy may have low incidence to explain the social and economic decisions a community may adopt in face of scarcity.

This previous result contributes to the assumption of independence among the different inputs. In such conditions, the high relevance of agricultural subsistence directly affects the success of economic life and the absence of any decision to intensify. On the other hand, agriculture also affects positively the exchange within settlement. Husbandry is also a condition for the absence of any form of intensification. In fact, prior studies highlight the role of animal husbandry and transhumance as a risk-management activity which would be complementary to other practices such as farming [91].

Most interesting is the Naïve Bayes result of the influence of fishing on the intensification of foraging resources, which goes in line with Ahedo et al.'s study in 2021 that argues that fishing would have played a 'nexus' role between primary economies (agropastoralism) and mixed economies (hunting and gathering) [18]. Also relevant is the influence of the kinship organization of the community (clan, non-exogamous) on resource diversification. The type of settlement constrains the probability to decide for crop specialisation.

Discussion

Our analysis shows the intrinsic non-linear and non-monotone nature of the relationship of ecology, social behaviour, and economic strategies. We are not the only ones arguing for the complex and non-linear nature of the relationship between the environment and people decisions. In this study, however, we have partially tested how communalities between apparently different small-scale farming societies emerge when we formalize some of the environmental factors that may have affected social decisions. To address the problem of the variable predominance of alternative subsistence strategies in different social, economic, and ecological contexts, we have analysed how ecological features of settlement location and/or social organisation may have constrained the type and intensity of subsistence strategies. Results show that some landscape characteristics of the settlement area may influence indirectly the type of subsistence strategy that the community would have practised. For example, in our database, an environment characterised by a landscape of grassland, with low and stable productivity soils, located at a long distance from the coast, at high elevation and slope, with low average temperatures but highly variable annually, high average precipitation and highly variable annually, we should expect that not any human group would practise gathering or fishing. On the other hand, in an environment characterised by a landscape of forest, with low and highly variable productivity of soils, located at a short distance from the coast, at medium elevation and slope, with medium average temperatures but highly variable annually, low average precipitation and highly variable annually, we should expect that not any human group would practise hunting nor fishing. Therefore, different strategies are more probable in specific landscapes than others.

Our results indicate that this situation is only true for foraging strategies - hunting, gathering, and fishing – since it has not been possible to obtain a solid prediction for husbandry and agriculture from landscape characteristics. This can be a consequence of the importance of diverse social behaviours in this two food acquisition strategies. The hypothesis has been tested comparing the diverse forms of social organisation that different small-scale farming communities may adopt. Our results suggests that the type of settlement, community organisation and the number of inhabitants play a major role in most social decisions with economic relevance. For example, when a small human community of less than 200 people live at a temporal camp, with a social organisation based on small households and clans, it is expected the adopted a subsistence strategy based on animal husbandry, complemented with hunting, and gathering. When assuming the non-independence between social organisation and subsistence strategies, the predictability of gathering diminishes drastically, and increase the probability of agricultural practice.

On the other hand, when a small human community of less than 200 people live at a permanent isolated homestead, with a social organisation based on small households and clans, our model predicts the relevance of agricultural practices, and fishing, and the diminution of animal husbandry. It is

significative that only a modification in the input (from temporal camp to permanent isolated homestead) brings about a so important modification on prediction. When modifying the size of the population and considering permanent isolated homesteads of more than 200 people, also organised in terms of small households and clans, the prediction of heavy impact of agricultural practice and the low impact of animal husbandry and hunting holds. Fishing and gathering disappear in this last scenario.

These results demonstrate the importance of considering the type of organisation, settlement and amount of people for predicting the most probable location of the settlement of agropastoral communities, whilst the environmental conditions are more relevant for defining foraging communities. Importantly, social decisions that can be adopted in face of scarcity seem to be too variable and independent to the local conditions of landscape or the social organisation of the community. This result is very relevant to understand socio-ecological dynamics: human groups can build different kinds of social organisation independently to the local characteristics of their landscape.

Our investigation has also allowed to predict how *both* the environmental characteristics and the type of subsistence strategies influence significatively the way that community can be socially and politically organised. For instance, according to our model, a settlement located away from the coast in an elevated grassland with high slopes, with low but variable temperatures and high and variable precipitations through the year, affecting negatively on soil productivity, we can predict that a community with a small extended organisation at domestic level and not organised in clans is the most probable. Additionally, we have obtained differences depending on what model we use for prediction: when we assume the independence among ecological variables, we predict a community of more than 200 inhabitants living in homesteads (isolated domestic units) whereas according to Model B what results is a predicted a settlement with less than 200 inhabitants living in a camp (temporary location). Besides the amount of people, all models agree that this particular case can be related to a circumstances characterised by mountainous location, in which small, disperse and temporary settlements are the most probable.

When we predict the organisation of the community in a completely different topographic and climatic characteristics (located close to the coast, with high temperatures through the year, low precipitations but variable and low soil productivity but very variable), we observe that the site would be highly probably a village and not organised in clans. When the independence among inputs is assumed (Naïve Model), we predict a large extended household organisation and a small amount of population. The number of inhabitants increases (above 200 inhabitants) in Augmented Naïve Model and, that is, when the relationships among inputs are allowed. Conversely, in Model B a population of less than 200 with small extended organisation in predicted.

Conclusions

This paper is based on observed communalities among 173 trans-historical and cross-cultural dataset of small-scale farming societies, expressed in probabilistic terms to be able of predict social behaviour from environmental and landscape features.

Although the database is comparatively small for typical Machine Learning applications, it should take into account that it is complete for the social domain of small-scale farming societies. Those are the only well documented ethnographic cases existing in the literature. The dataset could have been increased including poorly documented cases, with a lot of missing values in the final dataset. The consequences would have been poorer accuracy in generalisations and still low values of precision in predictions. Therefore, we can be fairly confident of the accuracy and plausibility of our main result: the nonlinearity of the particular relationship between what people do to live, and the main features characterising the environment and the landscape where people live. The particular way people acquire their subsistence cannot be predicted without considering how people organise their settlement and their social relations of production. Only the simplest activities, hunting and gathering, are related directly to the environment.

The nature and reliability of calculated generalisations can be used to reconstruct, although partially, how people behave and took social decisions many years ago. Obviously, our results depend on the reliability of the training set used for probability estimations and predictions. In any case, we are not asserting that the past is like the present, but generalisations proved to be true in a great majority of known and well documented ethnographic cases from different chronologies and geographical areas can be considered also plausible of societies having existed in other time periods with similar ecological and environmental circumstances. What we are interested in is to consider the structural relationships between society and nature. The fact that this relationship be non-linear and indirect, affected –but not determined- by human particularity, only makes the reconstruction of prehistoric ways of living more difficult. We rely on the language of probabilities, and Bayesian reasoning, to explore scenarios that were "probable" in the past, although we have not the full evidence.

This study highlights the co-evolutionary process of the environment and small-scale farming communities on shaping their settlement location, economic behaviour and social preferences. In contrast to social groups relying only on hunting, gathering or fishing, human communities with mixed farming economies were more diverse, and therefore individual factors constrained fewer particular forms of living and working. More variables, and not only landscape and environment, should be considered to understand how survival was possible thousands of years ago. For example, our model suggests that animal husbandry could not be limited to a singular niche, but herders could move their flocks seasonally and, therefore, adapt to many different environmental circumstances. In the same line, a especially significant finding was the lack of relationship of the preponderance of agriculture among

other subsistence activities with the degree of soil productivity. We hypothesise that in similar manner than herders, farmers could modify their niche by incrementing the labour investment and, consequently, defining the most suitable type of settlement and size of community for this economic strategy. Social decisions such as diversifying the resources produced, migration of people or the exchange of foodstuffs could have played a major role for managing and compensating the resource availability in the community.

The detailed knowledge of landscape conditions by the social group could allow prehistoric communities to predict the probability of success when hunting and fishing. Gathering was not only constrained by what the landscape naturally offered, but the knowledge of the size of the community has also relevant effects on prediction: the lesser the size of the human group, the higher the probability that some part of the total revenue came from gathering the area around the settlement.

We suggest that in prehistory, community organisation was only partially influenced by landscape and environment, in the same way as our ethnographical generalisation has proved. This also applies to social decisions in face of scarcity, which can only indirectly be related with ecological, climatic, and topographical factors. It does not mean that the environment could have no effect at all. We have distinguished some contribution of precipitation average and soil productivity on temporal migration, whereas average temperature seems to have more impact when considering permanent migration. This result can be explained in terms that scarcity generated by precipitation average could short term effects, whereas scarcity caused by variations in temperature have long term consequences.

Beyond landscape influence, social decisions in face of scarcity are also influenced by the kind of dominant subsistence strategy and the way the community is organised. For instance, there is high correlation between agricultural revenue and the exchange of food items between different communities. In the same line, the type of settlement and the probability of social decisions towards increased crop, also constrained the social organisation of human groups. We have not discovered, however, dependencies between the exchange of food between groups and the increase of crop specialisation or between the decision of diversify exploitable resources and foraging intensification.

Methodologically, the main result of this investigation lies on the recognition of the relevance of the independence between input factors, between output factors and between input and output factors. Assuming independence has been the traditional assumption is most socio-ecological investigations. Our analysis signals the misleadingness of this assumption, and the need of considering the way the causal influence of a factor has on another factor to be able to predict how a small farming community may have reacted locally.

Bayesian Networks, the kind of machine learning algorithms used along this paper, show their value for understanding socio-ecological systems. They are useful and versatile "white box" models that clearly describe the relationships and patterns between the variables involved in a phenomenon while providing predictions of the *output* variable of interest and generate new knowledge. The reason why we decided to put it into practice here is to experiment and validate its application in ethnoarchaeological contexts. By building three different learning algorithms, modelled to explore alternatives assumptions and scenarios (Naïve Bayes, Augmented Naïve bayes, Unrestricted Diagnosis Networks), we have demonstrated that not all assumptions have the same predictive and explanatory potential.

With Bayesian Networks it is possible to identify a connection between what we infer that could have happened in the past and the material evidence that this action caused and is observable in the present. However, it should be borne in mind that this study represents a preliminary investigation, since we have worked with a limited number of cases because they were the ones available in the two databases that we have consulted and that followed the requirements set. However, the number of cases should be increased to assess whether the same relationships between variables are still observed. Another aspect that we would investigate in the future is to explore our database with Gaussian or hybrid Bayesian Networks, the latter allow working with both numerical and categorical input variables, while with the Gaussian BN we can only consider continuous input variables. Standard Bayesian networks only deal with discrete/categorical variables and, as consequence, we have been forced to discretize the continuous variables, with the consequent loss of information. Likewise, working with more case studies, continuous data and conditionally Gaussian Bayesian Networks, we would hope to describe better the relationships between variables and identify nuances that with the current model have not been possible.

References

[1] Biggs R, Vos A de, Preiser R, Clements H, Maciejewski K, Schlüter M. The Routledge Handbook of Research Methods for Social-Ecological Systems. 1st ed. London: Routledge; 2021. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003021339.

[2] Hammond, D. Philosophical Foundations of Systems Research. A Guide to Systems Research. Translational Systems Sciences, vol. 10, Singapore: Springer; 2017.

[3] Rindos, D. The Origins of Agriculture. An Evolutionary Perspective. London: Academic Press; 1984.

[4] Sauer CO. Agricultural origins and dispersals. 1952.

[5] Braidwood RJ, Howe B. Prehistoric Investigations in Iraqi Kurdistan. Chicago University Press; 1960.

[6] Lins Neto EMF, Albuquerque U. Theories of Niche Construction and Optimal Foraging: weaknesses and virtues in understanding the early stages of domestication. Ethnobiology and Conservation 2018.

[7] Smith BD. A cultural niche construction theory of initial domestication. Biological Theory 2011;6:260– 71.

[8] Smith BD. A comparison of niche construction theory and diet breath models as explanatory frameworks for the initial domestication of plants and animals. Journal of Archaeological Research 2015;23:215–62.

[9] Rowley-Conwy P, Layton R. Foraging and farming as niche construction: stable and unstable adaptations. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 2011;366:849–62.

[10] Zeder MA. Domestication as a model system for the extended evolutionary synthesis. Interface Focus 2017;7:20160133. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsfs.2016.0133.

[11] Zeder MA. Why evolutionary biology needs anthropology: Evaluating core assumptions of the extended evolutionary synthesis. Evolutionary Anthropology: Issues, News, and Reviews 2018;27:267–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/evan.21747.

[12] Zhuang Y, Ding P, French C. Water management and agricultural intensification of rice farming at the late-Neolithic site of Maoshan, Lower Yangtze River, China. The Holocene 2014;24:531–45. https://doi.org/10.1177/0959683614522310.

[13] Piqué i Huerta R, Vila Moreiras S, Alonso N. Changes in vegetation and fuel use from the Neolithic to the Middle Ages in the western Catalan plain. Saguntum: Papeles Del Laboratorio de Arqueología de Valencia 2012;13:85–95.

[14] Rius D, Vannière B, Galop D. Fire frequency and landscape management in the northwestern Pyrenean piedmond France, since the early Neolithic (8000 cal. BP). The Holocene 2009;19:847–59. https://doi.org/10.1177/0959683609105299.

[15] Blanco NU. Registros sedimentarios como indicadores paleoambientales y de la actividad antrópica durante la Neolitización: La Cueva de Els Trocs y su entorno (Abella, Huesca). CKQ: Estudios de Cuaternario 2013;3:123–34.

[16] O'Brien MJ, Laland KN. Genes, culture, and agriculture: An example of human niche construction. Current Anthropology 2012;53:434–70.

[17] Salazar-García DC, Fontanals-Coll M, Goude G, Subirà ME. "To 'seafood' or not to 'seafood'?" An isotopic perspective on dietary preferences at the Mesolithic-Neolithic transition in the Western Mediterranean. Quaternary International 2018;470:497–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2017.12.039.

[18] Ahedo V, Zurro D, Caro J, Galán JM. Let's go fishing: A quantitative analysis of subsistence choices with a special focus on mixed economies among small-scale societies. PloS One 2021:47. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0254539.

[19] Ahedo V, Caro J, Bortolini E, Zurro D, Madella M, Galán JM. Quantifying the relationship between food sharing practices and socio-ecological variables in small-scale societies: A cross-cultural multi-methodological approach. PLoS ONE 2019;14:e0216302. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0216302.

[20] Peregrine PN. Ethnology versus ethnographic analogy: A common confusion in archaeological interpretation. Cross-Cultural Research 1996;30:316–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/106939719603000403.

[21] Gantley M, Whitehouse H, Bogaard A. Material correlates analysis (MCA): An innovative way of examining questions in archaeology using ethnographic data. Advances in Archaeological Practice 2018;6:328–41. https://doi.org/10.1017/aap.2018.9.

[22] Naess LO, Sullivan M, Khinmaung J, Crahay P, Otzelberger A. Changing climates Changing lives: adaptation strategies of pastoral and agro-pastoral communities in Ethiopia and Mali. ACF International; 2010.

[23] Ravera F, Tarrasón D, Simelton E. Envisioning Adaptive Strategies to Change: Participatory Scenarios for Agropastoral Semiarid Systems in Nicaragua. E&S 2011;16:28. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-03764-160120.

[24] Bollig M. Risk management in a hazardous environment: A comparative study of two pastoral societies. vol. 2. Springer. New York: 2006.

[25] Menghistu HT, Abraha AZ, Tesfay G, Mawcha GT. Determinant factors of climate change adaptation by pastoral/agro-pastoral communities and smallholder farmers in sub-Saharan Africa: A systematic review. International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management 2020;12:305–21. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCCSM-07-2019-0049.

[26] Honeychurch W, Makarewicz CA. The archaeology of pastoral nomadism. Annual Review of Anthropology 2016;45:341–59. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-anthro-102215-09582.

[27] Ifejika Speranza C, Kiteme B, Ambenje P, Wiesmann U, Makali S. Indigenous knowledge related to climate variability and change: insights from droughts in semi-arid areas of former Makueni District, Kenya. Climatic Change 2010;100:259–315. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-009-9713-0.

[28] Reid RS, Fernández-Giménez ME, Galvin KA. Dynamics and resilience of rangelands and pastoral peoples around the globe. Annual Review of Environmennt and Resources 2014;39:217–42. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-020713-163329.

[29] Ferraro PJ, Sanchirico JN, Smith MD. Causal inference in coupled human and natural systems. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2019;116:5311–8. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1805563115.

[30] Desmond, M. Relational ethnography. Theory and society 2014;43:547–79.

[31] Watts J, Jackson JC, Arnison C, Hamerslag EM, Shaver JH, Purzycki BG. Building Quantitative Cross-Cultural Databases From Ethnographic Records: Promise, Problems and Principles. Cross-Cultural Research 2022;56:62–94. https://doi.org/10.1177/10693971211065720.

[32] Atkinson QD, Whitehouse H. The cultural morphospace of ritual form. Evolution and Human Behavior 2011;32:50–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2010.09.002.

[33] Barceló JA, Briz I, Clemente Conte I, Estévez Escalera J, Pijoan López J, Piqué Huerta R, Terradas X, Toselli AJ, Verdún i Castelló E, Vila i Mitjà A, Zurro Hernández D. Análisis etnoarqueológica del valor social del producto en sociedades cazadoras-recolectoras. Etnoarqueología de la Prehistoria: más allá de la Analogía, vol. 6, CSIC Press; 2006, p. 189–207.

[34] Johnson, D.L. The Nature of Nomadism: A Comparative Study of Pastoral Migration in Southwestern Asia and North Africa. Chicago: University of Chicago; 1969.

[35] Peoples HC, Marlowe FW. Subsistence and the evolution of religion. Human Nature 2012;23:253–69.

[36] Mithen, S.J. From Ohalo to Çatalhöyük: the development of religiosity during the early prehistory of Western Asia, 20,000-7000 BC. Theorizing Religions Past, Walnut Creek CA: AltaMira Press; 2004, p. 17–43.

[37] Whitehouse, H., & Hodder, I. Modes of religiosity at Catalhoyuk. Religion in the emergency of civilization: Çatalhöyük as a case study, Cambridge University Press; 2010, p. 122–45.

[38] David, N Kramer, C Nicholas, D. Ethnoarchaeology in action. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge University Press; 2001.

[39] Sillar B, Joffré GR. Using the present to interpret the past: the role of ethnographic studies in Andean archaeology. World Archaeology 2016;48:656–73. https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.2016.1211033.

[40] Fewster KJ. The potential of analogy in post-processual archaeologies: a case study from Basimane ward, Serowe, Botswana. Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute 2006;12:61–87. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9655.2006.00281.x.

[41] Politis GG. Reflections on contemporary ethnoarchaeology. Pyrenae 2015;46:41–83. http://dx.doi.org/10.1344/Pyrenae2015.vol46num1.3.

[42] Ravn M. Ethnographic analogy from the Pacific: just as analogical as any other analogy. World Archaeology 2011;43:716–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.2011.624781.

[43] Barceló JA. Computational intelligence in archaeology. IGI Global. n.d.

[44] Lydon J. Feeling for the deep past: archaeological analogy and historical empathy. Australian Archaeology 2019;85:2–14.

[45] Currie A. Ethnographic analogy, the comparative method, and archaeological special pleading. Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part A 2016;55:84–94.

[46] Clemente-Conte I, Mazzucco N, Soares J, Tavares da Silva C, Ramos Muñoz J, Vijande Vila E, et al. Fish resource exploitation in the southern Atlantic coast of the Iberian Peninsula: A view from the traceological analysis of flaked stone tools (sixth-fourth mill. cal BCE). Quaternary International 2020;541:141–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2020.01.006.

[47] Revelles J. Archaeoecology of Neolithisation. Human-environment interactions in the NE Iberian Peninsula during the Early Neolithic. Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports 2017;15:437–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2016.02.004.

[48] Antolín F, Jacomet S. Wild fruit use among early farmers in the Neolithic (5400–2300 cal bc) in the northeast of the Iberian Peninsula: an intensive practice? Veget Hist Archaeobot 2015;24:19–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00334-014-0483-x.

[49] Bowles S, Choi JK. The Neolithic agricultural revolution and the origins of private property. Journal of

Political Economy 2019;127:2186-228.

[50] Wirtz KW, Lemmen C. A global dynamic model for the Neolithic transition. Climatic Change 2003:333– 67.

[51] Gomart L, Hachem L, Hamon C, Giligny F, Ilett M. Household integration in Neolithic villages: A new model for the Linear Pottery Culture in west-central Europe. Journal of Anthropological Archaeology 2015;40.

[52] Hörr C, Lindinger E, Brunnett G. Machine learning based typology development in archaeology. J Comput Cult Herit 2014;7:1–23. https://doi.org/10.1145/2533988.

[53] Koller, D., & Friedman, N. Probabilistic graphical models: principles and techniques. MIT press; 2009. [54] Hyafil A, Baumard N. Evoked and transmitted culture models: Using bayesian methods to infer the evolution of cultural traits in history. PLoS ONE 2022;17:e0264509. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0264509.

[55] Buchanan B, Walker RS, Hamilton MJ, Story B, Bebber M, Wilcox D, et al. Experimental assessment of lanceolate projectile point and haft robustness. Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports 2022;42:103399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2022.103399.

[56] Alberti G. Modeling group size and scalar stress by logistic regression from an archaeological perspective. PloS One 2014;9:e91510. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0091510.

[57] Burry LS, Marconetto B, Somoza M, Palacio P, Trivi M, D'Antoni H. Ecosystem modeling using artificial neural networks: An archaeological tool. Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports 2018;18:739–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2017.07.013.

[58] Davis DS, Douglass K. Remote Sensing Reveals Lasting Legacies of Land-Use by Small-Scale Foraging Communities in the Southwestern Indian Ocean. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 2021;9:37–50. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2021.689399.

[59] Vahdati AR, Weissmann JD, Timmermann A, de León MSP, Zollikofer CP. Drivers of Late Pleistocene human survival and dispersal: an agent-based modeling and machine learning approach. Quaternary Science Reviews 2019;221:105867. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2019.105867.

[60] Kirby, K. R., Gray, R. D., Greenhill, S. J., Jordan, F. M., Gomes-Ng, S., Bibiko, H. J., ... & Gavin, M. C. D-PLACE: A global database of cultural, linguistic and environmental diversity. PloS One 2016;11.

[61] New Haven. eHRAF : HRAF collection of ethnography 2022.

[62] R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing 2020.

[63] Hahsler M, Chelluboina S, Hornik K, Buchta C. arules – A Computational Environment for Mining Association Rules and Frequent Item Sets. Journal of Machine Learning Research 2011;12:19777–1981.

[64] Tierney, N. visdat: Preliminary Visualisation of Data 2019.

[65] Tierney, N.; Cook, D.; McBain, M. and Fay, C. naniar: Data Structures, Summaries, and Visualisations for Missing Data. R package version 0.6.1. 2021.

[66] Neapolitan, R. E. Learning bayesian networks. vol. 38. Upper Saddle River: Pearson Prentice Hall; 2004.

[67] Schwarz G. Estimating the Dimension of a Model. Ann Statist 1978;6. https://doi.org/10.1214/aos/1176344136.

[68] Akaike H. A new look at the statistical model identification. IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control 1974;19:716–23.

[69] Pearl, J. Probabilistic reasoning in intelligent systems: networks of plausible inference. Morgan kaufmann; 1988.

[70] Wellman, M. P. Fundamental concepts of qualitative probabilistic networks. Artificial Intelligence, 1990;44:257–303.

[71] Naïm, P., Wuillemin, P. H., Leray, P., Pourret, O., & Becker, A. Réseaux bayésiens. 2011.

[72] Jensen, F.; Jensen, Finn V., Nielsen, Thomas D. Bayesian networks and decision graphs. New York: Springer; 2007.

[73] Spiegelhalter DJ. Incorporating Bayesian Ideas into Health-Care Evaluation. Statist Sci 2004;19. https://doi.org/10.1214/08834230400000080.

[74] Walche T, Burman M. A framework for assessing and managing risks posed by emerging diseases. Risk Analysis: An International Journal 2010;30:236–49.

[75] Cruz-Ramírez N, Acosta-Mesa HG, Carrillo-Calvet H, Alonso Nava-Fernández L, Barrientos-Martínez RE. Diagnosis of breast cancer using Bayesian networks: A case study. Computers in Biology and Medicine 2007;37:1553–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compbiomed.2007.02.003.

[76] Delgado R, Núñez-González JD, Yébenes JC, Lavado Á. Survival in the Intensive Care Unit: A prognosis model based on Bayesian classifiers. Artificial Intelligence in Medicine 2021;115:102054. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.artmed.2021.102054.

[77] Rosario Delgado, José-Luis González, Andrés Sotoca and Xavier- Andoni Tibau. Archetypes of Wildfire Arsonists: An Approach by Using Bayesian Networks. Forest Fire, Intech Open; 2018, p. 25–50.

[78] Monna F, Magail J, Rolland T, Navarro N, Wilczek J, Gantulga J-O, et al. Machine learning for rapid mapping of archaeological structures made of dry stones – Example of burial monuments from the Khirgisuur culture, Mongolia –. Journal of Cultural Heritage 2020;43:118–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.culher.2020.01.002.

[79] Courtenay LA, Yravedra J, Huguet R, Aramendi J, Maté-González MÁ, González-Aguilera D, et al. Combining machine learning algorithms and geometric morphometrics: A study of carnivore tooth marks. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 2019;522:28–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.palaeo.2019.03.007.

[80] Jeppson, P. L., Muschio, G., & Levin, J. Computational Science, Convergence Culture, and the Creation of Archaeological Knowledge and Understanding. Transforming Heritage Practice in the 21st Century, Springer; 2019, p. 431–46.

[81] MacLeod N. The quantitative assessment of archaeological artifact groups: Beyond geometric morphometrics. Quaternary Science Reviews 2018;201:319–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2018.08.024.

[82] Barcelo JA, Bogdanovic I, editors. The Probabilities of Prehistoric Events: A Bayesian Network Approach. Mathematics and Archaeology. 0 ed., CRC Press; 2015, p. 478–98. https://doi.org/10.1201/b18530-32.

[83] Cohen J. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. 2nd ed. Hillsdale, N.J: L. Erlbaum Associates; 1988.

[84] Signorell A, Aho A, Alfons A, Anderegg N, Aragon T, Arachchige C. DescTools: Tools for Descriptive Statistics. 2022.

[85] Warnes, G.; Bolker, B.; Bonebakker, L.; Gentleman, R.; Huber, W.; Liaw, A.; Lumley, T.; Maechler, M.; Magnusson, A.; Moeller, S.; Schwartz, M. and Venables, B. gplots: Various R Programming Tools for Plotting Data. R package version 3.1.1. 2020.

[86] Scutari M, Denis JB. Bayesian Networks: With Examples in R. 2nd Edition. New York: Chapman and Hall/CRC; 2021.

[87] Højsgaard S. Graphical Independence Networks with the gRain Package for R. Journal of Statistical Software n.d.:26.

[88] Erlandson JM, Fitzpatrick SM. Oceans, islands, and coasts: Current perspectives on the role of the sea in human prehistory. Journal of Island & Coastal Archaeology 2006;1:5–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/15564890600639504.

[89] Lepofsky D, Caldwell M. Indigenous marine resource management on the Northwest Coast of North America. Ecological Processes 2013;2:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/2192-1709-2-12.

[90] Makarewicz CA, Arbuckle BS, Öztan A. Vertical transhumance of sheep and goats identified by intratooth sequential carbon (δ 13C) and oxygen (δ 18O) isotopic analyses: evidence from Chalcolithic Köşk Höyük, central Turkey. Journal of Archaeological Science 2017;86:68–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2017.01.003.

[91] Tejedor-Rodríguez C, Moreno-García M, Tornero C, Hoffman A, García-Martínez de Lagrán I, Arcusa-Magallón H,...& Rojo-Guerra M. Investigating Neolithic caprine husbandry in the Central Pyrenees: Insights from a multi-proxy study at Els Trocs cave (Bisaurri, Spain). PloS One 2021;16:e0244139. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0244139.

[92] Barker G, Grant A, Beavitt P, Christie N, Giorgi J, Hoare P, Leggio T, Migliavacca M. Ancient and Modern Pastoralism in Central Italy: An Interdisciplinary Study in the Cicolano Mountains. Papers of the British School at Rome 1991;59:15–88.

[93] Halstead P. Traditional and ancient rural economy in Mediterranean Europe: plus ça change? The Journal of Hellenic Studies 1987;107:77–87.

[94] Kohler, T. A., & Varien, M. D. Emergence and collapse of early villages: models of Central Mesa Verde archaeology. University of California Press; 2012.

[95] Baum T. Simulating Land Use of Prehistoric Wetland Settlements: Did Excessive Resource Use Necessitate a Highly Dynamic Settlement System? In: Barceló JA, Del Castillo F, editors. Simulating Prehistoric and Ancient Worlds, Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2016, p. 255–79. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-31481-5_9.

[96] Judge WJ, Sebastian L. Quantifying the present and predicting the past: theory, method, and application of archaeological predictive modeling. US Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management; 1988.

[97] Verhagen P. Case studies in archaeological predictive modelling. vol. 14. Amsterdam University Press; 2007.

[98] Vidal-Cordasco M, Nuevo-López A. Difference in ecological niche breadth between Mesolithic and Early Neolithic groups in Iberia. Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports 2021;35:102728. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2020.102728.

[99] van Ittersum MK, Ewert F, Heckelei T, Wery J, Alkan Olsson J, Andersen E, et al. Integrated assessment of agricultural systems – A component-based framework for the European Union (SEAMLESS). Agricultural Systems 2008;96:150–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2007.07.009.

[100] Nendel C, Berg M, Kersebaum KC, Mirschel W, Specka X, Wegehenkel M, et al. The MONICA model: Testing predictability for crop growth, soil moisture and nitrogen dynamics. Ecological Modelling 2011;222:1614–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.02.018.

[101] Belay K, Beyene F, Manig W. Coping with drought among pastoral and agro-pastoral communities in eastern Ethiopia 2005;28:185–210. https://doi.org/10.22004/ag.econ.288376.

[102] Roberts B. Landscapes of Settlement: Prehistory to the present. London and New York: Routledge; 1996.
3.4.2. **Palacios, O.** & Barceló, J.A. (2023). Survival in prehistory: Disentangling the complexity of dependent relationships. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology*.

Survival in Prehistory: Disentangling the Complexity of Dependent Relationships

Olga Palacios *, Juan Antonio Barceló²

Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Department of Prehistory, Laboratory of Quantitative Archaeology, Cerdanyola del Vallès, Barcelona, Spain

ORCID 0000-0002-8580-6315

² ORCID 0000-0002-1580-471X

* Corresponding author: olga.palacios@uab.cat

Abstract

In this study, we will focus on exploring the impact of environmental change and variation on social activities related to the economy that agropastoral groups might have adopted in the face of scarcity. We intend to discuss the particular dependencies –probabilistic relationships and hence, causal relevance- between particular *landscape local conditions*, features of social life related to the *social organization* (type of settlement, number of inhabitants, observed inequalities), the general kind of *subsistence strategy* (foraging and agropastoral resources consumption), and the particular decisions taken to prevent the risk of scarcity (*social decisions*). The discussion in this paper is based on results from a previous study (Palacios et al., 2022), in which we analyzed 173 ethnological examples for statistical dependencies between landscape characteristics, socioeconomic strategies, and social decisions. Using Machine Learning tools such data allowed the construction of a probabilistic interdependency network. In this paper, results are evaluated using modern Niche Construction Theory and compared with general theories on survival in early farming societies.

Keywords: agropastoral groups, social decisions, Machine Learning, Niche Construction Theory

Statements and declarations

This work has not been published previously and is not under consideration for publication elsewhere. Its publication has been approved by all authors. We have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

Acknowledgments

This research is part of the project PID 2019-109254GB-C21 funded by the Spanish Ministerio de Ciencia, Innovación y Universidades, and has been supported by the Agency for Management of

University and Research Grants (Generalitat de Catalunya) through the grant 2019-FI-B-00966 awarded to the corresponding author.

1. Introduction

Survival can be defined as the persistence of life despite difficult circumstances. It does not solely depend on the capacities of human individuals, but also on their interactions with their natural surroundings (Piantadosi, 2003). We do not know *how* people survived in the past; however, we have some indirect data about the survival of people in the past: from seeds and faunal remains we know what they ate, from tools and artefacts their technology, from negative and positive structures their buildings. The temporal duration of settlement evidence suggests that people that lived there survived for a determined time interval, from the begin of the settlement to its abandonment. We know they survived but we do not know *why* they did what they did in the way they did. In most studies, survival equals meeting the minimum number of calories of living in the settlement, but this is a simplification of a complex problem. Obviously, the available resources of the environment contributed to survival, but we cannot affirm that those factors *caused* survival. Available technology, available labor force, and the nature of social decisions also contributed.

A socio-ecological system can be described as a structure constructed from the interaction among social behaviors (e.g., subsistence strategies or social organization), and ecological (climate or soil productivity) components (Biggs et al., 2021). These interactions are not the result of deterministic linear relationships but complex, dynamic, and interconnected structures with feedback across social and environmental dimensions (Ferraro et al., 2019). In this paper, we intend to analyze some aspects related with the complex relationship between environmental factors and social behavior from the premise that human actions modify the landscape. These concerns have already been approached within the framework of the Niche Construction Theory (NCT) (Laland et al., 1996, 1999; Odling-Smee et al., 1996), which considers the dynamism and co-evolutionary transformations resulting from human decisions in face of human transformations in the environment (Odling-Smee et al., 2003; Laland et al., 2001; Laland & O'Brien, 2010; O'Brien & Laland, 2012). From this perspective, human communities interact -and interacted in the past- and transform their natural setting with their productive and social activities (e.g., organization of labor, preferences for some resources over others), and their intensity varied according to varying circumstances and scenarios. Our approach in this paper is theoretical and methodological, trying to suggest possible ways to quantify the bi-univocal and inter-dependent relationships between environment, social behavior, and social organization regarding survival in the past.

The *cause* of survival at a particular moment and place is then a *complex network of causal factors*. Here we follow Judea Pearl definition of *causality* as an answer to a *why*-question (Pearl, 2000; Pearl & Mackenzie, 2018): *causal factors* are those that their occurrence increases the probability of finding material evidence of survival -and decreases the probability of evidence of abandonment and starvation. We assume they are "complex" causal factors because they interact in multiple ways and follow local rules, leading to nonlinearity, randomness, collective dynamics, hierarchy, and emergence.

In this study, we will focus on exploring the impact of environmental change and variation on social activities related to the economy that agropastoral groups might have adopted in the face of scarcity. We intend to discuss the particular dependencies –probabilistic relationships and hence, causal relevance- between particular *landscape local conditions*, features of social life related to the *social organization* (type of settlement, number of inhabitants, observed inequalities), the general kind of *subsistence strategy* (foraging and agropastoral resources consumption), and the particular decisions taken to prevent the risk of scarcity (*social decisions*).

The discussion in this paper is based on results from a previous study (Palacios et al., 2022), in which we analyzed 173 ethnological examples for statistical dependencies between landscape characteristics, socioeconomic strategies, and social decisions. Case studies were described from two open-access repositories: D-PLACE (Kirby et al., 2016) and The Human Relations Area Files (eHRAF) (Moore, 1965). The first one provided most of the information, and eHRAF was used to confirm the data. This previous study focused on the method and primary results. In this paper, we increase the scope of results within a more developed theoretical framework. Another innovation in this paper is to apply the resulting statistical model to predict the most probable location of archaeological evidence related to survival when we know the general characteristics of the human groups implied (global subsistence strategy). In other words, we are looking for the kind of locational decisions that took ancient (prehistoric) agropastoral groups when they decided to reduce risks of starvation in the face of scarcity. Instead of traditional site location predictive models, which only take into account the landscape characteristics environment (e.g., elevation, mean temperature, soil net productivity; *inter alia*), we introduce social factors that may affect the decision to place the settlement on a particular area or elsewhere.

Results of our previous study suggest that agropastoral communities lived in more diverse locations and individual factors constrained fewer particular forms of living and working. For instance, the model that we have built suggests that animal husbandry was not limited to a singular niche as herders could move their flocks seasonally. Beyond landscape influence, our results also indicate that social decisions were also influenced by the kind of dominant subsistence strategy and the way the community was organized.

The impact of risk-mitigation strategies on survival expectations of early farming communities has been explored by many authors (e.g., Winterhalder, 1997; Winterhalder & Smith, 2000; Nettle, 2009; Ahedo et al., 2019, 2021; Dressler et al., 2019; Honeychurch & Makarewicz, 2016). Nevertheless, research has typically explored in detail only one strategy. While these applications have been provided significant contributions on our current knowledge of social decisions in prehistoric societies, there is at present no discussion about the probability of alternative survival strategies and how social decisions were mediated by social organization itself.

2. Materials and Methods

Instead of classical structural equation modelling, and following Pearl (Pearl, 2000; Glymour et al., 2016), we have calculated the network of probabilistic dependencies among intervening factors and attributes, with the assumption that the higher the probability from input to output, the higher the causal relevance from cause to effect. We have employed Bayesian Networks (BN) (Franzese et al., 2012; Koller & Friedman, 2009; Moschovakis, 2001) to model probabilistic dependencies. BN is a supervised machine-learning algorithm that learns statistically and illustrates the conditional dependencies of variables using a directed acyclic graph (DAG). Nodes represent variables and their links represent conditional dependency.

BN is a method that has gained importance in the last years in ecology and socio-natural systems modelling. One of the most common uses of this method is to forecast and predict the evolution of socioecological systems in the face of change or resources scarcity (e.g., Ropero et al., 2021; Keshtkar et al., 2013; Barton et al., 2012; Sperotto et al., 2017; Léger et al., 2006; Merritt et al., 2016; Pan et al., 2019; Khan et al., 2018). However, the application of BN in archaeology is still rare. Whilst Bayesian statistics has gained popularity in the last years, especially for its application on radiocarbon dating (e.g., Otárola-Castillo et al., 2022; O'Shea, 2004; Hitchings, 2022; Krzyzanska et al., 2022), the application of BN for modelling SES is still uncommon. Some of the few research studies exploring the dynamics of ancient and prehistoric populations using BN include Terrell et al. 2023, Wang and Marwick 2021, and White et al. 2017.

We have built a BN model to analyze the mutual dependencies of social decisions with environmental and socioeconomic variables. Environmental features are defined as independent qualitative variables (input), whereas the outputs are alternative subsistence strategies, the kind of social organization and the particular social decisions taken to cope with scarcity (**Table 1**).

INDEPENDENT VARIABLES	DEPENDENT VARIABLES		
Environment	Subsistence strategies	Social Organization	Social decisions
Landscape Distance to coast Elevation Slope Annual mean temperature CV Annual temperature Monthly mean Precipitation CV Annual precipitation Monthly primary net soil productivity	Agriculture Animal husbandry Hunting Gathering Fishing	Community size Settlement types Community organization Household organization	None Resource diversification Crop specialization Foraging intensification Storage Transhumance Temporal / Permanent migration Exchange in-/out-settlement Reciprocity for prestige

Table 1. Summary of the variables analyzed in the BN model. The model included independent variables (those related with the environmental and topographical characteristics) and dependent variables (social decisions and socioeconomic organization) (Palacios et al., 2022).

productivity

The list of alternative activities related to the economy that agropastoral groups may have adopted when they experience scarcity (*social decisions* in our nomenclature here and in Palacios et al., 2022), is based on ethnographic literature (Ravera et al., 2011; Ifejika Speranza, 2010; Belay et al., 2005; Homewood et al., 2019; Kardulias, 2015).

Dependencies between all those variables have been computationally induced from a 173 ethnographical cases database (details in Palacios et al., 2022). Instead of a theory-based approach in which the direction of edges is imposed by the expert, and conditional probabilities come from prior knowledge, we have used an inductive approach for the Bayesian learning of structure (edges and dependencies) and parameters (conditional probabilities). When possible, we used Augmented Naïve Bayesian learning (also known as 'Tree Augmented Naïve Bayes') (De Campos et al., 2016; Keogh & Pazzani, 2002) which is an extension of the classical Naïve Bayes algorithm (Koller & Friedman, 2009). Unlike the Naïve Bayes, the Augmented allows dependencies between the features and, therefore, may capture the system more realistically (**Figure 1**). However, when the statistical variation of the ethnographic database was not enough given the scarcity of appropriated cases, we used the Naïve Bayes, which is limited to the estimation of feature likelihoods or probability of observing that particular feature given the class label.



Figure 1. Augmented Naïve Bayes model representing the relationship between the social decision of transhumance and environmental variables. Most environmental variables are highly related among them such as net soil productivity, temperature, and precipitation. Conversely, landscape, and distance to coast seem to be less associated with the rest of variables although still significant for the practice of transhumance. In Palacios et al., 2022 there are other similar graphs representing the dependence network between the rest of environmental and social variables.

Different scenarios were compared, each one based on a different variable root, and determining feature dependencies with the goal to capture all the potential relationships among variables. For each pair of features (excluding the class node), the algorithm calculates the mutual information between them which is the statistical dependence between these variables. The structure of the dependencies network is then built finding the maximum-weight spanning tree, where the weights are based on the calculated mutual information values. The class node is connected to all other nodes in the network. Once the structure is determined, the procedure estimates the conditional probability distributions for each node given its parents based on the training data. Given a new instance with feature values, perform inference in the Bayesian network using Bayes' theorem to calculate the posterior probabilities of the class label. Finally, the different models corresponding to multiple possible scenarios were captured statistically.

3. Results

In the explored ethnographical cases, the percentage of farming communities not adopting any particular activity in the face of scarcity was higher than the communities that did it. That means that in conditions of agropastoral survival strategies it has been hardly frequent to make mid/long term expectations on survival and adopt strategies to minimize risks.

However, when some economic activity was implemented to reduce the risk of starvation, the social decision was constrained by different environmental *and* social factors. In our analysis, we have quantified the frequency a community adopted a particular activity in some specific environmental conditions. Our results show that some decisions are related to the local environmental circumstances (**SI Table 1**). In settlements located high, human groups tend to specialize their diet either in foraging or domestic resources (in addition to transhumance which would be expectable), whereas when they are in lowland, storage is preferred. Also, foraging intensification are more frequent in communities that have settled in areas with high net productivity soils. Soil productivity has not any relevant impact on the frequency of social decisions towards adopting crop specialization to increase the chances of survival. The adoption of any risk-minimizing economic activities seems to be related with particular environmental conditions. For example, in locations near to water resources not any activity seems necessary, as it is the case in tundra landscapes.

We have not observed any trend to adopt certain strategies to increase the chances of survival, probably because the risk of starvation was lower than in other environmental conditions. In extremely arid landscapes (desert), the adoption of transhumance and temporal migration are much more common. In elevated locations there is a much higher probability of different types of risk-minimizing activities (e.g., transhumance, foraging intensification, exchange), or a combination of them, than in lower altitude regions. Other positive dependencies found in our ethnological database suggest that exchange within the local group is more probable when the mean soil net productivity is variable through the year, and the relevance of storage increments in settlements located in high altitude areas.

The most common strategy for risk-minimization is just expanding the production area, what makes ecological niches less restrictive, and it reduces the constrains imposed by local environmental factors. However, such a way of minimizing risks implies maximizing labor efforts. What may seem paradoxical is that this maximization is not necessarily reduced by increasing technological efficiency or by adopting more complex but more efficient forms of social organization. Our results suggest that so-called "simple farming societies" assume the increase of costs without considering particular forms of increased efficiency. Technological development and social organization complexity were not directly caused by the threats to survival that the environment may have caused.

The scenario seems to be different for societies that depended on foraged resources, even partially. Our results show that they are influenced by the ecological conditions of settlement locations.

In those cases, risk-mitigation strategies are not only strongly associated with the ecological characteristics of the local niches in which the acquisition of resources was performed, which is expectable.

4. Discussion

We conclude that farming subsistence strategies have been performed in a wide range of different landscapes since its beginnings in prehistory, and therefore there is no direct linear dependency between environmental features at certain landscape areas and social economic decisions but there are some landscapes that increase the probability of some social decisions. This preliminary conclusion seems at odds with traditional adaptive theories that explained social decisions regarding subsistence as determined by environmental factors (Adger et al., 2009; Wolf, 2011). Most studies about the relationship nature-society assume the independence of environmental factors among them. We have tested this hypothesis and checked the increase in predictability when correlations between environmental factors are considered. Temperature average and temperature variation are correlated in most cases, in the same way as in the case of precipitation and soil productivity. Settlement elevation and slope are correlated in many cases.

Our research explains the way that environment *constrains* social behavior, but do not determine it. In our model, the comparatively high impact of environmental conditions on the relative predominance of hunting and gathering contrasts with the low relative importance of most landscape factors on the predominance of agropastoral strategies, as reflected in the conditional probabilities calculated between both factors. In this case the impact of environment seems to have had a less conspicuous role. In our results, animal husbandry is only associated with monthly mean precipitation around the settlement area. This situation can be associated with the fact that small-scale communities practicing herding may practice seasonal vertical mobility to maximize herd production and survivorship in communities with mixed economies.

Barceló and Del Castillo (2020) have studied risk-minimizing activities in simulated huntergathering societies and show how increasing mobility or adopting more efficient technology is not necessarily a way of reducing the likelihood of economic failure (starvation). They show that the number of resources is as relevant as the difficulty of acquiring those resources and the difficulty of their transformation into subsistence. This is related with our result that societies practicing different forms of foraging are more dependent on the local landscape circumstances.

What seems more important is the strength of labor productivity over the absolute abundance of some resource. In our results, soil natural productivity has only an impact on hunting and gathering. It contradicts traditional hypotheses suggesting that a prior high soil productivity is paramount for farming.

Therefore, we can expect farming be practiced even where soils may have less productivity. The key point is labor productivity and technological efficiency, more than original soil productivity. This result demonstrates the importance of human agency and intentionality on modifying the environment even when more suitable location -in this case, more productive soils- would have been available. This result can be connected with J. Weisdorf (2005), based on prior proposals developed by Sauer (1952), Braidwood and Howe (1960), Rindos (1984), has compared the nonlinear relationship between labor productivity and the amount of labor force in two different scenarios, one based on foraging strategies, and one based of simple farming (Fig. 2). It can be observed how the marginal products (productivity) increments when agriculture is practiced with higher intensity, that is, when technology increases efficiency.



Figure 2. Comparison of two different subsistence models. (a) Communities prefer hunting and gathering resources and, (b) they prefer agriculture. L: labor force and MP: marginal product. Adapted from Weisdorf, 2005.

In this regard, it is interesting that in our model, the quantity of labor force (community size) constrains the social organization (Type of settlement) when predominant activity is agriculture, occasionally reinforced by gathering. Those results are obvious if we consider that the higher the number of people in the community, the more diverse will be its structure and organization, and the greater its dependence to subsistence strategies that may generate greater volumes of subsistence. On the opposite, the lesser the size of the human group, the more efficient will be generalized gathering activities.

Going deeper to early farming, our model questions the traditional optimization assumption of agropastoralism. This approach was applied to study agropastoral groups in Rindos (1984), who suggested that domesticated resources increased because they were available in the environment and people started to prefer them over foraging resources. A central point of his model was the influence of ecological variables to modify preferences and socioeconomic practices (1):

$$\mu_t = \frac{\mu_0}{1 - \mu_0} e^{\lambda t} \left(1 + \frac{\mu_0}{1 - \mu_0} e^{\lambda t} \right)^{-1} \quad (\mathbf{1})$$

Where μ_0 is the contribution of agropastoral resources to the diet in a specific time considering the relative increment of their availability $(e^{\lambda t})$ compared to a previous time interval. The model also considers the preferences of people implying that the reduction of foraging resources (ϕ) caused a variation of subsistence strategies, W_t , and the amount of agropastoral resources at a specific time (D_t) (2):

$$\mu_t = \frac{D_t}{W_t / \phi + D_t} \tag{2}$$

The model allows predicting the impact of this preference on demographics by including the amount of population (N) and its index (d) – birth and death rate, the population equilibrium/ carrying capacity (N_{max}) and the relative contribution of a specific food in the total diet (3):

$$\frac{1}{N}\frac{dN}{dt} = d\left(\frac{N_{max} - N}{N_{max} + \frac{d}{c}N}\right) \quad (3)$$

The main problem with this model is its oversimplification. The only driving forces considered for change were the availability of resources and people preferences. Our causal factors are not exactly the same used by Rindos, but our results suggest the independence between the quantity of labor dedicated to foraging and the quantity of labor invested in farming. We cannot simply conclude that there is a sudden shift from foraging strategies to farming, expressed in the investment of labor force in one or the other strategy. Our results are in accordance with archaeological data suggesting that this change did not take place in the same way and with the same intensity in all territories (e.g., Robb, 2013; Leppard, 2022). In our database there is a relevant number of communities practicing both strategies, and differential productivity of both do not seem to be contradictory. After all, many early farming groups, especially in prehistoric Western Mediterranean seem to have alternated both strategies for quite a long time (Barton et al., 2010; Lemmen et al., 2011; Pardo-Gordó et al., 2015; Pardo-Gordó & Bergin, 2021).

In any case, Rindos model was an early attempt to investigate nonlinear relationships between human agency and ecological variables constraining survival at a historically relevant transitional period (Cannon & Broughton, 2010). More recently, some scholars (e.g., Spengler, 2021; Baedke et al., 2020; Neto & Albuquerque, 2018; Smith, 2011) have suggested enhancements to this simple model, but the underlying assumption that human agents intend to obtain the maximum benefit (calories) with the minimum costs (energy spent locating and handling the food) is something that our results do not support. A recent variation of Rindos model including the importance of human agency in form of labor is developed by Chu and Xu (2022) in form of a Malthusian model (based on Locay, 1989; Baker, 2008). The model considers that all agents N are the same and each of them has l units of labor, which can be allocated to hunting-gathering (l_H) or farming (l_F) in a fixed amount of land Z. In case of farming, the fixed ratio of land given to farming labor is ρ , measured as $z = pl_F$. Each economic activity has a level of productivity (θ for hunting-gathering and φ for farming) and intensity (γ for hunting-gathering and α for farming). Then, the authors introduce the amount h of hunting-gathering food production units receiving the agent contribution l_H (4):

$$h = \frac{l_H}{l_H N} \theta(\bar{l}_H N)^{\gamma} (Z_H)^{1-\gamma}$$
 (4)

And the number of units of farming production f for an agent that contributes l_F (5):

$$f = \varphi(l_F)^{\alpha}(z^{1-\alpha}) \tag{5}$$

Chu and Xu (2022) model the agent's decision to invest its labor on producing hunting-gathering or farming resources to maximize food production x given by (6):

$$x = h + f = \frac{l_H}{l_H N}^{\gamma} (Z_H)^{1-\gamma} + \varphi(l_F)^{\alpha} (Z^{1-\alpha}) = (l - l_F)$$
 (6)

A condition for a farming system is that most of the labor is destined to produce agricultural resources (7):

$$x = f = \varphi l^{\alpha} (\frac{Z}{N})^{1-\alpha}$$
 (7)

Thus, during the gradual transition from hunting-gathering to agriculture, the per capita output of food production is given by (8):

$$x = h + f = (l - l_F)\theta(\frac{Z_H}{l_H N})^{1 - \gamma} + \varphi \rho^{1 - \alpha} l$$
 (8)

Following this formula, the level of farming productivity increments as more labor is allocated to the production of this resources. Our results give support to this hypothesis. According to this model, if the population fails to reach the agricultural threshold, it will remain as hunter and gatherers. In this case, Chu and Xu conclude that a high agricultural productivity and high level of labor supply would have been paramount for the long-term survival of agropastoral groups. Again, this is an assertion that our investigation supports.

The relationship between diet, landscape and labor force is not linear and, as our results suggest, when considering other social factors as exchange (Winterhalder, 1997), migration (Winterhalder & Smith, 2000), or availability of labor force (Herzog & Goodale, 2019; Bettinger, 2009), predictability diminishes, indicating that the causal model should be more complex and even "complicated" (higher number of intervening factors).

Other models, like Bettinger (2009), also consider the causal relevance of labor productivity on economic rational decisions. Beyond the traditional focus on energy obtained and time spent for obtaining that energy, we should consider cooperation, activities sharing between different agents, as a way of minimizing the risks of diminishing returns. Our results go in that direction showing how alternate subsistence strategies have effects on the likelihood of survival.

5. Settlement Prediction Modelling

Our results highlight the apparent randomness for social decisions. Rather than concluding the lack of pattern or predictability in human behavior, randomness should be understood as the occurrence of events consequence of countless independent factors, equally probable, have, individually, little impact on the final outcome (Ayton et al., 1989; Horne, 2019; Landsman, 2020). If the probability distribution can be calculated, as we have done using an exhaustive database of ethnoarchaeological case studies, the frequency of different outcomes over repeated scenarios is predictable.

This is a particularly significant result because there is a long-standing tradition in archaeological settlement prediction studies of placing considerable importance on the natural setting to predict the placement of farming areas. The underlying assumption is that by modelling the most suitable landscape for productive economic strategies, the most probable settlement and occupation locations can be predicted. However, we have insisted in this paper on the low reliability of traditional hypothesis suggesting direct and linear landscape determinism. Our results go in the same direction as other studies (Vidal-Cordasco & Nuevo-López, 2021), emphasizing the lack of direct and linear correlation between farming and the ecological characteristics of the settled area. For instance, early Neolithic communities in Iberian Peninsula had far wider ecologically diverse niches than Mesolithic populations practicing hunting and gathering, much more adapted to local resources. When adopting agriculture and husbandry, the production area expanded, more ecological and landscape diversity entered into the catchment area, and the relevance of local features diminished.

It is important to distinguish *analytical predictability* from rational optimization. The more frequent a particular social decision in some determinate circumstances, the more probable is this behavior, and hence the easier to predict when the precise circumstances are repeated. Instead of mere frequency accounts of the number of times a settlement with archaeological evidence of farming has been found coincident with some environmental or ecological features, we should take into account existing dependencies among environmental and social factors, because the accuracy of social behavior predictions critically diminishes when there are non-linear relationships between predictive factors.

Other researchers have pointed out this question (e.g., Vidal-Cordasco & Nuevo-López, 2021; Ahedo et al., 2021), the traditional assumption that early Neolithic communities occupied different niches than late Mesolithic groups is difficult to sustain.

We have begun to work on an innovative site settlement predictive model that takes into account the dependency network between environmental and social factors extracted from our ethnoarchaeological data set (Palacios et al., 2022). The goal is to predict the location of early farming archaeological sites (Neolithic) in the Northeastern Iberian Peninsula. A database of known archaeological sites from the Iberian Peninsula is used to recalculate Bayesian network parameters. These new data suggest that early agropastoral groups settled in the Iberian Peninsula from c. 7,7-7,5 ka cal. BP (Bernabeu Aubán et al., 2003, 2009; Gabriele et al., 2019; Martínez-Grau et al., 2020; García-Martínez de Lagrán, 2018; Oms et al., 2017) in a wide range of different niches, types of settlements, and consumed different sort of resources. They likely worked the land through a small-scale intensive mixed farming system (Antolín et al., 2015; Antolín & Jacomet, 2015), as found in other Neolithic European contexts (e.g., Antolín et al., 2014; Pérez-Jordà & Peña-Chocarro, 2013; Bogaard & Jones, 2007; Bogaard, 2004). Present archaeobotanical data suggest that preferences for plant species varied depending on the region. For instance, in the Meseta with colder environments, the consumption of einkorn and emmer was more stable rather than in the northeastern area (Peña-Chocarro et al., 2018: 376). The preferences for particular domesticated animals seem to vary also geographically, suggesting how the local landscape may have constrained social decisions. Intra-regional differences are observed concerning the animals preferred. For instance, in the north-eastern region preferences are observed: some sites consumed more bovids (e.g., Carrer de Reina Amàlia, 31-33) while others ovicaprine animals were favored (e.g., Cova del Frare) (Saña et al., 2015; Saña & Navarrete, 2016).

The variation in settlements type and internal organization is very high: hamlets, caves, rock-shelters and open-air with upraised structures are found. Despite caves have traditionally been interpreted as secondary establishments related to main open-air settlements (Bosch, 1994), some of them were occupied permanently and had different uses. For example, Cova Colomera was used as a pen for sheep and goats but also used as settlements (Oms et al., 2015). Some were also used as base camps (for example, Cova del Frare, Cova del Toll, Cova de la Font Major) (Cabrià et al., 2014). Due to taphonomy and anthropic processes, settlements located in rock-shelters and caves tend to be better preserved than open-air sites. In this latter case, buildings are usually recovered from stick holes (e.g., Balma d'Auferí, Abric de Pontet or Barranc d'en Fabra sites), or storage pits (e.g., Guixeres de Vilobí, Mas d'en Boixos, La Serreta, la Vinya d'en Pau, Cinc Ponts, Els Pujols). Only in very few cases it has been possible to measure the size of occupation. In the north-eastern, settlements such as Plansallosa (Alcalde et al., 1991; Bosch et al., 1998) or La Draga (Andreaki et al., 2020) had a surface of c. 1000-2000 m2, with ellipsoidal and rectangular huts (approximate 8-12 meters in length and 4-5 in width), surrounded by fences to keep animals and cultivation fields. There were probably smaller occupations and size likely change through different events. For instance, in La Draga it is recorded an ongoing change and rebuilding of structures.

Hunting activities were generally reduced to a relative frequency of 30% in early farming sites (Tarifa-Mateo et al., 2023; Saña, 2013; Saña et al., 2020) although exceptions are observed in the northern and southern coast where wild animals represented between the 70 and 99% of faunal remains (Altuna, 1980; Mariezkurrena & Altuna, 1995; Saña, 2013). This fact gives more support to the hypothesis that there is not an abrupt differentiation between both subsistence strategies. Another evidence of the continuity of hunting practices are the presence of projectiles, arches, and arrowheads in settlements.

Foraging activities were also relevant in their diet, and their importance also varied depending on landscape and environmental characteristics. For example, in the northern coast, settlements specialized on the consumption of wild resources such as Herriko Barra were located near other settlements with a diversified diet like Arenaza (Pérez Díaz & Peña-Chocarro, 2015), or in the south also wild animals were consumed with higher intensity than domestic animals (Saña, 2013). That does not imply the necessary opposition between two alternative subsistence strategies, but it suggests a mosaic-like system with different intensities and preferences, in which social decision was constrained but not determined by the environmental and ecological characteristics of different landscapes. Gathering continued playing a major role in the diet of agropastoral groups. A wide range of different wild species have been recovered including hazelnut, acorn, rose, blackberry, red elderberry, grape, wild cherry, juniper, bog pine. Leaves, aromatic and medicinal plants were also probably consumed (Antolín & Saña, 2022). Besides their nutritional value, most wild plants were used as fuel (i.e., acorns, pine, fungi) or to manufacture tools (i.e., red elderberry, *taxus baccata*) (Piqué et al., 2015, 2020) and some for their medicinal value (Antolín & Jacomet, 2015: 23).

Remains of fishing activities, although very scarce, cannot be denied. Recently, the question of whether fishing played a relevant role in the Neolithic package has been addressed and it seems that fish and shellfish consumption was reduced over this period (Salazar-García et al., 2017, 2018) and it only had a regional and local continuity (Mazzucco & Gibaja, 2018; Edo et al., 2022) but not throughout the peninsula (Blanco-Lapaz & Vergès, 2016).

When introducing data from preceding archaeological sites (Mesolithic), characteristic of hunter-gatherers mobile groups, we must face up to the fact that both subsistence strategies coincided in Iberian Peninsula for more than 2000 years. Although subsistence strategies were different and even not all farming populations survived in the same way nor distributed labor force among different activities in the same way, there is no clear-cut differentiation in the landscape characteristics of their settlement location (Vidal-Cordasco & Nuevo-López, 2021). This result poses serious problems when trying to predict the location of Neolithic sites from landscape features alone. This prediction is even more difficult given the archaeological evidence of population movements between contemporary sites,

associated with transhumance and pastoral activities (Fernández-Giménez & Ritten, 2020; Antolín et al., 2018). Archaeological record provides evidence for the practice of at least short-distance vertical movements, from settlements located in the lowland to nearby pastures at higher altitudes (Gassiot et al., 2012; García-Ruiz et al., 2020; Rojo-Guerra et al., 2013, 2014; Tornero et al., 2016). Possible, rock shelters and caves could have played a relevant role as shepherd huts, enclosures, or shelters in case of unfavorable weather conditions (Palet et al., 2014).

However, that does not imply that it is not possible to obtain meaningful information. Instead of predicting the location of settlements, the type of social decisions seems to be correlated with the landscape features. For example, we could use the same variables that we have employed in the ethnographical model but adjusting the social decisions to the archaeological record (**Table 2**).

Attributes	Description	Archaeological visibility
None	No action is taken, human group continues producing the same resources with the same intensity even in face of scarcity. This behavior has been defined as 'supply-induced scarcity' (Menghitsu et al., 2020; Belay et al., 2005).	None.
Resource Diversification	Introduction of new foodstuffs	New foodstuffs are present in one event compared to the previous one
Crop Specialization	Abandon the production of other resources to specialize in one staple crop to obtain surplus	Major presence of one type of crop
Foraging Resources Intensification	Cease agropastoral practiced intensifying foraging economy	Only foraging resources are found
Storage	Consumption of surplus produced in previous years	Presence of storage units (pits, baskets, large vessels, concentration of food remains, communal superstructures) (Prats et al., 2020)
Transhumance	Seasonal movement of livestock	Presence of settlements occupied only seasonally, shepherd huts, pen deposits in caves (Gassiot et al., 2012; Garcia-Ruiz et al., 2020; Rojo-Guerra et al., 2013, 2014; Tornero et al., 2016)
Temporal Migration	Seasonal or temporary migration of the entire domestic unit to another place (i.e., winter on the coast and summer in the mountain)	Household abandonment, variation of occupation during different events of the settlement
Permanent Migration	Permanent abandonment of the settlements	Abandonment of the entire settlement during a settlement event
Exchange Out- settlement	Resources exchange with other settlements than the one inhabiting	Presence of foreign materials (e.g., obsidian, ceramics) or food resources (fish and mollusks in settlements away from the coast)
Exchange In- settlement	Resources exchange between domestic units of the same settlement	Difficult to identify. Ideally, different concentration of specific type of resources and/or materials found in households
Reciprocity for Prestige	Give resources to other people to strengthen the relationships with other domestic units and establish social networks	Speculative in most times. Communal superstructures, monumental buildings, foreign materials and artefacts (Nakassis et al., 2016; Harris, 2006; Kohler et al., 2000)

Table 2. Summary of the social decisions that agropastoral communities could have adopted to cope with scarcity and their archaeological visibility. They have been defined from ethnoarchaeological literature (Ravera et al., 2011; Ifejika Speranza, 2010; Belay et al., 2005; Homewood et al., 2019; Kardulias, 2015). Developed by the authors.

Many of the variables and factors used to describe our ethno-archaeological and ethno-historical cases are not archaeologically observable. To fully use this approach to understand survival in prehistory we need to make assumptions. They come from the data-based model, but they are more "valid" than really "true". This is the basis of our expert Bayesian model. Causal dependencies are built in form of chains following Causal Markov assumption. They are based, however, on expert knowledge, not on empirical data. Given the nature of archaeological information, data-based models cannot be complete without adding factors and links deduced from theory. These models can be tested at the end, using archaeological data. Survival in prehistory is testable in terms of the presence and temporal continuity of settlement.

6. Conclusions

In this research study, we have observed that environment does not always influence the choice of a particular subsistence strategy or a determined form of social organization. The relationship between social decision and environment is far more complex than a simple direct causal link. We have built a probabilistic model reflecting the assumed non-linearity of multiple dependency relationships between social factors and landscape features on risk-minimizing social decisions. We have proved that individual factors have a low or very low causal strength. To understand how people survived in Prehistory we should focus on the multiplicity of factors, their non-independence, and non-linearity, taking into account that any of the intervening factors is enough for understanding the social output.

To build the model, we have used ethnoarchaeological data. We have used this kind of data to establish and measure what behaviors are more 'probable' in different contexts (David & Kramer, 2001; Politis, 2014) but not to establish analogies with the archaeological record. We cannot aim to infer the knowledge obtained by investigating modern human groups to explain how people lived in the Neolithic. This is an inherent gap. Therefore, in this study we have used ethnoarchaeology to generate models and hypotheses to explore through the archaeological record, but not for validation.

Early agropastoral groups had a mixed economy, consuming foraging resources in addition to plant and domestic animals. Also, their diet was not static, resources were consumed in different intensities depending on the settlement, the region, but also probably the period. However, this dynamism is difficult to identify in the archaeological record. As previously mentioned, some types of plants and animals were consumed with higher intensity, denoting a specialization of some crops and intensification of foraging resources. The number of studies arguing the mobility of early agropastoral groups especially in mountain regions has also exponentially increased in the last years. Despite it is still do not know exactly the nature of mobility activities, it is evidenced that they moved into other locations. Movement of people, movement of resources, interactions among people inter- and intra-settlement are very difficult to identify in the archaeological record and they probably played a crucial role in the long-term survival of early agropastoral groups.

Concerning the potential limitations of BN, they are the same for all supervised machine learning methods: they are restricted to labelled data and that implies a trade between 'archaeologically meaningful' and 'computationally efficient', since the number of categories per variable need to be few for reducing the computational power, we are simplifying the available data. Additionally, all values should be equally distributed but that is very difficult. Values are represented in the dataset and, if there are few cases with a certain value, its prediction will have lower accuracy rather than other values more represented.

Obviously, causal models cannot be reduced only to probabilities. Therefore, we have introduced our contribution with a discussion on equation models, and how to enhance traditional foraging models, more or less based on Classical prey-predator Lotka-Volterra equations, with the effects of quantity of labor, effectiveness of technology, and the needs derived from social reproduction. After all, survival is not just about "eating and drinking", but about the processes to make tools, define social ties and social reproduction implying all social agents.

We should look for:

- a) the particular sequence of events explaining how those people found enough resources at that place and time,
- b) how they exploited those resources and transformed into subsistence with available labor force and technology,
- c) how they interacted with competitors (animal or human) for the same resources,
- d) the reaction of the environment to their extraction work, the capability of the same environment to reproduce naturally resources,
- e) how the human group biologically and socially reproduced to continue their existence at the same place,
- f) how they altered the place of work, the place of residence, their technology, the resources they exploited, their interaction network to continue their existence (and that of their descendants) at the same place or at a neighboring place.

References

Adger, W. N., Dessai, S., Goulden, M., Hulme, M., Lorenzoni, I., Nelson, D. R., ... & Wreford, A. (2009). Are there social limits to adaptation to climate change?. *Climatic Change*, *93*, 335-354.

Ahedo, V., Caro, J., Bortolini, E., Zurro, D., Madella, M., & Galán, J. M. (2019). Quantifying the relationship between food sharing practices and socio-ecological variables in small-scale societies: A cross-cultural multi-methodological approach. *PloS One*, *14*(5), e0216302. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0216302

Ahedo, V., Zurro, D., Caro, J., & Galán, J. M. (2021). Let's go fishing: A quantitative analysis of subsistence choices with a special focus on mixed economies among small-scale societies. *Plos One*, *16*(8), e0254539. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0254539

Alcalde, G., Bosch i Lloret, À., & Buxó i Capdevila, R. (1991). L'assentament neolític a l'aire lliure de Plansallosa (la Garrotxa). In R. Buxó, J.F. Gibaja, A. Palomo, R. Piqué & X. Terradas (Eds.), *Cypsela: Revista de prehistòria i protohistòria*, (pp. 49-63). Museu d'Arqueologia de Catalunya.

Altuna, J. (1980). Historia de la domesticación animal en el País Vasco desde sus orígenes hasta la romanización. Sociedad de Ciencias Aranzadi.

Andreaki, V., Barceló, J. A., Antolín, F., Bogdanovic, I., Gassmann, P., López-Bultó, O., ... & Terradas, X. (2020). Un modelo bayesiano para la cronología del yacimiento neolítico de La Draga (Banyoles. Girona). Un caso de estudio con ChronoModel 2.0. In J. A. Barceló, & B. Morell (Eds.), *Métodos cronométricos en arqueología, historia y paleontología* (pp. 403-418). Dextra Editorial S.L.

Antolín, F., & Jacomet, S. (2015). Wild fruit use among early farmers in the Neolithic (5400–2300 cal bc) in the north-east of the Iberian Peninsula: an intensive practice?. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany*, 24, 19-33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00334-014-0483-x

Antolín, F., & Saña, M. (2022). Les activitats de subsistència en el neolític antic del nord-est peninsular: les pràctiques agrícoles i ramaderes, la cacera, la pesca i la recol·lecció. In R. Buxó, J.F. Gibaja, A. Palomo, R. Piqué & X. Terradas (Eds.), *Cypsela: Revista de prehistòria i protohistòria* (pp. 125-146). Museu d'Arqueologia de Catalunya.

Antolín, F., Buxó, R., Jacomet, S., Navarrete, V., & Saña, M. (2014). An integrated perspective on farming in the early Neolithic lakeshore site of La Draga (Banyoles, Spain). *Environmental Archaeology*, *19*(3), 241-255. https://doi.org/10.1179/1749631414Y.0000000027

Antolín, F., Jacomet, S., & Buxó, R. (2015). The hard knock life. Archaeobotanical data on farming practices during the Neolithic (5400–2300 cal BC) in the NE of the Iberian Peninsula. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, *61*, 90-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2015.05.007

Antolín, F., Navarrete, V., Saña, M., Viñerta, Á., & Gassiot, E. (2018). Herders in the mountains and farmers in the plains? A comparative evaluation of the archaeobiological record from Neolithic sites in the eastern Iberian Pyrenees and the southern lower lands. *Quaternary International*, 484, 75-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2017.05.056

Ayton, P., Hunt, A. J., & Wright, G. (1989). Psychological conceptions of randomness. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 2(4), 221-238.

Baedke, J., Fábregas-Tejeda, A., & Vergara-Silva, F. (2020). Does the extended evolutionary synthesis entail extended explanatory power?. *Biology & Philosophy*, 35(1), 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10539-020-9736-5

Baker, M. J. (2008). A structural model of the transition to agriculture. *Journal of Economic Growth*, *13*, 257-292. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10887-008-9034-6

Barceló, J. A., & Del Castillo Bernal, F. (2020). When all agents die: Analyzing the "failures" in an agentbased model of human foraging. In J. B. Glovers, J. Moss, & D. Rissolo (Eds.), *Digital archaeologies, material worlds (past and present)*. Tübingen University Press. https://doi.org/10.15496/publikation-43216.

Barton, C. M., Ullah, I., & Mitasova, H. (2010). Computational modeling and Neolithic socioecological dynamics: a case study from southwest Asia. *American Antiquity*, 75(2), 364-386. https://doi.org/10.7183/0002-7316.75.2.364

Barton, D. N., Kuikka, S., Varis, O., Uusitalo, L., Henriksen, H. J., Borsuk, M., ... & Linnell, J. D. (2012). Bayesian networks in environmental and resource management. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management*, 8(3), 418-429. https://doi.org/0.1002/ieam.1327

Belay, K., Beyene, F., & Manig, W. (2005). Coping with drought among pastoral and agro-pastoral communities in eastern Ethiopia. *Journal of Rural Development/Nongchon-Gyeongje*, 28(1071-2019-1825), 185-210. https://doi.org/10.22004/ag.econ.288376

Bernabeu Aubán, J. B., Balaguer, L. M., Bebiá, M. A. E., Pérez, J. R. O., & Soler, J. D. D. B. (2009). La cerámica impresa mediterránea en el origen del Neolítico de la península Ibérica. In Collège de France Tourlouse

(Eds.), De Méditerranée et d'ailleurs...: Mélanges offerts à Jean Guilaine (pp. 83-96). Archives d'Écologie Préhistorique.

Bernabeu Aubán, J., Orozco Köhler, T., Díez Castillo, A., Gómez Puche, M., & Molina Hernández, F. J. (2003). Mas d'Is (Penàguila, Alicante): aldeas y recintos monumentales del Neolítico Inicial en el valle del Serpis. *Trabajos de Prehistoria*, 60(2), 39–59. https://doi.org/10.3989/tp.2003.v60.i2.80

Bettinger, R.L. (2009). Hunter-gatherer foraging: Five simple models. Eliot Werner Publications.

Biggs, R., De Vos, A., Preiser, R., Clements, H., Maciejewski, K., & Schlüter, M. (2021). *The Routledge* handbook of research methods for social-ecological systems. Taylor & Francis. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003021339

Blanco-Lapaz, À., & Vergès, J. M. (2016). Fish remains from the Neolithic site of El Mirador cave (Atapuerca, Spain): Seasonality and resource management. *Comptes Rendus Palevol*, 15(6), 745-751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crpv.2015.09.007

Bogaard, A. (2004). *Neolithic farming in central Europe: an archaeobotanical study of crop husbandry practices*. Routledge.

Bogaard, A., & Jones, G. (2007). Neolithic farming in Britain and central Europe: contrast or continuity?. *Proceedings British Academy*, *144*, 357-375. https://doi.org/10.5871/bacad/9780197264140.003.0019

Bosch, A. (1994). El Neolítico antiguo en el nordeste de Cataluña. Contribución a la problemática de la evolución de las primeras comunidades neolíticas en el Mediterráneo occidental. *Trabajos de Prehistoria*, 51(1), 55-75.

Bosch, A., Buxó, R., Palomo, A., Buch, M., Mateu, J., & Tabernero, E. C. J. (1998). *El poblat neolític de Plansallosa: L'explotació del territori dels primers agricultors-ramaders de l'Alta Garrotxa*. Museu Comarcal de la Garrotxa.

Braidwood, R. J., & Howe, B. (1960). Prehistoric investigations in Iraqi Kurdistan. Studies in Ancient Oriental Civilization (31). University of Chicago Press.

Cannon, M. D., & Broughton, J. M. (2010). Evolutionary ecology and archaeology: An introduction. In J. M. Broughton, M. D. Cannon (Eds.), *Evolutionary ecology and archaeology: Applications to problems in human evolution and prehistory* (pp. 1-12). University of Utah Press.

Cebrià, A., Fontanals, M., Martín, P., Morales, J. I., Oms, F. X., Rodríguez-Hidalgo, A., Soto, M., & Vergès, J. M. (2014). Nuevos datos para el Neolítico antiguo en el nordeste de la Península Ibérica procedentes de la Cova del Toll (Moià, Barcelona) y de la Cova de la Font Major (L'Espluga de Francolí, Tarragona). *Trabajos de Prehistoria*, *71*(1), 134-145. https://doi.org/10.3989/tp.2014.12128

Chu, A. C., & Xu, R. (2022). From neolithic revolution to industrialization. *Munich Personal RePEc Archive*, 114492, 1-24.

Crema, E. R. (2022). Statistical inference of prehistoric demography from frequency distributions of radiocarbon dates: a review and a guide for the perplexed. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory*, 1-32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10816-022-09559-5

David, N., & Kramer, C. (2001). Ethnoarchaeology in Action. Cambridge University Press.

De Campos, C. P., Corani, G., Scanagatta, M., Cuccu, M., & Zaffalon, M. (2016). Learning extended tree augmented naive structures. *International Journal of Approximate Reasoning*, 68, 153-163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijar.2015.04.006

Díaz, S. P., & Peña-Chocarro, L. (2015). El neolítico en el cantábrico oriental a través de la arqueobotánica: transformaciones paisajísticas y primeras prácticas agrarias the neolíthic of the eastern cantabrian region. *Kobie. Paleoantropología*, (34), 207-222.

Dressler, G., Groeneveld, J., Buchmann, C. M., Guo, C., Hase, N., Thober, J., ... & Müller, B. (2019). Implications of behavioral change for the resilience of pastoral systems—Lessons from an agent-based model. *Ecological Complexity*, 40, 100710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecocom.2018.06.002

Edo, M., Bach, A. G., Mestres, J., Martínez-Grau, H., Molist, M., & Oms, F. X. (2022). Jaciments, ritmes i dinàmiques d'implantació i explotació del territori: El litoral Mediterrani i les serralades prelitorals. In R. Buxó, J.F. Gibaja, A. Palomo, R. Piqué & X. Terradas (Eds.), *Cypsela: Revista de prehistòria i protohistòria* (pp. 81-104). Museu d'Arqueologia de Catalunya.

Fernández-Giménez, M. E., & Ritten, J. (2020). An economic analysis of transhumance in the central spanish pyrenees. *Pastoralism, 10*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13570-020-00163-4

Ferraro, P. J., Sanchirico, J. N., & Smith, M. D. (2019). Causal inference in coupled human and natural systems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *116*(12), 5311-5318. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1805563115.

Franzese, R. J., Hays, J. C., & Kachi, A. (2012). Modeling history dependence in network-behavior coevolution. *Political Analysis*, 20(2), 175-190. https://doi.org/10.1093/pan/mpr049

Gabriele, M., Convertini, F., Vérati, C., Gratuze, B., Jacomet, S., Boschian, G., ... & Binder, D. (2019). Long-distance mobility in the north-western mediterranean during the neolithic transition using high resolution pottery sourcing. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, *28*, 102050.

García-Martínez de Lagrán, Í.G.M. (2018). Review of the archaeological contexts and theoretical models of the Neolithisation of Spain: The north meseta, the Ebro valley and Catalonia as a case study. *Quaternary International*, 472, 172-194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2016.12.043

Garcia-Ruiz, J. M., Tomás-Faci, G., Diarte-Blasco, P., Montes, L., Domingo, R., Sebastián, M., ... & Begueria, S. (2020). Transhumance and long-term deforestation in the subalpine belt of the central Spanish Pyrenees: An interdisciplinary approach. *Catena*, *195*, 104744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2020.104744

Gassiot, E., Mazzuco, N., Clemente, I., Antón, D. R., & Ortega, D. (2012). Circulación e intercambio en el poblamiento y la explotación de la alta montaña del Pirineo en los milenios V-IV ANE. *Rubricatum: revista del Museu de Gavà*, 61-68.

Glymour, M., Pearl, J., & Jewell, N. P. (2016). Causal inference in statistics: A primer. John Wiley & Sons.

Harris, D. R. (2006). The interplay of ethnographic and archaeological knowledge in the study of past human subsistence in the tropics. *Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute*, *12*, 63-78. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9655.2006.00273.x

Herzog, N. M. & Goodale, N. (2019). Human behavioral ecology and technological decision-making. In A. M. Prentiss (Ed.), *Handbook of Evolutionary Research in Archaeology* (pp. 295-309). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-11117-5 15

Hitchings, P. M. N. (2022). *Bayesian optimal allocation of search effort in archaeological survey: Seeking the late neolithic in Wadi Qusaybah, northern Jordan* (Doctoral dissertation, University of Toronto (Canada)).

Homewood, K., Rowcliffe, M., De Leeuw, J., Said, M. Y., & Keane, A. (2019). Pastoralism, conservation and resilience: Causes and consequences of pastoralist household decision-making. In S.M. Gardner, S.J. Ramsden, S.H. Rosemary (Eds.), *Agricultural resilience: Perspectives from ecology and economics*, Ecological Reviews (pp. 180-208). Cambridge University Press.

Honeychurch W, Makarewicz CA. The archaeology of pastoral nomadism. *Annual Review of Anthropology*, 45, 341–59. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-anthro-102215-09582.

Horne, J. (2019). The Ontology of randomness. In D. B. A. Mehdi Khosrow-Pou (Ed.), *Advanced methodologies and technologies in network architecture, mobile computing, and data analytics* (pp. 427-439). IGI Global.

Ifejika Speranza, C., Kiteme, B., Ambenje, P., Wiesmann, U., & Makali, S. (2010). Indigenous knowledge related to climate variability and change: insights from droughts in semi-arid areas of former Makueni District, Kenya. *Climatic Change*, *100*(2), 295-315. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-009-9713-0

Kardulias, P. N. (2015). The ecology of pastoralism. University Press of Colorado.

Keogh, E. J., & Pazzani, M. J. (2002). Learning the structure of augmented Bayesian classifiers. *International Journal on Artificial Intelligence Tools*, 11(4), 587-601. https://doi.org/10.1142/S0218213002001052

Keshtkar, A. R., Salajegheh, A., Sadoddin, A., & Allan, M. G. (2013). Application of Bayesian networks for sustainability assessment in catchment modeling and management (Case study: The Hablehrood river catchment). *Ecological Modelling*, *268*, 48-54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2013.08.003

Khan, Z. R., Pittchar, J. O., Midega, C. A., & Pickett, J. A. (2018). Push-pull farming system controls fall armyworm: lessons from Africa. *Outlooks on Pest Management*, 29(5), 220-224. https://doi.org/10.1564/v29 oct 09

Kirby, K. R., Gray, R. D., Greenhill, S. J., Jordan, F. M., Gomes-Ng, S., Bibiko, H. J., ... & Gavin, M. C. (2016). D-PLACE: A global database of cultural, linguistic and environmental diversity. *PloS One*, *11*(7): e0158391. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0158391

Kohler, T. A., Van Pelt, M., & Yap, L. (2000). Reciprocity and its limits: Considerations for a study of the prehispanic Pueblo world. In B. J. Mills (Ed.), *Alternative leadership strategies in the prehispanic southwest* (pp. 180-206). University of Arizona Press.

Koller, D., & Friedman, N. (2009). Probabilistic Graphical models: Principles and techniques. MIT Press.

Krzyzanska, M., Hunt, H. V., Crema, E. R., & Jones, M. K. (2022). Modelling the potential ecological niche of domesticated buckwheat in China: archaeological evidence, environmental constraints and climate change. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany*, *31*(4), 331-345. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00334-021-00856-9

Laland, K. N., & O'Brien, M. J. (2010). Niche construction theory and archaeology. *Journal of* Archaeological Method and Theory, 17, 303-322. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10816-010-9096-6.

Laland, K. N., Odling-Smee, F. J., & Feldman, M. W. (1999). Evolutionary consequences of niche construction and their implications for ecology. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *96*(18), 10242-10247. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.18.10242

Laland, K. N., Odling-Smee, F. J., & Feldman, M. W. (1996). The evolutionary consequences of niche construction: a theoretical investigation using two-locus theory. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 9(3), 293-316. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1420-9101.1996.9030293.x

Laland, K. N., Odling-Smee, J., & Feldman, M. W. (2001). Cultural niche construction and human evolution. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, *14*(1), 22-33. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1420-9101.2001.00262.x

Landsman, K. (2020). Randomness? What randomness?. *Foundations of Physics*, 50, 61-104. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10701-020-00318-8

Léger, A., Duval, C., Weber, P., Levrat, E., & Farret, R. (2006). Bayesian network modelling the risk analysis of complex socio technical systems. In *Workshop on Advanced Control and Diagnosis, ACD'2006* (p. CDROM).

Lemmen, C., Gronenborn, D., & Wirtz, K. W. (2011). A simulation of the Neolithic transition in Western Eurasia. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, *38*(12), 3459-3470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2011.08.008

Leppard, T. P. (2022). Process and dynamics of Mediterranean neolithization (7000–5500 BC). *Journal of* Archaeological Research, 30(2), 231-283. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10814-021-09161-5

Locay, L. (1989). From hunting and gathering to agriculture. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 37(4), 737-756.

Mariezkurrena, K., & Altuna, J. (1995). Fauna de mamíferos del yacimiento costero de Herriko Barra (Zarautz, País Vasco). *Munibe. Ciencias Naturales*, 47, 23-32.

Martínez-Grau, H., Jagher, R., Oms, F. X., Barceló, J. A., Pardo-Gordó, S., & Antolín, F. (2020). Global processes, regional dynamics? Radiocarbon data as a proxy for social dynamics at the end of the Mesolithic and during the Early Neolithic in the NW of the mediterranean and Switzerland (c. 6200-4600 cal BC). *Documenta Praehistorica*, 47, 170-191.

Mazzucco, N., & Gibaja, J. F. (2018). A palaeoeconomic perspective on the Early Neolithic lithic assemblages of the N–NE of the Iberian Peninsula. *Quaternary International*, 472, 236-245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2016.05.012

Menghistu, H. T., Abraha, A. Z., Tesfay, G., & Mawcha, G. T. (2020). Determinant factors of climate change adaptation by pastoral/agro-pastoral communities and smallholder farmers in sub-Saharan Africa: A systematic review. *International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management*, *12*(3), 305-321. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCCSM-07-2019-0049

Merritt, W. S., Patch, B., Reddy, V. R., & Syme, G. J. (2016). Modelling livelihoods and household resilience to droughts using Bayesian networks. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, *18*, 315-346. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-015-9650-1

Moore, G. W. (1965). Bhil Cultural Summary. New Haven: Human Relations Area Files.

Moschovakis, Y. N. (2001). What is an algorithm. In B. Engquist & W. Schmid (Eds.), *Mathematics unlimited-2001 and beyond* (1st Edition, pp. 919-936). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-56478-9

Nakassis, D., Galaty, M. L., & Parkinson, W. A. (2016). Discussion and debate: reciprocity in aegean palatial societies: gifts, debt, and the foundations of economic exchange. *Journal of Mediterranean Archaeology*, 29(1), 61-132. https://dx.doi.org/10.1558/jmea.v29j1.31013

Neto, E. M., & Albuquerque, U. (2018). Theories of niche construction and optimal foraging: weaknesses and virtues in understanding the early stages of domestication. *Ethnobiology and Conservation*, 7.

Nettle, D. (2009). Ecological influences on human behavioural diversity: A review of recent findings. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 24(11), 618-624. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.05.013

O'Shea, J. M. (2004). The identification of shipwreck sites: a Bayesian approach. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, *31*(11), 1533-1552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2004.03.015

O'Brien, M. J., & Laland, K. N. (2012). Genes, culture, and agriculture: An example of human niche construction. *Current Anthropology*, 53(4), 434-470. https://doi.org/10.1086/666585

Odling-Smee, F. J., Laland, K. N., & Feldman, M. W. (1996). Niche construction. *The American Naturalist*, 147(4), 641-648. https://doi.org/10.1086/285870

Odling-Smee, F. J., Laland, K. N., & Feldman, M. W. (2013). *Niche Construction: the Neglected Process in Evolution*. Monographs in Population Biology, 37. Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781400847266

Oms, F. X., Daura, J., Sanz, M., Mendiela, S., Pedro, M., & Martínez, P. (2017). First evidence of collective human inhumation from the cardial neolithic (Cova Bonica, Barcelona, NE Iberian Peninsula). *Journal of Field Archaeology*, *42*(1), 43-53. https://doi.org/10.1080/00934690.2016.1260407

Otárola-Castillo, E. R., Torquato, M. G., Wolfhagen, J., Hill, M. E., & Buck, C. E. (2022). Beyond chronology, using bayesian inference to evaluate hypotheses in archaeology. *Advances in Archaeological Practice*, 10(4), 397-413. https://doi.org/10.1017/aap.2022.10

Otárola-Castillo, E., Torquato, M. G., & Buck, C. E. (2023). The bayesian inferential paradigm in archaeology. In A. M. Pollard, R. A. Armitage, & C. A. Makarewicz (Eds.), *Handbook of Archaeological Sciences*, 2, 1193-1209. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119592112.ch59

Palacios, O., Barceló, J. A., & Delgado, R. (2022). Exploring the role of ecology and social organisation in agropastoral societies: A Bayesian network approach. *Plos One*, *17*(10), e0276088. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088

Palet, J. M., Garcia, A., Orengo, H., Riera, S., Miras, Y., & Julià, R. (2014). Ocupación y explotación de espacios altimontanos pirenaicos en la antigüedad: visiones desde la arqueología del paisaje. *Atti del IV Convegno Internazionale di Studi Veleiati Veleia-Lugagnano Val d'Arda*, (pp. 455-470). Ante Quem.

Pan, Y., Zhang, L., Li, Z., & Ding, L. (2019). Improved fuzzy Bayesian network-based risk analysis with interval-valued fuzzy sets and D–S evidence theory. *IEEE Transactions on Fuzzy Systems*, 28(9), 2063-2077. https://doi.org/10.1109/TFUZZ.2019.2929024

Pardo-Gordó, S. P., Bernabeu J., García-Puchol, O., Barton, M., & Bergin, S. M. (2015). The origins of agriculture in Iberia: a computational model. *Documenta Praehistorica*, 42, 117-131. https://doi.org/10.4312/dp.42.7

Pardo-Gordó, S., & Bergin, S. (2021). Simulating Transitions to Agriculture in Prehistory. Springer International Publishing.

Pardo-Gordó, S., Aubán, J. B., Jiménez-Puerto, J., Armero, C., & García-Donato, G. (2022). The chronology of archaeological assemblages based on an automatic Bayesian procedure: Eastern Iberia as study case. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, *139*, 105555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2022.105555

Pearl, J. (2000). Causality: Models, reasoning, and inference. Cambridge University Press.

Pearl, J., & Mackenzie, D. (2018). The Book of why: the new science of cause and effect. Penguin.

Peña-Chocarro, L., Pérez-Jordà, G., & Morales, J. (2018). Crops of the first farming communities in the Iberian Peninsula. *Quaternary International*, 470, 369-382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2017.06.002

Pérez Jordà, G., & Peña-Chocarro, L. (2013). Agricultural production between the 6th and the 3rd millennium cal BC in the central part of the Valencia region (Spain). In M. Groot, D. Lentjes, & J. Zeiler (Eds.), *Barely surviving or more than enough*, 81-100. Sidestone Press.

Piantadosi, C. A. (2003). *The biology of human survival: life and death in extreme environments*. Oxford University Press.

Piqué, R., Fortó, A., & Vidal, À. (2015). El paisatge i l'aprofitament dels recursos llenyosos durant el Neolític a les valls d'Andorra. In *Comunitats agrícoles al Pirineu. L'ocupació humana a Juberri durant la segona meitat del V mil·lenni cal AC (Feixa del Moro, Camp del Colomer i Carrer Llinàs 28, Andorra).* Monografies del Patrimoni Cultural d'Andorra, 6. Govern d'Andorra Ministeri de Cultura, Joventut i Esports Departament de Patrimoni Cultural.

Piqué, R., Revelles, J., Berihuete-Azorín, M., Lladó, J. G., Palomo, A., & Terradas, X. (2020). Use of fungi for tinder at the Early Neolithic settlement of La Draga (NE Iberia). *Quaternary International*, *541*, 152-161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2019.12.002

Politis, G. G. (2015). Ethnoarchaeology: Approaches to Fieldwork. In M. Carver, B. Gaydarska, & S. Montón-Subías (Eds.), *Field Archaeology from Around the World* (pp. 83-89). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-09819-7_11

Prats, G., Antolín, F., & Alonso, N. (2020). Household storage, surplus and supra-household storage in prehistoric and protohistoric societies of the Western Mediterranean. *Plos One*, *15*(9), e0238237. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238237

Ravera, F., Tarrasón, D., & Simelton, E. (2011). Envisioning adaptive strategies to change: participatory scenarios for agropastoral semiarid systems in Nicaragua. *Ecology and Society*, *16*(1). https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-03764-160120

Rindos, D. (1984). The origins of agriculture: An evolutionary perspective. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2013-0-11379-7

Robb, J. (2013). Material culture, landscapes of action, and emergent causation: a new model for the origins of the European Neolithic. *Current Anthropology*, *54*(6), 657-683. https://doi.org/10.1086/673859

Rojo-Guerra, M., Garrido Pena, R., Tejedor, C., & García-Martínez de Lagrán, I. (2014). El Neolítico. La introducción de la economía de la producción en el interior peninsular. In M. Arlegui (Ed.), *Guía del Museo Numantino* (pp. 45-49). Asociación de Amigos de Museo Numantina.

Rojo-Guerra, M., Peña-Chocarro, L., Royo, J. I., Tejedor-Rodríguez, C., García Martínez de Lagrán, Í., Arcusa, H., ... & Alt, K. W. (2013). Pastores trashumantes del Neolítico Antiguo en un entorno de alta montaña: secuencia crono-cultural de la Cova de Els Trocs (San Feliú de Veri, Huesca). *Boletín del Seminario de Estudios de Arte y Arqueología*, 79, 9-55.

Ropero, R. F., Maldonado, A. D., Uusitalo, L., Salmerón, A., Rumí, R., & Aguilera, P. A. (2021). A soft clustering approach to detect socio-ecological landscape boundaries using bayesian networks. *Agronomy*, *11*(4), 740. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy11040740

Salazar-García, D. C., Fontanals-Coll, M., Goude, G., & Subirà, M. E. (2018). "To 'seafood'or not to 'seafood'?" An isotopic perspective on dietary preferences at the Mesolithic-Neolithic transition in the Western Mediterranean. *Quaternary International*, 470, 497-510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2017.12.039

Salazar-García, D. C., Pérez-Ripoll, M., García-Borja, P., Jordá Pardo, J. F., & Aura Tortosa, J. E. (2017). A terrestrial diet close to the coast: a case study from the Neolithic levels of Nerja Cave (Málaga, Spain). In O. García-Puchol, & D. C. Salazar-García (Eds.), *Times of Neolithic transition along the Western Mediterranean* (pp. 281-307). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-52939-4_11

Saña, M. (2013). Domestication of animals in the Iberian Peninsula. In Colledge, S., Conolly, J., Dobney, K., Manning, K., & Shennan, S. (Eds.), *The origins and spread of domestic animals in southwest Asia and Europe* (pp. 195-220). Left Coast Press.

Saña, M., & Navarrete, V. (2016). Gestió ramadera al pla de Barcelona durant la prehistòria. In A. Gómez, & M. Molist (Eds.), *La prehistòria al pla de Barcelona. Nous documents per a una síntesi,* (pp. 97-105). MUHBA.

Saña, M., Antolín, F., Alcántara, R., Sierra, A., & Tornero, C. (2020). Integrating domesticates: earliest farming experiences in the Iberian Peninsula. In: Gron, K.J., Sørensen, & L., Rowley-Conwy, P. (Eds.), *Farmers as the frontier: A pan European perspective on Neolithisation* (pp. 161-176). Oxbow Books. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv13gvh1g

Saña, M., Antolín, F., Bergadà, M., Castells, L., Craig, O., Edo, M., ... & Spiteri, C. (2015). Prácticas agropecuarias durante el neolítico antiguo y el neolítico medio en la cueva de Can Sadurní: una aproximación interdisciplinar. *V Congresso do Neolítico Peninsular, Faculdade de Letras da Universidade de Lisboa*, 7-9 abril 2011, pp. 57-66.

Sauer, C. O. (1952). Agricultural origins and dispersals. The American Geographical Society.

Smith, B.D. (2011) A cultural niche construction theory of initial domestication. *Biological Theory*, *6*, 260-271. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13752-012-0028-4

Spengler, R. N. (2021) Niche construction theory in archaeology: a critical review. Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory, 28, 925–955. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10816-021-09528-4

Sperotto, A., Molina, J. L., Torresan, S., Critto, A., & Marcomini, A. (2017). Reviewing Bayesian Networks potentials for climate change impacts assessment and management: A multi-risk perspective. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 202, 320-331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.07.044

Tarifa-Mateo, N., Saña, M., Clop, X., Rosell-Melé, A., Camalich-Massieu, M. D., & Martín-Socas, D. (2023). Investigating livestock management in the early Neolithic archaeological site of Cabecicos Negros (Almería, Spain) from the organic residue analysis in pottery. *Scientific Reports*, *13*(1), 4797. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-31036-6

Terrell, J., Golitko, M., Dawson, H., & Kissel, M. (2023). *Modeling the Past. Archaeology, History, and Dynamic Networks*. Berghahn Books.https://doi.org/10.1515/9781800738706

Tornero, C., Molist, M., Saña, M., Marom, N., Yeshurun, R., Weissbrod, L., & Bar-Oz, G. (2016). Adoption, intensification and manipulation of sheep husbandry at Tell Halula, Syria during the Middle to Late PPNB. In N. Marom, R. Yeshurun, L. Weissbrod, & G. Bar-Oz (Eds.), *Bones and identity: Zooarchaeological approaches to reconstructing social and cultural landscapes in Southwest Asia* (pp. 73-86). Oxbow. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctvh1drw5

Vidal-Cordasco, M., & Nuevo-López, A. (2021). Difference in ecological niche breadth between Mesolithic and Early Neolithic groups in Iberia. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, 35, 102728. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2020.102728

Wang, L. Y., & Marwick, B. (2021). A Bayesian networks approach to infer social changes from burials in northeastern Taiwan during the European colonization period. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, *134*, 105471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2021.105471

Weisdorf, J. L. (2005). From foraging to farming: Explaining the Neolithic Revolution. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 19(4), 561-586. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0950-0804.2005.00259.x

White, D., Rodriguez, P., Blau, E., Martin, S., Lacinski, L., Uram, T., ... & Oztan, T. (2017). Bayesian causalities, mappings, and phylogenies: A social science gateway for modeling ethnographic, archaeological, historical ecological, and biological variables: CS-DC'15 Panel on synthesis of ecological, biological, and ethnographic Data 9–13. In P. Bourgine, P. Collet, & P. Parrend (Eds.), *First Complex Systems Digital Campus World E-Conference 2015* (pp. 99-108). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-45901-1

Winterhalder, B. (1997). Gifts given, gifts taken: The behavioral ecology of nonmarket, intragroup exchange. *Journal of Archaeological Research*, 5(2), 121-168. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02229109

Winterhalder, B., & Smith, E. A. (2000). Analyzing adaptive strategies: Human behavioral ecology at
twenty-five. *Evolutionary*Anthropology,9(2),51-72.https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1520-6505(2000)9:2<51::AID-EVAN1>3.0.CO;2-751-72.51-72.

Wolf, J. (2011). Climate change adaptation as a social process. In J. D. Ford, & L. Berrong-Ford (Eds.), *Climate change adaptation in developed nations: From theory to practice* (pp. 21-32). Springer Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0567-8 2

Chapter 4 Conclusions

4.1. Research Overview

In this thesis, we have explored one of the most debated topics in prehistory: the relationship of agropastoral groups with their environment, and how the availability and limitations of the landscape transformed the ways people produced, consumed, and interacted. This relationship has been explored from multiple angles and methods and, in most cases, its equilibrium has been used as the *cause* of change, transformation, or disappearance of these groups. Environment, location, places, landscape are used interchangeably in this thesis as these concepts all come down to the same concept: independent variables not controlled by humans.

The methodological and theoretical frameworks of this thesis are explained in Chapter 1. Since the development of the Evolutionary Theory approach, scholars have stressed the idea that the environment may have determined the chances of survival. However, this hypothesis has been examined in the last decade as more importance is placed in human agency and behaviour for studying the actions in the past. In this line, the Niche Construction Theory emphasises the importance to consider agency as driving force for innovation and transformation of the landscape. Therefore, humans can survive even if they are located in precarious locations by modifying their behaviour in terms of social organization (e.g., labour force, exchange), economic activities (e.g., intensifying the consumption of certain foodstuffs or diversifying the production), and environment (e.g., deforestation).

We have followed the Niche Construction Theory as the theoretical framework to conceptualise early agropastoral groups. Our basis for modelling these systems was the Complex Systems Theory which argues that systems can be divided into inputs, outputs, and mechanisms. In this chapter, we have discussed the principal computational methods used in archaeology but especially for modelling socioecological systems and how models are built for this purpose. In this study, we have focused on Machine learning because when we started this research in 2019, we felt that the number of studies in archaeology applying this method was exponentially increasing but there was not any research done concerning its different algorithms, benefits, and limitations in archaeology. The only studies done up to that time discussed in a general way the advantages of the method but not a clear comparison of algorithms, guidelines for designing the models or software were provided. For this reason, the research study of Palacios (2023) was developed, aiming to fill the gap an characterise the application of machine learning in archaeology through a bibliometric study. Interestingly, the results obtained evidenced the initial perception that the number of studies applying machine learning were increasing, it was in 2019 when this increment started. It was also observed that the selection of machine learning algorithms did not consider the type of data for selecting the most suitable algorithm, but it was common to apply the exact same algorithm in all studies of the same field.

We have focused on one specific machine learning algorithm, the Bayesian networks, for four reasons: (i) it is a machine learning method and we wanted to explore its applicability to investigate this topic; (ii) Bayesian statistics have gained popularity in recent years and we wanted to explore whether they can be applied to model relationships between social variables; (iii) it is the only probabilistic supervised machine learning methodology and that means that it is a 'white-box', and a predictive model that provides graphical representations; (iv) Bayesian networks are uncommon in archaeology but have shown great potential in other fields for modelling uncertainty. Therefore, we wanted to explore whether this method is suitable in archaeology and, especially for studying farming communities.

In Chapter 2, we have presented the current status of the archaeological evidence used to model the transition from foraging to early agropastoral systems in the Mediterranean. This topic is probably one of the most explored and debated in archaeology and recent studies shed new light on the when, where, how, and possible 'whys' this transition took place. While the traditional discourse was built as a narrative of sequences that started from less complex groups towards more advanced social systems, current empirical evidence demonstrates that this transition was a long, dynamic, and arrhythmic process with general patterns and local variations.

To explore this, we have provided first the empirical evidence of the archaeological record and then how researchers have modelled this evidence for interpreting these changes. We wanted to discuss the different elements that researchers have previously considered, the inputs, outputs, and mechanisms to gain a general overview of what variables were relevant for explaining the development of agropastoralism and its expansion across the Mediterranean. The research study published as Barceló and Palacios (2023) discusses specifically how we can model people displacement in migration processes from the evidence of migration throughout the Mediterranean during the early Neolithic. Our preliminary Bayesian Network application aimed modelling migration and defining what variables we may consider. We combined this study with the results obtained in the previously developed agent-based model named NEOLSPREAD v.04.

Chapter 3 discusses the arrival of early agropastoral communities in the Iberian Peninsula, which has traditionally been interpreted as a crucial change in the landscape. Hence, agropastoral groups would have inhabited different ecological niches than foragers as they would have looked for optimal locations for farming (e.g., high soil productivity, low slope, etc.). Research conducted in the last years

is proving this assumption wrong as it is evidencing that both foragers and agropastoral communities shared ecological niches. That makes sense since most forager settlements had continuity during the Neolithic period. That does not mean that all settlements were the same, but there is not a specifical landscape characteristics that allow us to define that it was unquestionably a Neolithic or Mesolithic settlement. We have observed differences in the foodstuff consumed among Neolithic settlements. There were some resources that were more consumed in some areas than others.

To quantify the influence of the environment in survival probabilities of agropastoral groups, we built a Bayesian networks model to measure the relationship among environment, social organisation, and socioeconomic strategies. With the ethnographical model, we identified patterns and preferences that are common in cross-cultural agropastoral societies. By comparing different groups, we knew what variables were more present and in what sort of landscapes. On the other hand, if we had only considered groups from the same region, it would have not been possible to identify cross-cultural patterns. It was enriching for obtaining an overview of different ways of agropastoral organisation in different regions, landscapes, and cultures in the world. The results obtained are significant for understanding how systems organise, what practices are more common in some landscapes rather than others, but not for extrapolating these results into the early Neolithic.

Our model is explained in two research studies, Palacios et al. (2022), and Palacios and Barceló (2023). Palacios et al. (2022) is focused on the methodological development of the model as it explains the preparation of data, and the different algorithms used for building the Bayesian Networks. Also, the relationships among landscape, social organisation, and socioeconomic strategies are explained in detail, concluding that the landscape is not a crucial factor for defining agropastoralism lifeways, since they can modify their production through organization. The starting point of Palacios and Barceló (2023) are the results obtained in this previous study and is centred on the role of social decisions to ensure the survival of agropastoral communities. We defined social decisions as those decisions that are made to cope with scarcity and ensure the survival of the community. The results evidence the importance of these activities as they allow communities to inhabit in a wide range of different ecological niches.

What is especially interesting about our model is the lack of correlation between variables that we thought to be clearly connected. Our results point out the importance of organising the work and the dynamism in this sort of society. The possibility of increasing the type of resources produced and exchanging them seasonally or temporally may be even more important than the location and environmental characteristics. That does not mean that it was not important, but it only highlights the capacity of people for transforming and shaping their landscape to meet their needs.

4.2. Results

We have partially achieved the objectives defined because we could not apply the model to a prehistoric dataset due to resource constraints. As already stated in the previous chapters, we used an ethnographical dataset because it was not possible to build the model from archaeological evidence of early agropastoral settlements due to several reasons associated with the data and knowledge limitations. Practices such as transhumance, exchange, crop intensification, or community size, are difficult to identify and measure in the archaeological record and it was already available in open access in ethnographical repositories. We decided that it was a good opportunity to use this data for building a first model and including all those variables that we considered that could have influenced the survival of agropastoral communities.

For an archaeological application, we would need a large dataset of prehistoric case studies (settlements). For every settlement, we would have recorded their landscape characteristics, the intensity in which every subsistence strategy is practised, the number of people living there, whether inhabitants exchanged their resources, if they migrated, what social decision they preferred, etc. It is not impossible to have such dataset, in fact, there is an increasing number of settlements that some of the variables of social decisions have been recorded. However, they are a minority. Such dataset is possible, but it needs further time and resources that the ones that were available for conducting this study.

Considering this, we proceed to answer the objectives specified in the Introduction chapter:

OBJECTIVE 1. Assess the suitability of Bayesian networks for modelling past socioecological systems

After constructing and applying a Bayesian Network model to explore the socioecological variables of agropastoral groups, we strongly believe that this methodology produces competent predictive models when multiple variables are considered. As other machine learning methods, it can be applied to explore the data, predict unknown evidence from the collected dataset, and to explain the interrelationship between multiple variables. In addition, Bayesian networks, produce graphs in which these relationships are represented, and each value of every node is measured and depicted in conditional probability tables. As a result, the interpretation of Bayesian networks is clear and unambiguous.

As previously mentioned, it is a method that predicts the trend, not the outliers. If it is aimed to explore a very specific case because it is different from what we observe in similar contexts, none of the ML algorithms would be suitable for that purpose. Another limitation of all Machine learning algorithms including Bayesian networks is the limitation on experimentation. It is not possible to experiment with

values that are not included in the dataset. It is not possible to experiment with evidence that we do not have. This can represent a limitation when modelling past socioecological systems, since most of the times the goal is to understand the internal mechanisms of the system. With Bayesian networks and other machine learning methods, we cannot ask questions like: How much would have changed if people ate that food instead of the other? What if the settlement had been bigger? What labour organisation would have been the most efficient in that environment? To answer these questions, simulation models such as agent-based would be more suitable. Simulation models offer the possibility to experiment with different options that might have occurred in the past and formulate hypotheses about their possible outcomes.

We believe that in the future it would be interesting to combine agent-based modelling with Bayesian networks methodology. Bayesian networks to explore the data, identify patterns and predicting unknown cases, and agent-based modelling to experiment with the predictions to better understand their mechanisms. We consider that Bayesian networks can provide us with the probabilities of different events in multiple contexts which can provide us with a solid foundation for designing the simulation model. This combination of methods may be especially relevant to investigate past socioecological studies because most of the times the social aspects are not easily observed in the archaeological record and, therefore, *in silico* experimentation can provide insightful information.

It must be pointed out that to correctly assess the model suitability, we should construct the same model with other machine learning methodologies. It would be extremely interesting to investigate and identify what methods are more suitable for what kind of data, questions, programming capacities of the author, computational availability, etc. As seen in the research article Palacios 2023 (Chapter 1), it seems that every researcher applies the kind of method that knows or that it is popular in their specialisation without reasoning if it is the best suited and the most adequate one. It may be what we have done here. We chose a method, and we applied it in different studies and answered different questions. Was Bayesian networks the best method for studying ethnographical data, or the variables considered in Palacios et al., 2022 and Palacios and Barceló, 2023? Should we conduct the same study with different machine learning algorithms, statistical tests, and agent-based modelling? This study represents the first application for building a predictive model in archaeology with Bayesian Networks. By making the code available in open access, we hope that in the future it will be improved and applied to explore other contexts and its suitability will be better assessed and contrasted. Thus far, it seems that accurate predictive models can be built with Bayesian networks.

OBJECTIVE 2. Explore ways to quantify the likely impact of environmental features on prehistoric social behaviour, even when this impact may have been indirect

This objective has been partially accomplished. We were able to develop a model that disentangled the complexity of the relationships between the multiple variables embedding farming systems. We quantified the intrinsic non-linear and non-monotone nature of the relationship of ecology, social behaviour, and economic strategies. Results show that some landscape characteristics of the settlement areas may had influenced indirectly the type of subsistence strategy of the community. Also, we identified patterns, strategies that were more probable in some landscapes than others. Importantly, results demonstrate the importance of considering the type of organisation, settlement, and amount of people for predicting the most probable location of a farming settlement. Human groups can build different kinds of social organisation independently to the local characteristics of their landscape.

This study represents a starting point, it was conceived as an exploratory study for applying a particular method to investigate a specific system and we were able to quantify the probable impact of environmental features on prehistoric social behaviour, even when this impact may have been indirect. We were able to question traditional assumptions such as the crucial role of soil productivity for farming communities by demonstrating the diversity in mixed farming economies. Our study evidence that individual factors constrained fewer particular forms of living and working and, therefore, farming communities are not constrained by their location.

OBJECTIVE 3. Analyse the probability of social behaviour depending on different socio-natural contexts

We have been able to predict the most probable behaviour given different socio-natural contexts with our Bayesian Network model. That was possible because we built a model with a cross-cultural small-scale farming dataset that included all the possible combinations for the social domain of this kind of society. They were well-documented ethnographic cases existing in the literature. That represented a strength of this study as if we had limited to a particular area of study, we would have probably obtained fewer combinations and scenarios for experimenting with different socio-natural contexts. In the research paper of Palacios et al. 2022, we selected some particular socio-natural contexts for predicting the behaviour and obtained the most probable outcomes, but our model can now be reused by other researchers for predicting the contexts they are interested in.

From our point of view, what is a relevant contribution of this work is that underlines the importance of more than environmental variables for settlement prediction modelling. More variables, and not only landscape and environment, should be considered to understand how survival was possible thousands of years ago. For example, our model suggests that animal husbandry could not be limited to a singular niche, but herders could move their flocks seasonally and, therefore, adapt to many different environmental circumstances. Social decisions such as diversifying the resources produced, migration of people or the exchange of foodstuffs could have played a major role in managing and compensating the resource availability in the community.

OBJECTIVE 4. Investigate the social and economic dynamics of early agropastoral systems, how economic decisions may have affected chances of survival in the prehistoric past, and its consequences on the likelihood of finding enough archaeological evidence for a proper historical explanation

From the results obtained in Palacios et al. (2022) and Palacios and Barceló (2023), environmental features are not especially relevant in agropastoral communities. Other variables such as social decisions, the size of the community and the type of settlement are more associated with the kind of subsistence strategy of these communities. Therefore, from these results, we can hypothesise that the landscape would have not been crucial for these groups, and they would have been able to inhabit different niches. This is aligned with the archaeological evidence discussed in Chapter 3.

We were not able to measure the survival probability of these communities in different ecological niches because for that we would have needed a dataset with communities that survived and others that did not.

In the near future, we would like to build a Bayesian network model with landscape and socioeconomic variables of early agropastoral communities collected from the archaeological record. It would be interesting to add another variable specifying if the settlement had continuity after the Early Neolithic and, this way introducing the concept of survival. This way, we would like to explore patterns in settlement location and investigate whether it is associated with their socioeconomic practices. By doing so, we hope we will be able to assess the consequences of socioeconomic practices on the probability of settlement location.

4.3. Future Research Directions

This research aimed to investigate the relationship between the environment and the socioeconomic strategies of early farming communities. Thus far, we have only answered: **in what ecological conditions can agropastoral groups live?** We have not had time to apply the model to an archaeological dataset of early Neolithic settlements in the Iberian Peninsula and, for this reason, these results are still merely exploratory. Aligned with the archaeological evidence found in recent years, our results indicate that the environment was probably important for early agropastoral communities but not restrictive. Human agency, those actions that people carried out for transforming their surrounding socio-natural landscape was crucial. Unlike foraging communities, agropastoralists actively modified their location through mechanisms, either modifying the food produced and consumed (diversification of different resources, intensification of particular resources), their social relationships (exchange, labour force) or the environment (transhumance, migration). There was a nonlinear complex relationship between environment and settlement location.

These results call into question whether it would make sense then to construct a settlement prediction model for identifying agropastoral sites in the Iberian Peninsula, for example. In other words, if agropastoral sites could be located anywhere, we should not be able to find locations that have higher probabilities to have sites than others. This may sound discouraging, in the sense that it would be benefitial for archaeologists to design a model that points to very delimited locations and find Neolithic settlements with high accuracy. Nevertheless, we would like to stress that it is not. We are a small further step towards understanding how and why agropastoral groups ensured their long-term survival.

However, in this thesis we have not explored **if there are ecological conditions in which agropastoral groups could have never lived**. To do so, we would need to include case studies of random locations in which we know for sure that people never lived in our dataset. Environmental characteristics of every location would be detailed, but also other variables that could have potentially induced the absence of occupation. For example, it would be paramount to consider potential nearby settlements as the closer distance between settlements could have caused the territory in between to be unoccupied. Or the type of resources produced in those nearby settlements, as they could have used that space for cultivation or for herding and it has not been recorded archaeologically. Or the size of these settlements, since it may be necessary to have unoccupied territory near large settlements. Multiple variables would be recorded to predict the output 'Survival =Yes/No'.

We have applied our study at a macro-level to identify patterns and trends, but it would be interesting to do at the micro-level as well to go further than Yes/No and investigate the how and why.
In the end, the principal contribution of this thesis is the development of the predictive model using a rather uncommon method in archaeology to explore a topic that has a long and controversial trajectory in prehistoric studies. However, this is only the starting point. This research concludes with more questions than answers. With the continuous innovation of methods, technologies, and settlements identification, we are confident that soon we will advance in our understanding of the why, how, where, and when agropastoral groups lived. We hope that further research focusing on the importance of what we have named here as 'social decisions' is conducted, going a step further the traditional linear relationship between landscape and subsistence strategies. We hope that we contributed, albeit to a small extent, in the discussion on the modelling of early agropastoral communities, helping to better understand them.

Bibliography

- Aalders, I. (2008). Modeling land-use decision behavior with Bayesian belief networks. *Ecology and Society*, 13(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-02362-130116
- Abbo, S., & Gopher, A. (2020). Plant domestication in the Neolithic Near East: The humans-plants liaison. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 242, 106412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2020.106412
- Abbo, S., Lev-Yadun, S., Heun, M., & Gopher, A. (2013). On the 'lost' crops of the neolithic Near East. *Journal* of Experimental Botany, 64(4), 815-822. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ers373
- Acosta Martínez, P. (1995). Las culturas del neolítico y calcolítico en Andalucía Occidental. *Espacio, Tiempo y Forma, Serie 1, Prehistoria y Arqueología, 1*(8), 33-80. https://doi.org/10.5944/etfi.8.1995.4720
- Acosta Martínez, P., & Pellicer Catalán, M. (1997). *El Neolítico y Calcolítico de la Cueva de Nerja en el contexto andaluz*. Patronato de la Cueva de Nerja.
- Afrin, T., & Yodo, N. (2021). A probabilistic estimation of traffic congestion using Bayesian network. *Measurement*, 174, 109051. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.measurement.2021.109051
- Aguayo De Hoyos, P., Martínez Fernández, G., & Moreno Jiménez, F. (1990). Articulación de los sistemas de hábitats neolítico y eneolítico en la depresión de Ronda. *Cuadernos de Prehistoria de la Universidad de Granada*, 14-15, 67-80.
- Aguirre, M., López J. A., & Sáenz de Buruaga, A. (2000). Medio ambiente, industrias y poblamiento prehistórico en Urdaibai (Gernika, Bizkaia) del Würm reciente al Holoceno medio. *Illunzar*, 4, 13-18.
- Agustí, J., & Roca, E. (1987). Síntesis biostratigráfica de la fosa de la Cerdanya (Pirineos orientales). *Estudios Geológicos*, 43(5-6), 521-529.
- Ahedo, V., Caro, J., Bortolini, E., Zurro, D., Madella, M., & Galán, J. M. (2019). Quantifying the relationship between food sharing practices and socio-ecological variables in small-scale societies: A cross-cultural multi-methodological approach. *PloS One, 14*(5), e0216302. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0216302
- Ahedo, V., Zurro, D., Caro, J., & Galán, J. M. (2021). Let's go fishing: A quantitative analysis of subsistence choices with a special focus on mixed economies among small-scale societies. *PloS One*, 16(8), e0254539. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0254539
- Alberti, G. (2014). Modeling group size and scalar stress by logistic regression from an archaeological perspective. *PloS One*, *9*(3), e91510. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0091510
- Alcalde, G., & Saña, M. (2008). Procés d'ocupació de la Bauma del Serrat del Pont (la Garrotxa) entre 7400 i 5480 cal AC. Museu Comarcal de la Garrotxa.
- Alcalde, G., & Saña, M. (2017). Mesolithic occupations in Bauma de Serrat del Pont, 7500–6500 cal BC: new data on the last hunter-gatherer populations in northeast Iberia. *Mesolithic Miscellany*, 25(1), 3-10.
- Alexander, C. (2005). A Bayesian analysis of the radiocarbon evidence for the spread of the Neolithic in Italy [Doctoral dissertation, University of Cambridge].
- Allaby, R. G., Smith, O., Kistler, L. (2018). Archaeogenomics and crop adaptation. In C. Lindqvist, & O. Rajora (Eds.), *Paleogenomics. Population genomics* (pp. 189-204). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/13836 2018 51
- Allaby, R. G., Stevens, C. J., & Fuller, D. Q. (2022). A novel cost framework reveals evidence for competitive selection in the evolution of complex traits during plant domestication. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 537, 111004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2022.111004
- Alley, R. B. (2000). The Younger Dryas cold interval as viewed from central Greenland. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 19(1-5), 213-226. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-3791(99)00062-1
- Alley, R. B., & Ágústsdóttir, A. M. (2005). The 8k event: Cause and consequences of a major Holocene abrupt
climate change. Quaternary Science Reviews, 24(10-11), 1123-1149.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2004.12.004
- Alley, R. B., Mayewski, P. A., Sowers, T., Stuiver, M., Taylor, K. C., & Clark, P. U. (1997). Holocene climatic instability: A prominent, widespread event 8200 yr ago. *Geology*, 25(6), 483-486. https://doi.org/10.1130/0091-7613(1997)025<0483:HCIAPW>2.3.CO;2

- Altaweel, M. (2008). Investigating agricultural sustainability and strategies in northern Mesopotamia: results produced using a socio-ecological modeling approach. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 35(4), 821-835.
- Altuna, J. (1980). *Historia de la domesticación animal en el País Vasco desde sus orígenes hasta la romanización*. San Sebastián: Sociedad de Ciencias Aranzadi.
- Ammerman, A. J. & Cavalli-Sforza, L. L. (1984). *The Neolithic transition and the genetics of populations in Europe*. Princeton University Press
- Andriyas, S., & McKee, M. (2015). Development of a bayesian belief network model framework for analyzing farmers' irrigation behavior. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 7(7), 1.
- Angelucci, D. E., Boschian, G., Fontanals, M., Pedrotti, A., & Vergès, J. M. (2009). Shepherds and karst: the use of caves and rock-shelters in the Mediterranean region during the Neolithic. *World Archaeology*, 41(2), 191-214. https://doi.org/10.1080/00438240902843659
- Antolín, F., & Jacomet, S. (2015). Wild fruit use among early farmers in the Neolithic (5400–2300 cal BC) in the north-east of the Iberian Peninsula: an intensive practice?. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany*, 24, 19– 33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00334-014-0483-x
- Antolín, F., & Saña, M. (2022). Subsistence activities in the Early Neolithic in the northeast Iberian Peninsula: Crop and livestock farming practices, hunting, fishing and gathering. *Cypsela*, 22, 329-349.
- Antolín, F., Buxó, R., Jacomet, S., Navarrete, V., & Saña, M. (2014). An integrated perspective on farming in the early Neolithic lakeshore site of La Draga (Banyoles, Spain). *Environmental Archaeology*, 19(3), 241-255. https://doi.org/10.1179/1749631414Y.0000000027
- Antolín, F., Jacomet, S., & Buxó, R. (2015). The hard knock life. Archaeobotanical data on farming practices during the Neolithic (5400–2300 cal BC) in the NE of the Iberian Peninsula. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 61, 90-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2015.05.007
- Antolín, F., Navarrete, V., Saña, M., Viñerta, Á., & Gassiot, E. (2018). Herders in the mountains and farmers in the plains? A comparative evaluation of the archaeobiological record from Neolithic sites in the eastern Iberian Pyrenees and the southern lower lands. *Quaternary International*, 484, 75-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2017.05.056
- Aranzadi, T., & Barandiarán, J. M. (1935). Exploraciones en la caverna de Santimamiñe (Ba- sondo:Cortézubi). Tercera memoria, yacimientos Azilienses y Paleolíticos. Exploraciones de la caverna de Lumentxa (Lekeitio). Bilbao. Diputación de Vizcaya.
- Araus, J. L., Ferrio, J. P., Buxó, R., & Voltas, J. (2007). The historical perspective of dryland agriculture: lessons learned from 10 000 years of wheat cultivation. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 58(2), 131-145. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erl133
- Argyrou, A., & Agapiou, A. (2022). A Review of Artificial Intelligence and Remote Sensing for Archaeological Research. *Remote Sensing*, 14(23), 6000. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14236000
- Arias, P. (2007). Neighbours but diverse: social change in north-west Iberia during the transition from the Mesolithic to the Neolithic (5500-4000 cal BC). *Proceedings in British Academy*, 144, 53-71.
- Arranz-Otaegui, A., Carretero, L. G., Roe, J., & Richter, T. (2018). "Founder crops" v. wild plants: Assessing the plant-based diet of the last hunter-gatherers in southwest Asia. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 186, 263-283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2018.02.011
- Arranz-Otaegui, A., Colledge, S., Zapata, L., Teira-Mayolini, L. C., & Ibáñez, J. J. (2016). Regional diversity on the timing for the initial appearance of cereal cultivation and domestication in southwest Asia. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 113(49), 14001-14006. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1612797113
- Arribas Pastor, J. L. A., & Gochi, E. B. (2018). Excavaciones en la cueva de Lumentxa (Lekeitio, Bizkaia). Campañas de 1984 a 1993. *Kobie. Paleoantropología*, *36*, 31-55.
- Asquerino, M. D., & López, P. (1981). La Cueva del Nacimiento (Pontones): un yacimiento neolítico en la Sierra del Segura. *Trabajos de Prehistoria*, *38*, 109-152.
- Aura Tortosa, J.E., Jordá Pardo, J.F., Pérez Ripoll, M., Morales Pérez, J.V., García Puchol, O., González-Tablas Sastre, F.J., & Avezuela, B. (2009). Epipaleolítico y Mesolítico en Andalucía Oriental primeras notas a partir de los datos de la Cueva de Nerja (Málaga, España). In P. Utrilla Miranda, & L. Montes Ramírez

(Eds.), *El Mesolítico Geométrico en la Península Ibérica* (pp. 343-359). Departamento de Ciencias de la Antigüedad.

- Aura, J., Jordá, J., Morales, J., Pérez, M., Villalba, M. P., & Alcover, J. (2009). Economic transitions in finis terra: the western Mediterannean of Iberia, 15-7 ka BP. *Before Farming*, 2, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.3828/bfarm.2009.2.4
- Baird, D., Fairbairn, A., & Martin, L. (2017). The animate house, the institutionalization of the household in Neolithic central Anatolia. World Archaeology, 49(5), 753-776. https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.2016.1215259
- Baker, M. J. (2008). A structural model of the transition to agriculture. *Journal of Economic Growth*, *13*, 257-292. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10887-008-9034-6
- Balaresque, P., Bowden, G. R., Adams, S. M., Leung, H. Y., King, T. E., Rosser, Z. H., ... & Jobling, M. A. (2010). A predominantly neolithic origin for European paternal lineages. *PLoS Biology*, 8(1), e1000285. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1000285
- Baldellou Martínez, V. (2011). La Cueva de Chaves (Bastarás-Casbas, Huesca). In J. Bernabeu Aubán, M. A. Rojo Guerra & L. Molina Balaguer (Eds.), Las Primeras Producciones Cerámicas: El VI Milenio cal AC en la Península Ibérica, Saguntum (pp. 65-81). Universitat de València.
- Baldellou, V. (1987). Avance al estudio de la Espluga de la Puyascada. Bolskan, 4, 3-42.
- Banning, E. B., & Chazan, M. (2006). Domesticating space: construction, community, and cosmology in the late prehistoric Near East. In G. O. Rollefson & H. G. K. Gebel (Eds.), *Neo-lithics*, 1(6), 47.
- Bar-Matthews, M., Ayalon, A., & Kaufman, A. (2000). Timing and hydrological conditions of Sapropel events in the Eastern Mediterranean, as evident from speleothems, Soreq cave, Israel. *Chemical Geology*, 169(1-2), 145-156. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0009-2541(99)00232-6
- Bar-Matthews, M., Ayalon, A., Gilmour, M., Matthews, A., & Hawkesworth, C. J. (2003). Sea–land oxygen isotopic relationships from planktonic foraminifera and speleothems in the Eastern Mediterranean region and their implication for paleorainfall during interglacial intervals. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 67(17), 3181-3199. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7037(02)01031-1
- Bar-Yosef, O. (2017). Multiple origins of agriculture in Eurasia and Africa. In M. Tibayrenc & F. A. Ayala (Eds.), On human nature (pp. 297-331). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2013-0-12950-9
- Bar-Yosef, O., & Belfer-Cohen, A. (1992). From foraging to farming in the Mediterranean Levant. In A. B. Gebauer & T. D. Price (Eds.), *Transitions to agriculture in prehistory* (pp. 21-48). Prehistory Press.
- Bar-Yosef, O., & Belfer-Cohen, A. (2000). Nahal Ein Gev II—a Late Epipaleolithic site in the Jordan Valley. *Journal of the Israel Prehistoric Society*, 30, 49-72.
- Bar-Yosef, O., & Killebrew, A. (1984). Wadi Sayakh a Geometric Keberan site in southern Sinai. *Paléorient*, 10(2), 95-102.
- Bar-Yosef, O., & Kislev, M. E. (2014). Early farming communities in the Jordan Valley. In D. R. Harris & G. C. Hillman (Eds.), *Foraging and farming* (pp. 632-642). Routledge.
- Bar-Yosef, O. (1998). The Natufian culture in the Levant, threshold to the origins of agriculture. *Evolutionary* Anthropology: Issues, News, and Reviews: Issues, News, and Reviews, 6(5), 159-177. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1520-6505(1998)6:5<159::AID-EVAN4>3.0.CO;2-7
- Barceló, J. A. (1996). Heuristic classification and fuzzy sets. New tools for archaeological typologies.
- Barcelo, J. A. (2009). Computational intelligence in archaeology. IGI Global.
- Barceló, J. A. (2017). Using Computational Methods to Understand the Past in The Present. *Global Journal of* Archaeology and Anthropology, 1(2), 555-558. https://doi.org/10.19080/GJAA.2017.01.555558
- Barceló, J. A., & Faura, M. (1997). Time series and neural networks in archaeological seriation. An example on early pottery from the near east. In L. Dingwall, S. Exon, V. Gaffney, S. Laflin & M. Leusen (Eds.), *Archaeology in the age of internet* (pp. 91-102). Oxford University Press.
- Barceló, J. A.; Del Castillo, M. F.; Mameli, L. (2015). The probabilities of prehistoric events: A Bayesian network approach. In J. A. Barceló, & I. Bogdanovic (Eds.), *Mathematics and Archaeology*, (pp. 464-484). CRC Press.

- Barker, G. (2006). The agricultural revolution in prehistory: Why did foragers become farmers?. Oxford University Press.
- Barker, S. F. (2020). *Induction and hypothesis: A study of the logic of confirmation*. Cornell University Press. https://doi.org/10.7591/9781501741173
- Barnett, W. K. (2000). Cardial pottery and the agricultural transition in Mediterranean Europe. In T. D. Price (Ed.), *Europe's first farmers* (pp. 93-116). Cambridge University Press.
- Barrera, F. B., & del Olmo, F. D. (1994). El acantilado de El Asperillo: Cuaternario reciente y fases. *Geogaceta*, 15, 94-97.
- Barton, C. M. (2016). From narratives to algorithms: Extending archaeological explanation beyond archaeology. In C. Isendahl, & D. Stump (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Historical Ecology and Applied Archaeology* (pp.279-301). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199672691.013.28
- Barton, C. M., Ullah, I. I., & Bergin, S. (2010). Land use, water and Mediterranean landscapes: modelling long-term dynamics of complex socio-ecological systems. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, 368(1931), 5275-5297. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2010.0193
- Barton, C. M., Ullah, I. I., Bergin, S. M., Mitasova, H., & Sarjoughian, H. (2012). Looking for the future in the past: long-term change in socioecological systems. *Ecological Modelling*, 241, 42-53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2012.02.010
- Baum, T. (2016). Simulating Land Use of Prehistoric Wetland Settlements: Did Excessive Resource Use Necessitate a Highly Dynamic Settlement System?. In J. A. Barceló, & M. F. Del Castillo (Eds.), Simulating Prehistoric and Ancient Worlds. Computational Social Sciences (pp. 255-279). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-31481-5 9
- Baum, T. G. (2014). Models of wetland settlement and associated land use in South-West Germany during the fourth millennium b. c. *Vegetation history and archaeobotany*, 23, 67-80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00334-014-0453-3
- Baum, T., Mainberger, M., Taylor, T., Tinner, W., Hafner, A., & Ebersbach, R. (2020). How many, how far? Quantitative models of Neolithic land use for six wetland sites on the northern Alpine forelands between 4300 and 3700 BC. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany*, 29, 621-639. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00334-019-00768-9
- Begueria, S. (2020). Transhumance and long-term deforestation in the subalpine belt of the central Spanish Pyrenees: An interdisciplinary approach. *Catena*, 195, 104744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2020.104744
- Belfer-Cohen, A. (1988). The Natufian graveyard in Hayonim cave. Paléorient, 297-308.
- Belfer-Cohen, A., & Goring-Morris, A. N. (2005). Which way to look? conceptual frameworks for understanding Neolithic processes. In G. O. Rollefson & H. G. K. Gebel (Eds.), *Dialogue on the Early Neolithic origin of ritual centers. Neo-Lithics*, 2(05), 22-24.
- Belfer-Cohen, A., & Goring-Morris, A. N. (2011). Becoming farmers: the inside story. *Current* Anthropology, 52(S4), S209-S220. https://doi.org/10.1086/658860
- Bell, S., & Croson, C. (1998). Artificial neural networks as a tool for archaeological data analysis. *Archaeometry*, 40(1), 139-151. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-4754.1998.tb00829.x
- Belli, C., Caracuta, V., Nadel, D., Boaretto, E., Yeshurun, R., & Weinstein-Evron, M. (2023). Archaeobotany of el-Wad Terrace, Mount Carmel (Israel): insights into plant exploitation along the Natufian sequence. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany*, 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00334-023-00905-5
- Benz, M., Gresky, J., Štefanisko, D., Alarashi, H., Knipper, C., Purschwitz, C., ... & Gebel, H. G. K. (2019). Burying power: New insights into incipient leadership in the Late Pre-Pottery Neolithic from an outstanding burial at Ba'ja, southern Jordan. *Plos One*, 14(8), e0221171. ttps://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0221171
- Berger, J. F., & Guilaine, J. (2009). The 8200 cal BP abrupt environmental change and the Neolithic transition: A
Mediterranean perspective. Quaternary International, 200(1-2), 31-49.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2008.05.013

- Berger, J. F., Lespez, L., Kuzucuoğlu, C., Glais, A., Hourani, F., Barra, A., & Guilaine, J. (2016). Interactions between climate change and human activities during the early to mid-Holocene in the eastern Mediterranean basins. *Climate of the Past*, 12(9), 1847-1877. https://doi.org/10.5194/cp-12-1847-2016
- Bergin, S. M. (2016). Mechanisms and models of agropastoral spread during the Neolithic in the West Mediterranean: the Cardial spread model. Arizona State University.
- Berkes, F., Colding, J., & Folke, C. (2000). Rediscovery of traditional ecological knowledge as adaptive management. *Ecological Applications*, 10(1), 1251–1262. https://doi.org/10.2307/2641280
- Bernabeu Aubán, J. B., Balaguer, L. M., Bebiá, M. A. E., Pérez, J. R. O., & Soler, J. D. D. B. (2009). La cerámica impresa mediterránea en el origen del Neolítico de la península Ibérica. In P. Ortega Martínez (Ed.), De Méditerranée et d'ailleurs...: mélanges offerts à Jean Guilaine (pp. 83-96).
- Bernabeu-Aubán, J., Orozco Köhler, T., Díez Castillo, A., Gómez Puche, M., & Molina Hernández, F. J. (2003).
 Mas d'Is (Penàguila, Alicante): aldeas y recintos monumentales del Neolítico Inicial en el valle del Serpis. *Trabajos de Prehistoria*, 60(2), 39-59. https://doi.org/10.3989/tp.2003.v60.i2.80
- Bernabeu, J., & Martí, B. (2014). The first agricultural groups in the Iberian Peninsula. In C. Manen, T. Perrin, & J. Guilain (Eds.), La transition néolithique en Méditerranée (pp. 419-438). Errance/AEP Paris.
- Bhavsar, H., & Ganatra, A. (2012). A comparative study of training algorithms for supervised machine learning. *International Journal of Soft Computing and Engineering (IJSCE)*, 2(4), 2231-2307.
- Biagi, P. (2003). New data on the early neolithic of the upper Adriatic region. *BAR INTERNATIONAL SERIES*, 1139, 337-346.
- Biehl, P. F., Franz, I., Ostaptchouk, S., Orton, D., Rogasch, J., & Rosenstock, E. (2012). One community and two tells: the phenomenon of relocating tell settlements at the turn of the 7th and the 6th millennia in Central Anatolia. In R. Hillman, F. K. Moetz, & J. Müller (Eds.), *Tells: Social and environmental space* (pp. 53-65). Herausgeber.
- Binford, L. R. (1962). Archaeology as anthropology. American Antiquity, 28(2), 217-225.
- Binford, L. R. (1968). Post-Pleistocene adaptations. In L. R. Binford & S. R. Binford (Eds.), New Perspectives in Archaeology (pp. 313-341). American Anthropological Association.
- Binford, L. R. (1972). Contemporary model building: paradigms and the current state of Palaeolithic research. In D. L. Clarke (Ed.), *Models in Archaeology*, (pp. 62-108). Routledge.
- Binford, L. R. (1983). Working at archaeology. Academic Press.
- Birch, S. E. P., & Vander Linden, M. (2018). A long hard road... Reviewing the evidence for environmental change and population history in the eastern Adriatic and western Balkans during the Late Pleistocene and Early Holocene. *Quaternary International*, 465, 177-191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2016.12.035
- Blanco-Lapaz, A., & Vergès, J. M. (2016). Fish remains from the Neolithic site of El Mirador cave (Atapuerca, Spain): Seasonality and resource management. *Comptes Rendus Palevol*, 15(6), 745-751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crpv.2015.09.007
- Blanton, R. E. (1998), Beyond Centralization: Steps Toward a Theory of Egalitarian Behavior in Archaic States. In G. M. Feinman & J. Marcus (Eds.), *Archaic States* (pp. 135-172). School of American Research Press.
- Blockley, S. P., & Pinhasi, R. (2011). A revised chronology for the adoption of agriculture in the Southern Levant and the role of Late glacial climatic change. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 30(1-2), 98-108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2010.09.021
- Boattini, A., Martinez-Cruz, B., Sarno, S., Harmant, C., Useli, A., Sanz, P., ... & Genographic Consortium. (2013). Uniparental markers in Italy reveal a sex-biased genetic structure and different historical strata. *Plos One*, 8(5), e65441. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0065441
- Bocquet Appel, J., & Naji, S. (2006). Testing the hypothesis of a worldwide Neolithic demographic transition: corroboration from American cemeteries. *Current Anthropology*, 47(2), 341-365. https://doi.org/10.1086/498948
- Bocquet-Appel, J. P. (2002). Paleoanthropological traces of a Neolithic demographic transition. *Current* Anthropology, 43(4), 637-650. https://doi.org/10.1086/342429

- Bocquet-Appel, J. P. (2009). The demographic impact of the agricultural system in human history. *Current* Anthropology, 50(5), 657-660. https://doi.org/10.1086/605552
- Bocquet-Appel, J. P., Naji, S., Vander Linden, M., & Kozlowski, J. (2012). Understanding the rates of expansion of the farming system in Europe. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, *39*(2), 531-546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2011.10.010
- Bogaard, A. (2004). *Neolithic farming in central Europe: An archaeobotanical study of crop husbandry practices*. Psychology Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203358009
- Bogaard, A. (2017). The archaeology of food surplus. *World Archaeology*, 49(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.2017.1294105
- Bogaard, A., & Jones, G. (2007). Neolithic farming in Britain and central Europe: contrast or continuity?. *Proceedings British Academy*, 144, 357-375. https://doi.org/10.5871/bacad/9780197264140.003.0019
- Bogaard, A., Allaby, R., Arbuckle, B. S., Bendrey, R., Crowley, S., Cucchi, T., ... & Larson, G. (2021). Reconsidering domestication from a process archaeology perspective. *World Archaeology*, 53(1), 56-77. ttps://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.2021.1954990
- Bollig, M. (2006). *Risk management in a hazardous environment: A comparative study of two pastoral societies*. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-27582-6
- Bommel, P., Becu, N., Le Page, C., & Bousquet, F. (2016). Cormas: An agent-based simulation platform for coupling human decisions with computerized dynamics. In T. Kaneda, H. Kanegae, Y. Toyoda, P. Rizzi (Eds.), *Simulation and gaming in the Network Society*. Translational Systems Sciences (Vol. 9, pp. 1-25). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-0575-6 27
- Borrell, F., Junno, A., & Barceló, J. A. (2015). Synchronous environmental and cultural change in the emergence of agricultural economies 10,000 years ago in the Levant. *Plos One*, 10(8), e0134810. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0134810
- Bosch, A. (1994). El Neolítico antiguo en el nordeste de Cataluña. Contribución a la problemática de la evolución de las primeras comunidades neolíticas en el Mediterráneo occidental. *Trabajos de Prehistoria*, 51(1), 55-75.
- Bosch, A., Chinchilla, J., & Tarrús, J. (2000). *El poblat neolític de La Draga. Excavacions de 1990 a 1998.* CASC-Museu d'Arqueologia de Catalunya.
- Bosch, A., Chinchilla, J., & Tarrús, J. (2006). Els objectes de fusta del poblat neolític de La Draga: excavacions 1995–2005. CASC-Museu d'Arqueologia de Catalunya.
- Bosch, J. & Santacana, J. (2009). *Blat, metalls i cabdills Catalunya del neolític a la iberització*. Barcelona, Rafael Dalmau.
- Bosch, J., Clop, X., Gallart, J., & Oms, F. X. (2022). El neolític antic a la conca catalana de l'Ebre: jaciments, ritmes i dinàmiques d'implantació i explotació del territori. *Cypsela: Revista de prehistòria i protohistòria*, 105-124.
- Bouby, L., Marinval, P., Durand, F., Figueiral, I., Briois, F., Martzluff, M., ... & Manen, C. (2020). Early Neolithic (ca. 5850-4500 cal BC) agricultural diffusion in the Western Mediterranean: An update of archaeobotanical data in SW France. *Plos One*, 15(4), e0230731. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0230731
- Bowles, S., & Choi, J. K. (2003). The first property rights revolution. In Workshop on the Co-evolution of Behaviors and Institutions, Santa Fe Institute.
- Bowles, S., & Choi, J. K. (2013). Coevolution of farming and private property during the early Holocene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(22), 8830-8835. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1212149110
- Bowles, S., & Choi, J. K. (2019). The Neolithic agricultural revolution and the origins of private property. *Journal* of Political Economy, 127(5), 2186-2228. https://doi.org/10.1086/701789
- Boyd, R., & Richerson, P. J. (1988). Culture and the evolutionary process. University of Chicago Press.
- Braidwood, R. J. (1960). The agricultural revolution. Scientific American, 203(3), 130-152.
- Braidwood, R. J. & Howe, B. (1960). *Prehistoric investigations in Iraqi Kurdistan*. The Oriental Institute of the University of Chicago Studies in Ancient Oriental Civilization, 31. University of Chicago Press.

- Bramanti, B., Thomas, M. G., Haak, W., Unterländer, M., Jores, P., Tambets, K., ... & Burger, J. (2009). Genetic discontinuity between local hunter-gatherers and central Europe's first farmers. *Science*, 326(5949), 137-140. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1176869
- Branch, N. P., Black, S., Maggi, R., & Marini, N. A. (2014). The Neolithisation of Liguria (NW Italy): An environmental archaeological and palaeoenvironmental perspective. *Environmental Archaeology*, 19(3), 196-213. https://doi.org/10.1179/1749631414Y.0000000024
- Breasted, J. H. (1916). Ancient times, a history of the early world: an introduction to the study of ancient history and the career of early man. Boston, MA: Ginn.
- Bridault, A., & Rabinovich, R. (2019). Investigating wild game exploitation during the Final Natufian at Eynan / Ain Mallaha: Contribution of the macro mammal remains. *ASWA[AA] XIVth International Meeting*, Barcelona, Spain.
- Brisset, E., Burjachs, F., Navarro, B. J. B. & de Pablo, J. F. L. (2018). Socio-ecological adaptation to Early-Holocene sea-level rise in the western Mediterranean. *Global and Planetary Change*, 169, 156-167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2018.07.016
- Brouwer Burg, M. (2016). GIS-Based Modeling of Archaeological Dynamics (GMAD): Weaknesses, Strengths, and the Utility of Sensitivity Analysis. In M. Brouwer Burg, H. Peeters, & W. Lovis (Eds.), Uncertainty and Sensitivity Analysis in Archaeological Computational Modeling. Interdisciplinary Contributions to Archaeology. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-27833-9_4
- Brouwer Burg, M., Peeters, H., Lovis, W.A. (2016). Introduction to Uncertainty and Sensitivity Analysis in Archaeological Computational Modeling. In M. Brouwer Burg, H. Peeters, & W. Lovis (Eds.), Uncertainty and Sensitivity Analysis in Archaeological Computational Modeling. Interdisciplinary Contributions to Archaeology. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-27833-9_1
- Bunge, M. (2017). Causality and modern science. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315081656
- Burry, L. S., Marconetto, B., Somoza, M., Palacio, P., Trivi, M., & D'Antoni, H. (2018). Ecosystem modeling using artificial neural networks: An archaeological tool. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, 18, 739-746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2017.07.013
- Buxó, R., & Piqué, R. (2008). Arqueobotánica. Los usos de las plantas en la península Ibérica. Editorial Ariel.
- Cain, J. (2001). *Planning improvements in natural resource management. guidelines for using bayesian networks to support the planning and management of development programmes in the water sector and beyond.* Centre for Ecology and Hydrology.
- Camagni, F., Colaceci, S., & Russo, M. (2019). Reverse modeling of cultural heritage. Pipeline and bottlenecks. *International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences*, 42, 197-204. https://doi.org/10.5194/isprs-archives-XLII-2-W9-197-2019
- Camalich, M. D., & Martín, D. (1999). El territorio almeriense desde los inicios de la producción hasta fines de la Antigüedad. Un modelo: la depresión de Vera y cuenca del río Almanzora. *Arqueologia Monografias. Junta de Andalucía, Sevilla*.
- Cannon, M. D., & Broughton, J. M. (2010). Evolutionary ecology and archaeology: An introduction. In J. M. Broughton, & M. D. Cannon (Eds.), *Evolutionary ecology and archaeology: Applications to problems in human evolution and prehistory* (pp. 1-12). University of Utah Press.
- Carmichael, T., & Hadžikadić, M. (2019). The Fundamentals of Complex Adaptive Systems. In T. Carmichael, A. Collins, & M. Hadžikadić (Eds.), *Complex Adaptive Systems. Understanding Complex Systems* (pp. 1-16). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20309-2_1
- Caro, A., Acosta, P., & Escacena J. L. (1987). Informe sobr ela prospección arqueológica con sondeo estratigráfico en el solar de la calle Alzaba (Lebrija-Sevilla). *Anuario Arqueológico de Andalucía*, *2*, 168-174.
- Carter, T., Contreras, D. A., Doyle, S., Mihailovic, D. D., & Skarpelis, N. (2016). Early Holocene interaction in the Aegean islands: Mesolithic chert exploitation at Stélida (Naxos, Greece) in context. In M. Ghilardi (Ed.), Géoarchéologie des îles de Méditerranée (pp. 275-286). CNRS Editions.
- Carter, T., Contreras, D., Doyle, S., Mihailovic, D. D., Moutsiou, T., & Skarpelis, N. (2014). The Stélida Naxos archaeological project: new data on the Middle Palaeolithic and Mesolithic cyclades. *Antiquity*, 88, 341.

- Casini, L., Orrù, V., Roccetti, M., & Marchetti, N. (2022, September). When Machines Find Sites for the Archaeologists: A Preliminary Study with Semantic Segmentation applied on Satellite Imagery of the Mesopotamian Floodplain. In Proceedings of the 2022 ACM Conference on Information Technology for Social Good (pp. 378-383). https://doi.org/10.1145/3524458.3547121
- Castelletti, A., & Soncini-Sessa, R. (2007). Bayesian Networks and participatory modelling in water resource management. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 22(8), 1075-1088. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2006.06.003
- Castiello, M. E. (2022). Predictive Modeling. In M. E. Castiello (Ed.), Computational and Machine Learning Tools for Archaeological Site Modeling (pp. 33-63). Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-88567-0
- Catalán, J., Pélachs, A., Gassiot Ballbè, E., Antolín i Tutusaus, F., Ballesteros, A., Batalla, M., ... & Soriano, J. M. (2012). Interacció entre clima i ocupació humana en la configuració del paisatge vegetal del Parc Nacional d'Aigüestortes i Estany de Sant Maurici, Boí (pp. 211-220). Generalitat de Catalunya.
- Cauvin, J. (1978). Les Premiers Villages de Syrie-Palestine du IXe au VIIe Millènaire avant J.C. CMO 4, Arch.3. Diffusion de Bocard, Paris.
- Cauvin, J. (1985). Le Néolithique de Cafer Höyük (Turquie): Bilan proviso ire après quatre campagnes (1979-1983). *Cahiers de l'Euphrate*, *4*, 123-133.
- Cauvin, J. (1994). Naissance des divinités, Naissance de l'agriculture. La Révolution des Symboles au Néolithique. CNRS Publications, Paris.
- Cauvin, J. (2000a). The Birth of the Gods and the Origins of Agriculture. Cambridge University Press.
- Cauvin, J. (2000b). The Symbolic Foundations of the Neolithic Revolution in the Near East. In I. Kuijt (Ed.), *Life in Neolithic Farming Communities. Social Organization, Identity, and Differentiation* (pp. 235-252). Kluwer Academic/Plenum.
- Cavalli-Sforza, L. L., & Feldman, M. W. (1981). Cultural transmission and evolution: A quantitative approach (No. 16). Princeton University Press.
- Cebrià, A., Fontanals, M., Martín, P., Morales, J. I., Oms, F. X., Rodríguez-Hidalgo, A., ... & Josep, M. (2014). Nuevos datos para el Neolítico antiguo en el nordeste de la Península Ibérica procedentes de la Cova del Toll (Moià, Barcelona) y de la Cova de la Font Major (L'Espluga de Francolí, Tarragona). *Trabajos de Prehistoria*, 71(1), 134-145.
- Cessford, C., & Carter, T. (2005). Quantifying the consumption of obsidian at Neolithic Çatalhöyük, Turkey. *Journal of Field Archaeology*, *30*(3), 305-315. https://doi.org/10.1179/009346905791072279
- Chattoe, E., Saam, N. J., & Möhring, M. (2000). Sensitivity Analysis in the Social Sciences: Problems and Prospects. In R. Suleiman, K. G. Troitzsch, N. Gilbert (Eds.), *Tools and Techniques for Social Science Simulation* (pp. 243-273). Physica, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-51744-0_13
- Chen, S. H., & Pollino, C. A. (2012). Good practice in Bayesian network modelling. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 37, 134-145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2012.03.012
- Childe, V. G. (1929). The Danube in prehistory. Clarendon Press
- Christiansen, J. H., & Altaweel, M. (2006). Simulation of natural and social process interactions: An example from Bronze Age Mesopotamia. *Social Science Computer Review*, 24(2), 209-226.
- Chu, A. C., & Xu, R. (2022). From neolithic revolution to industrialization. *Munich Personal RePEc Archive*, 114492, 1-24.
- Cioffi-Revilla, C. (2002). Invariance and universality in social agent-based simulations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(3), 7314-7316. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.082081499
- Clark, J. S. (1998). Why trees migrate so fast: confronting theory with dispersal biology and the paleorecord. *The American Naturalist*, *152*(2), 204-224.
- Clemente-Conte, I. (2019). La pesca en la prehistoria. IV Jornadas de Arqueología de Sobarbe, Boltaña. http://hdl.handle.net/10261/213024
- Clemente-Conte, I., & Gibaja, J. F. (1998). Working processes on cereals: an approach through microwear analysis. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 25(5), 457-464.

- Clemente-Conte, I., & Orozco, T. (2012). El uso de conchas marinas como soporte de útiles pulimentados: una pieza recuperada en Costamar (Castellón). *SAGUNTUM*, 44, 39-46. https://doi.org/10.7203/SAGVNTVM.44.1773
- Clemente-Conte, I., Gassiot Ballbè, E., Rey Lanaspa, J., Obea Gómez, L., Viñerta Crespo, A., & Saña Segui, M. (2016). Cueva de Coro Trasito (Tella-Sin, Huesca): un asentamiento pastoril en el Pirineo central con ocupaciones del Neolítico Antiguo y del Bronce Medio. In *I Congreso Arqueologia y Patrimonio Aragonés. Colegio Oficial de Doctores y Licenciados en Filosofía y Letras y en Ciencias de Aragón, Zaragoza* (pp. 71-80). Universidad de Zaragoza.
- Clemente-Conte, I., Mazzucco, N., Soares, J., da Silva, C. T., Muñoz, J. R., Vila, E. V., ... & Montañés, M. (2020). Fish resource exploitation in the southern Atlantic coast of the Iberian Peninsula: A view from the traceological analysis of flaked stone tools (sixth-fourth mill. cal BCE). *Quaternary International*, 541, 141-151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2020.01.006
- Cobo, J. M., Fort, J., & Isern, N. (2019). The spread of domesticated rice in eastern and southeastern Asia was mainly demic. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 101, 123-130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2018.12.001
- Coccia, M. (2018). An introduction to the methods of inquiry in social sciences. Journal of Social and Administrative Sciences, 5(2), 116-126.
- Cohen, M. N. (1977). The Food Crisis in Prehistory: Overpopulation and the Origins of Agriculture. Yale University Press.
- Colledge, S. (2002). Identifying pre-domestication cultivation in the archaeobotanical record using multivariate analysis presenting the case for quantification. In R. T. J. Cappers & S. Bottema (Eds.), *The Dawn of Farming in the Near East* (pp. 141-152). Ex Orient.
- Colledge, S., & Conolly, J. (2010). Reassessing the evidence for the cultivation of wild crops during the Younger Dryas at Tell Abu Hureyra, Syria. *Environmental Archaeology*, 15(2), 124-138. https://doi.org/10.1179/146141010X12640787648504
- Collier, N., Howe, T., & North, M. (2003, June). Onward and upward: The transition to Repast 2.0. In *Proceedings* of the First Annual North American Association for Computational Social and Organizational Science Conference (Vol. 122, p. 136).
- Colombaroli, D., Tinner, W., Van Leeuwen, J., Noti, R., Vescovi, E., Vanniere, B., ... & Bugmann, H. (2009). Response of broadleaved evergreen Mediterranean forest vegetation to fire disturbance during the Holocene: insights from the peri-Adriatic region. *Journal of Biogeography*, 36(2), 314-326. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2008.01987.x
- Colombaroli, D., Vannière, B., Emmanuel, C., Magny, M., & Tinner, W. (2008). Fire—vegetation interactions during the Mesolithic—Neolithic transition at Lago dell'Accesa, Tuscany, Italy. *The Holocene*, 18(5), 679-692. https://doi.org/10.1177/0959683608091779
- CoMSES Net (2023). CoMSES Network. URL https://www.comses.net
- Conway, J. (1970). The game of life. Scientific American, 223(4), 4.
- Cooke, K. L., & Renfrew, C. (1979). An experiment on the simulation of culture changes. In K.L. Cooke, & C. Renfrew (Eds.), *Transformations* (pp. 327-348). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-586050-5.50026-9
- Cortés Sánchez, M., Ferrer Palma, J. E., Marqués Merelo, I., Baldomero Navarro, A., & Simón Vallejo, M. D. (2007). Apuntes cronológicos, paleoambientales y culturales al tránsito Paleolítico medio-superior en Cueva Bajondillo (Torremolinos, Málaga). *Mainake, 29, 493-512*.
- Crabtree, S. A., Harris, K., Davies, B., & Romanowska, I. (2019). Outreach in archaeology with agent-based modeling: Part 3 of 3. Advances in Archaeological Practice, 7(2), 194-202. https://doi.org/10.1017/aap.2019.4
- Crema, E. R. (2022). Statistical inference of prehistoric demography from frequency distributions of radiocarbon dates: a review and a guide for the perplexed. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory*, 29, 1-32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10816-022-09559-5

- Cruz-Ramirez, N., Acosta-Mesa, H. G., Carrillo-Calvet, H., Nava-Fernández, L. A., & Barrientos-Martinez, R. E. (2007). Diagnosis of breast cancer using Bayesian networks: A case study. *Computers in Biology and Medicine*, 37(11), 1553-1564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compbiomed.2007.02.003
- Cubas, M., Altuna, J., Alvarez-Fernández, E., Armendariz, A., Fano, M. A., López-Dóriga, I. L., ... & Arias, P. (2016). Re-evaluating the Neolithic: the impact and the consolidation of farming practices in the Cantabrian region (northern Spain). *Journal of World Prehistory*, 29, 79-116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10963-016-9091-2
- Dang, K. B., Windhorst, W., Burkhard, B., & Müller, F. (2019). A Bayesian Belief Network–Based approach to link ecosystem functions with rice provisioning ecosystem services. *Ecological Indicators*, 100, 30-44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.04.055
- Darlington, C. D. (1969). The genetics of society. Past & Present, (43), 3-33.
- David, N., & Kramer, C. (2001). *Ethnoarchaeology in Action*. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781316036488
- Davies, B., Romanowska, I., Harris, K., & Crabtree, S. A. (2019). Combining geographic information systems and agent-based models in archaeology: Part 2 of 3. Advances in Archaeological Practice, 7(2), 185-193. https://doi.org/10.1017/aap.2019.5
- De Masi, F., Larosa, F., Porrini, D., & Mysiak, J. (2021). Cultural heritage and disasters risk: A machine-human coupled analysis. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 59, 102251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2021.102251
- de Vareilles, A., Bouby, L., Jesus, A., Martin, L., Rottoli, M., Vander Linden, M., & Antolín, F. (2020). One sea but many routes to Sail. The early maritime dispersal of Neolithic crops from the Aegean to the western Mediterranean. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, 29, 102140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2019.102140
- Delage, C. (2018). Revisiting Rolling stones: The procurement of non-local goods in the Epipaleolithic of the Near East. *Quaternary International*, 464, 159-172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2017.07.023
- Delgado, R., Núñez-González, J. D., Yébenes, J. C., & Lavado, Á. (2021). Survival in the intensive care unit: A prognosis model based on Bayesian classifiers. *Artificial Intelligence in Medicine*, 115, 102054. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.artmed.2021.102054
- Denham, W. W. (1971). Energy Relations and Some Basic Properties of Primate Social Organization 1. *American Anthropologist*, 73(1), 77-95.
- Diamond, J. (1997). Guns, germs and steel: a short history of everybody for the last 13,000 years. Random House.
- Dlamini, W. M. (2011). Application of Bayesian networks for fire risk mapping using GIS and remote sensing data. *GeoJournal*, 76, 283-296.
- Doran, J. (1970). Systems theory, computer simulations and archaeology. *World archaeology*, 1(3), 289-298. https://doi.org/10.1080/00438243.1970.9979448
- Dueppen, S. A. (2012). From kin to great house: Inequality and communalism at Iron Age Kirikongo, Burkina Faso. *American Antiquity*, 77(1), 3-39. https://doi.org/10.7183/0002-7316.77.1.3
- Dunnell, R. C. (1979). Trends in current Americanist archaeology.
- Dunnell, R. C. (1980). Evolutionary theory and archaeology. In M. B. Schiffer (Ed.), *Advances in archaeological method and theory* (pp. 35-99). Academic Press.
- Dunnell, R.C. (1989). Aspects of the application of evolutionary theory in archaeology. In C.C. Lamberg-Karlovsky (Ed.), *Archaeological Thought in America* (pp. 35-49). Cambridge University Press.
- Dyson-Hudson, R., & Smith, E. A. (1978). Human territoriality: an ecological reassessment. American Anthropologist, 80(1), 21-41.
- Earle, T., & Christienson, A.L. (1980). Modeling Change in Prehistoric Subsistence Economies. Academic Press.
- Edo, M., Bach, A. G., Mestres, J., Martínez-Grau, H., Molist, M., & Oms, F. X. (2022). Jaciments, ritmes i dinàmiques d'implantació i explotació del territori: El litoral Mediterrani i les serralades prelitorals. In R. Buxó, J.F. Gibaja, A. Palomo, R. Piqué & X. Terradas (Eds.), *Cypsela: Revista de prehistòria i protohistòria*, (pp. 81-104). Museu d'Arqueologia de Catalunya.

- Enloe, J. (2003). Food sharing past and present. *Before Farming*, 2003(1), 1-23. https://doi.org/10.3828/bfarm.2003.1.1
- Epstein, J. M. (2012). Generative social science. In Generative Social Science. Princeton University Press.
- Epstein, J. M., & Axtell, R. (1996). *Growing artificial societies: social science from the bottom up.* Brookings Institution Press.
- Estremera, M. S. (2003). Primeros agricultores y ganaderos en la Meseta Norte: el Neolítico de la Cueva de La Vaquera (Torreiglesias, Segovia). Memorias de Arqueología en Castilla y León, 11.
- Fano, M. Á., Cubas, M., & Wood, R. (2015). The first farmers in Cantabrian Spain: Contribution of numerical chronology to understand an historical process. *Quaternary International*, 364, 153-161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2014.09.026
- Fawcett, P. J., Ágústsdóttir, A. M., Alley, R. B., & Shuman, C. A. (1997). The Younger Dryas termination and North Atlantic Deep-Water formation: Insights from climate model simulations and Greenland ice cores. *Paleoceanography*, 12(1), 23-38. https://doi.org/10.1029/96PA02711
- Feinman, G. M. (1995). The emergence of inequality: A focus on strategies and processes. In T. D. Price (Ed.), *Foundations of social inequality* (pp. 255-279). Springer.
- Fernández López de Pablo, J. & Gómez Puche, M. (2009). Climate change and population dynamics during the Late Mesolithic and the Neolithic transition in Iberia. *Documenta Praehistorica*, 36, 67-96. https://doi.org/10.4312/dp.36.4
- Fernández-Giménez, M. E., & Ritten, J. (2020). An economic analysis of transhumance in the Central Spanish Pyrenees. Pastoralism, 10, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13570-020-00163-4
- Ferraro, P. J., Sanchirico, J. N., & Smith, M. D. (2019). Causal inference in coupled human and natural systems. *PNAS*, 116, 5311–53118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1805563115.
- Fiedel, S. J., & Anthony, D. W. (2003). Deerslayers, pathfinders, and icemen: Origins of the European Neolithic as seen from the frontier. In M. Rockman & J. Steele (Eds.), *The Colonization of Unfamiliar Landscapes* (pp. 168-185). Routledge.
- Finlayson, B. (2020). Egalitarian societies and the earliest Neolithic of Southwest Asia. Первобытная археология. Журнал междисциплинарных исследований, (1), 27-43. https://doi.org/ 10.31600/2658-3925-2020-1-27-43
- Finné, M., Woodbridge, J., Labuhn, I., & Roberts, C. N. (2019). Holocene hydro-climatic variability in the Mediterranean: a synthetic multi-proxy reconstruction. *The Holocene*, 29(5): 847–863.
- Flannery, K. V. (1969). Origins and ecological effects of early Near Eastern domestication. In D. J. Ucko & G. W. Dimbleby (Eds.), *The domestication and exploitation of plants and animals* (pp. 73-100). Aldine Publishing Company
- Flannery, K. V. (1972). The cultural evolution of civilizations. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 3(1), 399-426.
- Flannery, K. V. (2002). The origins of the village revisited: from nuclear to extended households. *American Antiquity*, 67(3), 417-433. https://doi.org/10.2307/1593820
- Flohr, P., Fleitmann, D., Matthews, R., Matthews, W., & Black, S. (2016). Evidence of resilience to past climate change in Southwest Asia: Early farming communities and the 9.2 and 8.2 ka events. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 136, 23-39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2015.06.022
- Fort, J. (2012). Synthesis between demic and cultural diffusion in the Neolithic transition in Europe. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 109(46), 18669-18673. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1200662109
- Fort, J. (2015). Demic and cultural diffusion propagated the Neolithic transition across different regions of Europe. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, *12*(106), 20150166. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2015.0166
- Fort, J. (2021). Front propagation and cultural transmission. Theory and application to Neolithic transitions. *Chaos, Solitons & Fractals, 148, 111060.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chaos.2021.111060
- Fort, J. (2022). Dispersal distances and cultural effects in the spread of the Neolithic along the northern Mediterranean coast. Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences, 14(8), 153. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12520-022-01619-x

- Fort, J., & Méndez, V. (1999). Time-delayed theory of the Neolithic transition in Europe. *Physical Review Letters*, 82(4), 867. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.82.867
- Fort, J., & Pareta, M. M. (2020). Long-distance dispersal effects and Neolithic waves of advance. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 119, 105148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2020.105148
- Fort, J., Pérez-Losada, J., & Isern, N. (2007). Fronts from integrodifference equations and persistence effects on the Neolithic transition. *Physical Review E*, *76*(3), 031913. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevE.76.031913
- Franzese, R. J., Hays, J. C., & Kachi, A. (2012). Modeling history dependence in network-behavior coevolution. *Political Analysis*, 20(2), 175-190. https://doi:10.1093/pan/mpr049
- Frigg, R., & Nguyen, J. (2017). Models and Representation. In L. Magnani, & T. Bertolotti (Eds.), Springer Handbook of Model-Based Science (pp. 49-102). Springer Handbooks. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-30526-4_3
- Fugazzola Delpino, M. A., D'Eugenio, G., & Pessina, A. (1993). La Marmotta (Anguillara Sabazia, RM). Un abitatio perilacustre di età neolitica. *Bullettino di Paletnologia Italiana, 84*, 181-304.
- Fuller, D. Q., Denham, T., Kistler, L., Stevens, C., Larson, G., Bogaard, A., & Allaby, R. (2022). Progress in domestication research: Explaining expanded empirical observations. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 296, 107737. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2022.107737
- Fullola, J. M., García-Argüelles, P., Mangado, X., & Medina, B. (2011). Paleolític i epipaleolític al Garraf-Ordal. On érem i on som. In J. Daura & M. Sanz (Eds.), *La cova de Can Sadurní i la Prehistòria de Garraf* (pp. 227-243). RACÓ.
- Gabriele, M., Convertini, F., Vérati, C., Gratuze, B., Jacomet, S., Boschian, G., ... & Binder, D. (2019). Longdistance mobility in the North-Western Mediterranean during the Neolithic transition using high resolution pottery sourcing. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, 28, 102050. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2019.102050
- Gallagher, E. M., Shennan, S. J., & Thomas, M. G. (2015). Transition to farming more likely for small, conservative groups with property rights, but increased productivity is not essential. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(46), 14218-14223. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1511870112
- Gamba, C., Fernández, E., Tirado, M., Deguilloux, M. F., Pemonge, M. H., Utrilla, P., ... & Arroyo-Pardo, E. (2012). Ancient DNA from an Early Neolithic Iberian population supports a pioneer colonization by first farmers. *Molecular Ecology*, 21(1), 45-56. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05361.x
- García-Martínez de Lagrán, I. (2018) Review of the archaeological contexts and theoretical models of the Neolithisation of Spain: The North Meseta, The Ebro Valley and Catalonia as a case study. *Quaternary International*, 472, 172-194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2016.12.043
- Gärdenfors, P., & Stephens, A. (2018). Induction and knowledge-what. *European Journal for Philosophy of Science*, *8*, 471-491. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13194-017-0196-y
- Garrod, D. A. E. (1957). The Natufian culture. The life and economy of a Mesolithic people in the Near East. *Proceedings of the British Academy*, 43, 211–227.
- Garrod, D. A. E., & Bate, D. M. A. (1937). The Stone Age of Mount Carmel, 1. Clarendon Press.
- Gassiot-Ballbè, E., Mazzucco, N., Díaz-Bonilla, S., Obea-Gómez, L., Rey-Lanaspa, J., Barba-Pérez, M., ... & Clemente-Conte, I. (2021). Mountains, Herds and Crops: Notes on New Evidence from the Early Neolithic in the Southern Central Pyrenees. *Open Archaeology*, 7(1), 1015-1034. https://doi.org/10.1515/opar-2020-0193
- Gassiot, E., Mazzuco, N., Clemente, I., Antón, D. R., & Ortega, D. (2012b). Circulación e intercambio en el poblamiento y la explotación de la alta montaña del Pirineo en los milenios V-IV ANE. *Rubricatum: revista del Museu de Gavà*, 61-68.
- Gassiot, E., Rodríguez-Antón, D., Burjachs, F., Antolín, F., & Ballesteros, A. (2012a). Poblamiento, explotación y entorno natural de los estadios alpinos y subalpinos del Pirineo central durante la primera mitad del Holoceno. *Cuaternario y Geomorfología*, *26*(3-4), 29-45.
- Gelman, A., & Imbens, G. (2013). *Why ask why? Forward causal inference and reverse causal questions* (No. w19614). National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w19614

- Gibaja Bao, J. F. (2002). Las hoces neolíticas del noreste de la Península Ibérica. *Préhistoires Méditerranéennes*, (10-11), 83-96. https://doi.org/10.4000/pm.254
- Godwin, H. (1948). Studies of the post-glacial history of British vegetation X. Correlation between climate, forest composition, prehistoric agriculture and peat stratigraphy in sub-Boreal and sub-Atlantic peats of the Somerset levels. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, 233(600), 275-286.
- Goñi Quinteiro, A., Chávez Álvarez, M. E., Camalich Massieu, M. D., Martín Socas, D. Y., & González Quintero,
 P. (2002). Intervención arqueológica de urgencia en el poblado de Cabecicos Negros (Vera, Almería).
 Anuario Arqueológico de Andalucía, 3, Consejería de Cultura de la Junta de Andalucía, Sevilla (pp. 73-87).
- González-Sampériz, P., Utrilla, P., Mazo, C., Valero-Garcés, B., Sopena, M. C., Morellón, M., ... & Martínez-Bea, M. (2009). Patterns of human occupation during the early Holocene in the Central Ebro Basin (NE Spain) in response to the 8.2 ka climatic event. *Quaternary Research*, 71(2), 121-132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yqres.2008.10.006
- Goring-Morris, A. N. (1996). The early Natufian occupation at el-Wad, Mt. Carmel, reconsidered. Nature et culture. Actes du colloque internationale de Liège 13-17 décembre 1993, (pp. 417-428). https://doi.org/10.1086/658861
- Goring-Morris, A. N. & Belfer-Cohen, A. (2008). A Roof Over One's Head: Developments in Near Eastern Residential Architecture Across the Epipalaeolithic–Neolithic Transition. In J. P. Bocquet-Appel & O. Bar-Yosef (Eds.), *The neolithic demographic transition and its consequences* (pp. 239-286). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8539-0_10
- Goring-Morris, A. N. & Belfer-Cohen, A. (2013). Houses and Households: A Near Eastern Perspective. In D. Hofmann & J. Smyth (Eds.), *Tracking the neolithic house in Europe. One world archaeology* (pp. 19-44). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5289-8_2
- Goring-Morris, A. N., & Belfer-Cohen, A. (2011). Neolithization processes in the Levant: the outer envelope. Current Anthropology, 52(S4), S195-S208. https://doi.org/10.1086/658860
- Goring-Morris, N. (1993) From foraging to herding in the Negev and Sinai: The Early to Late Neolithic transition. *Paléorient*, 19 (1), 65-89.
- Goring-Morris, N., & Belfer-Cohen, A. (1997). The articulation of cultural processes and Late Quaternary environmental changes in Cisjordan. *Paléorient*, 23(1), 71-93.
- Goude, G., Salazar-García, D. C., Power, R. C., Rivollat, M., Gourichon, L., Deguilloux, M. F., ... & Binder, D. (2020). New insights on Neolithic food and mobility patterns in Mediterranean coastal populations. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology*, 173(2), 218–235. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.24089
- GRASS Development Team (2022). Geographic Resources Analysis Support System (GRASS) Software, Version 8.2. Open Source Geospatial Foundation. URL https://grass.osgeo.org
- Gravel-Miguel, C., De Vynck, J., Wren, C. D., Murray, J. K., & Marean, C. W. (2022). Were prehistoric coastal sites more intensively occupied than inland sites? Using an agent-based model to understand the intensity of prehistoric coastal occupation, and what it means for studies on the evolution of the coastal adaptation. *Quaternary International*, 638, 148-158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2022.02.003
- Gremillion, K. J. (2019). Human Behavioral Ecology and Plant Resources in Archaeological Research. In A. Prentiss (Ed.), *Handbook of Evolutionary Research in Archaeology*. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-11117-5_13
- Grifoni Cremonesi, R. (1992). Il Neolitico nell'Italia centrale e in Sardegna. In A. Guidi & M. Piperno (Eds.), *Italia preistorica* (pp. 306-333). Laterza.
- Grimm, J. H., Hofstetter, J. S., & Sarkis, J. (2014). Critical factors for sub-supplier management: A sustainable food supply chains perspective. *International journal of production economics*, 152, 159-173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.12.011
- Grimm, V., Berger, U., DeAngelis, D. L., Polhill, J. G., Giske, J., & Railsback, S. F. (2010). The ODD protocol: a review and first update. *Ecological Modelling*, 221(23), 2760-2768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2010.08.019

- Grimm, V., Railsback, S. F., Vincenot, C. E., Berger, U., Gallagher, C., DeAngelis, D. L., ... & Ayllón, D. (2020). The ODD protocol for describing agent-based and other simulation models: A second update to improve clarity, replication, and structural realism. *Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation*, 23(2). https://doi.org/10.18564/jasss.4259
- Grosman, L., Munro, N. D., & Belfer-Cohen, A. (2008). A 12,000-year-old Shaman burial from the southern Levant (Israel). *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(46), 17665-17669. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0806030105
- Guerra, M. R., de Lagrán, I. G. M., & Garrido-Pena, R. (2012). El Neolítico en la Península Ibérica y su contexto europeo. Cátedra.
- Guerrero, E., Naji, S., & Bocquet-Appel, J. P. (2008). The Signal of the Neolithic Demographic Transition in the Levant. In J. P. Bocquet-Appel & O. Bar-Yosef (Eds.), *The Neolithic Demographic* (pp. 57-80). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8539-0 4
- Guilaine, J. (2001). La difusión de la agricultura en Europa: una difusión aritmética. Zephyrus, 53-54, 267-272.
- Guilaine, J. (2013). Archéologie Préhistorique de la violence et de la guerre. Quelques réflexions et hypothèses. *Cuadernos de Prehistoria y Arqueología de la Universidad de Granada*, 23, 9-23.
- Guilaine, J., & Martzluff, M. (1985). Evolution des armes et des outils in Le domaine archéologique d'Andorre. *Dossiers Histoire et Archéologie de l'Archéologie Dijon*, (96), 18-20.
- Guilaine, J., Manen, C., Vigne, J. D., & Ambert, P. (2007). Pont de Roque-Haute: nouvaux regards sur la néolithisation de la France méditerrannéenne. Archives d'écologie préhistorique.
- Guilaine, J., Metallinou, G., & Berger, J. F. (2016). La néolithisation de la Méditerranée occidentale: sur la piste des pionniers. In H. B. Rosado & B. M. Oliver (Eds.), *Del neolític a l'edat del bronze en el Mediterrani* occidental. Estudis en homenatge a Bernat Martí Oliver (pp. 27-34). Diputación Provincial de Valencia.
- Gupta, H. V., & Razavi, S. (2018). Revisiting the basis of sensitivity analysis for dynamical earth system models. *Water Resources Research*, 54(11), 8692-8717. https://doi.org/10.1029/2018WR022668
- Gupta, M., Prasad, N. G., Dey, S., Joshi, A., & Vidya, T. N. C. (2017). Niche construction in evolutionary theory: the construction of an academic niche?. *Journal of Genetics*, 96, 491-504. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12041-017-0787-6
- Hájek, A., & Hartmann, S. (2010). Bayesian epistemology. Routledge.
- Hancock, J. F. (2022). Origins of World Crops and Livestock. In J. F. Hancock (Ed.), World Agriculture Before and After 1492: Legacy of the Columbian Exchange (pp. 5-18). Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-15523-9
- Hardesty, D. L. (1985). Archaeology: The origins of agriculture: an evolutionary perspective by David Rindos. *American Anthropologist*, 87(4), pp. 928-929.
- Harlan, J. R. (1998) The living fields: Our agricultural heritage. Cambridge University Press.
- Hartemink, A. J. (2001). *Principled computational methods for the validation discovery of genetic regulatory networks* [Doctoral dissertation, Massachusetts Institute of Technology].
- Hayden, B. (1990). Nimrods, piscators, pluckers and planters: the emergence of food production. *Journal of Anthropological Research*, 9(1), 31-69. https://doi.org/10.1016/0278-4165(90)90005-X
- Hegazy, T., Fazio, P., & Moselhi, O. (1994). Developing practical neural network applications using backpropagation. *Computer-Aided Civil and Infrastructure Engineering*, 9(2), 145-159. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8667.1994.tb00369.x
- Henderson, D. A., Baggaley, A. W., Shukurov, A., Boys, R. J., Sarson, G. R., & Golightly, A. (2014). Regional variations in the European Neolithic dispersal: The role of the coastlines. *Antiquity*, 88(342), 1291-1302. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003598X00115467
- Hibbs, D. A. & Olsson, O. (2004). Geography, biogeography, and why some countries are rich and others are poor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 101*(10), 3715-3720. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0305531101

- Hitchings, P. M. N. (2022). Bayesian Optimal Allocation of Search Effort in Archaeological Survey: Seeking the Late Neolithic in Wadi Qusaybah, Northern Jordan [Doctoral dissertation, University of Toronto].
- Hodder, I. (2001). Symbolism and the origins of agriculture in the Near East. Cambridge Archaeological Journal, 11(1), 107-112.
- Hodder, I. (2007). Some intriguing new finds at Çatalhöyük. Anatolian Archaeology, 13, 20-22.
- Hofmanová, Z., Kreutzer, S., Hellenthal, G., Sell, C., Diekmann, Y., Díez-del-Molino, D., ... & Burger, J. (2016). Early farmers from across Europe directly descended from Neolithic Aegeans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(25), 6886-6891. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1523951113
- Hole, F. (1996). The context of caprine domestication in the Zagros region. In D. R. Harris (Ed.), *The origins and spread of agriculture and pastoralism in Eurasia* (pp. 263-281). Routledge.
- Homewood, K., Rowcliffe, M., De Leeuw, J., Said, M. Y., & Keane, A. (2019). Pastoralism, conservation and resilience: Causes and consequences of pastoralist household decision-making. *Agricultural Resilience*, 180. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0264509
- Hyafil, A., & Baumard, N. (2022). Evoked and transmitted culture models: Using bayesian methods to infer the evolution of cultural traits in history. *Plos One*, *17*(4), e0264509. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0264509
- Ibáñez, J. J., González-Urquijo, J., Teira-Mayolini, L. C., & Lauzén, T. (2019). The emergence of the Neolithic in the Near East: A protracted and multi-regional model. *Quaternary International*, 470, pp. 226-252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2017.09.040
- Ibáñez, J. J., Ortega, D., Campos, D., Khalidi, L., Méndez, V., & Teira, L. (2016). Developing a complex network model of obsidian exchange in the Neolithic Near East: Linear regressions, ethnographic models and archaeological data. *Paléorient*, 42(2), 9-32. https://doi.org/10.3406/paleo.2016.5718
- Ifejika Speranza, C. (2010). Resilient adaptation to climate change in African agriculture (No. 54). Studies.
- Iob, A., & Botigué, L. (2022). Genomic analysis of emmer wheat shows a complex history with two distinct domestic groups and evidence of differential hybridization with wild emmer from the western Fertile Crescent. Vegetation History and Archaeobotany, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00334-022-00898-7
- Isern, N., Fort, J., & Vander Linden, M. (2012). Space competition and time delays in human range expansions. Application to the Neolithic transition. *Plos One*, 7(12), e51106. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051106
- Isern, N., Fort, J., Carvalho, A. F., Gibaja, J. F., & Ibañez, J. J. (2014). The Neolithic transition in the Iberian Peninsula: data analysis and modeling. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory*, 21, 447-460. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10816-013-9193-4
- Isern, N., Zilhão, J., Fort, J., & Ammerman, A. J. (2017). Modeling the role of voyaging in the coastal spread of the Early Neolithic in the West Mediterranean. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(5), 897-902. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1613413114
- Jiménez Navarro, E. (1962). Excavaciones en Cueva de Ambrosio (Almería). *Noticiario Arqueológico Hispánico*, 1956-1961 (pp. 13-48). Comisión General de Excavaciones Arqueológicas.
- Jordá Pardo, J. F. (1986). La prehistoria de la Cueva de Nerja. In J. F. Jordá Pardo (Ed.), *Trabajos de la Cueva de Nerja* (pp. 145-172). Patronato de la Cueva de Nerja
- Kaal, J., Cortizas, A. M., Eckmeier, E., Casais, M. C., Estévez, M. S., & Boado, F. C. (2008). Holocene fire history of black colluvial soils revealed by pyrolysis-GC/MS: a case study from Campo Lameiro (NW Spain). *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 35(8), 2133-2143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2008.01.013
- Kanters, H., Brughmans, T., & Romanowska, I. (2021). Sensitivity analysis in archaeological simulation: An application to the MERCURY model. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, 38, 102974. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2021.102974
- Kaplan, H., Gurven, M., Hill, K., & Hurtado, A. M. (2005). The natural history of human food sharing and cooperation: a review and a new multi-individual approach to the negotiation of norms. In H. Gintis, S.

Bowles, R. Boyd, & E. Fehr (Eds.), Moral sentiments and material interests: The foundations of cooperation in economic life, 6, 75-113.

- Karamitrou-Mentessidi, G., Efstratiou, N., Kozłowski, J. K., Kaczanowska, M., Maniatis, Y., Curci, A., ... & Valamoti, S. M. (2013). New evidence on the beginning of farming in Greece: The Early Neolithic settlement of Mavropigi in western Macedonia (Greece). *Antiquity*, 87(336), 1-4.
- Kenyon, K. M. (1957). Digging up Jericho. Ernest Benn Limited
- Khan, Z. R., Pittchar, J. O., Midega, C. A., & Pickett, J. A. (2018). Push-pull farming system controls fall armyworm: lessons from Africa. Outlooks on Pest Management, 29(5), 220-224. https://doi.org/10.1564/v29_oct_09
- Kishore, R., & Kaur, T. (2012). Backpropagation algorithm: an artificial neural network approach for pattern recognition. *International Journal of Scientific & Engineering Research*, 3(6), 1-4.
- Kleemann, J., Celio, E., & Fürst, C. (2017). Validation approaches of an expert-based Bayesian belief network in northern Ghana, West Africa. *Ecological Modelling*, 365, 10-29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2017.09.018
- Kleindienst, M. R., & Watson, P. J. (1956). Action archaeology: the archaeological inventory of a living community. *Anthropology Tomorrow*, 5(1), 75-78.
- Kohler, T. A., & Gumerman, G. G. (2000). Dynamics in human and primate societies: Agent-based modeling of social and spatial processes. Oxford University Press.
- Kohler, T. A., & Reese, K. M. (2014). Long and spatially variable Neolithic demographic transition in the North American Southwest. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(28), 10101-10106. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1404367111
- Kohler, T. A., & van der Leeuw, S. E. (2007). *The model-based archaeology of socionatural systems*. School for Advanced Research Press.
- Kohler, T. A., Cockburn, D., Hooper, P. L., Bocinsky, R. K., & Kobti, Z. (2012). The coevolution of group size and leadership: An agent-based public goods model for prehispanic Pueblo societies. *Advances in Complex Systems*, 15(1), 1150007.
- Kohler, T. A., Gumerman, G. J., & Reynolds, R. G. (2005). Simulating ancient societies. Scientific American, 293(1), 76-84. https://doi.org/10.1038/scientificamerican0705-76
- Kohler, T. A., Johnson, C. D., Varien, M., Ortman, S., Reynolds, R., Kobti, Z., ... & Yap, L. (2007). Settlement ecodynamics in the prehispanic central Mesa Verde region. In T.A. Kohler & S.E. van der Leeuw (Eds.), *The model-based archaeology of socionatural systems*, 61-104. Santa Fe, NM: School for Advanced Research Press.
- Koller, D., & Friedman, N. (2009). Probabilistic graphical models: principles and techniques. MIT Press.
- Krauß, R., Elenski, N., Weninger, B., Clare, L., Çakırlar, C., & Zidarov, P. (2014). Beginnings of the Neolithic in Southeast Europe: The Early Neolithic sequence and absolute dates from Džuljunica-Smărdeš (Bulgaria). Documenta Praehistorica, 41, 51-77. https://doi.org/10.4312/dp.41.3
- Krzyzanska, M., Hunt, H. V., Crema, E. R., & Jones, M. K. (2022). Modelling the potential ecological niche of domesticated buckwheat in China: archaeological evidence, environmental constraints and climate change. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany*, 31(4), 331-345. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00334-021-00856-9
- Kuijt, I. (1995). New perspectives on old territories: ritual practices and the emergence of social complexity in the Levantine Neolithic. Harvard University.
- Kuijt, I. (2000). People and space in early agricultural villages: exploring daily lives, community size, and architecture in the Late Pre-Pottery Neolithic. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology*, 19(1), 75-102. https://doi.org/10.1006/jaar.1999.0352
- Kuijt, I. (2002). Keeping the Peace. In I. Kujit (Ed.) *Life in Neolithic Farming Communities* (pp. 137-164). Springer, Science & Business Media. https://doi.org/10.1007/0-306-47166-3_6

- Kuijt, I. (2015). The Neolithic refrigerator on a Friday night: How many people are coming to dinner and just what should I do with the slimy veggies in the back of the fridge?. *Environmental Archaeology*, 20(4), 321-336. https://doi.org/10.1179/1749631415Y.0000000003
- Kuijt, I., & Goring-Morris, N. (2002). Foraging, farming, and social complexity in the Pre-Pottery Neolithic of the southern Levant: A review and synthesis. *Journal of World Prehistory*, 16(4), 361-440. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022973114090
- Lake, M. W. (2014). Trends in archaeological simulation. Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory, 21, 258-287. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10816-013-9188-1
- Laland, K. N., & O'Brien, M. J. (2010). Niche construction theory and archaeology. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory*, *17*, 303-322. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10816-010-9096-6
- Laland, K. N., Odling-Smee, F. J., & Feldman, M. W. (1999). Evolutionary consequences of niche construction and their implications for ecology. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96(18), 10242-10247. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.18.10242
- Laland, K. N., Odling-Smee, F. J., & Feldman, M. W. (1996). The evolutionary consequences of niche construction: a theoretical investigation using two-locus theory. *Journal of evolutionary biology*, 9(3), 293-316. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1420-9101.1996.9030293.x
- Laland, K. N., Odling-Smee, J., & Feldman, M. W. (2001). Cultural niche construction and human evolution. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 14(1), 22-33. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1420-9101.2001.00262.x
- Lambert, P. M. (2009). Health versus fitness: competing themes in the origins and spread of agriculture?. *Current Anthropology*, *50*(5), 603-608. https://doi.org/10.1086/605354
- Lammers-Keijsers, Y. M. (2005). Scientific experiments: A possibility? Presenting a general cyclical script for experiments in archaeology. *EuroREA*, *2*, 18-24.
- Landuyt, D., Broekx, S., D'hondt, R., Engelen, G., Aertsens, J., & Goethals, P. L. (2013). A review of Bayesian belief networks in ecosystem service modelling. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 46, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2013.03.011
- Lazaridis, I., Alpaslan-Roodenberg, S., Acar, A., Açıkkol, A., Agelarakis, A., Aghikyan, L., ... & Ruka, R. (2022). Ancient DNA from Mesopotamia suggests distinct pre-pottery and pottery Neolithic migrations into Anatolia. *Science*, 377(6609), 982-987. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abq0762
- Le Mort, F. (1992). Les pratiques funéraires des populations du Levant au début du Néolithique. Archéo-nil, 2(1), 37-42.
- Legge, A. J., & Rowley-Conwy, P. (2000). The exploitation of animals. In A. M. T. Moore, G. C. Hillman, & A. J. Legge (Eds.), *Village on the Euphrates* (pp. 475–525). Oxford University Press.
- Lengyel, G., & Bocquentin, F. (2005). Burials of Raqefet Cave in the context of the Late Natufian. *Mitekufat Haeven: Journal of the Israel Prehistoric Society*, *35*, 271-284.
- Lenski, G. (2015). Ecological-evolutionary theory: Principles and applications. Routledge.
- Lev-Yadun, S., Gopher, A., & Abbo, S. (2000). The cradle of agriculture. *Science*, 288(5471), 1602-1603. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.288.5471.1602
- Li, M., Wang, H., Wang, D., Shao, Z., & He, S. (2020). Risk assessment of gas explosion in coal mines based on fuzzy AHP and bayesian network. *Process Safety and Environmental Protection*, 135, 207-218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2020.01.003
- Litt, T., Ohlwein, C., Neumann, F. H., Hense, A., & Stein, M. (2012). Holocene climate variability in the Levant from the Dead Sea pollen record. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 49, 95-105. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316106754.085
- Locay, L. (1989). From hunting and gathering to agriculture. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 37, 737-756.
- López-Bultó, O., Piqué, R., Antolín, F., Barceló, J. A., Palomo, A., & Clemente, I. (2020). Digging sticks and agriculture development at the ancient Neolithic site of la Draga (Banyoles, Spain). *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, 30, 102193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2020.102193

- López, J. M. G., Coria, M. C. P., & Gil, J.A. R. (1996). Yacimientos neolíticos al aire libre con cardiales: el asentamiento de Esperilla (Espera, Cádiz). Propuesta de otro modelo de neolitización para Andalucía Occidental. *Rubricatum: Revista del Museu de Gavà*, (1), 627-638.
- Lotka, A. J. (1925). Elements of Physical Biology. Williams and Wilkins.
- Lotka, A. J. (1926). The progressive adjustment of age distribution to fecundity. Journal of the Washington Academy of Sciences, 16(19), 505-513
- Luke, S., Simon, R., Crooks, A., Wang, H., Wei, E., Freelan, D., ... & Cioffi-Revilla, C. (2019). The MASON simulation toolkit: past, present, and future. In *Multi-Agent-Based Simulation XIX: 19th International Workshop, MABS 2018, Stockholm, Sweden, July 14, 2018, Revised Selected Papers 19* (pp. 75-86). Springer International Publishing.
- MacArthur, R. H., & Pianka, E. R. (1966). On optimal use of a patchy environment. *The American Naturalist,* 100(916), 603-609.
- Madsen, A. L., Lang, M., Kjærulff, U. B., & Jensen, F. (2003). The Hugin tool for learning Bayesian networks. In Symbolic and Quantitative Approaches to Reasoning with Uncertainty: 7th European Conference, ECSQARU 2003 Aalborg, Denmark, July 2-5, 2003 Proceedings 7 (pp. 594-605). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Malone, C. (2003). The Italian Neolithic: a synthesis of research. *Journal of World Prehistory*, 17(3), 235-312. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOWO.0000012729.36053.42
- Manen, C., & Guilaine, J. (2021). La Ceramica impressa en France méditerranéenne. In S. Pardo-Gordó, A. Gómez-Bach, M. Molist Montaña, & J. Bernabeu Aubán (Eds.), *Contextaulizando la cerámica impressa: horizontes culturales en la peninsula ibérica* (pp. 35-46). Universitat Autónoma de Barcelona.
- Manen, C., Perrin, T., Guilaine, J., Bouby, L., Bréhard, S., Briois, F., ... & Vigne, J. D. (2019). The Neolithic transition in the western Mediterranean: A complex and non-linear diffusion process—the radiocarbon record revisited. *Radiocarbon*, 61(2), 531-571. https://doi.org/10.1017/RDC.2018.98
- Mangado Llach, X., Mercadal, O., Bergadà i Zapata, M.M., Nadal Lorenzo, J., Langlais, M., Tejero Cáceres, J. M., ... & Fullola i Pericot, J. M. (2011). Montlleó (Prats i Sansor, Cerdanya). Balanç de 10 campanyes d'excavació. *Tribuna d'Arqueologia* (Vol. 2009-2010, pp. 27-52). Generalitat de Catalunya.
- Mangado, X., Tejero, J. M., Fullola, J. M., Petit, M. A., García-Argüelles, P., García, M., ... & Vaquero, M. (2010). Nuevos territorios, nuevos grafismos: una visión del Paleolítico superior en Catalunya a inicios del siglo XXI. In X. Mangado Llach, & F. J. Fortea Pérez (Eds.), *El Paleolítico superior peninsular. Novedades del siglo XXI* (pp. 63-83). Universitat de Barcelona.
- Mangerud, J. (2021). The discovery of the Younger Dryas, and comments on the current meaning and usage of the term. *Boreas*, 50(1), 1-5. https://doi.org/10.1111/bor.12481
- Manning, S. W., McCartney, C., Kromer, B. & Stewart, S. T. (2010). The earlier Neolithic in Cyprus: recognition and dating of a Pre-Pottery Neolithic A occupation. *Antiquity*, 84(325), 693-706. https://doi.org/10.1111/bor.12481
- Marcot, B. G., & Penman, T. D. (2019). Advances in Bayesian network modelling: Integration of modelling technologies. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 111, 386-393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2018.09.016
- Mariezkurrena, K., & Altuna, J. (1995). Fauna de mamíferos del yacimiento costero de Herriko Barra (Zarautz, País Vasco). *Munibe. Ciencias Naturales*, 47, 23-32.
- Martínez-Grau, H., Jagher, R., Oms, F. X., Barceló, J. A., Pardo-Gordó, S., & Antolín, F. (2020). Global processes, regional dynamics? Radiocarbon data as a proxy for social dynamics at the end of the Mesolithic and during the early Neolithic in the NW of the Mediterranean and Switzerland (c. 6200-4600 cal BC). *Documenta Praehistorica*, 47, 170-191. https://doi.org/ 10.5451/unibas-ep79560
- Martínez-Moreno, J., & Torcal, R. M. (2009). Balma Guilanyà (Prepirineo de Lleida) y el Aziliense en el noreste de la Península Ibérica. *Trabajos de Prehistoria*, 66(2), 45-60. https://doi.org/10.3989/tp.2009.09021
- Martzluff, M., Martínez-Moreno, J., Guilaine, J., Mora, R., & Casanova, J. (2012). Transformaciones culturales y cambios climáticos en los Pirineos catalanes entre el Tardiglaciar y Holoceno antiguo: Aziliense y

Sauveterriense en Balma de la Margineda y Balma Guilanyà. *Cuaternario y Geomorfología, 26*(3–4), 61–78.

- Mas, B., Allué, E., de la Torre, M. S., Parque, Ó., Tejero, J. M., Mangado, X., & Fullola, J. M. (2018). Settlement patterns during the Magdalenian in the south-eastern Pyrenees, Iberian Peninsula. A territorial study based on GIS. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, 22, 237-247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2018.10.002
- Mayer, G. R., & Sarjoughian, H. S. (2009). Composable cellular automata. *Simulation*, 85(11-12), 735-749. https://doi.org/10.1177/0037549709106341
- Mazzucco, N., & Gibaja, J. F. (2018). A palaeoeconomic perspective on the Early Neolithic lithic assemblages of the N–NE of the Iberian Peninsula. *Quaternary International*, 472, 236-245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2016.05.012
- Mazzucco, N., Clemente-Conte, I., Gassiot Ballbè, E., & Rodríguez Antón, D. (2016). Ocupaciones de montaña en el marco de los primeros grupos agro-pastorales del Pirineo Central en el VI-V milenio cal ANE: una perspectiva paleoeconómica. *Munibe, 67*, 339-348. https://doi.org/10.21630/maa.2016.67.mis09
- Mazzucco, N., Clemente-Conte, I., Gassiot, E., & Gibaja, J. F. (2015). Insights into the economic organization of the first agro-pastoral communities of the NE of the Iberian Peninsula: A traceological analysis of the Cueva de Chaves flaked stone assemblage. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, 2, 353-366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2015.02.010
- Messler Jr, R., & Faws, P. (2014). *Reverse engineering: Mechanisms, structures, systems & materials*. McGraw-Hill Education.
- Mestres, J. (1981). Avançament a l'estudi del jaciment de Les Guixeres de Vilobí. Pyrenae, 35-53.
- Mestres, J., & Tarrús, J. (2009). Hábitats neolíticos al aire libre en Catalunya. In P. Ortega Martínez (Ed.), De Méditerranée et d'ailleurs...: mélanges offerts à Jean Guilaine, Zephyrvs, 68 (pp. 521-532).
- Migowski, C., Stein, M., Prasad, S., Negendank, J. F., & Agnon, A. (2006). Holocene climate variability and cultural evolution in the Near East from the Dead Sea sedimentary record. *Quaternary Research*, 66(3), 421-431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yqres.2006.06.010
- Mitchell, M. (2009). Complexity: A guided tour. Oxford University Press.
- Mithen, S. (1988). Simulation as a methodological tool: Inferring hunting goals from faunal assemblages. In C. L. N., Ruggles, & S. P. Q. Rahtz (Eds.), *Computer Applications and Quantitative Methods in Archaeology* (pp. 119-137). British Archaeological Reports.
- Mithen, S. (1996). *The prehistory of the mind: A search for the origins of art, religion and science.* Thames and Hudson.
- Monna, F., Magail, J., Rolland, T., Navarro, N., Wilczek, J., Gantulga, J. O., ... & Chateau-Smith, C. (2020). Machine learning for rapid mapping of archaeological structures made of dry stones–Example of burial monuments from the Khirgisuur culture, Mongolia–. *Journal of Cultural Heritage*, 43, 118-128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.culher.2020.01.002
- Mora, R., Benito-Calvo, A., Martínez-Moreno, J., Marcen, P. G., & De la Torre, I. (2011). Chrono-stratigraphy of the Upper Pleistocene and Holocene archaeological sequence in Cova Gran (south-eastern Pre-Pyrenees, Iberian Peninsula). *Journal of Quaternary Science*, 26(6), 635-644. https://doi.org/10.1002/jqs.1486
- Morales, A. J., & Rodriguez-Lara, I. (2020). An Experiment on the Neolithic Agricultural Revolution. Causes and Impact on Inequality. *ESI Working Paper 20-20*. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.28373.86243
- Morales, J., Pérez-Jordà, G., Peña-Chocarro, L., Zapata, L., Ruíz-Alonso, M., López-Sáez, J. A., & Linstädter, J. (2013). The origins of agriculture in North-West Africa: macro-botanical remains from Epipalaeolithic and Early Neolithic levels of Ifri Oudadane (Morocco). *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 40(6), 2659-2669. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2013.01.026
- Moschovakis, Y. N. (2001). What is an algorithm?. *Mathematics unlimited*—2001 and beyond, 919-936. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-56478-9_46
- Munro, N. (2004). Zooarchaeological measures of hunting pressure and occupation intensity in the Natufian: implications for agricultural origins. *Current Anthropology*, 45(S4), S5-S34. https://doi.org/10.1086/422084

- Munro, N. D., Petrillo, A. N., & Grosman, L. (2021). Specialized aquatic resource exploitation at the Late Natufian site of Nahal Ein Gev II, Israel. Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences, 13, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12520-020-01257-1
- Murphy, K. P. (2002). *Dynamic bayesian networks: representation, inference and learning*. University of California, Berkeley.
- Nagarajan, R., Scutari, M., & Lèbre, S. (2013). Bayesian networks in r. Springer, 122, 125-127.
- Naïm, P., Wuillemin, P. H., Leray, P., Pourret, O., & Becker, A. (2011). Réseaux bayésiens. Editions Eyrolles.
- Natali, E., & Forgia, V. (2018). The beginning of the Neolithic in Southern Italy and Sicily. *Quaternary International*, 470, 253-269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2017.07.004
- Nettle, D. (2009). Ecological influences on human behavioural diversity: A review of recent findings. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 24(11), 618-624. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.05.013
- Norsys Software Corporation (2007). *Netica 3.17 Bayesian Network Software from Norsys*. Norsys Software Corp. URL http://www.norsys.com
- North, D., & Thomas, R. (1977). The first economic revolution. Economic History Review, 30, 229-241.
- O'Shea, J. M. (2004). The identification of shipwreck sites: a Bayesian approach. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, *31*(11), 1533-1552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2004.03.015
- O'Brien, M. J., & Laland, K. N. (2012). Genes, culture, and agriculture: An example of human niche construction. *Current Anthropology*, 53(4), 434-470. https://doi.org/10.1086/666585
- O'Neill, B., & O'Sullivan, A. (2019). An experimental archaeological reconstruction of a roundhouse from early medieval Ireland. *Laureshamensia*, 2, 74-82.
- Odling-Smee, F. J., Laland, K. N., & Feldman, M. W. (1996). Niche construction. *The American Naturalist*, 147(4), 641-648. https://doi.org/10.1086/285870
- Odling-Smee, F. J., Laland, K. N., Feldman, M. (2003). Niche construction. Princeton University Press.
- Odum, E., Barrett, G., & Brewer, R. (2005). Fundamentals of ecology Thomson brooks. California: Cole.
- Olsson, O., & Hibbs, D. (2005). Biogeography and long-run economic development. *European Economic Review*, 49, 909-938. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroecorev.2003.08.010
- Oms, F. X., Bargalló Ferrerons, A., Chaler, M., Fontanals i Torroja, M., García Martínez, M. S., López García, J. M., ... & Vergès Bosch, J. M. (2008). La Cova Colomera (Sant Esteve de la Sarga, Lleida), una cueva-redil en el prepirineo de Lérida. Primeros resultados y perspectivas de future. In M. S. Hernández Pérez, J. A. Soler Díaz, & J. A. López Padilla (Eds.), IV Congreso del Neolítico Peninsular: 27-30 de noviembre de 2006 (pp. 230-236).
- Oms, F. X., Daura, J., Sanz, M., Mendiela, S., Pedro, M., & Martínez, P. (2017). First evidence of collective human inhumation from the cardial neolithic (Cova Bonica, Barcelona, NE Iberian Peninsula). *Journal of Field Archaeology*, 42(1), 43-53. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/00934690.2016.1260407
- Oms, F. X., Petit, M. À., Morales, J. I., & García, M. S. (2012). Le processus de néolithisation dans les Pyrénées orientales. Occupation du milieu, culture matérielle et chronologie. *Bulletin de la Société Préhistorique Française*, 105(4), 651-670. https://doi.org/10.3406/bspf.2012.14201
- Oms, F. X., Terradas, X., Morell, B., & Gibaja, J. F. (2018). Mesolithic-Neolithic transition in the northeast of Iberia: Chronology and socioeconomic dynamics. *Quaternary international*, 470, 383-397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2017.06.003
- Oms, X., Pedro, M., Morales, J. I., Allué, E., Frigola, J., Meniela, S., & Yubero, M. (2015). La Cova Colomera 30 anys després. Ocupacions humanesentre 6180–3280 BP al congost de Mont-rebei. Campanyes de 2005–2011. Actes de les Primeres Jornades d'Arqueologia i Paleontologia del Pirineu i Aran (pp. 116-123). Generalitat de Catalunya
- Ortega, D., Ibáñez, J. J., Khalidi, L., Méndez, V., Campus, D. & Teira, L. (2014). Towards a Multi-Agent-Based Modelling of Obsidian Exchange in the Neolithic Near East. *Journal of Archaeological Method Theory*, 21, 461-485. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10816-013-9196-1
- Ortman, S. G., Varien, M. D., & Gripp, T. L. (2007). Empirical Bayesian methods for archaeological survey data: An application from the Mesa Verde region. *American Antiquity*, 72(2), 241-272. https://doi.org/10.2307/40035813

- Osborn, J. (2019). A Bayesian approach to Andean faunal assemblages. *Latin American Antiquity*, 30(2), 354-372. https://doi.org/10.1017/laq.2019.21
- Otárola-Castillo, E. R., Torquato, M. G., Wolfhagen, J., Hill, M. E., & Buck, C. E. (2022). Beyond chronology, using bayesian inference to evaluate hypotheses in archaeology. *Advances in Archaeological Practice*, 10(4), 397-413. https://doi.org/10.1017/aap.2022.10
- Otárola-Castillo, E., Torquato, M. G., & Buck, C. E. (2023). The bayesian inferential paradigm in archaeology. *Handbook of Archaeological Sciences*, *2*, 1193-1209. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119592112.ch59
- Ozdogan, M. (2014). A new look at the introduction of the Neolithic way of life in South-eastern Europe. *Documenta Prehistorica*, 41, 33-49. https://doi.org/10.4312/dp.41.2
- Paardekooper, R. (2019). Experimental Archaeology: Who Does it, What is the Use?. EXARC Journal, 1, 1-21.
- Palet, J. M., Garcia, A., Orengo, H., Riera, S., Miras, Y., & Julià, R. (2014). Ocupación y explotación de espacios altimontanos pirenaicos en la antigüedad: visiones desde la arqueología del paisaje. *Atti del IV Convegno Internazionale di Studi Veleiati Veleia-Lugagnano Val d'Arda* (pp. 455-470). Ante Quem
- Palomo, A., & Gibaja, J. F. (2001). Tecnología y funcionalidad de la industria lítica tallada en hábitats al aire libre del nordeste peninsular: Los asentamientos neolíticos de La Draga y Plansallosa (Gerona). *Bolskan*, 169-179.
- Palomo, A., Gassiot, E., Bosch, A., Mazzucco, N., Tarrús, J., Díaz, S., ... & Clemente, I. (2022). Jaciments, ritmes i dinàmiques d'implantació i explotació del territori al neolític antic (5.500-4.500 cal BC): el Pirineu i les serralades prepirinenques. *Cypsela: Revista de Prehistòria i Protohistòria*, 55-80.
- Palomo, A., Piqué, R., Terradas, X., López, O., Clemente, I., & Gibaja, J. F. (2013). Woodworking technology in the early neolithic site of La Draga (Banyoles, Spain). In P. C. Anderson, C. Cheval, & A. Durand (Eds.), *Regards croisés sur les outils liés au travail des végétaux* (pp. 383-396).
- Pan, Y., Zhang, L., Li, Z., & Ding, L. (2019). Improved fuzzy Bayesian network-based risk analysis with intervalvalued fuzzy sets and D–S evidence theory. *IEEE Transactions on Fuzzy Systems*, 28(9), 2063-2077. https://doi.org/10.1109/TFUZZ.2019.2929024
- Pardo-Gordó, S., Aubán, J. B., Jiménez-Puerto, J., Armero, C., & García-Donato, G. (2022). The chronology of archaeological assemblages based on an automatic Bayesian procedure: Eastern Iberia as study case. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 139, 105555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2022.105555
- Pearce, M., & Whitehouse, R. D. (2014). Rethinking the Italian Neolithic. Accordia Research Institute.
- Pearl, J. (1988). Probabilistic Reasoning in Intelligent Systems. Networks of Plausible Inference. Morgan Kaufmann. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2009-0-27609-4
- Pearl, J. (2009). Causality. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511803161
- Pellicer Catalán, M. (1964). La cerámica impresa del neolítico inicial en el Mediterráneo occidental. Zephyrus, 15, 101-124.
- Pellicer Catalán, M., & Acosta Martínez, P. (1997). Análisis arqueológico de la innovación tecnológica. In M.
 Pellicer & M. P. Catalán (Eds.), *El Neolítico y Calcolítico de la Cueva de Nerja en el contexto andaluz. Trabajos sobre la Cueva de Nerja*, 6 (pp. 145-200). Patronato de la Cueva de Nerja.
- Peltenburg, E., Colledge, S., Croft, P., Jackson, A., McCartney, C., & Murray, M. A. (2000). Agro-pastoralist colonization of Cyprus in the 10th millennium BP: initial assessments. *Antiquity*, 74(286), 844-853. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003598X0006049X
- Peña-Chocarro, L. (1999). Prehistoric Agriculture in Southern Spain during the Neolithic and the Bronze Age: The application of ethnographic models. British Archaeological Reports Limited.
- Pena-Chocarro, L. (2007). Early agriculture in central and southern Spain. In S. Colledge & J. Conolly (Eds.), *The origins and spread of domestic plants in Southwest Asia and Europe* (pp. 173-187). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315417615
- Peña-Chocarro, L., del Valle, A. O. S., Marco, Y. C., Pérez-Díaz, S., López-Sáez, J. A., & Ochoa, C. F. (2015). Late Antique Environment and Economy in the North of the Iberian Peninsula: The Site of La Tabacalera (Asturias, Spain). Late Antique Archaeology, 11(1), 155-171.

- Peña-Chocarro, L., Peña, L. Z., Gazólaz, J. G., Morales, M. G., Sesma, J. S., & Straus, L. G. (2005). The spread of agriculture in northern Iberia: new archaeobotanical data from El Mirón cave (Cantabria) and the openair site of Los Cascajos (Navarra). Vegetation History and Archaeobotany, 14, 268-278. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00334-005-0078-7
- Peña-Chocarro, L., Pérez-Jordà, G., & Morales, J. (2018). Crops of the first farming communities in the Iberian Peninsula. *Quaternary International*, 470, 369-382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2017.06.002
- Pérez Jordà, G., & Peña-Chocarro, L. (2013). Agricultural production between the 6th and the 3rd millennium cal BC in the central part of the Valencia region (Spain). In M. Groot, D. Lentjes & Zeiler, J. (Eds.), *Barely* surviving or more than enough (pp. 81-100). Sidestone Press.
- Pérez Jordà, G., Peña Chocarro, L., & Morales Mateos, J. (2011). *Agricultura neolítica en Andalucía: Semillas y frutos*. Menga. Revista de Prehistoria de Andalucía.
- Pérez-García, A., Boneta, I., Alday, A., & Murelaga, X. (2015). The oldest Quaternary turtle remains from the Basque-Cantabrian Basin (Atxoste, Álava, Spain). *Comptes Rendus Palevol*, 14(6-7), 605-611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crpv.2014.12.002
- Pérez-Jordà, G., Peña-Chocarro, L., Mateos, J. M., & Zapata, L. (2017). Evidence for early crop management practices in the Western Mediterranean: Latest data, new developments and future perspectives. In O. García-Puchol & D. C. Salazar-García (Eds.), *Times of Neolithic transition along the Western Mediterranean* (pp. 171-197). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-52939-4_7
- Pèrez-Obiol, R., & Julià, R. (1994). Climatic change on the Iberian Peninsula recorded in a 30,000-yr pollen record from Lake Banyoles. *Quaternary Research*, 41(1), 91-98. https://doi.org/10.1006/qres.1994.1010
- Perlès, C., Quiles, A., & Valladas, H. (2013). Early seventh-millennium AMS dates from domestic seeds in the Initial Neolithic at Franchthi Cave (Argolid, Greece). Antiquity, 87(338), 1001-1015. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003598X00049826
- Perrot, J. (1966). Le gisement natoufien de Mallaha (Eynan), Israël. L'Anthropologie, 70(5-6), 437-484.
- Perrot, J., Ladiray, D., & Soliveres-Massei, O. (1988). Les hommes de Mallaha (Eynan) Israel. Association Paléorient.
- Pessina, A., & Tinè, V. (2008). Archeologia del Neolitico: l'Italia tra VI e IIV millennio AC. Carocci.
- Phan, T. D., Bertone, E., Pham, T. D., & Pham, T. V. (2021). Perceptions and willingness to pay for water management on a highly developed tourism island under climate change: A Bayesian network approach. *Environmental Challenges*, 5, 100333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envc.2021.100333
- Phan, T. D., Smart, J. C., Capon, S. J., Hadwen, W. L., & Sahin, O. (2016). Applications of Bayesian belief networks in water resource management: A systematic review. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 85, 98-111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2016.08.006
- Pinhasi, R., & Cramon-Taubadel, N. (2009). Craniometric data supports demic diffusion model for the spread of agriculture into Europe. *Plos One*, *4*(8), e6747. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0006747
- Piperno, D. R., Weiss, E., Holst, I., & Nadel, D. (2004). Processing of wild cereal grains in the Upper Palaeolithic revealed by starch grain analysis. *Nature*, 430(7000), 670-673. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02734
- Piqué, R. (2000). El paisatge de la Draga segons les dades dendrològiques i antracològiques. In A. Bosch, J. Chinchilla & J. Tarrús (Eds.), *El poblat lacustre Neolític de La Draga. Excavacions 1990-1998* (pp. 50-53). Centre d'Arqueología Subaquàtica de Catalunya. Museu d'Arqueologia de Catalunya.
- Piqué, R. (2002). L'entorn de l'assentament. La reconstitució del paisatge vegetal i del clima: Análisi Antracològica. In G. Alcalde, M. Molist & M. Saña (Eds.), Procés d'ocupació de la Bauma del Serrat del Pont (La Garrotxa) entre 5480 i 2900 cal AC (pp. 17-18). Museu Comarcal de la Garrotxa.
- Piqué, R. (2005). Paisaje y gestión de recursos forestales entre el VI y IV milenio cal BC en el nordeste de la Península Ibérica. In *III Congreso de Neolítico de la Península Ibérica* (pp. 45-52). Universidad de Cantabria Santander.
- Piqué, R., Fortó, A., & Vidal, À. (2015). El paisatge i l'aprofitament dels recursos llenyosos durant el Neolític a les valls d'Andorra. In A. Fortó, & À. Vidal (Eds.), Comunitats agrícoles al Pirineu. L'ocupació humana a Juberri durant la segona meitat del V mil·lenni cal AC (Feixa del Moro, Camp del Colomer i Carrer Llinàs

28, Andorra). Monografies del Patrimoni Cultural d'Andorra, 6. Govern d'Andorra Ministeri de Cultura, Joventut i Esports Departament de Patrimoni Cultural.

- Piqué, R., Revelles, J., Berihuete-Azorín, M., Lladó, J. G., Palomo, A., & Terradas, X. (2020). Use of fungi for tinder at the Early Neolithic settlement of La Draga (NE Iberia). *Quaternary International*, 541, 152-161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2019.12.002
- Pizlo, Z. (2001). Perception viewed as an inverse problem. *Vision research*, 41(24), 3145-3161. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0042-6989(01)00173-0
- Porčić, M., Blagojević, T., Pendić, J., & Stefanović, S. (2020). The timing and tempo of the Neolithic expansion across the Central Balkans in the light of the new radiocarbon evidence. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, 33, 102528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2020.102528
- Prats, G., Antolín, F., & Alonso, N. (2020). Household storage, surplus and supra-household storage in prehistoric and protohistoric societies of the Western Mediterranean. *Plos One*, 15(9), e0238237. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238237
- Premo, L. S., & Scholnick, J. B. (2011). The spatial scale of social learning affects cultural diversity. *American Antiquity*, 76(1), 163-176. https://doi.org/10.7183/0002-7316.76.1.163
- Purugganan, M. D., & Fuller, D. Q. (2011). Archaeological data reveal slow rates of evolution during plant domestication. *Evolution*, 65(1), 171-183. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1558-5646.2010.01093.x
- Putterman, L. (2008). Agriculture, diffusion and development: Ripple effects of the neolithic revolution. *Economica*, 75(300), 729-748. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.945195
- Putterman, L. & Weil, D. N. (2010). Post-1500 population flows and the long-run determinants of economic growth and inequality. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 125(4), 1627-1682. https://doi.org/10.1162/qjec.2010.125.4.1627
- QGIS Development Team (2023). *QGIS Geographic Information System*. Open Source Geospatial Foundation Project. URL http://qgis.osgeo.org
- Quintana, J. C. L. (1996). Yacimiento al aire libre de Pareko Landa (Busturia-Bermeo): II Campaña de excavaciones. Arkeoikuska: Investigación arqueológica, (1996), 84-88.
- Quintana, J. C. L., & de Gopegui, M. A. R. (1997). Patrones de asentamiento en el Neolítico del litoral vizcaíno. In A. A. Rodríguez Casal (Ed.), O Neolítico atlántico e as orixes do megalitismo: actas do Coloquio Internacional, Santiago de Compostela (pp. 335-352). Universidade de Santiago de Compostela.
- R Core Team (2022). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- Raja, V., & Fernandes, K. J. (2008). *Reverse engineering: an industrial perspective*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Ramírez, L. M. (2007). El Epipaleolítico reciente o Mesolítico en la Península Ibérica. Estado de la cuestión. *Cæsaraugusta*, 78, 39-48.
- Rasmussen, S. O., Vinther, B. M., Clausen, H. B., & Andersen, K. K. (2007). Early Holocene climate oscillations recorded in three Greenland ice cores. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 26(15-16), 1907-1914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2007.06.015
- Rasmussen, T. L., Thomsen, E., Skirbekk, K., Ślubowska-Woldengen, M., Kristensen, D. K., & Koç, N. (2014). Spatial and temporal distribution of Holocene temperature maxima in the northern Nordic seas: interplay of Atlantic-, Arctic-and polar water masses. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 92, 280-291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2013.10.034
- Ravera, F., Tarrasón, D., & Simelton, E. (2011). Envisioning adaptive strategies to change: participatory scenarios for agropastoral semiarid systems in Nicaragua. *Ecology and Society*, 16(1).
- Razavi, S., Jakeman, A., Saltelli, A., Prieur, C., Iooss, B., Borgonovo, E., ... & Maier, H. R. (2021). The future of sensitivity analysis: An essential discipline for systems modeling and policy support. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 137, 104954. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2020.104954

- Redding, R. (2005). Breaking the mold: A consideration of variation in the evolution of animal domestication. In
 J. D. Vigne, J. Peters & D. Helmer (Eds.), *The First Steps of Animal Domestication: New* Archaeozoological Approaches (pp. 41-39). Oxbow Books.
- Redlands, C. A. (2011). ArcGIS desktop: release 10. Environmental Systems Research Institute, CA.
- Reingruber, A., Sarris, A., Kalogiropoulou, E., Kalayci, T., & Karimali, L. (2017). The transition from the Mesolithic to the Neolithic in a circum-aegean perspective: Concepts and narratives. In A. Sarris, E. Kalogiropoulou, T. Kalayci & E. Karimali (Eds.), *Communities, landscapes, and interaction in Neolithic Greece* (Vol. 20, pp. 8-26). Berghahn Books.
- Reis, H., Jara, P. C., & Soares, R. (2020). El conchero de Cañada Honda I (Aljaraque, Huelva, España): nuevos datos para su caracterización cronológica y tecnocultural. *Onoba. Revista de Arqueología y Antigüedad*, (8). https://doi.org/10.33776/onoba.v8i0.4637
- Renssen, H., Goosse, H., & Fichefet, T. (2002). Modeling the effect of freshwater pulses on the early Holocene climate: The influence of high-frequency climate variability. *Paleoceanography*, 17(2), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1029/2001PA000649
- Renssen, H., Goosse, H., Fichefet, R., & Campin, J. M. (2001). The 8.2 kyr BP event simulated by a global atmosphere—sea-ice—ocean model. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 28(8), 1567-1570. https://doi.org/ 10.1029/2000GL012602
- Revelles López, J. (2017). *Mid-Holocene vegetation history, climate change and Neolithic landscape transformation: archaeopalynology in La Draga and Lake Banyoles (NE Iberian Peninsula)* [Doctoral dissertation, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona]. http://hdl.handle.net/10803/403759
- Revelles, J., Burjachs, F., & Van Geel, B. (2016). Pollen and non-pollen palynomorphs from the Early Neolithic settlement of La Draga (Girona, Spain). *Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology*, 225, 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.revpalbo.2015.11.001
- Revelles, J., Burjachs, F., Palomo, A., Piqué, R., Iriarte, E., Pérez-Obiol, R., & Terradas, X. (2018). Humanenvironment interaction during the Mesolithic-Neolithic transition in the NE Iberian Peninsula. Vegetation history, climate change and human impact during the Early-Middle Holocene in the Eastern Pre-Pyrenees. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 184, 183-200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2017.08.025
- Revelles, J., Cho, S., Iriarte, E., Burjachs, F., Van Geel, B., Palomo, A., ... & Terradas, X. (2015). Mid-Holocene vegetation history and Neolithic land-use in the Lake Banyoles area (Girona, Spain). *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 435*, 70-85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2015.06.002
- Riehl, S., Zeidi, M., & Conard, N. J. (2013). Emergence of agriculture in the foothills of the Zagros Mountains of Iran. Science, 341(6141), 65-67. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1236743
- Riera, S., Wansard, G., & Julià, R. (2004). 2000-year environmental history of a karstic lake in the Mediterranean Pre-Pyrenees: the Estanya lakes (Spain). *Catena*, 55(3), 293-324. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0341-8162(03)00107-3
- Rindos, D. (1984). The Origins of Agriculture: An Evolutionary Perspective. Academic Press.
- Riquelme Cantal, J. A. (2002). *Cueva de las Ventanas. Historia y arqueología*. Excmo. Ayuntamiento de Píñar, Granada.
- Rodrigues, S. M., & Angelucci, D. E. (2004). New data on the stratigraphy and chronology of the prehistoric site of Prazo (Freixo de Numão). *Revista Portuguesa de Arqueologia*, 7(1), 39-60.
- Rogers, J. D. (2017). Dynamic trajectories, adaptive cycles, and complexity in culture change. *Journal of* Archaeological Method and Theory, 24(4), 1326-1355. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10816-017-9314-6
- Rojo Guerra, M. A., Garrido Pena, R., Tejedor Rodríguez, C., & García-Martínez de Lagrán, I. (2014). La introducción de la economía de producción en el interior peninsular. Museo Numantino.
- Rojo-Guerra, M., Peña-Chocarro, L., Royo, J. I., Tejedor-Rodríguez, C., García Martínez de Lagrán, Í., Arcusa, H., ... & Alt, K. W. (2013). Pastores trashumantes del Neolítico Antiguo en un entorno de alta montaña: secuencia crono-cultural de la Cova de Els Trocs (San Feliú de Veri, Huesca). Boletín del Seminario de Estudios de Arte y Arqueología, 79, 9-55.

- Rojo, M. A., García, I., Garrido, R., Tejedor, T., Subirà, E., García, J., Sesma, J., Gibaja, J. F., Unzu, M., Palomino, A. L., Jiménez, I., Arroyo, E. & Arcusa, H. (2016). Enterramientos del Neolítico antiguo en el interior peninsular: nuevos datos para una actualización de la evidencia empírica. In H. B. Rosado (Ed.), *Del Neolític a l'Edat del Bronze en el Mediterrani occidental. Estudis en homenatge a Bernat Martí Oliver. Trabajos Varios SIP* 119, València (pp. 181-210).
- Rollefson, G. O. (2000). Ritual and social structure at Neolithic 'Ain Ghazal. In I. Kujit (Ed.), *Life in Neolithic farming communities: social organization, identity, and differentiation* (pp. 165-190). Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers.
- Romanowska, I. (2015). So you think you can model? A guide to building and evaluating archaeological simulation models of dispersals. *Human Biology*, 87(3), 169-192. https://doi.org/10.13110/humanbiology.87.3.0169
- Romanowska, I., Crabtree, S. A., Harris, K., & Davies, B. (2019). Agent-based modeling for archaeologists: Part 1 of 3. *Advances in archaeological practice*, 7(2), 178-184. https://doi.org/10.1017/aap.2019.6
- Romanowska, I., Wren, C. D., & Crabtree, S. A. (2021). Agent-based modeling for archaeology: Simulating the complexity of societies. SFI Press.
- Rosenberg, D., & Chasan, R. (2021). Between Novelty and Variability: Natufian Hunter-Gatherers (c. 15–11.7 kyr) Proto-Agrotechnology and the Question of Morphometric Variations of the Earliest Sickles. In *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society* (Vol. 87, pp. 31-50). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/ppr.2021.15
- Rosenberg, D., Buchman, E., Shalev, S., & Bar, S. (2020). A large copper artefacts assemblage of Fazael, Jordan Valley: New evidence of Late Chalcolithic copper metallurgy in the southern Levant. *Documenta Praehistorica*, 47, 246-261. https://doi.org/10.4312/dp.47.14
- Rovira, N. (2007). Agricultura y gestión de los recursos vegetales en el sureste de la península ibérica durante la prehistoria reciente [Doctoral dissertation, Universitat Pompeu Fabra]. http://hdl.handle.net/10803/7468
- Rowley-Conwy, P. (2013). North of the frontier: Early domestic animals in northern Europe. In S. Colledge, J. Conolly, K. Dobney, K. Manning & S. Shennan (Eds.), *The origins and spread of domestic animals in Southwest Asia and Europe*. Left Coast Press, Walnut Creek.
- Ruibal, A. G. (2003). La experiencia del otro: una introducción a la etnoarqueología. Ediciones Akal.
- Ruiz, A. A., Ugarte, P. C., & Barrón, U. P. (2012). Quand ils ne vivaient pas seulement de la chasse: preuves de domestication ancienne dans les gisements néolithiques d'Atxoste et de Mendandia (Pays Basque). L'Anthropologie, 116(2), 127-147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anthro.2012.03.007
- Rumelhart, D. E., Durbin, R., Golden, R., & Chauvin, Y. (1995). Backpropagation: The basic theory. In Chauvin, Y., & Rumelhart, D. E. (Eds.), *Backpropagation: Theory, architectures and applications*, 1-34. Psychology Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203763247
- Rus, J. C., Morgado, A., & Martínez-Sevilla, Y. F. (2016). Implantación y desarrollo de los grupos neolíticos del sur de la península ibérica. Reflexiones sobre algunos modelos interpretativos desde los inicios del siglo XXI. In H. Bonet Rosado (Ed.), Del neolític a l'edat del bronze en el Mediterrani occidental. Estudis en homenatge a Bernat Martí Oliver. TV SIP 119, Valencia (pp. 159-180).
- Saidel, B. A. (1993). Round house or square? Architectural form and socio-economic organization in the PPNB. *Journal of Mediterranean Archaeology*, 6(1), 65-108. https://doi.org/10.1558/jmea.v6i1.65
- Sakar, C., Toz, A. C., Buber, M., & Koseoglu, B. (2021). Risk analysis of grounding accidents by mapping a fault tree into a Bayesian network. *Applied Ocean Research*, 113, 102764. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apor.2021.102764
- Salazar-García, D. C., Fontanals-Coll, M., Goude, G., & Subirà, M. E. (2018). "To 'seafood'or not to 'seafood'?" An isotopic perspective on dietary preferences at the Mesolithic-Neolithic transition in the Western Mediterranean. *Quaternary International*, 470, 497-510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2017.12.039
- Salazar-García, D. C., Jordá Pardo, J. F., Álvarez Fernández, E., Avezuela Aristu, B., Pérez Ripoll, M., Vicente Morales, J., & Richards, M. P. (2014). Exploitation of marine resources at the upper palaeolithic and mesolithic of Nerja Cave (Málaga, Spain). In XVII World UISPP Congress 2014, Burgos, (pp. 644-644).

- Salazar-García, D. C., Pérez-Ripoll, M., García-Borja, P., Jordá Pardo, J. F., & Aura Tortosa, J. E. (2017). A terrestrial diet close to the coast: a case study from the Neolithic levels of Nerja Cave (Málaga, Spain). In O. García-Puchol & D. C. Salazar-García (Eds.), *Times of Neolithic transition along the Western Mediterranean* (pp. 281-307). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-52939-4_11
- Salazar-García, D. C., Romero, A., García-Borja, P., Subirà, M. E., & Richards, M. P. (2016). A combined dietary approach using isotope and dental buccal-microwear analysis of human remains from the Neolithic, Roman and Medieval periods from the archaeological site of Tossal de les Basses (Alicante, Spain). *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, 6, 610-619. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2016.03.002
- Saña, M. (2000). La gestió i explotación dels recursos animals. In A. Bosch, J. Chinchilla, J & J. Tarrús (Eds.), El Poblat Lacustre Neolític de La Draga: Excavacions de 1990 a 1998 (Monografies del CASC 2) (pp. 150-164). Centre d'Arqueologia Subaquàtica de Catalunya, Museu d'Arqueologia de Catalunya.
- Saña, M. (2013). Domestication of animals in the Iberian Peninsula. In S. Colledge, J. Conolly, K. Dobney, K. Manning & S. Shennan (Eds.), *The origins and spread of domestic animals in southwest Asia and Europe* (pp. 195-220). UCL Institute of Archaeology Publications.
- Saña, M., & Navarrete, V. (2016). Gestió ramadera al pla de Barcelona durant la prehistòria. In M. Molist & A. Gómez Bach (Eds.), La prehistòria al pla de Barcelona. Nous documents per a una síntesi (pp. 97-105). MUHBA.
- Saña, M., Antolín, F., Alcántara, R., Sierra, A., & Tornero, C. (2020). Integrating domesticates: Earliest farming experiences in the Iberian Peninsula. In K. J. Gron, L. Sørensen & P. Rowley-Conwy (Eds.), *Farmers as* the frontier: A pan European perspective on Neolithisation (pp. 161-176). Oxbow Books. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv13gvh1g
- Saña, M., Antolín, F., Bergadà, M., Castells, L., Craig, O., Edo, M., ... & Spiteri, C. (2015). Prácticas agropecuarias durante el neolítico antiguo y el neolítico medio en la cueva de Can Sadurní: Una aproximación interdisciplinar. V Congresso do Neolítico Peninsular, Faculdade de Letras da Universidade de Lisboa, 7-9 abril 2011 (pp. 57-66). Centro de Arqueologia da Universidade de Lisboa.
- Sanches, M. J. (1997). Pré-história recente de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro: O abrigo do Buraco da Pala (Mirandela) no contexto regional [Doctoral dissertation, Sociedade Portuguesa de Antropologia e Etnologia].
- Sarrión, I. (1980). Val de Cuevas. Estación Meso-Neolítica en la Sierra de Cazorla (Jaén). Saguntum, 15, 23-56
- Schelling, T. C. (1969). Models of segregation. The American economic review, 59(2), 488-493.
- Schlüter, M., Baeza, A., Dressler, G., Frank, K., Groeneveld, J., Jager, W., ... & Wijermans, N. (2017). A framework for mapping and comparing behavioural theories in models of social-ecological systems. *Ecological Economics*, 131, 21-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2016.08.008
- Schmidt, K. (2010). Göbekli Tepe-the Stone Age Sanctuaries. New results of ongoing excavations with a special focus on sculptures and high reliefs. *Documenta Praehistorica*, 37, 239-256. https://doi.org/10.4312/dp.37.21
- Schmolke, A., Thorbek, P., DeAngelis, D. L., & Grimm, V. (2010). Ecological models supporting environmental decision making: a strategy for the future. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 25(8), 479-486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2010.05.001
- Scutari, M., & Denis, J. B. (2021). *Bayesian Networks: With Examples in R*. Chapman and Hall/CRC. https://doi.org/10.1201/9780429347436
- Sen, A. K. (1985). Well-being, agency and freedom: The Dewey lectures 1984. *The Journal of Philosophy*, 82(4), 169-221.
- Sen, A.K. (1979). Informational Analysis of Moral Principles. In R. Harrison (Ed.) *Rational Action* (pp. 115–132). Cambridge University Press Cambridge.
- Sevinc, V., Kucuk, O., & Goltas, M. (2020). A Bayesian network model for prediction and analysis of possible forest fire causes. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 457, 117723. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.117723

- Sharafi, S., Fouladvand, S., Simpson, I., & Alvarez, J. A. B. (2016). Application of pattern recognition in detection of buried archaeological sites based on analysing environmental variables, Khorramabad Plain, West Iran. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, 8, 206-215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2016.06.024
- Shennan, S. (2018). *The first farmers of Europe: An evolutionary perspective*. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108386029
- Shennan, S., & Edinborough, K. (2007). Prehistoric population history: from the Late Glacial to the Late Neolithic in Central and Northern Europe. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 34(8), 1339-1345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2006.10.031
- Sherratt, A. (1980). Water, soil and seasonality in early cereal cultivation. World Archaeology, 11(3), 313-330.
- Sikk, K., Caruso, G., Rosentau, A., & Kriiska, A. (2022). Comparing contemporaneous hunter-gatherer and early agrarian settlement systems with spatial point process models: Case study of the Estonian Stone Age. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, *41*, 103330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2021.103330
- Silva, F., & Vander Linden, M. (2017). Amplitude of travelling front as inferred from 14C predicts levels of genetic admixture among European early farmers. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-12318-2
- Smith, B. D. (1995) The Emergence of Culture. Scientific American Library.
- Smith, B.D. (2011) A cultural niche construction theory of initial domestication. *Biological Theory*, *6*, 260-271. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13752-012-0028-4
- Smith, V. L. (1975). The primitive hunter culture, Pleistocene extinction, and the rise of agriculture. Journal of Political Economy, 83, 727-755. http://doi.org/10.1086/260353
- Smolensky, P. (1999). Grammar-based Connectionist Approaches to Language. *Cognitive Science*, 23(4), 589–613. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15516709cog2304_9

Spengler, R. N. (2021) Niche construction theory in archaeology: a critical review. Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory, 28, 925–955. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10816-021-09528-4

- Spiegelhalter, D. J. (2004). Incorporating Bayesian ideas into health-care evaluation. *Statistical Science*, *19*(1), 156-174 https://doi.org/10.1214/08834230400000080
- Starnini, E., Biagi, P., & Mazzucco, N. (2018). The beginning of the Neolithic in the Po Plain (northern Italy): Problems and perspectives. *Quaternary International*, 470, 301-317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2017.05.059
- Staubwasser, M., & Weiss, H. (2006). Holocene climate and cultural evolution in late prehistoric-early historic West Asia. *Quaternary Research*, 66(3), 372-387. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yqres.2006.09.001
- Steffensen, J. P., Andersen, K. K., Bigler, M., Clausen, H. B., Dahl-Jensen, D., Fischer, H., ... & White, J. W. (2008). High-resolution Greenland ice core data show abrupt climate change happens in few years. *Science*, 321(5889), 680-684. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1157707
- Stiner, M. C., Buitenhuis, H., Duru, G., Kuhn, S. L., Mentzer, S. M., Munro, N. D., ... & Özbaşaran, M. (2014). A forager–herder trade-off, from broad-spectrum hunting to sheep management at Aşıklı Höyük, Turkey. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(23), 8404-8409. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1322723111
- Stoddart, S., Woodbridge, J., Palmisano, A., Mercuri, A. M., Mensing, S. A., Colombaroli, D., ... & Roberts, C. N. (2019). Tyrrhenian central Italy: Holocene population and landscape ecology. *The Holocene*, 29(5), 761-775. https://doi.org/10.1177/0959683619826696
- Stordeur, D. (2019). Le village de Jerf el Ahmar (Syrie, 9500-8700 av. J.-C.): L'architecture, miroir d'une société néolithique complexe. CNRS Éditions via OpenEdition. https://doi.org/10.4000/books.editionscnrs.27975
- Stordeur, D., & Abbès, F. (2002). Du PPNA au PPNB: mise en lumière d'une phase de transition à Jerf el Ahmar (Syrie). Bulletin de la Société préhistorique française, 99(4), 563-595. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12520-019-00790-y

- Stordeur, D., Der Aprahamian, G., Brenet, M., & Roux, J. C. (2000). Les bâtiments communautaires de Jerf el Ahmar et Mureybet horizon PPNA (Syrie). *Paléorient*, 29-44. https://doi.org/ 10.3406/paleo.2000.4696
- Strasser, T. F., Panagopoulou, E., Runnels, C. N., Murray, P. M., Thompson, N., Karkanas, P., ... & Wegmann, K.
 W. (2010). Stone Age seafaring in the Mediterranean: Evidence from the Plakias region for Lower Palaeolithic and Mesolithic habitation of Crete. *Hesperia*, 79(2), 145-190. https://doi.org/10.2972/hesp.79.2.145
- Stritih, A., Rabe, S. E., Robaina, O., Grêt-Regamey, A., & Celio, E. (2020). An online platform for spatial and iterative modelling with Bayesian Networks. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 127, 104658. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2020.104658
- Suárez Márquez, Á. (1981). Cueva Ambrosio (Vélez Blanco, Almería). Nuevas aportaciones al estudio del Epipaleolítico del Sudeste peninsular. *Antropología y paleoecología humana*, (2), 43-53.
- Tarifa-Mateo, N., Saña, M., Clop, X., Rosell-Melé, A., Camalich-Massieu, M. D., & Martín-Socas, D. (2023). Investigating livestock management in the early Neolithic archaeological site of Cabecicos Negros (Almería, Spain) from the organic residue analysis in pottery. *Scientific Reports*, 13(1), 47-97. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-31036-6
- Terradas, X., Piqué, R., Palomo, A., Antolín, F., López, O., Revelles, J., & Buxó, R. (2017). Farming practices in the Early Neolithic according to agricultural tools: evidence from La Draga site (Northeastern Iberia). In:
 O. García-Puchol, & D.C. Salazar-García (Eds.), *Times of Neolithic transition along the Western Mediterranean* (pp. 199-220). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-52939-4_8
- Terrell, J. E., Hart, J. P., Barut, S., Cellinese, N., Curet, A., Denham, T., ... & Staller, J. E. (2003). Domesticated landscapes: The subsistence ecology of plant and animal domestication. *Journal of Archaeological Method* and Theory, 10, 323-368. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JARM.0000005510.54214.57
- Thomson, D. F. (1939). The seasonal factor in human culture: Illustrated from the life of a contemporary nomadic group. *Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society*, *5*, 209–221. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0079497X00020545
- Tornero, C., Molist, M., Saña, M., Marom, N., Yeshurun, R., Weissbrod, L., & Bar-Oz, G. (2016). Adoption, intensification and manipulation of sheep husbandry at Tell Halula, Syria during the Middle to Late PPNB. In N. Marom, R. Yeshuran, L. Weissbrod, & G. Bar-Oz (Eds.), *Bones and identity: Zooarchaeological approaches to reconstructing social and cultural landscapes in Southwest Asia* (pp. 73-86). Oxbow. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctvh1drw5
- Toscano, L. G. V., Villar, A., Rojas, T., Cosano, P., & Escarpa, O. (1997). Las industrias de la interfase Pleistoceno Medio-Superior en la cueva de la Carihuela (Piñar, Granada). In *II Congreso de Arqueología Peninsular*, Zamora (pp. 105-118). Fundación Rey Afonso Henriques.
- Trigger, B. G. (1989). A history of archaeological thought. Cambridge University Press.
- Uerpmann, H. P. (1996). Animal domestication-accident or intention. In D. Harris (Ed.), *The origins and spread* of agriculture and pastoralism in Eurasia (pp. 227-237). Routledge.
- Ullah, I. I., & Bergin, S. M. (2012). Modeling the consequences of village site location: Least cost path modeling in a coupled GIS and agent-based model of village agropastoralism in eastern Spain. In D. A. White, & S. L. Surface-Evans, (*Eds.*), *Least cost analysis of social landscapes: Archaeological case studies* (pp. 155-173). University of Utah.
- Ullah, I. I., Chang, C., & Tourtellotte, P. (2019). Water, dust, and agro-pastoralism: Modeling socio-ecological co-evolution of landscapes, farming, and human society in southeast Kazakhstan during the mid to late Holocene. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology*, 55, 101067. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaa.2019.101067
- Uría, N. (2013). Registros sedimentarios como indicadores paleoambientales y de la actividad antrópica durante la neolitización: la Cueva de Els Troca y su entorno Abella, Huesca. CKQ Estudios de Cuaternario, 3, 123-134.
- Utrilla Miranda, P., & Laborda Lorente, R. (2018). La cueva de Chaves (Bastarás, Huesca): 15000 años de ocupación prehistórica. *Trabajos de Prehistoria*, 75(2), 248-269. https://doi.org/10.3989/tp.2018.12214
- Utrilla, P., & Mazo, C. (2014). La Peña de las Forcas: un asentamiento reiterado desde el magdaleniense inferior al neolítico antiguo. *Salduie*, (7), 9-37, https://doi.org/10.26754/ojs_salduie/sald.200776543

- Uusitalo, L. (2007). Advantages and challenges of Bayesian networks in environmental modelling. *Ecological Modelling*, 203(3-4), 312-318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2006.11.033
- Vahdati, A. R., Weissmann, J. D., Timmermann, A., de León, M. S. P., & Zollikofer, C. P. (2019). Drivers of Late Pleistocene human survival and dispersal: an agent-based modeling and machine learning approach. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 221, 105867. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2019.105867
- Valente, M. J., Dean, R., & Carvalho, A. F. (2014). Shell middens in western algarve (Southern Portugal) during the mesolithic and early neolithic: Functionality, subsistence, and material culture. In M. Roksandic, S. M. F. Mendonca de Souza, S. Eggers, M. Burchell & D. Klokler (Eds.), *The cultural dynamics of shell-matrix sites* (pp. 75-90). University of New Mexico.
- Valla, F., Khalaily, H., Samuelian, N., Bocquentin, F., Bridault, A., & Rabinovich, R. (2017). Eynan (Ain Mallaha). In Y. Enzel & O. Bar-Yosef (Eds.), *Quaternary of the Levant* (pp. 337-346). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316106754.034.halshs-01852519
- Van der Plicht, J., Akkermans, P. M., Nieuwenhuyse, O., Kaneda, A., & Russell, A. (2011). Tell Sabi Abyad, Syria: radiocarbon chronology, cultural change, and the 8.2 ka event. *Radiocarbon*, 53(2), 229-243. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033822200056514
- Venables, W. N., & Ripley, B. D. (2002). Modern applied statistics with S. Springer
- Verhoeven, M. (2004). Beyond boundaries: nature, culture and a holistic approach to domestication in the Levant. *Journal of World Prehistory*, 18(3), 179-282. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10963-004-4361-9
- Vidal-Cordasco, M., & Nuevo-López, A. (2021). Difference in ecological niche breadth between Mesolithic and Early Neolithic groups in Iberia. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports*, 35, 102728. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasrep.2020.102728.
- Vigne, J. D. (2017). Les débuts de l'élevage. Le Pommier.
- Vigne, J. D., Carrère, I., Briois, F., & Guilaine, J. (2011). The Early Process of Mammal Domestication in the Near East: New Evidence from the Pre-Neolithic and Pre-Pottery Neolithic in Cyprus. *Current Anthropology*, 52(4), 251-271. https://doi.org/10.1086/659306
- Von Bertalanffy, L. (1950). An outline of general system theory. British Journal for the Philosophy of science.
- Vos, D., Stafford, R., Jenkins, E. L., & Garrard, A. (2021). A model based on Bayesian confirmation and machine learning algorithms to aid archaeological interpretation by integrating incompatible data. *Plos One*, 16(3), e0248261. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248261
- Vuong, Q. H., Bui, Q. K., La, V. P., Vuong, T. T., Ho, M. T., Nguyen, H. K. T., ... & Ho, M. T. (2019). Cultural evolution in Vietnam's early 20th century: A Bayesian networks analysis of Hanoi Franco-Chinese house designs. *Social Sciences & Humanities Open*, 1(1), 100001. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssaho.2019.100001
- Walshe, T., & Burgman, M. (2010). A framework for assessing and managing risks posed by emerging diseases. *Risk Analysis: An International Journal*, 30(2), 236-249. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6924.2009.01305.x
- Weiberg, E., Unkel, I., Kouli, K., Holmgren, K., Avramidis, P., Bonnier, A., ... & Heymann, C. (2016). The socioenvironmental history of the Peloponnese during the Holocene: Towards an integrated understanding of the past. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, 136, 40 - 65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quascirev.2015.10.042
- Weinstein-Evron, M. (1991). New radiocarbon dates for the Early Natufian of el-Wad cave, Mt. Carmel, Israel. *Paléorient*, 17(1), 95-98. https://doi.org/10.3406/paleo.1991.4542
- Weinstein-Evron, M., Vogel, J. C., & Kronfeld, J. (2001). Further attempts at dating the palynological sequence of the Hula L07 core, Upper Jordan Valley, Israel. *Radiocarbon*, 43(2B), 561-570. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033822200041217
- Weiss, E., Kislev, M. E., & Hartmann, A. (2006). Autonomous cultivation before domestication. *Science*, 312(5780), 1608-1610. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1127235

- Weiss, E., Kislev, M. E., Simchoni, O., & Nadel, D. (2011). Morphogenetics of dicots and large-and small-grained wild grasses from the Paleolithic Era (Old Stone Age) Ohalo II, Israel (23,000 BP). In G. Gyulai (Ed.), *Plant Archaeogenetics* (pp. 1-10). Nova Science Publishers.
- Weiss, E., Kislev, M. E., Simchoni, O., Nadel, D., & Tschauner, H. (2008). Plant-food preparation area on an Upper Paleolithic brush hut floor at Ohalo II, Israel. *Journal of Archaeological Science*, 35(8), 2400-2414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2008.03.012
- Weiss, E., Wetterstrom, W., Nadel, D., & Bar-Yosef, O. (2004). The broad spectrum revisited: evidence from plant remains. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101(26), 9551-9555. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0402362101
- Wellman, M. P. (1990). Fundamental concepts of qualitative probabilistic networks. Artificial intelligence, 44(3), 257-303. https://doi.org/10.1016/0004-3702(90)90026-V
- Weninger, B., Alram-Stern, E., Bauer, E., Clare, L., Danzeglocke, U., Jöris, O., Kubatzki, C., Rollefson, G., Todorova, H., & van Andel, T. (2006). Climate forcing due to the 8200 cal yr BP event observed at Early Neolithic sites in the eastern Mediterranean. *Quaternary Research*, 66, 401-420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yqres.2006.06.009
- Weninger, B., Clare, L., Gerritsen, F., Horejs, B., Krauß, R., Linstädter, J., ... & Rohling, E. J. (2014). Neolithisation of the Aegean and Southeast Europe during the 6600–6000 calBC period of Rapid Climate Change. *Documenta Praehistorica*, 41, 1–31. https://doi.org/10.4312/dp.41.1
- Weninger, B., Clare, L., Rohling, E., Bar-Yosef, O., Böhner, U., Budja, M., Bundschuh, M., Feurdean, A., Gebe, H. G., Jöris, O., & Linstädter, J. (2009). The impact of rapid climate change on prehistoric societies during the Holocene in the Eastern Mediterranean. *Documenta praehistorica*, 36, 7-59. https://doi.org/10.4312/dp.36.2
- Wheeler, G., & Williamson, J. (2011). Evidential probability and objective Bayesian epistemology. In Gabbay, D. M., Thagard, P., Woods, J., Bandyopadhyay, P. S., & Forster, M. R. *Philosophy of statistics* (pp. 307-331). North-Holland.
- White, C. E., & Makarewicz, C. A. (2012). Harvesting practices and early Neolithic barley cultivation at el-Hemmeh, Jordan. Vegetation History and Archaeobotany, 21(2), 85-94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00334-011-0309-z
- Whitehouse, R. (2014). The chronology of the Neolithic ditched settlements of the Tavoliere and the Ofanto valley. *Accordia Research Papers*, 13, 57-77.
- Wilensky, U. (1999). NetLogo. URL http://ccl. northwestern. edu/netlogo/.
- Wilkinson, T. J., Christiansen, J. H., Ur, J., Widell, M., & Altaweel, M. (2007). Urbanization within a dynamic environment: Modeling Bronze Age communities in Upper Mesopotamia. *American* anthropologist, 109(1), 52-68. https://doi.org/10.1525/aa.2007.109.1.52
- Willcox, G. (1996). Evidence for plant exploitation and vegetation history from three Early Neolithic pre-pottery sites on the Euphrates (Syria). Vegetation History and Archaeobotany, 5, 143-152. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00189445
- Willcox, G., Fornite, S., & Herveux, L. (2008). Early Holocene cultivation before domestication in northern Syria. *Vegetation History and Archaeobotany*, 17(3), 313-325. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00334-007-0121-y
- Wilmsen, E. N. (1973). Interaction, spacing behavior, and the organization of hunting bands. *Journal of* Anthropological Research, 29(1), 1-31. https://doi.org/10.1086/jar.29.1.3629622
- Winterhalder, B., & Smith, E. A. (1981). Hunter-gatherer foraging strategies: Ethnographic and archeological analyses. University of Chicago Press.
- Wobst, H. M. (1974). Boundary conditions for Paleolithic social systems: A simulation approach. American Antiquity, 39(2), 147-178.
- Wythoff, B. J. (1993). Backpropagation neural networks: A tutorial. *Chemometrics and Intelligent Laboratory* Systems, 18(2), 115-155. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-7439(93)80052-J

- Yarnell, R. (1985). The origins of agriculture: An evolutionary perspective by David Rindos. *American Antiquity*, 50(3), 698-699.
- Zapata, L. (2012). Holocene wood charcoal from El Mirón cave. Vegetation and wood use. In L.G. Straus, & M. González Morales (Eds.), *El Mirón Cave, Cantabrian Spain. The site and its Holocene archaeological record* (pp. 174-196). University of New Mexico Press.
- Zapata, L., & Alday, A. (2007). The Early Neolithic in Northern Iberia. In N. J. Whitehouse, R. Schulting & M. McClatchie (Eds.), *Living Landscapes: Exploring Neolithic Ireland and its Wider Concept* (pp. 36-39). Oxford University Press.
- Zapata, L., Peña-Chocarro, L., Pérez-Jordá, G., & Stika, H. P. (2004). Early neolithic agriculture in the Iberian Peninsula. *Journal of World Prehistory*, *18*, 283-325. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10963-004-5621-4
- Zeder, M. A. (2012). The domestication of animals. *Journal of Anthropological Research*, 68(2), 161-190. https://doi.org/10.3998/jar.0521004.0068.201
- Zeder, M. A. (2015). Reply to Mohlenhoff et al.: Human behavioral ecology needs a rethink that niche-construction theory can provide. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *112*(24), E3094-E3094. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1508096112
- Zeder, M. A. (2016). Domestication as a model system for niche construction theory. *Evolutionary Ecology*, *30*, 325-348. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10682-015-9801-8
- Zilhão, J. (1997). Maritime pioneer colonisation in the Early Neolithic of the west Mediterranean. Testing the model against the evidence. *Documenta Praehistorica*, 24, 19-42.
- Zilhão, J. (2003). The Neolithic transition in Portugal and the role of demic diffusion in the spread of agriculture across West Mediterranean Europe. In A. J. Ammerman & P. Biagi (Eds.), *The Widening Harvest. The Neolithic Transition in Europe: looking back, looking forward* (pp. 207–223). Archaeological Institute of America.
- Zwirglmaier, K., Papakosta, P., & Straub, D. (2013). Learning a Bayesian network model for predicting wildfire behavior. In Proc. 11th International Conference on Structural Safety & Reliability. University of New York.

List of Figures, Tables, and Equations

FIGURES FROM CHAPTERS

Figure 1. Directed graph of the example.

Figure 2. Example of directed graphs and the relationships encompassed between the nodes in the DAG. The colour grey defines the perspective in which relationships are defined.

Figure 3. Map of the settlements mentioned in Chapter 2.1. 1. Abu Hureyra; 2. Ain el Kerkh; 3. Ain Ghazal; 4. Ain Mallaha; 5. Akarçay; 6. Beidha; 7. Bouqras; 8. el-Wad Terrace; 9. Göbekli Tepe; 10. Hayonim grave VII; 11. Hilazon Tachtit; 12. Jerf el-Ahmar; 13. Jericho; 14. Jilat VI; 15. Kharnaeh IV; 16. M'lefaat; 17. Mureybet; 18. Netiv Hagdud; 19. Ohalo II; 20. Qermez Dere. 21. Raqefet cave; 22. Sabi Abyad; 23. Tell Halula; 24. Wadi Hammeh 27.

Figure 4. Map of the settlements mentioned in Chapter 2.4.

Figure 5. Location of Mesolithic and Neolithic settlements mentioned in Chapter 4. 1. Abric de les Obagues de Ratera; 2. Abrigo de Valdecuevas; 3. Aizpea; 4. Ambrosio; 5. Arenaza; 6. Atxoste; 7. Bajondillo; 8. Balma d'Auferí; 9. Balma Guilanyà; 10. Balma Margineda; 11. Bañugues; 12. Barranc d'en Fabra; 13. Bats al Albuñol; 14. Bauma del Serrat del Pont; 15. Buraca Grande; 16. Bureco de Palo; 17. Cabecicos Negros; 18. Cabeço de Pez; 19. Cabezo de Lebrija; 20. Cabranosa; 21. Carrer de Reina Amàlia 31-33; 22. Caserna de Sant Pau; 23. Cerro de las Ánimas; 24. Cíavieja; 25. Cinc Ponts; 26. Conchero de Cañada Honda; 27. Coro Trasito; 28. Cova Colomera; 29. Cova de Can Sadurní; 30. Cova de la Font Major; 31. Cova del Filador; 32. Cova del Frare; 33. Cova del Parco; 34. Cova del Sardo; 35. Cova del Toll; 36. Cova del Vidre; 37. Cova Gran; 38. Coves del Fem; 39. Cueva de Chaves; 40. Cueva de El Mirón; 41. Cueva de El Toro; 42. Cueva de la Dehesilla; 43. Cueva de La Vaquera; 44. Cueva de las Ventanas; 45. Cueva de los Mármoles; 46. Cueva de Nerja; 47. Cueva del Nacimiento; 48. Cueva del Parralejo; 49. Cueva Pena d'Água; 50. El Carrer d'en Xammar; 51. El Cavet; 52. El Duende; 53. El Forcón; 54. El Llano de las Canteras; 55. Els Torcs; 56. Font del Ros; 57. Guixeres de Vilobí; 58. Herriko Barra; 59. Hoyo de la Mina; 60. La Carigüela; 61. La Dehesilla; 62. La Draga; 63. La Esperilla; 64. La Lámpara; 65. La Molaina; 66. La Peña de las Forcas II; 67. La Revilla; 68. La Vinya d'en Pau; 69. Las Catorce Fanegas; 70. Los Alamos; 71. Los Castillejos; 72. Mas d'en Boixos; 73. Montlleó; 74. O Bocelo; 75. Orris de la Torbera de Perafita I; 76. Oyambra; 77. Pareko Landa; 78. Peñón de Salobreña; 79. Pico Ramos; 80. Plansallosa; 81. Prazo; 82. Sota Palou; 83. Zájara; 84. Zatoya; 85. Cueva de Lumentxa; 86. Padrão; 87. Los Cascajos.

TABLES FROM CHAPTERS

Table 1. Overview of the principal agent-based models designed for exploring past socioecological systems.

Table 2. Rindos proposed classifying agriculture into three different phases of human-plant relationships (Rindos, 1984).

Table 3. Description of the tools for conducting the different socioeconomic activities present in early agropastoralsettlements. This table has been developed based on (López-Bultó et al., 2020; Terradas et al., 2017; Piqué et al.,2015) studies.

EQUATIONS FROM CHAPTERS

(1) The Bayes Theorem.

(2) Node construction of bayesian networks (Koller & Friedman, 2009:51).

(3) The Chain Rule.

(4) Equation proposed by Rindos (1984) to model the consumption of proto-domestic resources.

(5) Formula modelling the restriction of domesticated resources (Rindos, 1984).

(6) Formula considering the carrying capacity of the environment to define the availability of domesticated resources (Rindos, 1984).

(7) Malthusian model representing the transition from foraging to farming economies but considering the importance of human agency in form on labour (Chu & Xu, 2022).

(8) Formula of Chu and Xu (2022) emphasising the number of units of farming production for agent.

(9) Model of agents' decision to invest its labour on producing hunting-gathering or farming resources to maximise food production (Chu & Xu, 2022).

(10) Investment of labour on farming activities (Chu & Xu, 2022).

(11) Definition of capita output of food production (Chu & Xu, 2022).

(12) Model of Bourgois and Civic for exploring the importance on property rights for early agropastoral communities (Bowles & Choi, 2019).

(13) Fisher's equation for modelling demic diffusion, also known as the 'Wave of Advance' model (Ammerman & Cavalli-Sforza, 1984).
(14) Cultural diffusion model developed by Fort (2012).

Palacios, O. (2023). Aplicación del aprendizaje automático en Arqueología: ¿Un cambio de paradigma?. *Vegueta. Anuario de la Facultad de Geografía e Historia, 23*(1), 147-186. https://doi.org/10.51349/veg.2023.1.06

FIGURES

Gráfico 1. Cuantificación de los estudios realizados en arqueología, empleando aprendizaje automático, divididos por año y por campo de estudio.

Gráfico 2. Algoritmos supervisados, no supervisados y semi-supervisados divididos por cada ámbito de investigación. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

Figura 1. Ejemplo de una red bayesiana simple. C es el padre de X_1 y X_2, las cualescomputan las probabilidades teniendo en cuenta C. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

Figura 2. Esquema de proceso de modelización. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

Figura 3. Modelo sin restricciones representando la relación entre el tipo de subsistencia (outputs, rojo) con las variables ecológicas (inputs, negro). Las flechas del modelo partende los outputs a los inputs porque el modelo está construido de manera que los valoresmás probables de los inputs se calculan a partir de los valores de los outputs. También sería posible aprender el modelo de los inputs a los outputs, hay diversos modos de construir las redes y en este caso se ha optado por esta configuración. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

TABLES

Tabla 1. Clasificación de los principales algoritmos de aprendizaje automático. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

Tabla 2. Variables de la base de datos con sus categorías discretizadas. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

Tabla 3. Principales características de los tres modelos de las redes bayesianas. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

Tabla 4. Relaciones significativas identificadas a partir de los tres modelos. Clasificación p-valores: 0.05-0.01=*; 0.01-0.001=**; <0.001=***. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

Tabla 5. Definición de los contextos para predecir el tipo de intensidad de estrategias de subsistencia. En el contexto 1, los inputs tienen los valores mínimos, en el 2 los valores medios y en el 3 los máximos. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

Tabla 6. Resultados de las predicciones. Fuente: Elaboración propia.

APPENDIX

Apéndice Tabla 1. Base de datos de los artículos empleados en este estudio. Han sido recopilados de dos bases de datos bibliográficos, Scopus y Web of Science. (Elaboración propia).

Apéndice Tabla 2. Información de las sociedades. Los datos han sido recopilados de D-PLACE. (Elaboración propia).

Apéndice Script 1. Script desarrollado para procesar y construir los modelos de redes bayesianas. (Elaboración propia a partir del script de Palacios *et al.*, 2022).

Barceló, J.A. & Palacios, O. (2023). Computational simulation of prehistoric migrations. Western Mediterranean Early Neolithic case study. In V. Heyd & M. Ahola (Eds.), *Moving and Migrating in Prehistoric Europe*. London: Springer Routledge.

FIGURES

Figure 1. Impressed ware with Cardial decoration from the Cova dels Fems archaeological site (Ulldemolins. Catalonia, Spain) © Cova Dels Fems Archaeological Research Team.

Figure 2. A toy example of a Bayesian network predicting the probability of migration considering the intensity in which agriculture is practiced and the soil productivity of the location.

Figure 3. Running NEOLSPREAD 0.4. Programmed in Netlogo by D. Alexis [ETSE-UAB] implementing algorithms designed by J.A. Barceló, F. Del Castillo Bernal, F. Miquel Quesada, S. Pardo-Gordó, and X. Vilà.

TABLES

Table 1. Summary of the variables considered in the Bayesian network model.

Table 2. Human security dimensions and potential impacts of migration. Table organized and edited by the

 Coalition for Archaeological Synthesis Task group Long-term effects of past migration on human security

 (Altschul, J., Barceló, J.A., Beekmann, C., Kandel, A., Kiddey, R., Kienon, T., Kintigh, K., Ortman, S., Ragsdale,

 C.)

Palacios, O., Barceló, J.A., & Delgado, R. (2022). Exploring the role of ecology and social organisation in agropastoral societies: A Bayesian network approach. *Plos One*, *17*(10), e0276088. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088

FIGURES

Figure 1. Example of a BN to predict the type of settlement. Type of settlement (output, orange), agriculture and elevation (inputs, green).

Figure 2. Different general approaches for building Bayesian networks.

Figure 3. Some examples of binary associations found in the exploratory data analysis.

Figure 4. Examples of the structures of the three types of BNs in Table 3. Outputs (orange) and inputs (green).

Figure 5. Model Augmented Naïve Bayes of the influence of the environment on subsistence strategies. Dependence between ecological variables (inputs, green) and subsistence strategies (outputs, orange). The relationship among ecological factors when we predict the outputs agriculture, animal husbandry, hunting and fishing is exactly the same (the BN of agriculture is depicted as example) and, when we predict gathering, we can observe slightly differences in how climate variables are interrelated.

Figure 6. Final Model B exploring the influence of the environment on subsistence strategies. In this scenario we predicted the correlations among the ecological characteristics (inputs) and the subsistence strategies (outputs).

Figure 7. Bayesian Networks of Model A-ANB exploring the relationship between the environment and the social organisation. Dependence between ecological variables (inputs, green) and social organisation (outputs, orange). There are slight differences between the BNs designed for each output. For instance, in the BN of type of settlement, landscape is not related to monthly mean precipitation (as it is to the BNs of size of community and household organisation) or monthly mean productivity (like community organisation).

Figure 8. Model A-ANB investigating the relationship between the environment and social decisions. Dependence between ecological variables (inputs, green) and social decisions (outputs, orange). The relationship among ecological factors when we predict all the outputs of Social decisions, except for the category 'exchange outsettlement', is exactly the same (the BNs of crop specialisation and exchange out-settlement are provided as example). In the BN of exchange out-settlement, we can observe differences in the ecological factors of landscape and distance to coast.

Figure 9. Model A-ANB exploring the relationship between social organisation and subsistence strategies. Dependence between social organisation (inputs, green) and subsistence strategies (outputs, orange). The relationship among input variables is the same for all the BNs produced for all the outputs examined.

TABLES

Table 1. Summary of relevant variables to consider for modelling socio-ecological systems.

Table 2. Qualitative variables and their categorical values investigated in this research. It contains the 30 variables and their values. Ecological characteristics of settlement location and its catchment area are defined in nominal scales using integrative categories.

Table 3. Description and main characteristics of the three types of BNs.

Table 4. Final correlations of Model B exploring the influence of the environment on subsistence strategies. They correspond to the graph depicted in Fig 6 and only relationships statistically significant are included and their p-values are classified as follows: 0.05-0.01 = *; 0.01-0.001 = **; < 0.001 = ***.

EQUATIONS

(1) Chain rule.

(2) Prediction example of a Bayesian Network.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

S1 Table. Relevant variables to consider for building socio-ecological models according to prior studies.

S2 Table. Variables description. * We measured the coefficient of variation (CV) to explore the ratio of the standard deviation to the mean. We used the mean and variance, both specified in D-PLACE datavase [60]. ** Monographies of each society are specified in S2 Dataset and were extracted from eHRAF dataset [61]. *** Homesteads: isolated domestic unit; Camp: temporary location of huts or other structures where households live collectively during that period; Hamlet: formed by few several homesteads, it can be both dispersed and clustered; Village: like the hamlet, it is composed by several homesteads and it can also be both dispersed and clustered, but the village has more homesteads. It is the largest type of settlement in this classification.

S3 Table. Summary of the relevant relationships found. We followed [84] guidelines for interpreting relevant relationships of Cramer's V test: k = 2: Small (0.10–0.30), Medium (0.30–0.50), Large (>0.50); k = 3: Small (0.07–0.20), Medium (0.20–0.35), Large (>0.35); k = 4: Small (0.06–0.17), Medium (0.17–0.29), Large (>0.29).

S4 Table. Summary of the results of the statistical tests of hypotheses for the comparison of the predictive models, in each scenario. Only significant p-values are depicted in the table. Empty cells correspond to statistically non-significant probabilities. "Model 1 > Model 2" means that the alternative hypothesis (which is accepted if the p-value is < 0.05) is that the mean accuracy is greater for the Model 1 than for the Model 2. P-values are classified as follows: 0.05-0.01 = *; 0.01-0.001 = **; < 0.001 = ***. In Model B, significant relationships among inputs are

not represented (only among outputs) to avoid noise from variables that we do not predict and are expectable (i.e., the relationship among environmental characteristics).

S5 Table. Strength of the relationships of all scenarios. P-values are classified as follows: $0.1-0.05 = \cdot$; 0.05-0.01 = *; 0.01-0.001 = **; <0.001 = ***.

S1 Dataset. Dataset employed in this study. A total of 174 case studies and 30 different variables are considered.

S2 Dataset. Consulted dataset for identifying the adaptive strategies of each case study.

S1 File. References of supporting information.

Palacios, O. & Barceló, J.A. (2023). Survival in prehistory: Disentangling the complexity of dependent relationships. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology*. FIGURES

Figure 1. Augmented Naïve Bayes model representing the relationship between the social decision of transhumance and environmental variables. Most environmental variables are highly related among them such as net soil productivity, temperature, and precipitation. Conversely, landscape, and distance to coast seem to be less associated with the rest of variables although still significant for the practice of transhumance. In Palacios et al., 2022 there are other similar graphs representing the dependence network between the rest of environmental and social variables.

Figure 2. Comparison of two different subsistence models. (a) Communities prefer hunting and gathering resources and, (b) they prefer agriculture. L: labor force and MP: marginal product. Adapted from Weisdorf, 2005.

TABLES

Table 1. Summary of the variables analyzed in the BN model. The model included independent variables (those related with the environmental and topographical characteristics) and dependent variables (social decisions and socioeconomic organization) (Palacios et al., 2022).

Table 2. Summary of the social decisions that agropastoral communities could have adopted to cope with scarcity and their archaeological visibility. They have been defined from ethnoarchaeological literature (Ravera et al., 2011; Ifejika Speranza, 2010; Belay et al., 2005; Homewood et al., 2019; Kardulias, 2015). Developed by the authors.

EQUATIONS

(1) Rindos model for measuring the influence of ecological variables to modify preferences and socioeconomic practices (Rindos, 1984).

(2) Rindos equation considering preferences for agropastoral resources over foraging (Rindos, 1984).

(3) Rindos equation considering the carrying capacity of available resources (Rindos, 1984).

(4) Modification of Rindos model by introducing labour force (Chu & Xu, 2022).

(5) Model of the contribution farming production in agropastoral communities (Chu & Xu, 2022).

(6) Introduction of agent's decision to invest its labour on producing hunting-gathering of farming resources to maximise food production (Chu & Xu, 2022).

(7) Model the labour to produce agricultural resources (Chu & Xu, 2022).

(8) Modelling the gradual transition from hunting-gathering to agriculture (Chu & Xu, 2022).

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SI Table 1. Relative distribution of social decisions depending on the environmental, social, and economic variables. All results are depicted in form of percentages.

Appendix

Palacios, O. (2023). Aplicación del aprendizaje automático en Arqueología: ¿Un cambio de paradigma?. *Vegueta. Anuario de la Facultad de Geografía e Historia, 23*(1), 147-186. https://doi.org/10.51349/veg.2023.1.06

Additional information from this research paper (Apéndice Tabla 1, Tabla 2 and Script 1) is published in open access in the publication https://doi.org/10.51349/veg.2023.1.06

Palacios, O., Barceló, J.A., & Delgado, R. (2022). Exploring the role of ecology and social organisation in agropastoral societies: A Bayesian network approach. *Plos One*, *17*(10), e0276088. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088

Additional supporting information is found in open access in the publication. Each document has its own identification number:

S1 Table https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088.s001

S2 Table https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088.s002

S3 Table https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088.s003

S4 Table https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088.s004

S5 Table https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088.s005

S1 Dataset https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088.s006

S2 Dataset https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088.s007

S1 File https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088.s008

The code developed for designing the Bayesian networks can be downloaded in open access in GitHub, in the following links: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276088 https://github.com/OlgaPal/Agropastoral-management.git

Palacios, O. & Barceló, J.A. (2023). Survival in prehistory: Disentangling the complexity of dependent relationships. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology*.

SI Table 1.

Variables	Values (%)	None (%)		None (%)		Resour diversi (%)	rce fication	Crop specialization (%)		Foraging Intensification (%)		Storage (%)		Transhumance (%)		Temporal Migration (%)		Permanent Migration (%)		Exchange Out- settlement (%)		Exchange In- settlement (%)		Reciprocity (%)	
		No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes		
Hunting	<25	66	50	66	66	64	90	65	72	67	58	67	58	66	65	67	57	67	64	66	66	67	59		
	>=25	4	0	4	5	5	0	3	9	4	8	5	0	3	12	5	7	2	7	4	7	4	6		
	None	29	50	30	29	31	10	32	18	29	33	29	42	31	23	29	36	30	29	30	28	30	35		
Gathering	<25	40	50	43	43	55	90	43	41	43	42	44	33	44	38	44	29	40	46	41	48	43	41		
	>=25	0	0	1	0	23	10	0	5	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0		
	None	60	50	56	57	21	0	57	54	56	58	56	67	55	62	55	70	59	53	58	52	56	59		
Fishing	<25	48	0	45	48	47	40	44	59	45	58	50	8	49	35	47	43	48	45	49	38	46	47		
	>=25	16	25	20	10	16	0	14	27	16	17	15	25	15	19	18	0	16	16	16	17	17	6		
	None	35	75	32	40	36	40	41	14	37	25	33	67	35	42	35	50	37	36	36	38	35	47		
Animal Used and down	<25	57	50	58	57	55	90	59	50	55	83	60	66	61	42	56	71	57	57	60	48	59	47		
Husbandry	>=25	21	50	23	22	23	10	24	14	25	0	18	67	20	35	23	21	22	23	22	24	21	29		
	None	20	0	20	20	21	0	16	36	20	17	21	0	19	23	21	7	20	20	17	28	19	24		
Agriculture	<55	43	0	46	34	41	50	38	59	40	50	38	75	41	42	44	21	40	43	36	62	41	41		
	>=55	54	80	51	60	55	50	59	36	56	50	59	17	57	46	53	71	57	52	61	34	55	59		
	None	2	3	3	3	3	0	3	4	3	0	2	8	2	8	3	0	2	4	3	3	3	0		
Community	<200	57	25	54	60	58	40	58	50	56	58	55	75	54	46	65	21	57	58	56	59	60	35		
5120	>=200	43	75	46	40	42	60	42	50	44	42	45	25	69	31	40	79	44	43	44	41	40	65		
	Camp	80	25	10	7	9	1	8	1	10	0	6	4	6	2	9	7	1	5	9	7	10	0		

Variables	Values (%)) None (%)		None (%)		Resour diversi (%)	rce ification	Crop specialization (%)		Foraging Intensification (%)		Storage (%)		Transhumance (%)		Temporal Migration (%)		Permanent Migration (%)		Exchange Out- settlement (%)		Exchange In- settlement (%)		Reciprocity (%)	
		No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes		
	Homesteads	22	0	17	28	22	20	20	23	21	33	22	17	21	23	23	14	22	21	23	17	22	18		
Settlement	Hamlet	19	75	16	36	21	10	20	23	21	17	19	33	21	15	19	29	21	20	21	17	20	24		
Types	Village	5	0	55	40	48	50	50	41	48	50	52	8	51	39	49	43	46	52	47	55	47	59		
Community Organization	No exogamous Clans	67	75	71	62	66	80	66	72	66	83	67	67	70	58	67	71	66	70	66	72	69	53		
	Clans	26	25	20	34	27	20	27	23	27	17	27	17	25	31	26	29	27	25	28	17	26	29		
Household	Nuclear	28	0	26	29	27	40	28	27	27	33	27	33	25	28	27	29	24	32	25	38	27	29		
Organization	Small Extended	55	50	56	53	55	60	59	36	56	42	56	42	56	50	56	50	51	61	59	41	55	53		
	Large Extended	15	50	18	14	17	0	12	36	15	25	15	25	17	12	16	14	22	7	15	21	16	18		
Landscape	Aquatic	1	0	0	2	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	9		
	Desert	6	0	5	7	6	0	6	5	6	0	5	17	4	15	6	7	4	9	5	10	6	6		
	Forest	60	0	54	64	57	7	57	64	55	92	60	42	61	46	58	57	54	64	58	59	59	53		
	Grassland	33	75	39	28	34	30	35	27	37	83	34	33	34	35	34	36	40	25	35	31	33	41		
	Tundra	1	3	3	0	2	0	1	5	2	0	1	8	1	4	2	0	1	2	2	0	2	0		
Distance to	Short	17	0	21	10	16	20	16	18	17	17	17	17	19	8	17	14	17	16	17	14	17	12		
coast	Mid Distance	12	0	8	16	10	20	9	18	9	33	12	0	12	8	11	7	10	13	10	14	9	24		
	Long Distance	72	100	71	74	73	60	74	64	75	50	71	83	70	85	72	79	73	71	72	72	74	65		
Elevation	Low	40	25	48	29	39	50	35	64	38	58	40	33	38	46	40	36	44	34	39	41	41	29		
	Medium	36	50	35	38	36	40	40	18	37	33	39	8	38	31	35	43	32	43	36	38	36	41		
	High	23	25	18	31	24	10	24	18	25	0	21	50	23	23	23	21	24	21	25	17	23	24		
Slope	Low	36	25	38	33	37	20	29	68	35	42	37	25	34	42	35	36	40	29	39	24	38	18		
	Medium	31	75	36	28	33	30	36	14	34	17	33	33	32	35	34	21	34	30	29	45	31	47		

Variables	Values (%)	Nor (%)	ie	Resou divers (%)	esource iversification %)		Crop specialization (%)		Foraging Intensification (%)		Storage (%)		Transhumance (%)		Temporal Migration (%)		Permanent Migration (%)		Exchange Out- settlement (%)		Exchange In- settlement (%)		Reciprocity (%)	
		No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	
	High	32	0	26	38	30	50	34	18	31	33	31	33	33	23	30	43	26	39	32	28	31	29	
Mean Annual	Low	25	25	4	5	4	10	4	5	5	0	2	25	4	4	5	0	15	0	6	0	5	0	
Temperature	Medium	28	50	25	33	28	30	27	36	29	25	27	33	29	27	26	50	80	58	29	24	26	41	
	High	69	25	71	62	68	60	69	59	67	75	70	42	67	70	70	50	5	42	65	76	69	60	
CV Annual	Low	40	0	35	40	38	20	37	36	37	42	37	33	39	27	40	14	39	34	40	24	37	35	
remperature	Medium	32	50	39	24	33	30	34	27	33	33	35	10	33	31	31	43	37	27	30	41	33	29	
	High	29	50	26	34	28	50	28	36	30	25	27	58	27	42	28	43	23	39	28	34	29	35	
Mean	Low	4	33	4	43	21	33	26	63	3	0	4	100	43	73	51	50	39	34	52	50	54	33	
Monthly Precipitation	Medium	23	0	11	0	36	0	36	0	62	78	6	0	40	27	40	17	37	27	36	40	37	33	
	High	51	50	86	96	43	67	38	38	33	22	89	0	17	0	9	33	23	39	13	10	9	33	
CV Annual Dresinitation	Low	34	25	33	36	36	10	56	27	35	25	33	42	51	43	37	7	63	41	36	38	34	35	
rrecipitation	Medium	35	50	36	34	34	50	32	53	34	50	37	17	34	57	35	43	26	45	35	38	36	35	
	High	31	25	31	29	30	40	23	20	31	0	30	42	15	0	28	50	11	14	29	34	31	29	
Mean Monthly Broductivity	Low	72	100	75	70	3	0	2	7	3	0	1	20	2	14	37	7	16	14	3	0	18	0	
riouucuvity	Medium	28	0	25	31	62	83	56	93	62	78	64	60	63	71	35	43	63	43	64	64	46	100	
	High	0	0	0	0	33	17	40	0	33	22	33	20	34	14	28	50	21	43	33	27	36	0	
CV Annual Broductivity	Low	3	0	5	0	67	41	42	44	37	88	41	67	86	75	87	67	83	87	85	86	39	58	
roductivity	Medium	3	0	5	0	33	32	36	17	34	12	31	33	14	25	13	33	17	13	15	14	34	17	
	High	83	100	80	91	0	26	22	39	29	0	27	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	26	25	

This study investigates the impact of the environment on the socioeconomic organisation and subsistence strategies of early agropastoral communities. A machine learning model based on Bayesian networks, learned from information extracted from cross-cultural ethnographical societies, is built to quantify the relationship between multiple variables that could have influenced agropastoral lifestyle. Results evidence the importance of the coevolutionary process between the environment and agropastoral communities in shaping their settlement location, economic behaviour, and social preferences. This project also aims to disseminate the application of Bayesian networks and encourage a debate concerning the use of machine learning methodologies and other computational methods for modelling socioecological questions.

